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In the King’s Bench,

The Right Hon. Ricuarp Lord Grosvenor, Plaintiff.

His Royal Highnefs Henry Freperick Duke of Cumberland,

Defendant.

Counfel for the Plaintiff, Counfel for the Defendant.
Mr. Serjeant Glynn, Mr. Dunning,
Mr. Serjeant Leigh, Mr. Skimner,
Mr. Wedderburn, Mr. Mansfield,
Mr. Wallace, Mr. Tmpey.
Mr. Walker,
Mr. Lee,
Mr. Ranly.

The court being fat, the jury were called over, and the following were fworn to try
the iffue joined between the parties.

Febn Cope, Efgs William Farrer, Efq;
George Garrati, Elfgy George Weight, Efgs
Heneage Robinfon, Efgs Plilip Dyort, Efg;
Richard Teafdale, Efg; Benjamin Cowley, Efq,
Fobn Barnfatber, Efq, Fobn Walferd, Elq;
Damiel Booth, Efgs Fobn Lane, Efg;
The damages were ftaced at 100,000/ and the caufe was opened by Mr.
Wedderburn,

Mr. WEDDERBURN.

_ AY it pleafe your Lordthip and you Gentlemen of the Jury, This is an ation
brought againft his Royal Highnels Henry Frederick Duke aof Cumberland

by Richard Lord Grofvenor, for the injury done to him by his Royal High-
nels, in the ledudtion of his wife. Gendemen, this caufe is of ferious importance with
regard to the plaintiff, and no {fmall hopes with regard to the public; and though fuch
inftances have happened, this is the firit inftance where 2 perfon of the defendant’s high
rank and quality has been the party againft whom that action has been brought.  Gen-
tlemen, from the nature of the cafe, and the injury that the party has received, it is in a
great meafure aggravated in fome cales, in fome extenuated by the quality and condition
pf the party againft whom thatattion is brought. I prefume you will think thereis fearcely
a caufe in which, if that circumitance gives importance wo'it, if it adds weight to the
complajn, it cannot have a (tronger degree than in the prefent caufe; and it will be
my duty, as council for my Lord Grofvenor, with all the reipect due to the name and

rank of the defendant, to lay before you the fafts, in fuch a manner, as may enable
5 you



4 Richard Lord Grofvenor, Plaintiff :

u to conduét your atcention to the courfe of evidence that will be given.—In doing
that T fhail make it my endeavour, and I hope [ fhall fucceed in i, to omit, even at
the hazard of interrupting the connexion of the flory, every circumftance thae 1 do
not believe the wim:lﬁ:s will give you an account of: and after I have ftated the fafts,
1 thall chen detain you but a little while from hearing the witnefles themfelves, upon
whofe reftimony your judgement myit be formed, upon the nature of the evidence,
and the quality “of this offence charged upon the defendant.  Gentlemen, my Lord
Grofvenor was married in the year 1764 to Mifs Harriot Vernon : fhe had made her
appearance in the world buta few months before thatmarriage, was very young, of a family
relpectable, features engaging, of a fortune not inconfiderable. My Lord Grofvenar
had made propofals to her, and accordingly the fettlements made at the marriage were
adequate to his fortune, fuch as became him to make, and cenlequently were very
ample. For fome time, and I truft a confiderable time, they lived together in that
happy fituation which may be fuppofed to proceed from a marriage where the motive
upon his fide had been merely affeétion, and that had produced a change of fitvation
extremely advantageous to her, and there were feveral children h{érn to them, and the
increafing family was attended with grear fatisfaction to the friends upon all fides,
which is naturally the cafe where there is a confiderable fortune and an ancient family
to be fupported.  Gentlemen, it is impoflible for me to ftate o you, and 1 believe it
is impoflible for the evidence, to trace at what particular period his Royal Highnels the
Duke of Cumberland's intimacy with Lady Grofvenor commenced; you will ind how-
ever, in the courfe of the winters 1768 and 1760, that his Royal Highnefs's meetings
with Lady Grofvenor were conitant, and fo public as not to efcape the blame of almott
every perfon at every public place; for at every public aflembly wherever Lady
Grolvenor was the Duke certainly came, and ac all che public places where (he went
the Duke was certainly with her. He followed her from place to place with fuch
inceffant perfeverance, and was fo conftant in the time of coming where fhe was, and
going where (he was to come, that it became the jelt of their foormen before it had
even reached to be the fcandal of thetown. It may eafily be imagined how very dan-

erous to a woman’s vircue thac fore of follicitation muft be which 15 always an advocate
or her vanity, and where the rank of the perfon is a fure means of removing all
obitructions, by keeping other acquaintance and perfons at a diftance from the reipect
that is due to them. Gentlemen, this was the cafe in this affair : from the time Lady
Grolvenor had become the determined objeft of his Royal Highnels's attention, her
acquaintance, her company, and her connexions and correlpondence, became only fuch
as were agreeable to the Duke; and from the natural deference due to the royal family,
1 am afraid in fome inftances it would give the Duke of Cumberland withes thar it
would not inany thing be unlawful for him to hold thofe connexions.  In the courfe of
the winter the Duke’s attention to Lady Grofvenor had been fo far fuccefsful, thatyou
will find in the fpring 1769 they no longer confined themfclves to fuch occafions of
mecting as public places, and other places of general refort, fuchas the houfes of fuch
perfons as were in their parties might aftord them, but there were many frequent
private vifits, and the return of a fine feafon gave them an opportunity of walking out
with lefs oblervation ; and the witnefTes will give you an account of their meeting in

Kenfington gardens, under different circumitances of difguife, on purpol: for goin
there, which circumftances will appear in the fequel of chis bufinefs, which c.wli:g
fufpicions in the minds of thofe that attended her, who took particular notice of them,
and will give a very firong proof of the opportunities they had of oblerving the Duke
and Lady Grofvenor. During the winter and the fpring months in 1;6p, Lady
Grolvenor had been very intimate with a lady whofe name cannot now be concealed,
the Countefs Donhoff. The Duke had many meetings in different parties at that lady’s
houfe. In the month of May the Countels Donhoff had occafion to go out of town
for fome little time; when (he was out of town Lady Grofvenor ane evening ordered her
coach and fervants to the Countefs’s houfe: there was, you will find by the evidence,
no perfon in that houfe bur a maid fervant, left to take care of the houfe, who then
lived in it with her hufband. When they came to the Countefs Donhoff’s door, the
maid appeared, and faid her lady was out of town: Lady Grofvenor look’d out of the
coach, and would not take the anfwer from her fervanes, but told the maid fhe knew
the Countels would be in town that evening, and fhe would come into the houfe and
wait for her: then (he got out of her coach, difinifed her fervants, and ordered them
not to return tilleleven o'clock thatevening. Themaid was furprifed atit; but, knowing
her to be an acquaintance of her lady, rook it for granted it was proper, and fhe
fhew'd her up Rairs into the drawing reom of the Countefs, where you will find, and
2 thag
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that is a circumftance material in this affair, there was no convenience wanting that
could be wilh’d in fuch a room; the witneffes will tell you there was a couch there,
which makes a material circumftance in this caufe. Afrer that a young gentleman came
tothe houle and afked for Lady Grofvenor, in a chair with the curtains drawn ; the
woman received him, condufted him up flairs to the drawing room where Lady
Grolvenor was; fhe then wene down ftairs, and ftaid fome time, and then went into
theroom with candles. There was when (he brought in the candles a circumftance which
feemed as if he meant not to expofe his figure fo much to her ; when fhe carried the
candles into the room fhe was going to place them upon the table which was near them,
and he bid her put them upoen the other table, whichwas at the further end of the room;
The then went away, and he and Lady Grolvenor ftaid there till eleven o’clock at night;
upon which they went away feparately, her fervants and coach returning for her as fhe
bad ordered them; he went away without coach or chair. Gentlemen, this was fo
convenient a fituarion, the houfe they were then in was remote from all obfervation,
by the ablence of all witnefls, and no interruption as they thought, they were both
tempted to repeat it frequently.  The idea given to the woman by Lady Grofvenor
was, that the gentleman that met her there was her brother. It happened one evening
however, that the woman’s hufband let the gentleman our, inftead of the woman her-
felf, and heimmediately knew who he was, and was ftruck with the circumftance, and
faid 1o his wife, thaticwas his Royal Highnefs the Duke of Cumberland; and fhe faid
fhe thought it was Lady Grofvenor’s brother ; (he then made her obfervations, and that
brought to light the different incidents upon the former affair. Thefe meetings conti-
nued till the Countefs’s return to town, and a few days after her return Lady Grofvenor
was conlined to her houfe, and was then lying in of her third child, Then, Gentlemen,
there is a circumftance which makes a material part of this affair ; the Countefs
Donhofi had a fervant, who was a young lad ; after her return to town the Duke met
this fervant, and afked him to carry aletter to Lady Grofvenor ; to which requett the
fervant made no hefitation 5 his Royal Highnefs recommended fecrecy, and accompa-
nied that letter with a bribe, and defired him to bring the anfwer to him, whith would
be directed to the Countefs. He took his leffon, carried the leteer and brought back
the anfwer as he was defired. At this time the lady, as Ihave already ftated, was lying
in: in fucha fituation as that and of fuch importance to every woman the Duke writes

fereers to her which will be produced te you, and chey fpeak ftrongly what before that
time had pafied berween them at the Countels Donhoff’s,  Gentlemen, it is impoffible

frony the tendeney of the letters that dlieir communication could in' any degree have
been innocent ;, for no modelt woman who had not been before corrupted could have
received them, and no man wrote from time to time unlefs all referve and reftraint had
long fince been over between them.  Gentlemen, T will difmifs the confideration of
the letcers only wich chis reflexion, that when you come w hear them read, you will be
convinced that letters written in that ftile from a fingle man to a woman married, do
imply in the firongeft degree, thac every thing that I contend to have paffed, had
previoully paft before that time, and no woman could have received fuch letters at that
time from an unmarried man, if the had not laid afide all referve, and no man, if at that
time he owed her any refpeét due to her birth, could have written fuch letrers to her.
After that bis Royal Highnefs was called upon to take the command of fome fhips,
and went upen an expedition about fix weeks ; in the courfe of that expedition he rook
every opportunity that could poffibly occur, and where none occurred he took them,
for writng to Lady Grofvenor; and there are letters that paffed upon that occafion,
whiich furnith the moft evident demonftration that at that time Lord Grofvenor’s dil-
honour was complete: one of the letters, dated Portland Road, begins in this ftile;
«« My dear little angel, I wrote my laft letter to you yefterday at eleven o'clock, juft
¢ when we fail'd. [din’d at two o'clock, and asfor the afterncon, I had fome mulic;
« | have my own fervant on board that plays, and a couple of hands from London,
« for the fix weeks I am out:—we were a good many at dinner, I had about nine
* people yelterday, and fhall have more when the reft Df[!ljr fquadron joins me, they
¢ flaicd with meall near feven. I got to fupper about nine ¢’clock, but I could not
% eat, and fo got to bed about ten:—1I then prayed for you, my deareft love, kiffed
« vour deareft little hair, and lay down and dreamt of you, had yeu on the dear
« little couch ten thoufand times in my arms, kifing you, and telling you how much
¢ [ lovedand adored you, and feemed pleafed; bue alas when 1 woke, 1 found it
¢ all delufion, no bl.‘li;?hf me but myfelf at fea.”——Gentlemen, from the inaccuracy
of the exprefions, you will fee evident traces of the fentiments and fpiric in which the
letters were written; it is not to be fuppoled, itﬁannu: be imagined, that a prmm;i*'
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his high expeétation could have received an education that would not have quajified
him to write in the beft, moft accurate, and proper ftile; but when under fuch fenti-
ments, expreflions are not guarded, from the ftrong paffions of the mind that are
endeavouring to exprels themielves. The letter goes on ﬁarin_g the progrels of his
fleet, and a fea life, which is not material to read to you now; it goes on in another
part, * When I between five and fix weeks hence fend the admiraley word that [ am
e arrived at Spithead, then I fhall only wait juit for their aniwer, which will be with
“ me in a few hours, to (trike my flag, and then I fhall rerurn to you thar initanr,
¢« oh my love! mad and happy beyond myfelf, to tell you how I love you, and have
“ heen ever fince | was feparated from you.” The letter then goes on in immaterial
occurrences; then it fays, * My angel of my heart, pray take care of yourielf for
¢ the fake of your faithful fervane, who lives but to love you, to adore you, and to
¢ blefs the moment that has made you generous enough to own it to him; I hope, my
< dear, nay, I will dare to l'a.:,a you never will have reaflon to repentit.”  The letter then
goes on with feveral other occurrences at fea, and then, after a long quotation of the
celebrated poem that had been made the fubjett of his royal ftudy, che letter proceeds
thus, * Such is my amufement to read thole toreof things that puts me in mind of our
© mutual ﬁ:tﬁngi and [tvations.™ Gentlemen, there is another letter, wrote ike-
wife at the time that his Royal Highnels was at fea, dated Portland Koad the 1 th of
June, which is wrote pretty much in the fame ftile and terms; the expreffions are ftrong
allufions to the fituation, which are full as deciflive as thofe read to you already; no
fuch letters could ina common courfe of decency obferved in the world have been writ-
ten to any woman in her ficuation, nor have been received by her, asthe tenor imports
they were anfwer’d by her, unlefs all referve, as I mentioned before, had been rosaily
atan end, and he nothing to afk, that was in her power to grant: the letters will thew
you the anxious defire of the Duke, that fhe fhould not go out of town, for the inten-
tion of the family was to go into Chethire, to Lord Grofvenor's lear, in the fummer,
which had been put off beyond the ufual time, upen the account of her lying-in; the
Jerters exprefs his wifh that ic mighe not happen ull the Duke's return; accordingly it
did not happen; though the had paffed the viual time of being able to travel with
fafety, fhe prevented their fetting our from London till July or Auguft, when he
returned ; fhe continued in London till Oétober. In the courfe of Augult and Sep-
tember, when he was returned, you will have an acceunt of their meetings 10 Kenlington
gardens, and St. James's palace, and the gardens, and of her going to his aparcments,
or fome of his fervants ; and you will find it not wholly confined to thofe places, bur,
as people b deﬁms having efcaped detection and difcovery, imagine no body fees
them, and that their fecret is well kept, and therefore thaking off all reftraints of being
confined to a few moments, fhe at laft goes fairly to his own houle in Pall-Mall, it may
be faid, openly and publicly; it is poffible that a lady in company might go to his houle
in Pall-Mall to any entertainment, but, in the fitwation the wenrt thers, it is impoffible
it can be afcsibed to any public pleafurable motive, but it was for a very different view ;
and her facility of going there arofe from a circumftance that does honour to the family,
one of her fifters happening to have apartments at St. James’s as a maid of honour to
her majefty : Gentlemen, you will recollect enough of the palace, of that part of it in
particular that comes to the outer gate in the firlt court of the palace, which are the
apartments of the maids of honour, to underitand the part of the tranfaétions I am
going to mention : Lady Grofvenor went in her coach to St. Jamess palace, and fhe got
out of her coach and ordered the fervants to wait at the outer gate of the palace, and
then fhe went into the Park through the palace to the Duke’s apartments in Pall-Mali;
in the Park there is a back door through which the went; the continued for fome con-
fiderable time in his apartments, and then returned the fame way, and went to her
coach and fervants: this was done repeatedly.  Gentlemen, it hecame neceffary for her
mEu into Chefhire, and upon the 2 3d of October the was o fer our with the children
and family and their attendants, and they were to go polt to Chethire: the diftance
from London te Lord Grofvenor's houfe at Eaton in Chethire, 1 think, is abour 182
miles, and the journey was with poft-horfes, They fet out upen the Monday, and the
firlt ftage was at St. Alban"s, where fhe arrived in the afterncon of the fime day.
Gentlemen, | think it is probable, I don’t ftate it for certain, but you will have an
account that upon the Monday nighe the Duke of Cumberland was there in difguife.
I Rate it but as probable, not as certain ; that depends upon the account thoie will give
from whom we have the only poffible means of expecting any account. Upon the
Tuelday night fhe got to Toweelter in the evening; about two o'clock three perfons
came into the inn at Towcelter on horfeback ; they afked for a room ; they were fhewn
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two of them into aroom 3 they enquired
t;irm; they dined, and then Ewu Efu:hemrﬂ:::.:gdc]:;l?hh;:s;ﬁl;ﬁls .r.h{:‘rn II::P S0 Toe
liele feen: the account they gave of themfelves, as it was ne::'f-jtfa:: s ird was very
aﬁcnunt to fatsfy the curiofity of the maids at the inn, they I:a'td-t!:l:} ;m. gli': asing
the one was Farmer Tufh, the other was Farmer Jones; the I"A'djb“ debsor i
ierc t;:rrrl'r}m-.: mluntr, and they expected a man to bring them I:!:;mt] ;n'.ﬂa'w:rﬁicfﬁ
me before twelve at night, they fhould be obliged ¢ e e
S e ’ : = o go away. Lady Grofvenor
S ) e i iy i b
take care of the horfes. Gu;nt'lem:n u will prefentl Aedinled it
The next day Lady Grofvenor I":tu:ujr?‘m:'rpm e B el
that was vpon the 25th of October ; vou will E?lﬁcfi::::,w:gd et -hmi
' : : Py A Co i
lﬂ;_lﬁ:w I‘i'::::;sh ':I:::;:II‘: wﬁaldl not n-;ifskthc opportunity of paying hLi:;[dﬂ::;' ;ﬂ.: E]:l:cgh
] at twelve o'clock at night for Stony ¢ ] in
:I“'if:::-’ttg::‘e Lr;l pa&-ﬂxairis about five or %x o'clock u;uﬁr;:iﬂ!lgﬂiffﬂa?::ngn;gm?
w {ta e courje the fervant went ; firft he wen ‘ave E
where when he arrived he put up his horfes; he urdcr:d L;g:.u;:g ;';]ilrdulrem;;: i
for people to come there, and finding they did not come that ’nigh[ he fer off ;I:u R
n‘:ummg n the rc-_aﬂ onwards towards Chefhire; the two a.rrw:T:]. about Evecul;tlft
o’clock 5 t!:n:y enquired after the fervant with the three horles, and were old he w::
ﬁ:nt on with them ; chey went on afterwards, This brings on the account of what
pened afterwards upon the courfe of the journey; I will avaid ftaring the exaét
delcription of thefe perfons; that will be proved by the evidence: thefe [50 rions
Farmer T'ufh and Farmer Jones, were his Roval Highnefs and Mr Giddinpfa who
has the honour to be his Royal Highnels's porter. The Lady arrived at ﬂE Four
Croffes in the road to Chefhire, about fix o'clock at night, but about two o'clock J:is
Royal Highnels and Giddings, and whether the fervant or not, don’t appear in evidence
but he is conlidered as i'ucE. though in fome inftances his intercourle was more than
thatof an ordinary fervant: they arrived about two o'clock on horleback, they imme-
diately enquired for a bed-chamber, which was chofen, and then to anfiwer and fatisf
the curiofity of the people of the houfe, a ftory was to be told them, which was thai
the young gentleman who wore a black feratch wig much down ar:d in a ]nin’dr 1,
with the flouch’d har, was young Morgan, called likewife the ;m.m Equﬁ - m;lt )
prevent enquiries, and obviate the enquiries of people who might make :h:i:;_ﬂ:?[ =
tions, the young Squire was faid to be weak in his underftanding, and under :h:”a-‘
of Trufty, which name Giddings went by there. They dined there, and mm:d'u;;ﬂ:ﬂ
after dinner the young Squire retired to bis room.  This cunvcr!‘a:i::m was held ab -.-u;:
him to make the peopie lefs attentive to what mighe pafs: they were very little I-'w:r:II in
the houfe, except on their firlt arrival at dinner-time.  About fix o’clock Lady Grof:
venor arrived there; fhe chofe her bed-chamber next to that the youn S. u?:rc h:.ri
chofen; the next day, which was Friday, the Lady was to fet out from [htEFuﬂr Crofle
and intended that evening to beat Whitechurch: the three perfons fet outearly in :I-f;
morning, and they arrived at Whitechurch about two o'clock 3 there they immgdiml
enquired for a bed-chamber, and the fame ftory was continued of Mr. Morgan :h!':r
young Squire being out of his mind a litle, and attended by Mr. Trulty as uiual; and
they chalked the door of the bed-chamber, which [ omitted to obferve upon the former
part of the ftory. My Lady Grofvenor arrived there about fix o’clock in the evening ;
fhe immediately defired to fee a room, vpon which the maid thewed her the beft bed-
chamber, and fhe faid fhe did not like that; then fhe was fhewn another room, there
fhe {aid fhe was afraid of fire; and then fhe was thewn another, that was too near th:‘rlinin '3
room, and fome excule was found why thatroomwould not do at all, it was notconvenient
enough; and then the was fhewn the rooms intheir order, and it wasremarkable that the
room fhe chofe wasvery convenient for the chalked room ; this was reprefented to her tobe
the worft roomin the houfe, it wasdampand noify, thewindowswere broke, and it was not
fit foraladyin her firuation,asany perfon upon theirownaccount would have chofen the beft
room they could undoubtedly, but fhe liked the room and would have it, and chofe it
accordingly. Lady Grofvenor retired to her room, and the young Squire was retired,
and there happened nothing in the houfe more remarkable, except about twelve
o'clock in the night, as the grand-daughter and one of the maids of the houfe were fitting
up in :Ihe parlour, they heard a noife, which they thought was the door of the young
Squire’s room opening, and upon ene enquiring what it was, fhe was anfwered by
the other, Oh it is only the door of the Fool's room and they fuppofed he might
walk in his fleep ; the door fhut again, the noife ceafed and they went to bed :
4 next
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next day (upon the Saturday) Lady Grofvenor was to reach her own houfe ; fhe fet
out not very early in the morning, but the other fet out before her; they flope at a
houfe called Barn-hill, in the road to Chefter; there they baited their hories, and en-
quired of the man of the houle, which was Lord Grolvenor’s, and they had the houfe
pointed out to them ; they ftaid there «ill the Lady paffed by, and then they went
on to Chefter, and Lady Grolvenor went to Eaton, which is no great diftance from
Chefler, 1 think it is about two miles; when they came to Chelter, they pur up ac
the Faulcon-Inn ; then they took their horfes when they had refrefhed themielves and
rode our, and ftaid till five or fix o'clock in the evening. You will have an account
when they went from Chefter they went to a village called Ecclefton, where there is
a public-houfe ; his Royal Highnefs and Giddings went there; from thence they
looked out for the ficvation of Lord Grolvenor’s houfe, and then they went acrols the
fields to Lord Grofvenor’s park ; they returned again to Fcclefton, and ok their
horfes and went that night to Chefter. Gentlemen, I will ftate to you the conduct
they obferved after they arrived ac Chefter till their leaving it entirely : they went
the firlt day to Ecclefton, that place being convenient to the houle; they rode cut
every day morning and afternoon ; they were at Ecclefton on.more occalions
than one; upon the Wednefday they removed to Marford-hill, and flaid® ull
the Saturday from the Wednefday; they were but lictle in the town of Chefter;
they walked about a great deal in Lord Grolvenor’s places, fometimes a fervant hold-
ing their horfes and they two were walking ; they were feen by many people, but you
will have a better account from the witnefits, ic being impolfible for us to flate the
hours and different places where they were feen. They removed to Marford-hill upon
the Wednefday, and were in great intimacy with the man at that place; ic was aca
poor ale-houle ; I fuppofe they ordered every thing in the houle ; they lay there that
night ; when they went out in the morning they talked of coming back again ; they
made a degree of acquaintance with the man and his family, and when they went out
in the morning he fuppoled they would not return early, but they came back fud-
denly and faid they had received an account that the young Squire’s father was  lying
a dying, and it was neceflary he thould go polt to him, and yet they would be foon
there again ; what was before ordered to be ready againlt their return was got ready
immediately, and you will find that the Duke and Giddings fet off polt for London :
they returned again vpon che goth of November, the [ame two perfons with another
rlon with them 5 then there were four in the party, they rerurned to this houle ar
l[:;mfurd-h't!l._ and they obferved the fame conduct as formerly, walking out frequently
their names were changed ; here the young Squire, who was before without a name,
had the name of Morgan, and the other went by the name of Griffiths; they ftaid
from the goth of November to the 3d of December, and then in the fame manner
they left it a lirle abruptly. It will be now neccllary, feeing how they were difpofed of
in thofe inftances, to fee how Lady Grolvenor was difpofed of ; fhe walked out fre-
quently, and you will find the immediately fent and red double keys, having fome
of her own already that might not ftrike che fervants with any thing particular, buc
you will have an account that during the interval from the Saturday to the Thurfday
when firlt Lady Grolvenor came to Eaton, fhe walked out conftantly every morning
and every afternoon ; the weather was by no mears tempting for walking, but fhe
never omitted to walk out every day during that time, and you will find by the evi-
dence, fhe never walked out ar any other ume, and you will hear from diﬂ{rm: wit=
nefles who oblerved her that fhe was feen talking with perfons in the fields, and from
fome of them you will find they knew the perion the was talking with, and the fame
things occur the fecond time of their going down upon the 3oth of November tothe
13th of December, and then in the fame manner fhe was conitane in her walks 5 fhe
was oblerved by many to be ralking with thefe perfons already fpoken of. You will
likewife have an account of the reafon why thefe parties lefc the place fo abruptly
upon both times: Lord Grofvenor had returned to Eaton upon the 14th of Novem-
ber; upon the 14th of December the fame thing happened again ; and upen the oc-
cafion of his lalt going down the Puke happened to be feen by perfons who knew
him, who having leen him before they had fulpicions that there wouldbe a ftory raifed
in the country very unfavorable of thofe perfons and their defigns in that country.
But in fact none of the country people fulpeéted the real motive of thofe defigns. The
ftory fpreading perhaps from London to Chefhire had occafioned fufpicions upon them,
and whether thofe fulpicions had been confirmed by intelligence I cannot frare toyou ;
it would be material if in my power, but ic lying beyond the reach of poflible evi-
dence Lomit to fay any thing about its itis fufficient that Lord Grofvenor had his
4 fulpicions
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fulpicions confirmed, my Lord Grofvenor was apprized that his Royal Hishnefs had
le t town, and then notice was given to an old fervant of Lord Grofvenos's family
(his Reward I think) to be attentive to what paft upon that journey ar that per':ud"
and he accordingly fent to another perfon who was an officerin the militia in Chefhire.
thiat was his brother ; and from the time fhe came into the inn at S5t Alban’s .on hc:-
return home, he employed himfelf to enquire what perfons came into the houfe ; the
account given him by the people of the houfe was, thae there was no company in the
houfe except two perfons ; one was a young man whem they believed to be out of his
mind, and the other a perfon attending %zim ; that they had been there fometime,
and were to be there that night: the man obferved he fhould not have been o near
Lady Grofvenor’s room ; he faid it was improper to have a madman fo near her room,
it would difturb the children likewife ; but all this account confirmed Mr. Stephens’s
fufpicions that they were the Duke of Cumberland and his actendants,  After dinner
he vook the precaution to bore a hole in the door of Lady Grofvenor’s bed-chamber,
from which he could obferve what paffed in the room ; the fituation was not very fa-
vorable, but it gave them an oppoertunity of feeing a part of the bed and rooms
my Lady Grofvenor retired to her bed-chamber pretey early 5 the room in which the
-~lay led into another room ; fhe locked the door of that room, and put the key in her

ker, after having difiniffed the maid of the inn that came to warm her bed, and

ocked the door after hers you will obferve both the doors were locked by Lady
Grofvengr within fide; after Stephens came up he liftened atentively at the door, and
he was pretty confident he heard two wvoices, Lady Grofvenor's and another ; then
he went away, and came fometime after and liftened again, and his ideas were con-
‘firmed ; but not trulting his own ideas, he went to his brother, who was at another
place, and ferched him; they both litened together, and they were convinced there
was a perfon with Lady Grolvenor in her bed-chamber, and according to the beft in-
ference they could make out they were within the curtains of the bed ; upon that
Mr. Stephens, whom I ought to have told you, obferved the motions of thole two per-
fons, and found they had ordered a pofl-chaife to be ready at two o’clock in the
morning, Mr. Stephens thoughe there was no time to delay, and with his brother and
the other fervants he burlt open the door ; it burft from its hinges and returned upon
the lock, thac was clofe wichin fide ; it was done inftantly ; both parties were in the
utmoftcon ternation ; Lady Grofvenor attempted to go into the other room, the Duke,
unable tofpeak, ftood confounded and frightened ; Lady Grofvenor was buttoning up
her travelling drefs ufed vpon the journey, which, upon the felt difcovery, was open
and her nﬂ:ﬁ bare, and unﬁtlnﬂ:iuy fhe was buftoning up with furprize and mnﬁr—
nation, and upon that occafion his Royal Highnefs was buttoning up his drefs.  The
Lady fell down in ranning away ; Stephens ran to her to affift her in getting up, and
his Royal Highnels was going to the door likewife ; Stephens ordered them not to ler
that gentleman go out ; he went back, and then Mr. Stephens faid there was no harm
intended to his perfon, and turned round to the le and afked them this queltion,
Do you know who this perfon is? The fervants antwered it was his Royal Highnefs
the {)uke of Cumberland. He would not tell who he was, but he faid if Stephens
would go with him into the next room he would. tell him; they went into another
room, and before the time he had reached that room the whole houle was alarmed ;
the maids and other people came in upon the appearance of new faces, and when
they were all got into the other room where the Duke went, he faid, Take notice,
gentlemen, I am not in Lady Grofvenor's bed-chamber : the aniwer to him was—he
cerrainly was there when they came to him; and they faid they would take their oach
of it; they examined the bed, and as they found the fitwation of the bed, there was
o doubt that two perfons had lain upon it, and it was exceedingly dilordered ; the
chambermaid was applied to, fhe faid fhe had made it very orderly, and never left ic
in that condition, and-fhe will give you an account of the fituation in which it was
afterwards found, Stephens told his Royal Highnels he was forry for what _had hap-
pened, but it was what he was obliged to do, bur it was his duty to his mafler which
obliged him to aé as he had done in the afiair, and affured his Royal HiEllMEi he
would not meet with any obftruction, and he might ?0 where he pleated, and
accordingly he went away for London. Geatlemen, I have now conducied this
affair to the laflt decifive feene of it 3 T have gone through the relation upon the neral
circumftances, fo far as is neceffary to guide your awention 1o the courle of the cvi-
dence that will be given; you will obferve upon it four material circumitances, all
operating equally ftrong to conviétion in this caufe. Firft, the private meeting be-

tween his Royal Highnefs and Lady GruﬁEnur at his own houle, Kﬁnﬁﬂgtﬂﬂ-gird:ns&
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bove all the meetings at the Countefs Donhoff’s.  Secondly,

d other places, but a
:ﬂ th(::l 1{1;5;, referring to the firnation in which they had both been, and the very

refiions which fhew that all had paffed between them that could pafs.
ﬁﬁ?ﬁf_"f’h, ancommon journey he took L different difguifes into Chefhire,
his ftaying there, and the opportunities he _rcught with fo much hazard and difficul-
ty, in fituarions {o demgamry from and dlrﬂgﬁfﬁ.bll: to his birch. :ﬂ.ﬂd IEE[J’, the
fcene at St. Alban’s, which cannot leave much room to doubt even in the minds of
perfons moft unwilling to believe. When all thele circumftances I have repeated to
you are proved, and the witnefles will rc_!au: many particulars wl:\nrh I have paffed
over, you cannot have the lealt opportunity to pronounce Lord Grofvenor has not
made out his cafe. If this was a cale depending vpon nice ambiguous proof; if this
was a queltion upon which there was a balance of evidence, it would be proper to
enter into a dilfcullion of the nature and import of the evidence, to fupport fuch a
charge, and upon what principles you ought to weigh it, and upon what eircum-
ftances you would form certain conclufions; if it was, I fhould only mifpend your
time. But this is not a caufe depending upon a courfe of equivocal circumitances
but on the contrary innumerable circumiftances concurring together of incidents
which are impoffible to be explained away, and impoflible to receive an in-.
nocent conftrultion, not to be taken only as feparate circumilances, but in that
view when all is united as equally incapable of being palliated, the united force
of them is irrefiltible to conviétion; I believe it will not be difputed that, in
caufes like this, nothing lefs than ocular witnefles to diredt faéts can be admitted ; no
fuch rule has or can prevail in this caufe, as in every Dthr:rd caule a ftrong fubftantial
proof operates with more force than itcan in any cafe if parties are wicked encugh to
make up evidence to contradict the truth; butin this cafe there is more in the com-
pals of proof than probable evidence ; if diret evidence was to be offered ro you, if
witneffes were to fay they faw them in bed tegether, that would leave fomething to be
inferred by the jury, and that inference may be as well made of other circumitances
as of that fingle circumitance, as whether or not it was impoflible that it could happen
in any other fituation than between fheets. If you were to hear pofitive witnelles lay
they had feen the parties in bed, I fhould think if fuch evidence was offered it would
be a very fulpicious evidence. In one remarkable caufe the {piricual court did deem it
exceedingly fulpicious, and would not divorce the parties becaufe the parties are
never fo indifcrees, but prudence may preferve them from being found in the
fatt. Gentlemen, thisis an aftion now founded upen the injury Lord Grofvenor has
fuftained in the relation of a hufband ; it is therefore to be lpmved in the fame courfe,
as in any other relation; and the evidence I have laid before you, I am fure, if the
witneffes fupport it, is fufficient to cftablifh the plaintifi”s right in a civil attion: I
have no objeétion, and I dare fay you will And this 15 a criminal tranfaétion, and the
law in thofe cales is penal; and the law has fixed no other method in fuch crimes,
but a jury by way of damages may Eiw: them fatisfadtion, upon the confideration of
the injury. If that argument fhould be urged with regard to the evidence that it is
only circumftantial, 1 have not the leaft doubt to dittinguith it, where the evidence is
fo Etmng between this and any caufe of a criminal nature; crimes are to be proved by
circumftantial evidence, even murder; there is no cale but may be proved by circum-
ftantial evidence, and there is no cafe bur circumitantial evidence is fufficient, even
to fix the party and crime, and fubject the party to alofs of life. That could amount
to more than the prefent cafe ; conhider the circumitances, the fcene at St. Alban's
upon the 21t of December, a gentleman not coming there accidentally, but by aflig-
nation with a lady ; he is admitted in that bed-chamber where no perfon bur Lady
Groivenor could admit him ; the door is locked upon the infide ; he came there know-
ing her to be there, and comes there in difguife, remains in the houle in that dilguife,
is admitted in her bed-chamber in an undue time; it certainly is not an innocent
meeting, it is in conlequence of an aflignation. If I afke what purpofe is the meeting,
every man can anfwer that queftion, it 1s evident enough what the purpole was. If [
afk whether it was completed, the anfwer to that is, yes, they were detefted. If Iafk
why fufficient time was given, the witneffes will anfwer that, it can have but one con-
ftruction, it denotes a criminal detection; but the circumftances of that deteétion
fhew a criminal purpofe attually completed. With regard to the Duke coming there,
it may be faid, that the intention was extremely innocent; I prefume it may be faid
becaufe it has been faid, that the only objeét of the Duke’s journey to St. Alban’s was
to acquaint Lady Grofvenor of the reports in the news papers that were pretty judicial
as to her charafter, and he came to acqoaint her of it.  Gentlemen, you will confider
how abfurd and totally improbable it is : if it was incumbent upon him to make that
communication
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communication to my Lady Grofvenor, there was no difficulty of writing, or fendine
or waiting till the next day, when fhe was to be in London : why dil‘guﬁi::i 2 why in
waiting P But was it confulted with my Lady Grofvenor thar he was to comie §
meeting with her was concerted to be fure, 2s none could come there but in confe.
quence of her previous knowledge.  The Duke of Cumberland was in the houfe :
etting apart the relpect due to the Duke of Cumberland, taking a prince of the blood
out of the queftion, fuppofing any other perfon of the higheft condition in the king-
dom, fuppoling l.']l.t.‘}" had been with Lady Grofvenor at T.Ea.l: time, and that my Lord
Grofvenor had arrived that evening in St. Alban's, and had come immediately o her
bed-chamber and found a man in the bed-chamber with her, fuppofing any man only
liftening to the firlt dictates of jealoufy had done that which the law in that cafe deems
juftifiable, and ifbroughe to his trial upon it, is there a jury upon that cafe thatwould not
fay the man was juftifiable in that he had deftroyed a man foundinaduleery with his wife?
Thac is raking th_ef:{t in the ftrongedt view it can be placed, and I have no doubt upon
ftating and proving the circumftances in that refpect, that the jury will pronounce a
perfon fo found in fuch a fitwation, and being in fuch a fituation as the law allows nor,
to be a guilty perfon. How can the meetings at the Countefs Donhoff’s be account-
ed for ? the meetings at the Duke of Cumberland’s own houfe in Pall-Mall ? For it
will be proved to you, that Lady Grofvenor does in perfon go privately to his houfe;
how can fhe go rto fuch a houfe as his houfe in thar private manner” with fecuricy ?
Her going through the palace as if the went only to fee her fifter, was all artifice to
avoid a dilcovery where the went; it is impoffible fhe could go there with any inno-
cent view. What was wanting upon the occafion of their meeting ar the Countefs’s 2
‘Was inclination wanting? Had the Duke failed by referve? Ac that time the letrers
tell you the confequence; he told her he loved her, and was happy that fhe loved him;
both were young, no witnefs was by ; it is impoffible to imagine all had not paffed
that was neceffary to pafs to complete Lord Grolvenor's dithonour. If we lay thar
out of the queftion, confider the nature of the letters themfelves ; I will not talk of
the letters that were wrote to Lady Grofvenor in that interval when a woman’s fenti-
ments, from: a thought of religion, fhould have been all excited another way ; then
Jhe was receiving and returning letters from the Duke, that it mult be impoflible for
a modeft woman to receive without being looked upon with a degree of blame. Bue
confider the other letters wrote from on board his (hip, the letters I have already men-
tioned to you, which tells her, * I had you upon the dear little couch,” alluding in

direft terms to  the fcenes to which that couch had been a witnels: it is im-
poffible for perfons of the rank and condition of the Duke and Lady Grofvenor, who

were bred up with people of decency and refpect, and whofe languape mult have
been modelt and corrett from their education, to talk in plainer terms than could
be expreffed in modeft terms. 'What does he mean by their mutual feelings and
fituations ? Is it poffible to allude more direftly to or tell in plainer terms the cireum-
ftance in Lady Donhofs houfe ? It carries with it the firongelt conviftion pofiible; I
need not dwell upon the other expreffions in the lewter ; the whole terms of the letter,
the inaccuracy of the language fhews the circumftance now brought to you to deter-
mine upon : in the letter he blefles the moment that has made her gencrous enough
to own her paflion for him: every bedy in the world knows the realon
of that to be what is underftood to be the proving and giving the laft fatal proof of
her paffion, by owning her paffion. He concludes one letter with faying, * he is fure
« fhe will never repent it:™ what more is neceffary to fupport this aftion in the
ftrictelt fenfe of the cafe? confider the journey into Chefhire, confider with yourfelves
a moment, what it muft coft him in his own mind to fubmit to many things that oc-
curred in the courfe of that journey, and how eager he mult have been in the feduc-
tion of Lady Grofvenor; thofe mortifying circumftances that obliged him to keep
company with his own porter, who appearcd as his fervant and fometmes companion,
to a perfon educated as his Royal Highnefs has been, and ar that diftance from home,
who ufually is accompanied by royalty and ufed to thar relpect; I don't know any
circumitance more difficult to fuggelt than the familiarity thofe perfons had with him;
all that is overcome, all that had led him through that difficulty, =l overbalanced
every confideration ; he forgot what he owed to himfelf, to s birth, to the public,
_and to the facred rights of matrimony ; he forgot that and his own dignity, and his
birth, and all in the courfe of months together, by repeated acts demonitrating thofe
maxims, the whole of which we will prove in the prefent caufe: it is impoflible to be
mifunderftood by a jury accuflomed o confider the nature of evidence; they muft
obferve with what view his Royal Highnefs condefcended to lay afide his dignity for fo

many months together; it is impofiible for him not to gain the object he fought :Lﬁ_::{*
with
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with fo much difiiculty, and that all his endeavours fhould happen to prove ineficctual,
which would be a dirc& contradiftion to the witnefles who fpeale 1o the cortuliun
of the parties, and aoainft his own leteers, and it would overtorn ail idea ef evidence and
cerrainty. Incaufesofthiskind,ivexceeds thecredulity ofany perfonsofthe moft bounded
inclination to advance her honour beyond the bounds of prabability, and impofeupon
the eredulicy of the world ; it is impoffible fo many ablrdities H:m_:.id]mp::.'.":: UpoR your
jud ment. T fhould here conclude the caule, and give you no farthier crouble tilh the
evidence has been heard, if I had reafon toimagine, I lhould have occalion to addrels
you a fecond time 5 as I do believe it is probable [ fhall not have an opportunity of eak-
Ing up any more of your time in what occurs to me at prefent, I fhall fubmic to your
confideration a few words upon the nature and extentof the damages.  In all cafes the
damages muft be proportioned to the injury, and the quality of the injury, and in all
cales it depends upon the charatter and firvation of the injured perien, and of the per-
fon who has committed the injury; confider then the fhert ftate of this caufe, his Royal
Highnefs is a prince of the blood, and he has debauched the wife of a prer of England.
If you confider the perfons, there is no fum of damages fufficient; If yvou conlider the
example with regard to the public, no imaginary fumis too high. This, as | began in
the opening to {tate to you, is the firft inftance where an ation of the kind has been
brought againfta perfon of the defendant’s high rank and quality, and it depends to-
tally and entirely upon your verdiét, whether this is the laft oceafion chat ever will be
given for fuch an action as this. All men know, you muit keow gentlemen, from
our obfervation of the world, from reading and experience, that the condudtof princes
15 an objeét of national as well as private concern; that their elevared fitvation gives
them many facilities of obtaining the accomplithment of moit irregular withes; the
refpect paid to their rank will introduce them in Gitvations which are depied 0 private
perions; and will impofe greatly upon the vanity of a woman, nay, even upon the
vanity of men, who think themfelves honoured to have the notice orf a prince; in the
courle of their family they are too long permiteed to be unfuipetied: you koow of how
much confequence it is to check thefe irregularities, in erder o derive a benelicial
example through all ranks of fociety. Gentlemen, 1 have alrcady adimizted 1 thould
have no objeftion to confider this with refpect to the evidence given 25 w-crindinal cafe;
with refpect to the damages you are w give, and the council for the defendant can have
no objection 1o ke ic fo in this caufe. It has been ufual to confider thele cafes 2s eri-
minal, and the judges have formerly formed their direftions upon this principle, the
quality of the defendane, and example with regard to the public, which were the onl
confiderationss who the plaini¥ is, is totally immaterial 3 put bam upon a level wit
every other fubject, and confider the quality of the defendant, and the influence arifing
upon it; confider what is the punifhment and damages due upon fuch an offence, in
fuch a cafe as this; in all caufes this has been the point of view in which it was raken.
If the defendant had been a domettic, and had been guilty of fuch a crime, it would
have much aggravated the guilt, and fuch a circumftance and che punithment eughe
to be more fevere, I have heard of an unforcunate cale, where the pﬁ:imiﬁ‘ was a nohle
lord in Ireland, and the offender wasia near relacion to him, and the refenement of che
jury made them give 2 verdiét of perpetual banithmene; they thought it usfic for him
to live in the kingdom, and the verdict had thar effeét to drive him out of Ireland:
and in another cale, where the ofiender was a domeltic, and the mzn not worth fve
fhillings in the world, the jury brought in 2 verdict of 5000/, 1aking for an example,
that the punifhment fhould amount to perpetual imprifonment of the parey. | remem-
ber upon the cafe of a boy of fifteen years of age, who was an apprentice, being guiley
of criminal conve:fation, and the jury gave a verdiétof 100/, damages againit dhe boy,
that was proved to be not worth a fhilling in the world, for the {ake of imprifonment.
Gentlemen, how to draw conclufions with regard to the rank and quality of the defen-
dant, Town I amat alofs, becaufe the naming him is fufficient; itis a prince of che
blood, entitled by his birth to every degree of refpect, in whofe conduct the public is
deeply interefted, whofe example as vicious in his high fitwation is moft dangerous; a
precedent for damages in fuch cafes as this 1 can find none, but one inftance upon
record where a prince of the blood has been the party upon record in asourt of juitice;
but then the prince was the plaintiff; and the brother of king Charles I1. it'was an
attion for words fpoken, and becaufe of the quality of the plaintiff, the jury thoughe
proper to give the prince 100,000/, in damages; this is an inftance appearing upon
record.  In this cale the prince appears as defendant.  If that prince, the Duke of
York, had been the defendant, there the jury would not have hefirated to have given
the fame fum agaiaft him, which was extorted from a perfon of no rank.  Gentlemen,

5
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if this cafe had then happened, if the ation had been brought againft that prince,
much alleviation and much extenuation might have been urgedin that behalf; firdt, the
corruption ofa licentious courts in the next place, the daily example of the prince l.;pnn
the throne, whofe conduét was publicly irregular.  In the prefent cafe, happy for this
kingdom, no fuch circumftance of alleviation can be urged: his Royal Highnefs has in
his own family nothing but the firft example of piety and conjugal fideliey; ir would
be happy if his majefty’s regular conduét could diffufe into his family, and diffufe into
his fubjects, to make them pure ashe is: therefore it will admit of no extenuation in
this cale ; upon the contrary, you will admit it is a circumftance of aggravation, as he
was unfeduced by domeftic example, that his Royal Highnels fhould unfortunately
make himfelf the firft inftance where a brother of a family upon the throne has feduced
the wife of a peer of England. New concerning the damages, with refpect to the defen-
dant, I thould conceive the'feverelt verdict you can poflibly give is for the defendant
the moft falutary : for ir cannot exift thar no damages you can give will have the
effedt intended by the jury; bur the feverelt verdié, with regard to him, will have the
molt falutary effect: in the firlt place, it will teach his Royal Highnefs this great and
ulctul leffon, that the laws of England in the hands of an Englifh jury are fuperior to
the moft elevated degree of rank, and it will urge him to principles more noble than
the feduction of a nobleman’s wife ; it will teach him what his anceftors have done in
making the laws of the country, that they can punith even in the perfon of a prince,
and they can reward nobly in the perfon of a prince : it has been the cafe in many in-
ﬁﬂnf:cs; this will correft his exceffes, and would with the fame liberality reward his
merit, and ftate his merit in a point of light equal with the rank he fupports. In what-
ever light the public may have unfortunately held him, they cannot regard your verdict
in a wrong light ; for the extraordinary attendance fhews the anxiety of the public, and
it is not only from curiofity, but anxiety to fee to what degree you will carry your
refentment again®t fuch a crime, fo fatal and dangerous to the world and fociety.
Gentlemen, the cuftody of a public example rells in your hands, and when l:'l;ImP:lT'Eli
to that, the honour of an Englith nobleman is an indifferent fubjet; the chaftity of
women, and the fanétity of marriage, all depend vpon the impreffion your verdict
will give; from the weiglt andimportance of fuch a tranfaction as this, committed by
a perion fituared (o high as the prefent defendant is.  1am convinced the expectation
ef the public will not be deceived : good men will find vice checked in this inftance in
fo fignal a manner, that it will aperate in reformation much beyond this particular
inflance; to fhew young men, dilorderly licentious meny indulging and abuling the
facilivy their title, rank and fortunes give them, thatan Englith jury conlider the rights
of I'u-:ic:‘l%; as not to permit the facred rights of marriage to be facrificed to the inordi-
nate wifhes of young men, and that no rank will proteét them from your equal diftri-
bution of jultice ; and the greater the offender, it is jult the punifhment fhould be in
proportion., Upon thefe conliderations [ fhall fubmir the caufe to you; it is probable [
thall have no oppoertunity of making any more oblervations ; and to conclude, I could
wilh to have ftated this cale wichall its weighr, and with all imaginable candour in my
er; and in the opening of the evidence, if I have inattentionally ftated any circum-
ftance to which thereis no pofitive evidence, it is contrary to my intention, and I hope
you will overlook ir. 1 have ltated as carefully as I can the circumitances which T am
confident will be given in evidence ; if 1 have gone farther, I hope you will ateribute 16
on my part asa mere miltake. i

Tbe Reverend Mr. Tavron examined.

8. Do youknow Lord Grofvenor?
A Yes.
Q. Do you know Lady Grofvenor?
A -Xes,
" 8. Do you know when they were married?
" 4. Yes, 1 married them July the 1gth, 1764.
© 8, Where?
A. St. Geoarge's Hanover Square. et it
© 8, Did you live in the family before this affair happened?
A Yes
8, Upon what terms did they live together?
A Miutdal affefion, 1 believe.

9. [-1Iuw many children are there? % . 4 ol
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A. Only one child, I believe.

9, ‘Were they always upon good terms? i
:Qf: I never faw any time when they were otherwile.

Crofs Examination,

@, You did not mean to fpeak with reference to any particular time, but always

known to be fo?
A Yes.

Evizaseru SutTon fuwern,

9, Where did you live in May laft was a twelve-month 2

A. At the Countels Donhoff’s,

£, Are you a fervant there?

A. No, Ionly take care of the houfe in her abfence.

9, When did you rake that care upon you?

A. Abourt the 8th of May.

2, Did the Countels go out of town that day ?

A. Yes, Sir,

2. Do you know Lady Grofvenor ?

A Yes, Sir.

£, When did Lady Grolvenor come to the houfe ?

A. My Lady went out of town and came back the Monday after.—Lady Grofvenor
vifited my Lady when fhe was in town.—My Lady went out of town again,

2. When?

A. About a weeks time, and then fhe ftaid five weeks.

£, Do you remember any thing of Lady Grofvenor coming to the houfe g

A, The day my Lady went out of town, Lady Grofvenor came,

£. What time of the day was it, can you remember?

A. 1 believe it was palt feven, and near eight at night, as nearas I can guels:

9. Was your Lady out of town then?

<. She went out of town that afternoon.

8. What happened when Lady Grofvenor came?

A. She afked for mgeL;d]r, faidd Me was out of town.—Lady Grofvenor faid fhe
knew my Lady would be in town that evening, and when her Ladyhip faid fo, 1 did
not know what fhe expedled—I did not expeét my Lady.—Lady Grofvenor came in,
and faid her brother would eome, or alked me whether her brother was come, one or
the ather I am fure.

. Where did Lady Grofvenor go then?

A. Direttly up ftairs into the drawing room,

£, What happened then ?

A. I can't be fure, but I chink I taid in the hall below ftairs to take care of the door.

2, Did any other perfon come that evening ? '

A. In about half an hour there came a perfon in a chair with a double knock; I
opened it, and the chair was brought into the hall with the currains clofe; the man
opened the top of the chair, and a gentleman got out and run up Rairs diretly,

2. Did you obferve his perfon ?

A. 1 faw nothing but his back ; he had a blue coat on,

£. Then as foon as he got out of the chair, he ran up Rairs?

. Yes, he did very quick, and went into the room where lady Grofvengr was,

£. Did you fee him there?

A. 1did.

£. What happened while they were there ?

A. 1 ftaid below fome rime o fhut the door after the two chairmen, and thenI weng
down ftairs about my bufinefs. When it was time for to light candles, I took candles

into the room, and a pair of fouffers: when I went up to the door I knocked ar it,
and I think one of them faid, Come in: 1 went in diredtly; when I came in, the
gentleman and the lady were fiting upon the couch, Lady Grofvenor at the top, and
the gentleman at the bottom,

Conrt 3. How did you fay they were fitting on the couch ?

A. The one at the top, the other at the bottom, but clofe to each other;

Conneil B, You was ipeaking aboug candles,

. Yes,
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A. Yes, T went to carry the candles to a table b

A y the couch, and the gentleman
fi:d, Put them upon that table, and that was ac the further s;-mi of the rufm; I put
them ;.Ilr:rr according to his nrqurs,_and then I fhut the windows, all but one as was
near the couch, and as I was big with child I could not conveniently get at it. Lady

Ej:;ll';-:nnr and I was both big with child at the fame time, and both laid in in one
Court. When did Lady Grofvenor lay in ?

A. I was brought to bed the 24th of E_[uma-, and the lay in the fame month ; fhe was

rar\:: E:Eh v:l:th child then as well as myfelf; Icould not get by and I left that one win-

15

2. Can you tell how long the lady and gentleman ftaid ?
A. Lthink Lady Grofvenor's coach came for herabout a quarter after ten, or there-

abours.

2. What day of May was it ?

A. 1 believe it was the 15th of May. My Lady came home from the country and
ftaid fome days, then went again; 1 know it was the latcer end of May, but I can't
fay exaétly toa day,

:J; Can you remember Lady Grofvenor’s coming again? Was the Countefsin town?

A When 1 went into the room with the candles, the gentleman faid, Is your
miftres come home ? 1 faid no |

I anfwered, I did nat know,

% %adf Grolvenor went away in her own coach?

R

£, When did the gentleman go away ?

A. When the lady went away I ftaid fome time below flairs, and then T wondered
the gentleman did not go with Lady Grofvenor in the coach. I ftaid fome time
to fecif he wanted me to call him a coach or a chair; at laft he came down with a candle,
and faid, Are you in the houfealone? I faid no, I am not, my hufbard and family are
in the houfe; Iopened the door, and he went away without coach or chair.

% While you were together, did you make any obfervations of him?

f. I did, he ftared up in this manner ; he was fuch a fize as that gentleman; he was
a fair gentleman with large eyes.
% Do you remember how he was dreft ?

I faw a fear on his cheek; he put hi bis neck, fo— (pulling ber
ek ot ) is chee! put hus great coat up to lus neck, (pulling

% Did you fee that gentleman again ?
. 1 did.

9. Give us an account when he came again ?

A. The next day both came again.

. Which came firlk ?

. Lady Grofvenor came firlt, and the gentleman afterwards in the fame manner as
before ; I carried candlesin again, and placed them on the farther wable myfelf, with-
eut his bidding ; he afked whether the Countefs was come home yet? 1 anfwered no:
Lady Grelvenor faid, Certainly fhe will be in town to night; the geatleman faid no
more.

@, The queltion firft alked was by the gentleman ?

A Yes. He came in the fame manner this fecond time. 1 took the candles as be-
fore, and fhut up the windows the fame as hefore. Lady Grofvenor’s coach came; I
bid her fervants take care of the houfe, while I went up ftairs to acquaint her Ladythip;
fhe came down and went away, and he went away in the lame manner: 1 faid to
my hufband, the lady is gone, do you ﬁu and wait and let the gentleman out 3 he went
and ler him out ; then my hufband faid, Do you know who thatis ? 1 faid is it not the
lady’s brother ? my hufband faid no, it is the Duke of Cumberland.

2, Howlong were they together this time ? what hour did they come and go away ?

A. Eleven o'clock.

£, When did they come ?

A. In the evening between feven and eight o’clock. {

@, Can you tell whether the gentleman came after the lady that nighe?

A. 1 ean’t fay whether he did not come firft one night, but Ican’t tell which night.

. How many times might they came in this manner ¢

A. 1 think they came three or four pights.

. Wasthe couch there each night?

A Yes, it was.

3 Crafs

3 then he faid, Do you know whether fhe will come?
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Crgfs Examination by Defendant’s Council,

2. 1 think you faid Lady Grofvenor came in her own coach, with her fervants, and
he came in a chair and walked away ? h

A Yes.
2, And they came about feven or eight o'clock, and went away about ten ?

. Yes, and one night eleven.
@, Within twoor three days of cach other about the fame time ?
" Yes, all che fame time.
£, You took him to be Lady Grofvenor’s brother, till your hufband told you it was
the Duke ?
A. Yes, I underftood him to be the lady’s broher.
9, So when Lady Grofvenor came into your miftrefs’s houfe, fhe talked to you fup-
poling your Lady was coming home ?
A. She always faid The expeéted fhe would be at home that night.
8, }‘-"hcn you carried in the candles you was told to come in ?
A Yes.
£. And you then did as you have told us?
A 1 did.
8. The Duke came in a chair ?
A Yes \
9, Lady Grofvenor and your miftrefs vifited when fhe was in town?
" Yes, Sir.
SamueL SuTTon examined.
@, Are you the hufband of the laft witnefs ?
A Tam.
£, Do you know the Duke of Cumberland’s perfon 2
A Yes.
2. Did you fee himat the Countels Donhoff’s ?
A I faw him once there.
2. At what part of the houfe?
A I let lim out of che door,
9, ¥nu are certain it was the Duke of Cumberland ?
A Yes
2. You told your wife itwas the Duke?
A Yes,
Joux BourNe examined.
9. Where do you live ?
A. At the Countels Donhoff’s.
8. How long have you lived there 2
A. Upwards of three vears.
£, Have you feen the Duke of Cumberland at your houfe ?
A T faw him there twice,
£, Was you ever at his houfe?
A Yes
@, In Pall-Mall?2
A. Yes.
:"-'::J \‘:n:}hen?
. About a year ago,
2. Did he I'g::al-: tEt;'qu
. Yes.  He alked me to take a letter to Lady Grofvenor for him, and defired me
not to tell the Countefs.
£, What further dire@tions did he give you ?
A. The anlwer I was to have was to be direéted to the Countefs; I was 1o give my
Lady’s compliments as if it came from her.
2. What was you to do with the anfwer ?
A. Tocarry it to the Duke.
£ Did you receive any anfwer?
A Yes,
£. Did you carry it to the Duke ?
A Yes,
£. Did he give you any reward ? .
A. Yes, half a guinea, Crofs
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Crofs Examination.
. Are you fervant to the Countels Donhoff?
A Yes, Sir,

Plaintiff's Council. My Lord, the officer of Doftor's C i
Defendant's Coancil, 1 admic the lecters. n VTR b

17

Letier B read i .
ngﬂ S o in Court,
Jory Tam that I am deprived the pleafure of foeing this Evening bat especially db
H:rﬂu arc in paist God grant it sver apen my knees | &:g{r alths" it méga f"fr a?”:w
dmvs it mujt return and then you will be easy my only oy wil be bappy, bow fball I thank
Jer your very kind Note your tender Manner of expreffing yourself calling me your dear friend
and at ibis time that you fhould recalled we. I wifp 1 dare lye all tbe while by your Bed and
Nurfe you - for you will bave nobedy near you that loves youw as I'ds theu dearefi Angel of
my Soul O that I could but bare your pamn for you I fhould be happy what gricves me mo?
that rh_? who vughr to fecl dont know incflimable Prize the T reajure they bave in you—
thank Ged if it _;E:fr:!dirappm worw M. Creper is ou! of Tocwn and ven may be quiet for a few
daty s [ Jhall go eut of Tozvn tonight but fhall flay jut for an anfiwer pray if you can
Juft write me _ward .Er:nw yeu find yourfelf, I ball be in Tewn by eight Tomorrew Evening in
bopes of b-aring again I am JSure my dugel is mot in greater pain than what ny beart feels for
my adorable Augel I [ent this by D —— fervant fbe it gone to Ranelagh do if yeou write
diveld it to ber the Boy bas my ov.iers & will bring it to me—Adien Gsdﬁ;ﬁ you and I bope
before morwing your déar little one
Directed o A

_Lud.r Grofvener,

‘Letter C read in Conrt,
My dear little dnzel,
Ami this inflant going cut of Tewn ten theufond thanks for your kind mote I am fure
notbing could make my aking beart to night beavable to me than when you [ay you are
Jerfible beww much T love you pray God it nigy ie over before Morning or that you may be betier
I jball be in Town at eight o'clock for I fhail long 1o know bow yeu are dent mention to D
that I wrate by ber fervant to you for I bave erdered biw not 1o tell — Adien Goad night

Ged blefs the Angel of my Sout Joy & Fiappine(s withonr twbom I bave no comfort and with

whom all beppinefs alive an reveir I bspe very foon
Directed o

Lady Grefvener,

My dear Lttle Angel,
I Herote my laft lester to you yeflerday at eleven o' clock juff when e failed Idined at twes’ clock

and as for the afternsen 1 bad fome mufic Lbave my own fervent onboard that plays and ¢
couple of Hands from London for the fix weeks I an out—we were ¢ gosd wauy at Digner T
kbad about g people Xefierday and fball bave more when the veft of my Squadvon joins me they
Raid with me 1l neer feven ——1 got te fupper abour 4 &'elock but I could not Eat, and jogot
to bed about 10——1I then prayed for you my dearelt Jove killed your dearelt licde Hair
awed lnye down and dreamt of you bad you on the dear hiiile couch ten thoafand times in my
arms biffing yout and tellfing you bow much I loved and adored you and yen feemed pleafed bat
alas wben I woke I fmm;r': all delwfien no body by me but myleif ar Sea Trofe &y sime at
balf pajt five and wens upon deck there I found my Friend Billy and walked witih bim for
about an bowr till Barrington came 't me we then breakfaficd abowt &gt o' clock and by nine
I began and exeveifed the Ships under sy command 1ill twwelve st is now one and when I finifh
this {ertcr g0 you my dear Leve I fball drefs and zo ta diuver at tws o'clock i is @ rulz. on board
1o Dire at two, breakfall at eight and fup at wine—eloays of norbing binders me I foall be
a bed by 10 or foon after end wp by belf paft 5 in the merniug in order to bave if thereds
ary o.cafion orders ready for the Fleet wuder my command before I begin to exercife thom ~1
am fiire the acconar of this days duty can be ne ¢ 1o you my .’:::;rr it is exallly wbat
I bave dowe and as I promifed you alwars 1o let you wty motions and thoughts I bave now
perfornedmy promife this duy to you and always woill uniill the very laft lester you faal! bave

Letter D read in Court,

Sromm: wkich will bewben I betiwzen 5 (5 6 weeks bence feud the Adwiraliy word thar [

am arrived at Spithead then I Bali only wait juff for their anjwer which will be wnith me in
@ few boars o firike my flag and then 1 fhall retarn ta you shat infant O wy love wiad axd
bappy Bg#ﬂim;ﬂ"r{f:a tell you bow I love youand bave thought of you ever fince I bave ben
Jeparatcd from you the wind being concrary to day abut ene I pui off dimwer t:ll three 'clack
- - am < - E ll
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in grder to ancher Skips for this Night in Portland Read jult eff Weymouth alont 2 Miles
I bope to fasl tomorvow by 5in the morning 1 bope vou are well I am fure I need not tell you
1 bave bad wothing in my thoughbts but your dearfelf and long for the time to come back again
2o you I willall the while take eare of myfelf becanfe you defire my dear lictle Friend daes the
Angel of my beart pray do you take care of yourfelf for the fake of your faithful fervant wio
lives but 1o love you to adore you, and to blefs the memens that bhas made yon generous enongh
to oton it 10 bim I bepe my dear nay I will dare o fay you never will bave reafon to vepent ity
the Wind wwas not [o contrary but we conld bave [ailed on but I told Barringten that as ir
swas ot fair I would anchor efpecially as I conld fend one of my Frigates in for that I bad
difpatches of consequence fo send to London indeed my dear Avpel T need not tell you TIknow
" you read the reason too well that made me do s0 it was o wrile to you for God knows Twrote
10 o ene else nor shall T at any other but to the King God bless you maff amiable and dearest
little creature living—aimons teujours mon adgrable petite amonr fe
vous adore plusgne la vie mesme
T bave been reading for about an bowr this morning in Prior ﬂﬁj Sind these few lines just
new applicable 1o us

New oft bad Henry changed bis sly disguise,
Unmarked by all but beautzons Harriets eyes;-
Oft bad found means alove to fee the Dame,
And at ber_feet to breath bis am’rons flame ;
And oft the pangs of absence to remove
By letters soft interpreters of love
Till time and induftry (the mighty two
That bring our wifbes wearer 1o our view)

¥ Made bim perceive that the inclining fair
Received bis vows with no reluctant Ear;
That Venus bad confirmed ber equal reign
nd dealt to Harriets beart a share of Henry's pain.

Such is my amusement to read those sorts of things that puts me in mind of our wttual fee-
fugs and fitnations now God blefs you till I shall again bave an opportunity of sending to you,
1 fhall write to you @ Letier @ Day as many days as you mifs bevein of me whben I do ibey shali
all come Friday 16 Fune God blefs I shant forget you God knows you bave told we 50 before T
have your beart awd it lies warmin my breaft 1 bope mine feels as casy to you thou jey of np

life adiew
Direfted to
Lady Grofvener,
Letter E read in Conrt.
Portland Road Saturday v5th Fune
My ever deareft livtle Angel,

'HE Wind te day is net fair fo I fball lay here in Pertland Road till it is and take this

precions mement in fending this otber Note toyon I bope it will find youwell and that you
ave not afraid of being gone out of Town befere Treturn back to you thou levelief deareft Soul
I bave been reading fince my laff Note of Yefierday to you a great deal out of Prior keeping
the Heroine bye 12l I bave read quite thro’ and find many things in it to correfpond with as
exalily

Hear folemn Foves and confeious Venus bear,

And thoy bright Maid, believe me, whil} T fwear,
No Time, so Change no Future Flame fball move
The well plac’d Bayis of my lafiing Love.

Do not think T swanted this Book with me to tell me bow well T loved you, you knotw the
wery Feelings of My beart yet it is great pleafure swhen I am reading to find fiuch paffazes that
coincide fo much with my own ideas of dear you, Iwill write conftantly it is my only enter-
taiwment that aud hearing from you will be except my Duty on board the only thaught or
employment I fball bave er even wifd T bave juft now bad a meffage from fhore it is about 2
miles from W eymouth togo to the rooms this Morning, 1 bave rxm]‘if myfelf being much quicter
onboard and bappier in swriting to you, You are not there or elfe the Boat that fhosld carry
e wonld go too sloww 1 long for that bappy woment that brings me back again 10 all I leve
and to all that I adore indeed 1 am forry my letters are fo flupid, pray write to me you
know wwhetber to fend thew to fend them to D—— or to Mrs Reda— 1 long to bear from
Jou it is now swithin two days of @ fortnight indeed it fecwns forty thoufand years, bow bappy

P

cwben
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when we meet that our letters bas opened to each other the very frelines of our bongfl bearis
permit me fo name yours with mine then they will be werds and ba ppy'}m: Jrem twe of the
moft fincere Friends alive Your beart is well alths futtered while [ write 1a you I bope mine is
flurried too they ought to bave the fame emotions I know they bave they are aioue diffewbling
X mufpt wew conclude God blefs you I fend you tem thosfand kiffes pray cwlen you recerve thas
return them to me for I want them fadly. A

Addien jz vous aime adorable petite Creature je vous adere machere pelite bejouz Pamant
e men coesr
God blefs Iwill write conflantly.
Directed to

Lady Grofvener.

Taomas Denwison examined,

Q. You was one of Lady Grofvenor’s footmen?
A, Yes.
Q. How long was you in my Lord's fervice ?
A. Upwards of two years.
Q. Was you Lady Grofvenor’s footman?
A, Yes,
Q. Did you go with your Lady to Almack’s in February, 1769?
A. Yes, Tdid.
Q. At what time did fhe order her coach?
A. About eleven o’clock. .
Q. Was you there before the time?
A. Twas.
Defendant’s Council. What time do you mean to fpeak to?
A. February or March, 1764.
Plaintiff's Council. In what manner did the Lady go to Almack’s?
A. Ina figored chair.
Q. What other place did fhe go to that night?
A. To the Countefs Donhoff®s in Cavendith Square:
Q. Did any body come after her to the fame houfe?
A. No. lfaw a perfon going before.
Q. Who was that perfon ?
A. It was the Duke of Cumberland.
€. Did you fee him in the houfe ?
A. 1 faw him go up ftairs.
Q. How long did he ftay there?
A. 1 don’t know.
Q. You left him there?
A. Asfar as 1 know 1did.
Q. I fuppofe you came away with your Lady £
A. Yes ;
Q. Do you know where your Lady was in May or April?
A. At Craven Hill.
Defendant’s Council. May, you fpeak of ?
A. Yes.
id you fay of May?
?fr;r'l ::I:::: :gn{lﬂ or I'i?-!n;r the ::r:m from Craven Hill to the Countefs Danhofis.
Council. Did Lady Grofvenor ftay at the Countefs’s any time, and how long ?
A. Yes, two or three hours. . . o
Q. Have you not gone frequently with your Lady to 5t. James's?
A. 1 have.
Q. Did you ever hear her fay what the went there for?
A. She went to fee her fifter. o
Q. Can you fay in what month fhe went to St. James's:
A, It was the latter end of April or the beginning of May.
Q. You have fet her down there?
A. Yes.
. ou know where fhe went when you fet her down? :
% ?I?aze feen her go into St. James's Park, and into the Duke's garden.
Q. Which way did the go into his garden ?

A, Out of the Park. Q. Did
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Q. Did fhe go through the palace into the Park in order to go to his garden ?
A, Yes
Q. Have you feen her go that way, and into his garden?
A. T have.
Q. Who was with her?
A. The Countels Donhoff.
Q. Did you waic there?
A, No, the coach was difcharged for two hours. -
Q. Did fhe return again to the coach at the end of that time ?
A. Yes,
Q. Which way ?
A. I faw her return the fame way.,
Q. Did you fee the Duke any where?
A. Yes, Sir, in the Park, when they have met.
Q. Did he go with her into his gardens?
A. Yes,
. How often did this happen ?
A. About three or four nimes.
Q. Can you recolleét about what time any of thofe inftances happened ?
A, In the beginning of May.
Q. At what nmes?
A. About nine, or therecabouts in the evening.
Q. Generally ftaid abour two hours, I fuppofe?
A. Yes, from nine ol eleven.,

Q. Have you been with your miftrefs in Kenlington gardens ?
A. 1 have,

Q. Can you fix the months ?

A. The latter end of Augullt or September.

Q. Have you been with Lady Grolvenor once, or more than once, to the gardens?
A, Several times.

Q. Who came to her there?

A, The Duke of Cumberland 1 have (een following her up the fame road ameong
the gardens.

Q. Have you feen him with her?
A, No. I never law him with her, only he was following the fame road.
Q. ll}i;! ;.r-:uu go with Lady Grofvenor and her family ingo Chefhire 2
A, I dud.
Q. Can you rell when you fer our?
A, Upon the 23d of Oétober lait, I think, or the 22d.
. Where did you get to the firft day?
A, To St. Albans.
Q. Did Lady Grofvenor go with her own, or hired polt horfes ?
A. Folt horfes. :
Q. Did fhe appear to be in good healdh at that time?
A, Yes, Sir.
Q. Where did fhe ge the firlt day ?
A, To Sc. Albans the frlk afternoon.,
Q. How far the fecond day ?
A. To Towcelter in Northamptonfhire, to the Saracen’s head.
Q. Whar rime did fhe fetout of St. Albans ¢
A. T fancy about ten or eleven o’clock in the morning,
Q. When did fhe get into Towcelter ?
A. About five.
Q. And ltopt there?
A Yes
Q. What time did fhe et out from Towcelter?
A, I think it was near twelve o'clock.
Q. How far did the travel thar day from Towcefter?
A. To Coventry.
Q. How many miles did fhe gothatday ? ;
A, About thirty-four or five.
Q. Where did {he gofrom Coventry ? and what time did fhe fot out?
A, Abourt ten o'cleck.

o

Q. How
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Q. How far that day ?
A. To the Four Croffes.
Q. Thatis an inn in Staffordfhire, I believe ?
A. Yes, :
Q. How far is that ?
& %rh;:um forty miles,
. t time did fhe fet 1
3; :}bnm S off the next morning ?
. What place did fhe fet out for next ?
A. Whitchurch in Shropfhire. i
Q. How far is thar ?
A, About thirty miles,
Q. Where then did fhe go ?
g; E“;:- Eaton,
. What time did (he get there ?
A. Upon Saturday. E
Q. Whart day did you fet out from London
A. Upon Monday afternoon:
Q. You ftaid with your Lady at her feat in Chefhire ?
3_: Did’ bf:
. Uid you obferve any thing particular in her behaviour there 2
A. Yes; the walked out in gﬂ;a dirty weather. e
. What time in the day?
A. About twelve or one o’clock in the day.
Q. Was it fuch weather as made it remarkable?
A. It was very dirty weather, and the fields very dirty.
Q. Was it frequently fhe walked out ?
A. Yes; for a week after the got down.
;‘-!-_ _i:ra:.r do you remember going into the fields with a meflage to your Lady 2
. Xes.
Q. Can you remember what it was ?
A. Some neighbour had fent to know how fhe did and the children.
_."1' i&sic:j}ruu went to deliver this meffage to her in the fields ?
Q. Did you fee any body with her?
A. Yes; a man was ficting down with her, or lying down ; I could not tell which;
Q. Did fhe come 10 you igmm the perfon ?
A. I faw her get up, and fhe ran as falt as fhe could to taske my meffage, and
then went to him again.
Q. Could you tell who that perfon was?
A. 1 thought it was the Duke of Cumberland ; 1had fome trifling view of his face;
it ftruck me chen that it was him, but I was not fure, -
Q. Where did the perfon ftay while fhe came to you?
A. While the was running to me, [ faw him go bchind a tree ; he rather went
Rooping to go behind the tree.
Q. Did you come with your Lady in her journey to London #

A 1 did. :
Q. Was you with ler at St. Albans the 21ft of December?

oA T was. :
Q. Can you give an account of what you faw pals that evening at St. Alban's ?
A. Yes; [ was informed by our Steward (Mr. Stephens) that there was fomebody

in my Lady's room with her ; he called us up ; we was all gone w0 bed ; and he afked

me to go along with him ; he heard two voices, and defired me to come up to the

doar,
Court. When was that ?
A. The 218t of December, my Lord.
Cowncil. Mr. Stephens giving you this intelligence, you went up ?
A, Yes.
Q. What happened then ?
A. Mr. Stephens and his brother faid they could hear two voices in the rcom.
Cenrt. Did you hear two voices ?
A. 1 did not hearken my Lord, I was on of the laft that came into the room.
Council. Was you prefent when the door was opened, how was that got open ?ﬁ_. e
"
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A Tt was burit open.

£, Was you pre ent ? o !

A Yesy and the firft T faw was the Duke ftanding in the middle of the room.

Conrt. Drefled 2

A Yes. 3 ]

A queftion frem the Fury. "What time of night ? :

A. About eleven o'clock ; and Lady Grolvenor got into another room by an op<
polite door that led into it. )

£, What was the Duke about when you firlt faw him?

A. Buttoning his waiftcoat.

9, Was his waiftcoat open when you went into the room ?

A Yes, Sir. ;

9. Are you certain of it?

A. Yes; quite fure of that.

£, Did you obferve Lady Grofvenor’s drefs ?

A. Yes; foon after.

. 'Whart ficuation was her drefs in?
. Her neck was open.

8. What drefs was the in?

A. 1 dont know the name ; it buttons up clofe, and clofe at the wrilt.

£, Are you certain it was made to button up clofe at the top 2

. Yes, Sir.

£, Was thar the vfual way of wearing it ?

A. 1 never faw it otherwife buc thar nighe.

2. Do you recollet any thing that was faid by the Duke, or to him?

A As fpon as we oot into the room, he was v&r;* much confufed, and ftood like
a ftarue ; then he I"nig, Gentlemen, 1 hope you won’t hurt me, or I hope you won’t
do me any harm; he was going out of the door we came in, and Mr. Stephens cried,
ftop that Gentleman, let us fee who he is.

. What happened after that 2

<. He went into an adjoining room, and as foon as he had got into another roomy
he faid, you fee, gentlemen, I am not in che Lady’s room.

9, What anfwer was made to that ?

A. Mr. Stephens faid, I fee you are not in the Lady’s room now, but you was there,

Q). What did he fay then?

A. He faid, I will take my Bible oath I was not there.

9. Did you know the Duke’s perfon very well ?

A, I knowed him very well.

£, What drefs was it the Duke had on?

A, His coat darkith colour, his waiftcoat light colour.

£, What had he about his neck ?

A A flk handkerchief.

£, What fort of wig ?

A. A black or dark wig.

2, Did you fee any thing elle remarkable in his drefs?

A, Whitith breeches and ftockings, like thread ftockings.

Crefs Examination.

£. Was any body with Lady Grofvenor belides her fervants ?

A. None but herfelf and her children.

£. How many children 2

A. Two.

8. What age?

A One two Feﬂrsof age; one under one. “

£. How near was you to the place where they were ficting when you went into the
field to her?

A. At firft T believe it might be about a hundred yards.
2. How ncar when fhe came to you? 3
A. About twenty yards.

£, Was you at St. Albans when the door was broke open ?
A Yes,

2. How many perfons were there?
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A. 1 think there were fix.

£. In what manner was the door broke open ?

A. By our fhoulders.

% Had you any inftruments in your hands ?
. Nothing but a poker.

2, Did all go into the room ?

., Yes, all together.

. 2. You mentioned her Ladyfhip’s neck was open ?
A Yes,

£. Was it not fuch a drefs that if buttoned would fy back behind ?
A. 1 don’t think ir would.

% iuppaﬁ: for inftance a coat, would it keep buttoned ?
. Yes.

-%-, 1*;’w faid you followed your Lady to Kenfington-gardens ?
. LES.
£, Who was with her in general ?
A. Mifs Caroline Vernon was there. :
£, Can you give an account who came up into the raom befides you and the
fervants ?
. The chambermaid and waiter.
Plainsiff’s Council, What time did the fervants of the houfe come up?
A, It was after it was all over—before they examined the bed.
2, ?hcn the fervants of the houfe came up before the bed was examined ?
A Yes, Sir.
L. Then they were not prefent at the time the door was burit open ?
A. Tt was not all over; they were prefent at the examination of the bed.

Defendant’s Council. Then the fervants of the houfe came up in the middle, bel
fore the bed was examined ?
A Yes, 5ir,

23

Eowarp Bexnert, Examined.

8. Who do you live with ?

A. Lord Grolvenor.

_ 8. How long have you lived with him ?
A. Three years, '
9. Whofe fervant was you in the family 2
A. 1 attend my Lord. " )
9. Do you remember going with your Lady in 1768 from the opera to Carlifle-

Houle?

A. Yes; I remember ic very well.

8, Was it a public night ?

A. No; it was private.

€. What time of the year?

A. The month of June, 1768.

Court. She went to Carlifle-Houfe ?

A Yes, my Lord.

9, How long did fhe ftay there?

A. About three quarters of an hour.

Council. Do you remember going with your Lady to Drury-Lane {

A Yes. ' ;

9, Who was with her there?

A. There was Lady Eﬁ:’é'"%_:“"'. :

. Who elfe befides arrington ? _

% There was the Duke Ef Cumberland and Colonel Craiggs.

9, What time of the year ?

A. In February, t;hﬁg. " G

. Do you remember any of them comin :

% I w:s keeping places ?n the play-houte ar Drury-lane houfe, and h:h: Dl?ik:ak of
Cumberland came to the box to me, and told me I might go out; wiru €
care of the box for Lady Grofvener : then I wenz out, and as I came our, nl;:t nl?
Lady coming in ; 1 told her Ladyhip the Duke was in the box, and he would take

r places.
“r.‘%.ufﬂl.::ygu remember going with your Lady to the Countefs Donhoff"s ?

: A Yes.
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A. T:s.h T
. In what month 2 .
% In April or May ; I cannot be fure which.
Court. In April or May, 17692
A, Yes, Sir.

. Goon? .
E.‘ I know my Lady ufed to go there; fhe afked if the Countefs was at home §

the perfon in the houfe faid the Countefs was not at home ; my Lady faid (he ex-

éted here at home, and fhe would waic till fhe came 3 fhe got out of the coach and
ftaid in the houle. : ' :

Q. Do you remember your Lady going to the Countefs of Donhofi’s, and the
Countefs going from her own houle with her?

A. Yes, Sir.

Q. Whete did they go from thence ?

A. To 5t James's.

Couri. Who was that? §

A. The Countefls and my Lady Grofvenor; they gotout of the coach about eighe
or nine in the evening at St. James's gate, and fhe ordered the coach to come about
eleven o'clock ; the coach came, and I went to enquire if my Lady was ac Mifs Ver-
non’s; and as we were going, I met my Lady and the Countefs, and the faw me and
my fellow-fervant, and then they came to the coach.

Q. Did you actend my Lady Grofvenor at Chefter ?

A, Yes, Sir.

Q. Did you go with her?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you remember the places the lay at ?

A. Yes, Sir.

Court. He need not repeat them.

Q. Do you remember Lady Grofvenor coming from Chelter?

A, Yes, Sir. ., :

E_—_%_nd her being at St. Albans upon the 21t of December ?

. Yes.

Q:_ What happened there that nighe #
A. My Lady's fupper was urdercd about eight o'clock ; and about three quarters

of an hour after, the maid came into the room to us lervants at fupper, and faid, my
Lady was going to bed ; fhe had a warming-pan in her hand; and the faid, my
Lady defired we all fhould go to bed ; we went fometime aiter ; and I belicve we
had not been abed half an hour before we were called up.

Cexrt. What time might that be ?

A. About half an hour after ten,

Council. By whom were you called ?

A. By Mr. Stephens.

Q. Go on.
A. 1 got up, and went into another room, where I faw Mr. Stephens, and his bro-

ther the ferjeant; Mr, Stephens went down flairs with a dark lanthorn in his hand,
and told us to ftop till he had given the fignal ; and when he went down to the door,
he put his ear to the door, and faid, he could diltinguilh two voices whilpering in the
room ; upon which Mr. Stephens immediately gave orders we fhould puth the door
with him, and we did.

Ceurt. You burlt open the door ?

A. Yes, my Lord, we pufhed three parts of the door before it gave way : as foon
as we got in, the firlt perfon I faw was the Duke of Cumberland, ffanding about the
middle of the room.,

A gentleman of the Jury, How long was you breaking the deor open ?

A. We pufhed three times, as hard as we could.

Furyman. That allowed time for them to come from the bed, my Lord.

Court. Was you a minute or half a minute ?

A, 1 believe one or two minutes.

Court, It is very difficult for any man to meafure time.

Benmett. When 1 went in, the Duke of Cumberland was buttoning his waiflcoar 3
and at the fame time, my Lady was making her elcape; going into an oppolite door
and as fhe was going to open the door, the turned herfelt round, and 1 faw her
breait ail bare; Bir. Stephens followed her into the other room.,

Q. Did
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Q. Did you go into the other room then ?

A, Nuo, Sir.

Q. Where was the Duke ?

A. He was going away ; and Mr. Stephens faid, Don't let that gentleman go by,
till we know who he is ; the Duke then went into the room with the Lady.

Q. Do you remember any further particulars ¢

A. I faw lim put his two hands together, and he faid, He would take his Bible
oath he was not in Lady Grofvenor's room.

Q:. What chen ?

A. My fellow-fetvant then faid, I will take my oath I faw you both in her room;
the Duke faid, Young man, have a caution of what you are going to fay ; tharis all [
remember at prefent ; only Mr. Stephens afked the Duke feveral times, who he was ;
and he would not tell him ; then fays Mr. Stephens, Sir, if you will not tell, I muit let
them know who you are s on which he faid to him, You are his Royal Highnefs the
Duke of Cumberland ; and then he turned to us, and afked us, if we were Jure who ig
was ? We all replied, it was his Royal Highnefs the Duke of Cumberland, and we
would take our oath of it.

(. Did Stephens bid you obferve any thing elfe ?

A. No. )

Furyman. Did you fee any body put their hand upon the bed, to fee whether
it was warm or cold? T

. A. No, I did nor——after that, Stephens told his Royal Highnefs, he was welcome
to go where he would ; we came all out of my Lady’s chamber, out of the ather room,
and we looked ar the bed; Stephens called the maid ; I obferved the bed was tumbled
on the outfide of the clothe:; both fheers were tumbled on the outfide of the
bed ; the bed-clothes were wrned down.

Crefs Examined,
Q. Were the clothes unfolded?
AxNo, Sir, ]
Ceurt. Not turned down ; but tumbled on the outfide 2
Council. Was the bed wurned down, or was it not ?
A. N3, Sir.
Q. Part of the theet that was turned over, I take i ?

A. Yes. , b
RoperT Giopincs ¥xamined.

Q. Are you ane of the fervants of the Duke of Cumberland ?
A, Yes, Siﬁr. :

. What lervant? ;
% Gentleman porter to his Royal Highnefs,
Q. Do you know Lady Grofvenor ¢
A. I have feen my Lady. :
Q. Pray Sir, do you recolleét her going out of town 2

. No, Sir. :

- & D:ynu recolle@ her being at St. Albans in Oétober ?
A. In Ofober? [ don’t recolledt.
Council. In Oftober, 1769 ¢ a
I don't recolleét fhe was there then, :

& Did you accompany the Duke of Cumberland there in D&ober, 1765
A. 1did.
Q. What day in:gt&ittaj :

. 1 don't recollect ¢ y i :
A. Dun;uurfmcw whether Lady Grofvenor was there, when you was with the Duke

at St A:ll?ns !

. 1 do not. '
31 Did you fee any fervants there, that you might know ta be her fevants?
A. 1 did not. _
Q. What time did you and the Duke acrive there 2
A. T don't recollet the time.
Q. Day or night ? :
A. It was in the afternoon.
Q. Was any body elfe with the Dukzi} A He
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A. He had a fervant with him,
Q. What is the name of him ?
A. John,
. Has he no other name ?
A. Swan— John Swan.
. Where is he now?
A. He is juft here in the houfe.
Q. You can’t fay there was any of Lord Grofven®r’s fervants there that afternoon,
or any in his livery ?
A. I don't know there was any ¢ T did not know his livery at that time,
Q. What time did you ftay there ?
A. We ftaid all nighe.
Q. Did you not return to London ?
A. I don’t remember it; 1 made no minutes of it.
Q. Where did you go when you left St. Albans ¢
A Went forward for Stony-Stratford. :
Q. Immediatcly forward for that place ¢
A, Yes, Sir.
Q. Where did you lie the night after ?
A. I don’t recolledt ; 1 made go minutes of it
Q. Have not you been at the place fince ¢
A, Iﬁhavc.
. Within this fortnight ?
% Yes. -
Q. Then I fhould think you could tell the mames of places; where did you lay
the fecond night ? . /
A. Ar Towceefter.
Q. What time did you get into Towcefter ?
A. Towards evening,
Q. Where did the Duke ftay that evening? in what part of the houfe 2
A. He dined below.
Q. Whart time did he dine ?
A, 1 don’t recolleét the time he dined.
Q. How long did he flay in the room before he dined 2
A. I can’c fay.
Q. Did he fup in his bed-chamber - :
A. 1 don’t know whether he fupped at all ; he drank tea afterwards;
Q. Where did he drink rea?
A, 1 believe in his bed-chamber.
Q. Was there any thing particular in the bed-chamber ?
A. I believe I chalked the door ; it was done either by him or me before him ; J
made it a rule to chalk the door.
Q. What time did he go 1o bed?
A. 1 don’t recollett the time.
Q. Upon your oath this evening did you put him to bed at Towcelter ?
A. I don't recolleét whether [ cigid or not ; I generally put him to bed.
Q. What time did he leave Towcefter 2
A. It was early in the morning,
). What hour ?
A. 1 don't recolled.
% Eid the Duke pafs in his charaéter of Duke of Cumberland at Towcelter 2
. (4N :
E. ';Nhat drefs was he in ? .
- In plain clothes; rather like a country farmer or fquire,
Q. How was you dreft ? r s
A, :_;udns dreflt much the fame as the Duke, ’
. 1hd” you give yourlelves an i i i
ch:f;ﬂcr : you give ¥ ¥y particular pames, or pals in any particulas
A. 1 beligve we might.
Q. Speak what they were ?
nm:::- Jult what names came in my head; T was not ordered to give any particular
Q H_“I you no ordaers to give fiftitious names® - o . i i .
5 i A. No

[
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A. No.
Q. How eame you to give them ?
£ I gave them of my own accord.
Q. What name might you give his Royal Highnefs in Towcefter ?
A. I don’t recolleét whar,
Q. Nor what you paffed for at Towcelter ?
A. We mighe pals fometimes asfarmers; but whether we did or not at Towcelles;
I don’t remember.
Q. Where did you go from Towcefler ?
A, To Coventry, I think ; or we returned to town.
Q. Was it day or night, when you fet out from Towcefter for London ?
A. I believe it was late in the afternoon.
Q. You fay the Duke was in his bed-room; you can’t fay whether you put him to
bed or not?
A. He was in his bed-room.
Q. You told me he fet out early in the morning from Towcelter; can you fix
the tme he fec ouc?
A, I don’t recolleét the time; it muft be very carly in the morning, but Idon’t
recolleét the time.
Q. Can you recollect the hour?
A. No.
. When did you get to town?
% Some time the nE::-c: day.
Q. What time ? perhaps you might guefs from that, what time you might fer out
of Towcefter ?
A. It might be about eleven o'clock next day.
(3. How long did you ftay in town ¢
A. A few hours.
Q. Was it a court day ?
A. It was,
Q. What day was it ?
A. T don’t recolleét what day, or what occafion.
Q. Was it not in Odtober? - :
A I believe it was the latter end or beginning of Oftoher.
. Nor you don’t know the occalion of that court day ?
A. No; I do not. . :
. Did his Royal Highnefs remain in town or at court any time 2
A. Not very long ; he went back the fame road that evening:
Q. You went to Towcefter again then ¢
A. Yes, Sir.
. What time did you get to Towcefter ?
A, That I don’t know ; we went on to Coventry.
Q. What time did you get to Coventry ? ‘
A, In the morning; it might be nine or ten o'clock,
Q. What hnuil'c id you go to at Coventry 2
A, The Bull-Inn.
Q. Did you make any enquiries for company that had been there ¢
A. 1did not hear of any enquiry there.
Q. Did you make any enquiry
A. 1 made enquiry for John Le Brun.
Q. Was he gone ¢
A. He was gt;n:.
. Where to!?
E.L Caftle Bromwich, in the road to Chefter,
Q. Did you ftop at Caftle Bromwich?
A. We changed the horfes there.
Q. Where did you go to that night ?
A. To the Four Croffes.
Q. What time did you get to the Four Croffes ¢
A. Early in the afternoon.
. What time in the afternoon ? ;
A~ 1 don't recollect what time in the afternoon,

Q. Did you ftay there all night ? ; A, Yes,

LY
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A, Yes.
(). Was the Duke incog. there ?
A. The fame as before.
Q. What did he pafs for there 0 ;
A, I don't recollect whether it was farmer, or what fictitious name I gave his
Royal Highnefs, 3
Q. Did any other company lie at the Four Croffes that night?
A. [ believe none.
Q. I afk you at the ume if you knew there was any other company 2
A. I believe none; I fpent a good deal of time in my bed-chamber.
Q. Where did he pafs the evening ?
A, In his own bed-chamber. |
Q. And you can’t fay whether there was any other company in the houfe or not?
A. I can’c fay.
Q. Did you fee any carriages or fervants ?
A. T don't recolleét T did; there might be people there; and I could not tell who
came afterwards, when [ was up fairs.
Q. How came you to be fo long up ftairs ?
A. I was fatigued. §
Q. How foon did you go up ftairs to relieve your fatigue ?
A. After dinner.
Q. At what time did you leave the Four Croffes ?
A. The nexe morning,
Q. At what time ?
A. It mighe be five, fix, or feven o’clock.
Q. Did you recollect, at the Four Croffes, faying any thing to the Duke of Cum-
berland with refpeét to the condition of his mind ?
A. No; I did not—I might fay any nonfenfe that came in my head.
e Q. Do you know whether any mark was fer upon the Duke's door, at the Four
rofies ©
A. I don’ know; probably I might mark it; I believe it was.

Q. Did you, in the courfe of your journey, mark the room where his Royal High-
nels was to lie?

A. 1 believe we did, in order to know where it was in a long gallery from the reft.

Q. When you went from the Four Crofles in the morning, where did you get
that nighe?

A. To Whitchurch.

Q. What Inn there ?

A. The Red-Lion. -

. What time might you get into that Inn?

A. What hour I don’t recollect.

Q. Did the Duke dine in the inn; and in what room ?

A. In the room below ftairs.

Q. How long did he ftay in the room below ftairs ?

A. Thae 1 don’t recollet ; it was fair time, and a hurrying time ; and that was
the reafon he went into his bed-chamber as foon as he had dim:ﬁ.

Q. So he retired into his bed-chamber which was chalked as before ?

A. Yes, Sir.

Q. Do you know whether Lady Grolvenor lay there that night ?

A. I donot

Q. What became of you there ?

A. I likewife went to my room there too.

Q. Fatigued as before ?

A. T did not chufe to be among a thoufand country farmers.

Q. What might you pafs for there, if you did not chufc to be among farmers ?

A. We might pafs as farmers,

Q. Then you can’t fiy whether Lady Grofvenor’s carriage was there that night ?

A. | faw nothing of that.

Q_ Nor of the fervants ?

El.l_'; I;:J\Iﬂi: of the fervants.

: at time might you fet off the next morning ?
A. About five, ﬁx?cr 1I|Ilj,','l,.u.,-[:y, : E

Q. At
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. At five o’clock it is dark 5 at fev i ieve ; can’
ﬁm%morf S 3 en fcarce light, I believe; can’t you fix the

A. I don't recolleét.

Q. Where after Whitchurch 2

A. At Barnhill.

Court. Where is that ?

A. This is in the laft day’s journey.

Cosncil. Lady Grolvenor got home that night,

Q. How long did you ftay at Barnhill 3

A. An hour; or an hour and an half.

Q. While there, did you fee Lady Grofvenor, or Lady Grofvenor's fervants ?

A. A family went palt while we were at Barnhill ; | : .
venor’s family. & arniull ; he thought it was Lady Grof-

Q. Where did you go next ?
3; Next l!l; Chefler.
. What Inn did you po to at Cheller
A. The Faulcon. et
Q_ How long did you ftay at the Faulcon-Inn ?
A. Two nights.
Q. What time did you get there that day ?
A, Pretty early.
Q. Did you dine there ?
A. I don't recolleét thae,
Q. What became of his Royal Highnefs that night ?
A. His Royal Highnefs went that night from thence to Eaton.
Q. Dud he rewrn to the Faulcon that night ?
A. Yes, Sir.
Q. Was you with him ?
A. | was.
Q. Did you go on horfeback ?
A. Yes
Q. Where did you flop at Eaton ? what was your bufinefs there ?
A. His Royal Highneiz wene co fee Lady Grafvenor,
Q. How long might he ftay there ?
A. A few minutes.
Q. Then you returned ?
A. Yes.
Q. You came to the Faulcon ?
A. Yes.
Q. You lay there?
A. Yes.
Q. What became of you the next day ?
A. The next day he wene to fee Lady Grofvenor.
Q. Did he come back that night to the Faulcon?
A. Yes; we came back that night to the Faulcon. ;
Q. Do you know what his Royal Highnefs paffed for there ?
A. He paffed for a farmer.
Q. Do you know the name you palfed by there ?
A. Generally Farmer or Trulty.
Q. What name did his Royal Highnefs pafs for ?
A. I might fay fometimes Farmer ; fometimes the young Squire j==1 might be-
fore company fay Farmer.
Q. Did you chalk the door of the Faulcon where you lay ?
A. 1 don't recolleét whether I did or not.
Q. What became of you the next day ?
A. I believe we went to Barnhill.
Q. Do you recolleét the day?
A. It was Saturday.
Q. It was Saturday you got to the Faulcon at Chefter?
A. It was on a Sarurday.
Q. The next day he went to fee Lady Grofvenor ?
A, Yes, Sir.

Q. Upon the Monday what became of {quf o
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A. I believe his Royal Highnefs faw my Lady Grofvenor again upon the Monday.

Q. You believe he faw her upon the Monday ?

J’L- Yfﬁi SJI.F

Q. Where did you lie upon the Monday ?

A. I believe ar Chelter or Barnhill.

. Where the next nighe?

A. At Marford-hill in Denbighthire, the other fide of Eaton.

Q. Did his Royal Highnefs go to the houfe of Lord Grofvenor ?

A. His Royal Highrels did not.

Q. Where did he fee my Lady then?

A. He faw her jult between the iron rails of the Garden wall, where he ftopt two
or three minutes.

Q. And never went into the Garden that you know of ?

A. No, Sir, never; [ was always with his Royal Highnefs.

Q. No other time that you know of that he might go without you?

A. No; I was always with him ?

Q. At Marford-hill ; you lay ar Marford-hill ?

A. Yes.

Q. What became of you the next night? Where did you go the next day 2

A. The nexe day his Royal Highnels went to fee Lady Grolvenor again,

Cenrt. Where did he lie the third night ¢

A, At Marford-hill, my Lord.

Council. Did he ftay two nights at the Hill ?

A. Only one night ; I don't remember ftaying any longer than one night; then we
returned to town.

. Was it a fudden occafion your returning to town ?

A, Tt was fudden ; I thoughe his Royal Highnels was known ; and cherefore T de-
fired him to quit the country as foon as poffible ; that I advilfed him, and he did it
accordingly.

Q. That was the reafon ?

A Yes

Q2. Do you know whether Lord Grofvenor came into Chefter that evening or not 2

A, No; Ido not know of Lord Grofvenor's coming there.

Q. Sg then his being known was the reafon? Where did you ruli'.ﬂ:& his hﬂng
known

A. At a little place called Ecclefton.

. And that was the reafon of his coming to town ?

A. Yes, Sir.

Q. How long did you ftay in town before he went upon the Chefter road again ?

A. I don’t recolledt how long it was.

Q. How many wecks ?

A. I cannot form any idea of that; I have quite ¢ it.

Q. Can you fay whether he did take that road again?

A. Yess he did.

Q. In what month ?

A. 1 believe it was in November or December.

Q. Did you go to Chelter in your fecond journey ?

A. His Royal Highnefs came through Chefter to Marford-hill.

Q. When did he arrive at Marford-hill ?

A. 1 don't recolleét the day, nor the nme.

Q. Was it in the evening or morning he arrived 2

A. In the morning.

Q. Do you know what became of his Royal Highnefs that day ?

A. He went to fee my Lady Grofvenor that day.

Q. Did he go to my Lord’s houfe at this time 2

A. He went into the fields not far from the houfe.

Q. Did he or not go into the houfe at any time ?

A. He did not go into the houle,

Q. Where did he lie that night 2

A. His Royal Highnefs returned and lay at Marford-hill, !

E:; %‘: hat became of him the next morning ? 10

. L'he next morning we faw Lady Grofv again, near the fame place.

Q. Where did you Iif that night ¢ ! e e

A We
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A. We returned to London,
9. Were you at Earon ?
A. We were in the fields near my Lord’s houfe,
% Was you at any houfe there ?

. We called ar Ecclefton.
9, ?: the fame houfe where you was before ?
A Yes.

. Where you fufpected you were known ?

A Yes.

% #ru:l you called at the fame houle again ?
H+

%_ '{_‘h-:n you returned to London from Marford-hill ?
. €5,

£ Do you recollet receiving any letter from Lady Grofvenor #
A. 1 did once. )
8. Whar time was this ?
A. It was in the latter end of December,
ﬁ: How came you there then{ I thought you accompanied the Duke to town ?
- 1 was fent back with a parcel to Lady Grofvenor.
2, Did you carry that parcel to Lord Grofvenor’s houfe ?
. 4. No; not to the houfe—I faw the Lady walking in company with more ladies
in the fields, and there [ delivered the parcel to her in the fields.
2. Did you find her in the fields going there ?
A. 1 faw her as T was going over the ferry.
2, For whom was the parcel direted ?
. 1 obferved it was a parcel undirected.
At that time ?
. At that very time; and T received a parcel from the Duke,
£. You received another in the fields for whom 2
4. For the Duke of Cumberland.

Crofs Examination.

2. 1fhould be glad to learn of you when it was you firft found Lady Grofvenop
had any thing to do with the Duke’s journey into Chethire 2

A. Near Eaton ; berween that and Barn-hill.

8. Till you got to fome place in the road about Barnhill, it had not been com-
municated to you that the Duke's journey had any relation to Lady Grofvenor ?

A. No, Sir; there he told me he went to fee Lady Grofvenor, i.gril: was poffible.

9, There it was for the firlt time you learnt that the Duke’s journey was for the
purpofe of feeing Lady Grofvenor ?

A Yes, Sir.

. During two days the Duke was at Chefter, you fay, and one or two days at
Marford-hill ; and again upon the fecond journey, I believe, upon each of thefe days
the Duke faw Lady Grofvenor, at one time a few minutes near the garden, at ano-
ther time in ficlds near the houfe ?

A. Generally in the foot-way near the houfe.

8. The other times in the fields in the neighbourhood of the houle?

A Yes.

9, I fhould be glad to afk whether, during thofe interviews, you was or not within
fight of Lady Gm%rtnur and the Duke ?

A 1 always was,

@, Within fight and within hearing ? _

A Yes; and oftentimes, if I was going further, fhe bid me ftay where I was,
and ftand by him. !

2, HavinE returned from thefe two expeditions, you went down with a parcel, and
brought back a parcel ?

A Yes, Sir. L ;

@, I believe the faét was, you accompanied the Duke upon his laft journey on-
wards, which terminated ac St. Albans?

A. Yes, Sir. : 2 ) :

9, During thefe interviews, were they walking about, or fometimes fitting down ¢

A. Somerimes walking, fometimes fitting on the ground. 2 1a

2 .
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4. In 4l thofe fituations you was with him?

A. Yes; always. _
2, YZu wcn[};:u St. Albans with the Duke the laft time ?

. Yes, Sir.

;,{ Ptr]:aps you recolle®, that there have been fqm: ftrange I’mrics in the News-
papers about a fuppofed conneftion between the Duke and. Lady Grolvenor abeut
that time ?

A. His Royal Highnefs told me there was fuch report.

9. Do you recollect that fome little time before you got down ?

A. Yes, Sir.

9. By this time you was fully apprized of the fecret, that the Duke had a degree of
attention to Lady Grolvenor {

A Yes, Sir.

2. You underitood he went there on purpofe ?

A Yes, Sir.

8. When you came there you faw the family

A T can't fay I did; 1 faw nothing of them at Eaton.

9. Do you know their livery ¢

A. 1 know it o be blue and yellow.

2. The laft time you law them at St. Albans you knew they were in the houfe ?

A Yes; 1 learned fometime afterwards, that Lady Grolvenor was there.

€. Did you make any obfervation of what was going forward, or doing, in the
courle of the evening there? my queftion was not what any body told you, but what
you oblerved ?

A. ™o other than that his Royal Highnefs went there to fee her.

2. Did you take notice of any thing particular before that breaking into the room
we have heard of?

A Yes; Ifaw a man at the door making holes through it; 1 obferved him, and
told his Royal Highnefs, that there was a perfon in blue, boring holes in the door.

. You obferved a man, in a blue coar, boring holes in the door ?

A. Yes, Sir ; and his Royal Highnefs faw it as well as I.

2. Whar time of day might that be?

A. It mighe be about nine or ten o'clock in the evening.

£. Can you tell exactly the time ? '

A. 1 don't know exactly whattime. :

9. It was before the adventure of what afterwards happened at the door 2

A. Yes, Sir,

£. Now, Sir, where was you at the time we are told my Lord Grofvenor's fer-
vants Brlt opened this door ?

A 1 was in bed.

. You was alarmed by the noife, and got up?

A. 1did; I thought the houfe was coning down.

. Where were the parties when you got up?

A. The parties were in Lady Grofvenor’s bed-chamber, with fome of her own fer-
vants, and fome of the maids in the houte.

2. You found in the bed-chamber, the fervants of Lord Grofvenor, and a fervant
or two of the houle ?

A Yes,

8. Were neither the Duke nor Lady Grofvenor in the houfe ?*

A. The Lady was in the bed-chamber ar thar time.

L, Thenthe Duke was not in it at that time?

A No.

£, Was you led to oblerve the condition of the bed at that time ?

A. Yesy 1 heard two perfons bid the fervants of the houfe examine the bed, to fee
whether it was tumbled or nor.

£, What was the condition of the bed ?

A. It was as if one perfon had fat upon it to pull off their fhoes, and no more.

2. Toyou it had the appearance of a perfon fitting upon it, for the purpofe of
undreffing 2 '

«A. One perfon and no more.

<. Had ic the appearance of having been lain in ?

A. Not the leaft in the world.

8 To
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), i ' i 1
l}ri;" ;I‘-: you it had the appearance of a perfon prefling it, by fitting, and not by
. Not by lying. -
:&E, Iﬂ?i‘i ?:r thing difordered about the bed, that took your eye
m 8 "
::f ﬁ{c:‘l!g;g, bue the prefure of the clothes, by fomebody’s fitting upon it ?
2 }‘Tlmddmr was iII; the gentleman in blue was boring holes in ?
<. 1hat door was the door I underftood Lad -
9. Was it the outer door? e A i
A. It was the door next the paffage. y
2. How was the perfon dreft chat was boring the holes ?
A. I think in blue, and a fcarlet collar,
£, Had he acandle in his hand 2
A 1 believe he had.
. Where was you?
<. In the Duke’s room.
9. gc-ul-:! you fee the window ?
<. Yes; I faw through both the windows the man boring holes in th .
2, Did you fhew that to the Duke of Cumberland ? o Wt
A. 1 faw him go into the room ; I faw him examining the lock of the door.
. Was he alone?
. I faw bur one man.
2. And this was the door which was afterwards burft open ?
A. Yes, Sir,

Jouw Burton examined.

2. Are you the waiter at the Saracen’s-Head, at Toweefter 2

A Yes, Sir,

£, Do you recolleét Lord Grofvenor’s family being at the inn, at Toweelter, the
13th of Oftober, or thercabouts ?

if‘i Yﬁ. ij-

% Do you recolleét what day ?

- It was upon a Tuefday in Oélober.

8. What time of the day did they come in?

A. About five o'clock, to the belt of my remembrance.

9. Do you recollect any other perfons in the houfe that day ?

AA. Yes ; fome gentlemen came in abpur two o'clock.

Court. The laft witnefs proved the Lady was there at the time with thofe perfons.

Council for the Plaintiff. Your Lordfhip fees Giddings knows nothing of the matter,

Coure. I thought you proved by the firlt fervant, her lying at Towcelter ?

Council for the Plaimtiff, We could not fix the days; fo we mult thew they were at
the inns at the fame time.

9, to the Himefs. Give us an account what time they came in ?

A. They came in about two o'clock ; they ordered pork ftakes for dinner; and
while they were drefiing, they defired to fee their room.

Cswrt. What is this witnels to prove ?

Council for the Plaintiff. The circumitances of their journey ; when they came in ;
and when they went up ftairs ; and fo on. : 3

Cours. If it goes to the fat of feeing them together, it would be material evidence ;
if it only goes to their being at Towcefter, Coventry, and the other places, itis not
material, as that is fufficiently proved already.

Council for the Plaintiff. It will be for the confideration of the jury, whatis the
effet and manner in which the Duke and Lady Grofvenor behaved, different from
what we could poflibly learn from fuch a witnef(s as Mr. Giddings,

9. to the Witnefs. You fay they came in at two o'clock ? ‘

A. Yes; and two of them dined below ; and while they were at dinner they defired
that there might be fome ftakes fene up ftairs to the third perfon; two were in the
parlour, and he was writing above fRairs, and for that reafon they defired it to be

~ carried up. k R o L
2. Do you know who thole per nsw::rel 4 Ooe
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A. One I am confident I have feen fince; 1 think I have feen two of them; T am
certain I have feen one of the perfons twice or three times; I am quite clear to two

erions
5 Q. Who was the perfon you faw fince, that was one of the perfons ?

A. One of the perfons whom I am certain [ have feen fince, I underftand o be one
Giddings; the other I think was his Royal Highnefs the Duke of Cumberland,

Q. What time did they go away from Towcelter ?

A, Asfoon as they had dined they went up ltairs; asit was night the machines were
going away, 1 alked chem if they fhould have occalion for the parlours, they faid no.
While T was waiting at fupper, the perlon I fulpected to be his Royal Highnels, afked
me what company we had in the houfe; I acquainted him we had two machines and Lady
Grofvenor. He then afked me where we ulually laid our pafiengers that came in the
machines; [ told him it was according to their appearance, if genceel people they lay in
genteel beds, if not, otherwile.

Q. Was Giddings with the Duke at the time you told him Lady Grolvenor was in
the houfe #

A. Yes; he was.

Mr. Wedderburn. My Lord, T hope that will not be chought an immaterial circum-
ftance, after Giddings’s evidence, who faid he did not know Lady Grofvenor to be there.

Q. When fupper was done, what time did they go ofi?

A. They faid they expeéted a farmer to meer, and pay them fome moncy, and
they fhould go away at twelve o’clock if the perfon they expeéted did not come;
they fhould want a chaile, and afked if they could have one; they were anfwered in the
affirmative; the horfes were harneffed, and betweea twelve and one o'clock they fee
off, as I was informed.

Mr. Dunning. All that proves what has been proved already, their being at Tow-
cefter, Coventry, and every ocher place upon the road.

Court, Whether he {peaks true or falfe with regard ro his knowing it or nor, it will
not vary Giddings’s evidence, for he is took throughour, and you can't call a witncfs
to contradict him.

Mr. Wedderburn, If it was to contradi@ him in fuch a cafe as this, it always fupplies
the reft of his reftimony, fuppofing Giddings heard ir, and did not know ir.

Court. He fpoke out to more material points where he did know.

Jawe Cuanvron examined.

Q. Where did you live in Cctober laft ?

A. Ar the Four Crofies,

Q. Do you remember upon the 26th of Odlober lait, or thereabouts, any perfon

coming to your houfe that you remarked particularly ?

A, Yes, Sir.

Q. Be fo good to fay who they were, and who they appeared to you?

A. They appeared like a gentleman and two fervants.

Q. Can you defcribe them?

A, One was a luftyith man, the other 2 young man.

Q. When the gentleman and twolervants came, who did they fay they were?

A. They did not fay any thing at firft.

Q. Tell us what they faid to you?

A. The fervant faid his name was Morzan.

. Do you know the gentleman? Have you feen him fince? Who was thae

gentleman?

A. His Royal Hizhnefs the Duke of Cumberland.

Q. Who did they fay they were?

A, The fervant told me the young gentleman®s name was Morgan.

. What were their names, the cther two ?

A. They did not tell me who they were. -

(). How long did they ftay at the houle ?

A. Till five o'clock the next morning.

2. Who Thewed them their rooms?

A, 1 did,

Q. Be fo pood 1o fay what paffed upon your fhewing the rooms?

A. Nothing in particular, as I know of.

Q. Do you remember whether there was any other family in the houfe that nighe?
3 A. There
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A. There was,

Q. What family was that ?

A. Lord Grofvenors.

Q. Was Lady Grofvenor there at that time ?

-A. She was,

Q. In the houfe at that time ?

A Yes,
- What time did Lad 3

ET About four or five g:t?nrcir?rcmr i

Q. What time did the Duke come ?

5; ENI;I: Duke cz;‘me in about two o’clock.
; ere was the Duke 1

A. In his bed-chamber, i

Q. When did he choofe his room ?

A. The Duke had chofen his bed-ch }

Q. Where did Lady Grofvenor lay e s

A. In the next room.

Jawe Ricnarpson examined.

Q. Where did you live in lait Oftober?

A. Arthe Red Lion at Whitchurch.
ho% ?Dl::r you remember upon Friday the 27th of Odtober what company was in your

A. Yes, Sir; there came three gentlemen in.

Q. What time in che day ?

A. I believe abour two o’clock.

Q. Do you know who they were?

A. One was his Royal Highnefs the Duke of Cumberland.

. By what name didhe goat Whitchurch?

A. The old man that was with him told me he was a young Squire, and he was an
clderly man and a tator to take care of him, '

Q. Whatwas the reafon he wanted care to be taken of him?

A. He wld me he was foolith, my Laord.

Q. Was there any other company in the houfe?

A. Another man came with him.

Q. Was there any other family in the houfe ?

A. Yes, Sir; Lord Grofvenor's family, and Lady Grofvenor.

Q. What time did her Ladythip come in?

A, Abourt five o'clock, ] believe.

Q. Had the Duke chofen a bed-chamber before Lady Grofvenor came in?

A. Yes; and they chalked the door, Sir.

Q. Did Lady Grofvenor chule her own bed-chamber?

A. Yes, Sir.

Q. What room did fhe chufe?

A. The nexe to that that was chalked. She was fhewn the belt room next the
dining-room.

(). Was that the bed-room then ?

A, She chofe a very bad room, that was damp, and the windows were broke, and
it was very noify.

Q. Did you tell her Ladyfhip thofe circumitances ?

A. I did.  Her room was backwards, and part of it was over a gateway, and part
over a parlour. X

Q. Did you obferve in particular any thing after they were retired 1o their rooms
that nighe?

A, Igl’nw nothing in particular.

Q_ Whar time did her Ladythip go to bed?

A. 1 fancy it was between cight or nine ; it was before nine.

Q. Whar time did you fay the Duke of Cumberland went to bed?

A, Some body ranga bell to take the things away, and [ neverfaw them afterwards.

Vo e time 2
A. About four or five o’clock.

Q. Did you obferve any thing particular after the things were taken away ? i
. Ne.
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A. No. ;

Q. What time did her Ladylhip retire to bed ?

A. Before nine o'clock.

(2. After this, did you obferveany thingin the houfe particular 7 ,

A, 1 never faw her Ladylhip any more after {he afked me to (hew her into her bed-
chamber.

Q. Was ;n}r body with her in her bed-chamber ?

A. No, Sir.

(). After that did you ebferve any thing in the houfe ? 3 ;

A, Yes, Sir.  There was a noile'in the houfe in the pafiage, like a ruftling of cloaths,

Q. Did you go to obferve what was the marter 2

A. I wenttofee, and the room where the Duke lay was open.

Q. Did you go up [tairs ?

A, 1 was up ftairs.

Q. Well, what happened then?

A, 1 went and locked myfelf in, and fhut the door immediately, being afraid of
harm.

Q. What did you fay you heard ?

A. 1 heard a rultling of cloaths in the paffage.

Court. Has (he faid what that rultling was?

Wignefs. It was a rultling of cloaths in the fame paffage ; they did not go by the door
where I was, neither up ftairs nor down.

Q. But It was in the pallage?

A, Yes, Sir

Q. What time did the Duke and his company go away ?

A. I can’teell, 1 believe it was before it was light.

Q. Who made the Duke's bed the next morning?

A. 1 did.

Q. Did you obferve any thing in the bed ?

A. Yes, it was particularly tumbled, and more fo than could be by one man; it was
more tumbled than ever I faw ; it was not as if it had been left after any bedy lying,

Q. Did you obferve any thing more particular in the bed?

A. When I went to take the cloaths off 1 found fome pins in it, but I cannot tell
how many.

Ceurt. Was that in the Dulke’s room ?

A, Tt was 3 the upper fhieet was all in a ruck together, and there was feveral pins;
but I cannot tell how many.

Q. Where were thole pins ?

A, I oblerved them between the fheets.

(. Did you obferve any thing elfe particular but its being much tumbled and dif-
ordered, and the pins in ic?

A, No, Sir.

Q. What time did her Ladylhip go out that morning ?

A. She had her breakfaft in bed at eleven o’clock.

Q. Did fhe appear to be in good health when fhe came in the night before ?
A. Yes, S

Q. Did you look at my Lady's bed, did you make that?
A. Yes; bucl did not fee any thi;g particular in that.

Crofs Examination,

Q. You faw my Lady was in bed next morning ?

A, Yes, Sin

Q. She lay in a damp bed, did you fay ?

A. The room was damp.

(2. Did you fay the pins were between the theets ?

A. The upper one, 5ir, wasall in a ruck, and the pins within them,

-Q_Where did the fervants lay ? Who lay in the next room upon the other fide
behind the Duke’s bed ?

A. Mr. Scephens and the cook.
Q. They are fervants of Lady Grofvenor ?
A. Yes; and that is on the other fide of the paffage,

5 : Q. You
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Q. You faid that was the room Stephens and the cook lay in, next to Lady Grofye-

;-m,—;j ;{.::n the other fide of the paffage, do you mean by that oppofite ?

Q. Whereabouts was ic?

A. It was the neareft room upon the oppofite fide.

Q. Any body coming into my Lady's room, or the others, muft have come into
that paffage ?

A, Yes,

Q. Which door was the neareft ?

A. They both go in the fame ward together.

Mary Spencer examined.

Q. Do you live at Whitchurch ?

A. Yes, Sir.

1 {:_:;';Upun the 22d of laft Oftober, do you know of any perfons coming to your
oulc?

A. Yes, Sir.

Q. Your inn is the Red Lion at Whitchurch ?

A.. Yes, Sir.

Q. About what time of the day did they come?

A. A lictle after two o'clock.

Q. Do you know the perfons that came there ?

A. No, Sir, Ido not.

Q. Can you delcribe them #

A, Yes, Sir.

Q. Pleale to give an account ?

A. He was a young man,

Court. What is this witnefs to prove ?
ﬁ;"'&ﬁmﬁ’s Gouncil, This witnefs is only to confirm the laft witnefs in feveral circurgs

ces.

Q. You know when they were chuling their bed-rooms ¢

A. Yes, Sir.

Q. What obiervations did you make st chac time?

A. They chalked the door.

Court. The porter has proved that they chalked all the doors till they came to Chefter;
What occalion is there to afk twenty witnefles to that? no body doubts what he fays
againft himfelf.

Joun Jowes examimed,

Q. Where do you live, Mr. Jones?
A. At Marford Hill.

Q. Do you keep a public houfe there ?
A. 1do

b_:_ Do {r:m know the Duke of Cumberland ?
A. I do.
Q. Was he ever at your houfe?
A, Yea
Q. Do you recolleé the firft time the Duke of Cumberland was at your houfe #
A. Yes, Sir.
Q. What day was that ?
A. The firft of November. : ;
Q. That was the firft time you ever faw his Royal Highnefs ?
A. Yes, Sir. ' .
Q. What time did he ftay «ill ?
A. He ftaid tll the fecond.
Q. Was he ever there again ?
A. He was.
. When? 4
% Upﬂ: the fecond of December. It was on Saturday month he went away. He
came a Saturday about a month before.
Q. How long did he ftay upon that occalion ?
A. Till the third. 2 Qin
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. In what habit did he appear ? i

,.% He appeared in a m:rﬁﬂi cloth, in the habit of a farmer.

Q. What day?

A. The third. .

Q. Pray who was he attended by at that time?

A. He was attended by one Giddings.

Q. Have you feen him fince ?

A. I have.

Q. Who elfe? 4,5l

A. Idon’t know; there were two with him., _

Q. Youdon't know where he went from your houfe each time?

A, Wo, I donot.

Q. Did he go by any name? it

A. The Duke went by the name of the young Squire, or farmer, in difcourfe; when
his back was turned he went by the name of the young Squire by Giddings; but
when prefent, he would be called nothing but farmer in difcourfe.

Q. How far is your houfe at Marford Hill from Lord Grofvenor's fear?

A. [ believe about five or [ix miles.

Q. When did they go away from your houfe the firlt time you went down ¢

A. The fecond of November, which was upon a Thurlday.

Joun AxpErTON examined.

Q. Do you live with Lord Grolvenor ?
A, Yes, Sir.
. Where do you live with him?
A. At London.
Q. Did you live with him in 17692
A. Yee, Sir,
Q. Do you remember his Lordhip"s coming down to Eaton in November2
A, Yes, Sir.
. Do you remember what day it was?
A. The third of November, tothe beft of my knowledge.

Q. Had you any orders about any horfes?
AL I had orders to fend horfes when [ came from New-Marker with the faddle

horfes. 1 fancy it might be about twelve horfes. I got down about the fecond of
November, and ordered the horfes tomeet my Lord the third, at Whitchurch, about
nine or ten o'clock, and he came down accordingly.

MatTHEw STEPHENS fwornm, Examined by Plaintiff’s Conncil.

Q. Ibelieve, Sir, you were at St. Albans when this affair happened, do you recolledt
the day? '

A, 1fI'hd: 21t of December.

Q. How came you to go to St. Albans?

A. I was attending Lady Grofvenor from Chefhire.

Q. You came along with her from Chethire?

A. Yes, Sir.

(). Now, Sir, will you give an account of what happened at St. Albans, after you
came there in your journcy to London; whart fufpicions you had, and the ground of
them, and what you did in confequence of it?

A. 1 had a great many reafons for fufpicions from information.

Q. What time did you getinto St. Albans?

Az Tt was about fix o'clock when we gotinto St. Albans.

(). Wasany ather company in the houle?

A. When I got in, I enquired, and found there was two gentlemen; I had grear
reafon to fulpeét, from the informations we had had, it was his Royal Highnels the
Duke of Cumberland, and two atrendants.

Q. In confequence of thefe fufpicions what did you do?

A. 1 ook the firft opportunity of examining the room where Lady Grofvenor lay,
or was to lay, and in order to make a difcovery of what I fufpetted, I bored two holes
in the chamber door, and tholfe two holes I ftopt up with paper, and examined the

fituation of the room, and the room adjeining to it, and then went down to the Bull,
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to pals by my lefe fide, and did Fﬂ further palt me, and fpread out his hands and faid,
Gentlemen, you fee | was not found in the Lady's bed-chamber; 1 faid, You are not
there now, but we did find you there, or we faw you there, I can’t fix to the very
word; his Reyal Highnefs anfwered me, (I think it was about that time, in anfwer to
my faying we faw you there, befaid,) 1 will take my Bible oath I was not there; I an-
fwered again, We faw you there. His Royal Highnefs exprelt a greae deal of fearand
horror, and feemed to {:u: apprehenfive of fome danger to his perion, and faid fomething
to me; I told his Royal Highnefs, You may be perfeétly ealy, your perfon is perfectly
fafe, or words to that effeft; he feemeda lictle ealier: then I demanded of him who he
was, and what bufinels he had there; he made me no anfwer tothat, and [ repeatedir;
he {aid if [ would walk with him into another room he would tell me; 1 faid [ want o
know who you are, and it will better be done here: 1 turned about to my brother and
fervants upon the left hand of me, and faid, Do youknow who this gentleman is? my
brother ftept forward and faid, I know him very well to be his Royal Highnefs the
Duke of Cumberland; I alked if he would fwear it was him, he faid he would: 1 then
told his Royal Highnefs he was at liberty to go where he pleafed, [ was very forry to
be employed in fo difagreeable a bufinefls, and his Royal Highnels was at liberty to go
where he plealed.

Q. Di{lpyuu make any obfervations about the bed ? :

A. Yes. After this was decided, my brother walked to the fire firft, T think, and
then towards the bed, and faid it was neceffary to make fome obfervations of the bed;
we looked upon it, and the curtains were about a yard and half undrawn, and all drawn
except that part; the bed was preft to the foot, and very near the bollter, but within
about fix inches of the top of the turn-down, from the bottom of the bed to the top of
the turn-down the fheets or within a few inches of that, was tumbled as much as a
bed could be, if there had been a greatdeal of time takenaboutic. Thefheets, which
I think were very fine ones, were turned down very low, as for people of fafhion they
commonly are, and they were tumbled to a great degree. The maids came in, the
chamber-maid and Mrs. Langford, the miﬁrcl%nf the inn; Tafked her what the thought
of ity fhe faid fhe could fee no impreflion but of a perfon ficting down; I faid this is
not fo, but like the fame all over; and if I recollef, I fat upon the fide of the bed to
convince her that the impreffion of fitting down was very different. I took norice of a
dent at the farther fide of the bed, which Itook to be the impreffion of a head ; it laid
lower than any other part of the farther fide : thefe were all -;Ee obfervations then made
vpon it; after that 1 wentinto the paffage: 1 don't recolleét any thing elfe material.

A Furyman. 1 thould be glad if your Lordihip would afke thar witnels when he bored
the holes in the door, whether he had a candle with him or not?

Court. He bored the holes when fhe was down at fupper, as I underftood.

Q. to the Evidence. Was it not {o?

Srepbens. Yes, it was fo.

Furyman. 1 thought it proper to afk if he had a candle, as Giddings fpoke of feeing
him. :
Court. Do you know if there was any candle in the room or paffage when you bored
the holes ?

A. I don’t recollect whether I carried any candle; there was a light from the fire I
semember perfeétly well ; I went within fide the room,

Q. Can you remember if youwas in a blue coat?

A. I was, my Lord.

Furyman. Do you know where Giddings lay?

A, I'was not fure.

(2. Does that room command the place where you ftood to bore the holes ?

A. There is a window in the room that Giddings lay in; I don’t know whether it
does not in fome degree; itis a flanting view of the window in the paffage, 1 believe,
but I am not quice fure.

Crofs Examination,

Q. Are you acquainted with a lady of the name of Alice Williams?
A. No. Idon’tknow no lady of that name. ;
Q. Do you know a lady of the name of Charlotte Gwin ?
A. No. To the beft of my recolleétion 1 do not.

. In 1765, or 1766, was you acquainted with thofe ladies?
A. Itispoflible I might know them without knowing their names.

Q. You never knew a lady called by that name?
A. Not
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A. Not that T recolleét.

Q. Do you know Mrs, Collier that keeps an inn at Chefter ?

A. 1 did know there was fuch a woman kept fuch an inn,

Q. Whar inn was it ?

A. The Faulcon.

Q. Do you remember carrying a letter to a lady there named Gwin, from Lord
Grofvenor?

A. [ remember carrying fome fuch a thing to a lady at the Faulcon.

Q. From whom was that meffage carried?

A. From Lord Grofvenor.

Q. What might be the meffage?

A. Tt might be a letter that his Lordfhip wanted to fpeak to her.

Q. Did you hear for what purpofe the lady came there to the Faulcon at Chefter?

A. No, Sir,

Q. Did you know from whence fhe came?

A. T did not know from whence (he came.

Q. Do you know what place fhe went to from Chefler?

A. I believe there is a houle near Chefter called the Caftle, belonging to Lord Grof-
venor, and the lady went there according to the meffage I had taken, to meet my Lord
Grolvenor.

Q. Where did fhe go to Lord Grofvenor?

A. To the Caitle.

Q. Didyou go with her, or meet her there too ? :

A. I was there about the fame time fhe was, butdid not go with her.

Q. What was the purpofe fhe met Lord Grolvenor for at the Caltle ? Did you leave
them together at the Caftle?

A. I believe fhe might ftay at the Caftle about ten minutes, not more.

Q). Was you with her during that time ?

A. No; [ was not.

0. Did you introduce her to Lord Grofvenor ¢

A, I intreduced her into the houle.

Q. Did you conduét her into the room where Lord Grofvenor was ?

A. I conduéted her into a room where my fifter-in-law was; I believe I rold her
rhere was a perfon come to fpeak to Lord Grofvenor, and defired my filler would go
out of the room. ’

Q. In order to make ronm for Lord Grefvenor to come in?

A. Yes, Sir.

Q. Do you know what this lady’s bufinefs was ?

Al digl' not, nor I do not. :

Q. You fay fhe ftaid about ten minutes at the Caftle ?

A. 1 believe fhe did. :

Q. Did fhe and my Lord go out together, or did my Lord ftay after ?

A. 1 think he ftaid after. g

Q; Did my Lord go after her 2 '

A. Notas I know of. ;

Q. Did you know what name the Lady paft by at that time? s

A, It is moft likely, if I carried the letter the name was vpon it; Ithink it was a
melfage from Lord Grofvenor for her to come and fpeak with his Lordfhip, but I don't

at all recollect the llzlalgte. £ . <l
. Do you recolleét the time, in the year 1765
% I du]:-mt recollect thetime; I believe it mighe be in 1765 ; Icannot fix the year,
I took fo little notice of it .
. What age was the lady in appearance ?
A, By what I guefs fhe mighe be five or fix and twenty.
AFuryman. My Lord, [ think this evidence has not given any account how he found
Lady Grofvenor and his Royal Highnefs as to their drets.
Caurt. Did you fee any thing of Lady Grofvenor’s drels ? .
A. She fell down, and 1 moved fo quick to her afliftance, and the Duke turping

d b left hand, I did notobferve it. 1
mlglmnr ﬁgr :ny thing particular in the defendant’s drefs when you fir(l went into the

room 2 Who went in firlk?

A T was Grit. L. y i
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Furynan. Was it by Lord Grofvenor’s direction you burft open the door, er of your

own head?
A. It was his direétions to me, that I was to take the beft meafures for cblervazion

that I could.
Joun Steruess fwern. Examined.

Q. Were you at St. Albans upon the 21ft of December laft?

A. Yes, Sir.

Q. Were you at the White Hare, Sir?

A. T was, Sir.

Q. Do you remember any thing particularly which happened there?

A, Yes, Sir,

Q. What happened there then?

A. T think it was fome minutes afeer ten o’clock, four or five of Lord Grofvenor’s
fervants bur(t open the door, where Lady Grolvenor was upon the bed; it burlt by
the hinge fide; I ftood there, and the moment the door was broke open, upon the
other fide [ faw the Duke of Cumberland tand there, and I faw Lady Grolvenor fall
down fome fteps into an adjoining raom; his Royal Highnels followed into the adjoin-
ing room; I followed, and the fervants followed; when we came into that room, his
Rl})-al Highnels was afked who he was, and what bufinefs he had there; he made no
anfwer to the queftion at firft; upon being afked again, he faid, Gentlemen, rake
notice 1 am not in the lady’s bed-chamber: he was then afked who he was; he did not
give any anlwer to that, but defired my brother or one of the fervants to go into ano-
ther room, and he would fatisfy him: be feemed to be much confuled, and did not
anfwer to the queftions very readily, nor did he choofe to declare himfelf there.

Q. As o the particular oblervations of the bed, what do you recolleét?

A. After the fervants had been afked if they knew him, and he was told he was at
liberty, we returned and went towards the fire, and looked at the bed; I opened the
curtain, and {aw the bed rolled exceedingly Aat; I thought it was fomething very par-
ticular; and then the chamber-maid was called, and we afked her if the bed was in
that fituation whenthe lefe the room on the over night.

Q. What were your own obfervations on the bed?

A. The bed was exceedingly tumbled, and the coverlid in litele wrinkles 10 many
places, as was the theer which came half way down the bed, and the bed was excesd-
ingly flat, as if ic had been laid upon; not flat in one place only, but slmolt all over,
except the boliter: I did not obferve the boliter was Hatned at all, only all the other
pare of the bed.

Court. Did you oblerve any thing particular in my Lady’s drefs?

A. No; Ldid not. '

. Nor any thing particular in the defendant’s drefs?
A, 1 did not, any more than what he had on; I obferved what he had on.
Plaintiff’s Council. We reft it here for the plaintiff.

Mr. Dunning,

MAY it pleafe your Lordfhip, and you Gentlemen of the Jury, I have the honour
to be of council for his Royal Highnefs the Duke of Cumberland in this caufe. Gen-
tlemen, in thatcharafler it is my duty to fubmit to your confideration fuch obfervations
as occur to me upon this caufe, as it ftands at prefent upon che évidence thae has been
produced upon the part of the plaintilf, and to ftate to you fuch further evidence as I
am inftrudted tolay before you, upon the part of the defendant. - In deing this, 1 fhall
not addrefs myfelf to your paffions, for that is not my bufinefs, nor my prattice; and
if it was both, I fhould think it highly improper to do fo upen an occafion like the
prefent; conceiving myfelf to be talking to gentlemen fully apprized of the nature of
that bufine(s and duty, which you attend here to difcharge, and to attend only to the
evidence withour adopting any degree of partiality for either of the parties; to depend
upon the evidence, to decide upon that evidence, and according to the fair refjle of
that evidence, to give your verdiét upon one, or the other fide, as you fhall find the
fadts to have been proved, or that proof to fail of its object. Gentlemen, I fhall not
bellow any encomiums upon the £ﬁ:il}f of the marriage-bed, of which my learned
friend has much experience, myflf none, butlreverence and refpeét that firuation as
muchas he can do.  In the next place, 1 fhall not beftow any thofe epithets, the

violators of that facred right deferve ; fo far as is necelfary you will beftow them, if any
perlons
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make none: but you will confider it as acaufe between A. and B. attendin ':nr:lmthil
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the ground of which you are to pronounce your verdiét. The learned g-:mlem;n E:hu
is of council for the plaintiff, tells you, how truly I don't know, nor is it to my pur-
pole to enquire the prefent plaintifi’s title to that relation, the rights of which he con-
ceives to have been violated in the inftance that gives birth to this action, that it fprun
from a motive of affection, that the lady was amiable, that her perfon was en . in $
her fortune not inconfiderable, and her fettlements ample. I do not precifel E:Ed 3
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fo proved by the evidence. If this was natural affection, and if that afﬁ:ﬂi::m at the
time did produce that marriage, and thole ample fettlements, I with that aficétion had
continued inviolate, and that the parties to this hour had no occafion to complain of
eachother. T wifh it had been true, which the reverend chaplain fuppofed ro be true,
that they had lived in mutual affection tll the moment of this wanfadtion ; unfortu-
nately it has happened otherwile, through whofe fault, who is to blame, and what pro-
tion of blame is to be divided between them, fo far as is material here, you will
judge before the caule is over.  Gentlemen, this particular caufe has been divided into
four different parts, and the action is reprefented to you as capable of being fupporied
by either of the four, and that they are moft abundantly fupported by all four put
together, The firlt head of proof confilts, it feems, of a great variety ﬂfyprivalt meet-
ings in and ebout thistown, {ubn after this acquaintance between the wifc of the plain-
tiff and the now defendant; and though my learned friend profeffed himfelf unaﬁk 0
mention the period, the evidence has gone a great way towards it; and the evidence
proved that the Duke of Cumberland has been {een goi into, and coming out of
Carlifle-houle in company with Lady Harrington, Co%m?ﬂm’ggs, and Lady Grol-
venor, three or four of them mget{cr; and though it may be proved ro you their
having fat in the fame box at Drury-Lane play-houle, as anather perfon has been cal-
led to fav to you, it is cercain nothing of acquaintance began till about the period |
am fpeaking of; for all the witnefles have fix'd it up to the moath of May, 1560, or
April; pare faid the monthof May. From that time, and until the Autumn following,
when Lady Grofvenor went into Chefhire, as well ar the beginning of the time, as ar
the time fhe was brought to bed of the child fhe was then pregnant with, and before
the Duke failed on the cruize reprefented o you, which occalioned an abfence of fix

weeks, as well before this period, as afier the recovery. of the one, and the return _:f
4 the
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the other, in different places they are rcpr:frn_tc:l to you to have met at; ur]d witnelles;
have been called to prove thofe meetings : from fome of my- | ord Grofvenor’s fer-
vants, you have heard thar they did, upon different eceafions, carry their Lady to the
Countels of Donhoff's, and a fervant or two of my Lady Donhoff's made a part of their
evidence, the particulars of which | will confider prefently. The other parts of it yoo
heard were that Lady Grolvenor went to Kenflington gardens, and upon one or more
- gecafions the Duke was feen with her in the gardens,  From others you have learnt (he
was feen going into Cumberland-houfe in the Park ; and I don'c recollect any’ other
place of m-::c'gin.g but Kenfington gardens, Cumberland-houfe, and | ady Donhofi’s ;
I think there is no other place of meeting to which this opening and it head, or
branch of evidence refers: and a greac deal, 1 fhould think, cannot even in point of
inference, in point of conjeture, or in point of fulpicion be inferred, of two at lealt
of thofe places of meeting.  When the fame witneffes prove Lady Grolvener was feen
in Kenlingron garden:, that prove the Duke was likewife feen there, not with her,
but in the fame walk, in which it was reprefented the Lady was atr that time accompa-
nied with her fitter, and fhe reurned wich her fifter.  'Whether the Lady and the Duke
ever met in the courle of thofe walks, has not been made appear, and icis not material,
1 can hardly conceive the gentlemen of council for the plainuff would defire you to
fuppofe any thing of the fort is fufpected by themielves to have paffed in the courfe of
thole meetings: they certainly did not mean it; it would be uncandid and unjuft, if
they harboured even a fufpicion of that fort.  With refpeét to the meetings at Cumber-
land-houfe, when the natore of thofe meetings are explained, and attended to a lictle,
they will not appear fo bad as that kind of evidence infinuates. It amounts rto this ;
Lady Grofvenor in company with Lady Donhoff, walking through the palace, fet
down, I think the footman fays, at the gates of the palace; they wallked through the
gates of the palace into the Park ; in the Park they were met by the Duke of Cumber-
land, and wpon his invitation they walked with him out of the Park doors into
Cumberland-houfe. I never have yet heard, and I fuppofe it will hardly be infifted
upon to-day, that there is any criminality inthar, when you conlider a married lady in
company with another lady accompanying the Duke in the Park, and into Cumberland-
houle; upon neither of thofe things can any ftrefs be laid, that is to alford proof of
itfelf, or towards proof of that which is incumbent upon the plaintiff to prove. The
third head of evidence under this branch deferves a little more particular atcention, and
it i5 of ilelf -u:rtain}:r of more 1 riance; [ mean o fpeak now of the m:—:tings at
1ady Donhoff’s, when Lady Donhoff was ablent. It would be highly unbecoming
of me to anfwer what my ideas, or what any body's ideas are, that we ought ever to
attempt to conceal from you; though berwecn thefe parties there did, aboutthe periad
we are [peaking of, arife, and increafe a ftrong attachment or paffion (we will call ic
fo, if you plealc) from one to the other; but itis fortunately not my bulinefs to de-
fend erther of the parties againft the imputation of indifcretion; it is not my bulinels
to defend them if they chole to repeat it fo again, nor from the immorality of enter-
raining fuch a paffion between an unmarried man and a married woman ; uniortunately
paffions are not fo ealily governable, as in all cafes to diftinguith very nicely what is
the relations, which itis tne intereft of civil fociety to form and maintain; theyare not
fo under command, but paffions like thefe do fometimes rife, improper as they may be.
It is as lictle my purpofe, and indeed as little in my power, to defend either of the
parties againft the impuration of having in thefe fort of meetings ated inconfiftently
with the rules of decorum.  If the gentlemen call the pafion immeoral, be it fo; if the
conduét indifcriminate, be it fo; if a violation of the laws of decorum, it certainly is
fo. I truft, whether I can fafely or not, | muft do it; but Iapprehend I may fafely
admit all this, and yet moft firmly ftand upon the only ground which it behoves me to
maintain, and defend one and the other of thefe parties againit the imputation whieh
this declararion conveys, of actual, criminal intercourfe having paffed between them
at any of thofe places; that only is the jet of this action, and nothing elfe is to the
purpoleof this adtion. How far their conduét may be cenfurable, or criminal, if the
phrafe be a favourite one, it fuffices for the prefent purpofe to fay, if eriminal, noz
criminal to the degree this aftion fuppofes. The particular evidence 1 have now in
contemplation, is that which relates to the tranfaétion at my Lady Donhoff’s, and you
have this account from the only witnefles capable of giving any, that is, the man and
maicl fervant ; the man is the hufband of her that was left in the care of the houfe, who
are both evidences upon thisoccafion. The evidence | am going to confider particu-
larly, all goes to corroborate chis caule, namely, that the Duke had met Lady Grof-
venor at Lady Donboff’s ; the hufband was called to prove his perfon, and to prove
that
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that they were there at one of thofe meetings, which Lady Donkoff®s maid.fervant
has %wcn an account of : Elizabeth Sutton, the maid's account of it is this, thar it
was fometime nbuutlt.’nt latter end of May ; and upon the 7th of June, you wﬁ| recol-
lect and bear it long in your memory; Lady Grolvenor was delivered of a fon fometime
in the latrer end of May, which immediately preceded that June the 7th on which the
was delivered of a fon, the Duke met Lady Grolvenor at Lady Donhof’s; the fervant
fays her miftrels was gone out of town in the evening of thatday; and you are defired
by the opening to fuppole that Lady Donhof®s abfcnce was the inducement of their
meeting at her houle, and that the parties were apprized Lady Donhoff was abfent,
1 don’t fay they were not fo. It appears in the evening fhe went away, Lady Grof-
venor came to her houle, and being informed (he was aﬁ!‘:nr. told the maid (he ima-
gined her miftrefs would return at night; in fact the did not return: foon after came
the Duke, who was reprefented as Lady Grofvenor’s brother, was fhewn into the fame
room where Lady Grofvenor then was, which, it feems, was my Lady Donhoff's
drawing-room; the houle, it feems, is in Cavendifh Square; itwas about eight o’clock
in the evening, in the month of May, when it is broad open day light; the Lady
coming there in her carriage awtended by my Lord’s own fervants; t‘:n carriage return-
ing in the fame manner; the Duke coming there in a chair; the chairmen lettin
themfelves in by a double knock ; all thefe circumitances, which don’t fpeak much &
privacy, under all thefe circumftances they met at Lady Donhofi”s. It is faid no fort
of conveniences were wanting that they might wifh for ; what they are we are yet 1o
learn from conjeture; it is faid there were two tables in the room, and when the maid
carried in the candies, fhe was direfted to put them upon cne of them; there were
fome chairs, and a couch; Iam yet to know if there was any other convenience about
this room, that indicated any intention of the parties mecting there.  As foon as it
grew darkifh, the maid, w'ltgﬂut waiting for the candles to be called for, went to the
door ; fhe knocked at the door, and (he was anfwered from within, Comein; fhecame
in, and the door, it feems, was opened from without, without any interpofition from
within; fhe brings in the candles, places them as direéted upon one of thole tables ; the
parties were [itting upon the couch: now my imagination is not potent enough to im-
ly from all thefe circumftances, that fort of infinuation and tranfaétion which my learned
riend thinks abundantly proved. But I can conceive, the parties fond as they have
been of fecking all opportunitics of meeting and enjoying cach others company, mighe,
very innocently, if by innocency | am underftood to mean with reference to the cnime
now charged upon them, go into Lady Donhoff’s room, reprefenting the gentleman
who was Lord Grofvenor's brother, may fit upon this couch with the Lady, nay, he
may, if my learned friend pleales, kifs upon this couch; I can conceive all this to be
innocent, and conceive if they came there, and fat upon the couch, and the lock of
the door open, that whoever pleafed to come in might come in, there was nothing to
hinder them; and when this woman did unexpeétedly come in, fhe faw nothing in their
fiuation to ftrike her attention; (he faw them ficting, and nothing chat excited any
particular attention, or introduced into her mind that there was any thing improper
pafling there : that is in the cleareft proof, not becaufe fhe fays fo, but becaufe
fhe fays that which demonftrates this. She learned from her hufband after-
wards, who let the defendant out of the houfe, that that perfon he fo let our,
was the Duke of Cumberland, She remained in the error of (uppoling the Duke was
the Lady’s brother ; what then could induce any one to believe, there was any thing
eranfacted inconfiftent with the relation of filter and brother, when, in this woman's
belief and obfervations, nothing had paft between thofe parties inconfiftent with the
fuppofed relation of filter and brother ¢ This fort of vifit was repeated, I think the
witnefs fays, three times. The firt mIE'ht the Lady went out of town, the fecond
was the very night following, the third fhe is not fo precife in that, but it was there-
abouts ; if you confider what happens immediately afterwards, it could not be at a
long diftance ; you find foon after that Lady Grofvenor was delivered. For two
nights fucceffively, or within an interval of a night or two, :htﬁf parties met in. this
fort of way at my Lady Donhof”s, where they did at thefe meetings expect or ima-
ine Lady Donhoff was to return to town. The talk of the Duke’s being Lady
rofvenor’s brother, was only to prevent any fufpicion of any thing being carried
about of his not being further attended, as he only met there to converfe. I don't
know, nor is it at all material, if this proof ftanding by itfelf would have fupported
an aétion like this: there are fcarce any two people whofe conduét of life has been
fo prudent, as not to find themfelves in the predicament the defendant flands; to be
called upon, and be refponfible for an ::?'Itim which never fublifted, by their meet-

ings
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ings in and about Londen, without laying much ftrefs vpen the circumftance,
which, if wanting, would operate a great deal, namely, the condition of Lady
Grofvenor. It is not ufual in the common courfe of things, that women would be
capable of receiving lovers in the way this attion fuppofes. From the account you
have of thofe meetings, there is a third perfon prefent at many places, conftantly
and at every inftance both at Cumberland-houfe and Kenfingron-gardens; and tho'
there was no third perfon at Lady Denhoffs, yet the opennels of the door, as you
have heard, the woman coming in and out wichout _l'ul']".'tf:"l:lnf; any thing, believing
them to be fifter and brother and nothing elfe; 1 am fure you will agree with me,
in thinking it neither affords proof, nor prelumption, ner probability, nor even
fulpicion, 1f it ftops there: if the circumitances of fuch meetings don’t go to the
excluding fuch fufpicion, I profefs mylelf unable to judge fuch fort of caule; I am
now confidering on what fort of circumftance I am going to confider. As well as [
am able I will now confider the circumftance that was commented upon, which arifes
from the Duke’s letters; and if I was unable to jullify the conduct of the parties in
thefe meetings with regard ro decorum, to prudence and propriety, Iam fure, Iam
equally unable to jultity them upon any of thofe grounds in writing and receiving
thofe forts of letters : bur let us {ee whether thefe letters carry the evidence further
than it was before we got to them ; whether there is any thing in thofe letters which
affords that irrefiftible conviétion you are told arifes from them. You are told, thefe
letters could not be looked upon without a degree of blame, and I adimic it ; you are
told, that the two laster letters were ftronger than the two former, that the refer-
ence in the one to fome couch, and as the gentleman on the other fide would have
you think it to be that couch which they ﬁ;vc deferibed o be in Lady Donhoff®s
room, that reference alone imports thac fort of tranfaction impuced to the prefeng
aftion, what palt upon that couch : and the manner he fpeaks of the Lady his
correfpondent having acknowledged her affeétion for him, and thanking her for
owning it; it imports, fays he, that fhe, as a married woman, had given the
laft proof of her love, by a gratification of that which he hoped for; and that a
woman, a married woman, acknowledging thar paffion, fhould have given proof of
it was certain. Gentlemen, I do conceive it is not enly very poffible, but very pro-
bable, and whar is more, very ufual, for the acknowledgement of an after-paifion
to precede thar which is the proof of it; and I do conceive, that as an unmarried
erfon having acknowledged a paffion, and not have an idea of gratifying that paf-
jon, a married lady might, though more imprudently, more indecently if you
pleafe, acknowledge a paffion without pre-fuppofing the paflion gratified. The
pafTages themfelves that are principally relied on, are in the two lait letters, for I
did not obferve my learned friend laid much ftrefs upon the two firlt letters, they
importing, as my learned friend fuppofes, great paffion upon the part of the defen-
dant to Lady Grofvenor; but in the two lalt letters, the paffages feleéted for thefe

fort of obfervations are thefe ; the one is written from fea, the Duke reprefentin

himfelf as employed in thinking of Lady Grofwenor in her abfence, as dreaming o
her, and fancying in thofe dreams he had been kifling her ten thoufand times, and
telling her how much he loved her.  Now unlels it is impoffible for the pafiions
unbridled and unreftrained, to go a pitch beyond that which imagination would not
have gone to in othér moments ; unﬁ:l': you can conceive it his defign to go farther
than he had ever gone before, no fuch proof feems to me to refule fairly from thefe
letters. They contain the molt indifcrece expreflions thac can be ufed ; the terms in
which they are written do not feem to hide or take one jor from the ideas; bue
what is there in them that imports any thing criminal having paffed wpon the fup-
poled couch, or what is it that refers to that couch, o as to be an improper or cri-
minal tranfattion ? I confefs myfelf unable to difcover any fuch thing. It the duke
had really employed himfelf in telling her how much he loved her, and accompa-
nicd this converfation with thofe carefles, or kiffes if you pleafe, is it in the nature-
of things, in going that length that it muft neceffanily imply the parties muft have
gone their whole length, of indulging that criminal paffion to the higheft degree in
which it is capable of being indulged ? Is there any thing in the nature of things like

that ? Is it not perfe€tly inconfiltent with thofe expreflions, to fuppofe them to

one jot further ? Why or wherefore from the impartial expreffion of better reafon
did they not ? Was ic for want of better opportunities? But from what caule
r, no matter what, if it does not amount to that fort of prefumption which is
tantamount to the full proof of it, all this may have been done, and yet the defen-
dant not guilty of that criminalicy which this a&tion fuppofes : from the abfolute
IMpOFE
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import of the letters themfelves, every body that under .
admit, it is unfupported by that evidence, and cmrcqum?f Z:thmr;:{'::,’rfif;ﬁ"&"?::
the gentlemen to expect or you to give.—Gentlemen, there is a ciratjon of a
in_this letter, and my learned friend feems o fuppofe, it is impoifible without eri-
minality had paft that an unmarried man, writing to a married woman, could have
made ufe of this fore of paffage, or applied the lines read to you by the =
manner they are applicd. My learned friend forgets from whence the ‘pall"age
comes, or the ftory it arofe from 3 you all remember it came from a perfon to ano-
ther between whom no fuch ceiminal intercourfe had ever paffed: | never et
underftood, that Prior’s Emma was fuppofed to be the fubject of a criminal 'mr,}:-_-.-.
courfe ; though it might be applicable to the fitwation he was in, or the Lady he
was addrefling ; he applies this paffage to their fituation, he does fo 5 fuch fays he.
is my amufement, to read thofe fort of things which puts us in mind of our mutual
f:telmgs and fitvations. Now what were thofe feelings, and what were thofe fitua-
tions ¢ feelings as warm, as ardent as you pleafe to underitand them; the fame
feelings which actuated the breaft of that Henry whofe charaéter this Henry was
then adopting, actuated this Henry's brealt ; and fuch were the fituations bepween
that Henry and that Emma, as beoween this Henry and this Harrior he was thus
addrefling ; and if the fentiments and firuation were the fame, [ beg leave 1o fay,
they both are free from the imputation thrown upon them by this aétion. [ may be
told, that Henry and that Emma were neither of them married perfons, and per-
haps it was the object of both to become fo 5 in thar difference confifts the dittine-
tion ; the paffion in the one cafe was laudable and innocent, in the other caie it was
certainly blameable, and certainly Rriétly fpeaking not innocent; but was it blame
of the fort this aftion fuppofes ? ; fhould apprehend, you are all along taking it to
be of another kind of blame than that which is charged upon them.  Gentlemen,
the fecond letter in which he thanks my Lady for her generofity, in owning this
degree of paflion to be mutual, that other letter is of the fame fore; moit cer-
tainly, he lﬁankﬁ the Lady for having been generous enough to own that her paf-
fon and his were mutual : I think this oo is in a paffage recited by, or referable 1o
the fame author, Prior, and it contains affurances of the continuance of this attach-
ment, in fuch words as uncealing, cternal, and fo on, in their letrers ; all thefe are
expreflions which neceflarily of courfe make a pare of fuch letters. When people
arc once got t a length of writing love-letters, they are got 1o a length of writn
very foohith fubjeéts in a very foolifh manner ; and whether aftuated by the paffion
it&rr'f', or from mere natural expreflions, the fhort and the long of it are much the
fame, the Lady is his very humble fervant, and is fo very generous as to own it
the other letter feems to me to be tantamount of every thing ftated by the former ;
but I beg leave to inlift, 2 man may writc and a woman receive fuch letters as thefe,
and yet neither the one nor the other guilty of the offence of adultery, nor ever
intending to be fo; lamenting if you pleafe, according to what the French poer
obferves, lamenting that cruel bar, a removal of which never would happen dll the
deaths of fome parties, and furviving of others, referring to that which my learned
friend {uppofes to be gratified ; I fhould rather think, paffions fo expreft had not
been gratitied. Gentlemen, I have never found the gratification of the pafiion
increales the ardor, and revives the eternity, duration, and God knows what; they
rather increafe as we go on in thefe fort of letters.  After the other circumitances, |
fhould have reafon to take the expreflions of thofe leteers in a different light, for
examining them well, to my breaft they convey an irrefiftible conviction thar chis
flion was never gratified. In the next place, gentlemen, the Duke of Cumber-
nd is with Lad}f%ruﬁ'tnm' in Kenfington-gardens, in company with another Lady.
This foolith tender fcene fuppoled to have been paffed between brother and fifter ac
Lady Donhoff’s, in fuch manner as you have heard it defcanted on, I thould have
thought the fubjeét not deferving to be ferioully confidered if 1t had gone no farther :
but the gentleman fays, there ?chlns another very large head of evidence vilibly
withftanding all rejeétion. Then with regard to the journey into Chefhire, the Duke
went under difguife and with different names, fometimes Farmer, fometimes a Young
Squire, fometimes a Fool, and fometimes a Welchman of the name 91’ Morgan,
fometimes Griffin, and fometimes Tuff or Talh, and Mr. jnntg&. and with all thefe
different names and different difguifes, which amount to a plain coar and waiftcoat
and ne ftar on, and a brown wig, and the Duke undl:rrall thele prodigious t_jslgu:f’cs
accompanied Lady Grofvenor in her journey to Cheihire, 1 fay accompanied, be-
caufe my learncd friend has ftated it fo, and itis fubftantially fo ; though they *:‘*;JL
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not think Ft the Duke of Cumberland fhould be ftared at in his public character at
St. Albans, at Coventry, at the four Crofies, and Barn-hill, and 1 can’t tell where ;
although in other words, they did not chule the owner of the Cheller _]qurnni, or
what other papers fhould be printed in that couatry, fhould give a precife account
of the Duke fupping here, and my Lady fupping there, and ttopt and baited here
and there on the road, and therefore 1 do conceive it was neceflary for his Royal
Highnefs to be difguifed by the plain coat and brown wig, and fome name was
neceflary, and fome charadter neceffary, if the real charafter and real name were
laid down ; and I can't fee from this journey, and this difguife any offence, like
that which is imputed in the declaration, to have paffed between the parties.  Gen-
tlemen, Mr. Giddings whom they called, they chofe o quarrel wich, and chofe to
fuppofe he was a bad witnels, becaufe he would not prove whar they fuggefted, and
therefore he did not know what he did, nor what he faid, and his evidence was to be
explained away or removed, and witnefles were to be called upon to contradit one
another, although they were called to be the [uppore of onc another. Mr. Giddings
did not take notice of Lady Grofvenor being upon the road, being unacquainted
with the livery, never feeing her at Towcelter, nor at Coventry, nor the four
Croifes, nor till they pafied by him at Barn-hill. This feemed a linle ftrange, and
you were at a lofs that he fhould know fo little of what paffed wpon the road, when
the Duke was fuppofed to know it.  The Duke unqueltionably had no bufincfs upon
that road bur to efcort, or talk if you pleafe with Lady Grofvenor. . I think thae
is comprehending it, when the man tells you he knew he went out of town for fome
purpole, therefore he affifted him in thar concealment ; and though he knew, which
was preity near the fame ching, that fome woman was at the bottom of all this, it
was not explained who fhe was till he got to Barn-hill. It is faid, in the courfe of
the road to Barn-hill the parties had mer, that my Lady Grofvenor and the Duke
had had interviews together, or at lealt the Duke knew my Lady was upon the
road, or had been told fo, and a foolith fellow was called to tell you fo, and to in-
form you that he had told the Duke while he was eating pork ftakes or mutton
chops, that Lady Grofvenor's family was in the houle, and he talked to him in the
way people at an inn eating mutton chops are commonly talked to, and he proved
the fervants were at dinner in the kitchen while he was up ftairs accompanying the
Duke with his mutton chops. If fhe had not been upon the road, he would not
have been upon the road ; does it follow thar Mr. Giddings muft know (he was upon
the road ? I don’t recolleét that there is any proof of any interview between them
upon the courfe of their journcy upon that road : let us fufptﬁ: they had met at
every one of thofe inns, does it follow that Giddings mult know they did meet ?
He performed the duty of his ftation with great care and atrention, great fkill if you
sleale ; nor is it in proof that he conceived what was the particular objeét of this
journey, till he came into a fitvation where it was neceflary to relate it to him ; for
what could the Duke expect from Giddings till he got to the end of his journey 2
But when he drew near Lord Grolvenor's houle, when it was natural for him to
confider the motive of their coming there, it became indifpenfibly neceffary he
fhould know the object of the journey, and where they were to go to; and natu-
rally the witnefs fays, the Duke told him he came out in this ftrange way for the
purpofe of fecing Lady Grofvenor. There is certainly no contradiétion in his ftory,
nor any thing to render it in the fmalleft degree incredible, but upon the contrary
perfectly credible, and happening jult in the way and courfe fuch things muft be
naturally expefted. There are incidents, | belicve, fome opened, of which there
was no proof, and fome proved by evidence though notr opened. At the four
Croffes one Charlton is called to you, I don’t obferve any ftrefs is laid to have pafled
there, an}l{ other than their being all at the fame inn together; but at Whitchurch,
Jane Richardfon is called, who 15 one of the chambermaids, fhe remembers the gen-
tlemen coming there, there is no doubt who the gentlemen were ; fome part of her
examination is to prove their identity ; fhe proves that the room in which Lady
Grofvenor lay had the windows broke, and that the told the Lady fo; if this had
been a common caufe, upon which I thoughr it right to conceal any thing, this J
could have told you was not evidence, which in my opinion was tangeable to it;
befides, [ was only folicitous to prevent inferences of real tranfaétions that did hap-
pen being ftretched farther than the jultice and nature of the caufe would adma. .
Lady Grofvenor chofe a bad room, when in the houfe there was a better. Next to
this room there was a paffage ; on one fide of that paffage neareft to my Lady’s room
lay the fervants ; in the fame paffage at a little furcher diftance lay the Fool as ha.;lwd:a

z Called :
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called : if my Lady Grofvenor, in the choice of this room. k 3z i
converfation with the Duke, and if there had been any E'-'idelnc: 0;2532?:3‘!; iiﬁf

tion between them, I fhould not have been at all folicitous abour i, nor would i
have been material one way nor the other in the caufe s but that the fhould have
chofen this bad room for the fake of criminal converfation with him in the night, and
have chofen that her fervants theuld lay in the fame paffage, feems to me 0 be
reconcileable to nothing but infanity in both parties. The door was chalked here
and every where except the exception, though sddings’s evidence did not make the
exception ; he faid, in general it was his practice, and not confined to this particu-
lar occalion only ; whenever he travelled with his mafter it was his ufual practice to
make a mark upon it, and he could not recolleét whether he did it at Coventry,
Toweelter, or no, or at the four Crofies, only at Whitchureh; he believes he did ic
ac molt of thole places, but does not recolleét whether he did it at Chefters and be-
caufe he did it at Whirchurch, then you are to fay, as Lady Grolvenor was not at
Chefter once the chalk was difcontinued.  You fee it was proved to be his practice
in general to ule chalk ; and I don’t think it at all incredible, if you fuppofe the
parties had intercourle together, that ufe might be made of this chalk, and the
Pri&i’cﬂ in other plﬂ.l:l'."ﬂ- m'l.ght be uleful in ﬁnding out the room % burt the gc“ﬂg-mgn
chole to fuppoie it was for that particular purpole only, and I havs no objeétion if
they have made themfelves a title fo o fuppofe it. This is not all her evidence ;
but in the courle of the night one of the maids heard fome noife in this paffage;
fomething which was comedtured but never examined ; it is faid to have proceeded
from the Duke’s opening the door of his room, and walking through the paifage,
they thought it was the Fool, and the Fool if he chofe it mighe walk in his flecp,
they would not diiturb themfelves abour it, and they attended no more to it. Now
it is fingular enough that ar this diftance of rime, and for this purpole, fuch a cir-
cumftance as this, unworthy as it was thought by the maid at the time, of fo much
attention as to excite the fmallelt curiofity, or enquiring into the caufe, fhould now
at this moment be introduced and brought into this canfe, as helping o make out
in evidence this charge, though at firlt it was only conjeéture; but fuppoling the
evidence not ftretched, when I-fay ftrerched, I think it is the hardelt thing in the
world the fuppofing or fufpeéting it.  Witnelles, when they come to affere whae
they are told to be a good caule, think they cannot do too much to ferve that good
caufe, they cannot know too much, they cannot recollet too much, and they can-
not fay too much, and marters thac ac firlt are only conjeéture, grow into pofitive
proof, and people fancy they know at lalt what ac firft they only dreamt about ; and
a great deal muift be made of it indeed to prove what is applicable to this caufe.
There is more ftill behind falls from that evidence ; the next day fhe faw the Duke’s
bed, and fhe faw it in fuch a condition, that no bed that had been laid in ever
peared to be fo before. 1 don’t fuppole my learned friend defires you to believe
E.Pa: that which paffed in this bed never palied in a bed before ; 1 don't underitand
him to mean that any thing extraordinary appeared in ity and whatever it was, that
unexpected caufe happened jult then as never atradted the eyes of this maid before,
and that was the chambermaid of aninn. There might have been two people in
that inn that might lay together as in a common inn, and no fuch thing might hap-
n 3 what does it appear, but fomething which had never been feen before, and if
it proves any thing it proves no body had lain in it, or that an army had been laid
in it, or that the girl’s imagination 15 fo pofitiled with the circumftance as not to
make any thing of it. I think it was a liutle extraordinary, that there fhould be fo
much appearance in ene bed and nothing appeared in the other bed. My learned
friend hazarded a qufﬂiun. which I fhould have thmll h.t an mpmricnt DI, What
was the condition of my Lady’s bed? She had laid in this bed, the windows
in the room were broke, the room was damp and uncomfortable, fhe Ih:.!:l
lain in it, and her bed appeared as it might be fuppofed to appear, as if it
had been lain in, and the other it feems did not appear to have been lain in ; what
can you make of all this? Ican fay upon this, that what happened at Whitchurch
is perfectly conliltent with the idea of the purelt tranfadtion at that place, and that
no jore of intercourfe had been held between the two parties; and neither in one
circumitance proved by that witnefs, nor all of them put together, prove thefe par-
ties were ever her for the purpofe fuppoled, or thar they ever executed thofe
urpoles. 1 think there is nothing farther in the courfe of their journey onwards,
Eur. when they came there, the defendant and this fervant of his put up at the Faul-
con inn ac Chefter ; they did not ftay ac Chefter; I don' fuppsit; e bady. can

o . E : -
imagine, the object of the journey wis u;.;g to fee the town of Chefter Th',]f;; L::
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accompanied with Giddings, went to the gmtden, _and the firft night tF:L‘}' WEre met
there by Lady Grofvenor, and were there a few minutes together, having converfed
by the garden rails a few minutes s thar night they parted, the Duke returned to
Feclefton, where his horles were, and rode back to Chefter and lay there; the |
next night they retorned again, and went to fee Lady Grofvenor, and went back
ﬂgﬂij'. that :]i;u-h:, and o en for three or four different [.I:T'II:E, and then went imme-
diately for London---returned again to Marford-hill, and there he lay a fecond time
a few nights, and he again Went to Lord Grofvenor's grounds, accompanied by this
fame domeftic, and at cach of thefe times he faw Lady Grolvenor; what then? Is
there any witnefs that docs himfelf fuppole, much lefs is there any evidence that can
nduce you o fuppole, that in any of thele meetings in the gardens, or near the
houfe, or in the fields, any thing criminal did pafs, the time ﬂi‘Pr."I:t:.r between twelve
and one o'clock, and this was dirty weacher, and a dirty country 2 and I fuppofe,
that is the general praétice fitting at home in the county of Chefter, but fhe walked
out on thelfe days; what is there remarkable in it # She walked out for the purpole
of meeting the Duke of Cumberland, as well as he went from London to meet her
in thofe fields; what paffed there will any body fuppofe in that hour of the day, in
broad day-lizht, fren n one inflance by tgl.: fervant thae brought a meffage, feen by
another in another manner in a kind of aétion ? what can you fuppole did then or
there pafs between the parties ? 1t did not want the negative evidence of Giddings to
rove nothing did pafs that was criminal ; no body could fuppofe it could have
pafled if Giddings was at hand ; when I fay at hand, he was within fight and within
hearing of them, Idon't fuppofe he was within hearing what they were then ralking
about, but was what is underflood literally to be within fight and within hearing.
Can any body fuppofe, that from profligacy all want of decorum was loft between
thefe parties, when they were liable to be broke in upon, and in one inftance were
broke in upon by the fervants ? what could then have paffed between them ? nothing
is proved there.  But what evidence you have with refpect o the Duke, going the
firlt and fecond time into the neighbourhood of Chefter, by the criminality, it you
pleale to fuppole it fo, commencing fome months before, and continuing rill the
time [ am fpeaking of ; 1 cannot think myfelf, this third head of evidence is at all
more fortunate than either of the rwo that preceeded it; thar neither in the meet-
ings at many places, nor in the letters, nor thefe foolith interviews in the country,
can there be found any fort of evidence of the kind thar will fupport this aftion.
Then we come to the lalt important fcene, as my learned friend calls it, which has
every thing of full direét preof, and which there iz no getting the better of nor
explaining away. Though you fhould think the firlt meetings were perfetly.
blamelefs with the fenle of the aftion, though the lerters imlmrt nothing like a pre-
vious indulgenee of this pafiion for each other, nor the meetings at Chefter, nor on
the road, import any thing criminal to have pafied between them, yet the important
difcovery at St. Albans is to pin the bafket. [ have no doubrt that the tranfattion ac
St. Albans gave birth to this action, and no other tranfactions would have been
thought a ground for this bufinefs ; but it feems the tranfaétion at St. Albans is not
to be jultificd, nor is it to be jultified ; in the way I have admitted the conduét of
the parties to be in fome degree unjuftifiable, but I fancy the circumftance of St.
Albans wilt be found capable of fuch an anfwer, as will make it appear to you to be
infufficicnt for the purpofe of lupporting this action. In the firlt place, there have
been four witnefles called to fupport that tranfaction by them ; a Bfth, from whom,
upon crofs examination, I got a word or twe about it, who was likewife called by
them though for other purpeles; from all thefe witneiies we learn, that in the even-
ing, lome fay ten, others half after ten, one told us eleven, the door of the room
of Lady Grofvenor’s bedchamber was burft open, and in that room were found
Lady Grofvenor and the Duke of Cumberland. Gentlemen, you find the breaking
open this door was the refult of a fort of plot, which was laid very innocently in ail
fenfes of the word, but very [mply it firikes me, by Stephens, who, after having
lene his fellow-fervants to bed, was to bore holes through the door in which the
Lady was to lie; the opportunity was chofen for this while the Lady was at
lupper, which is fuppofed to have been towards nine o'clock ; during that inter-
val Mr. Stephens, one of my Lord’s principal domeftics, gets neceffary inftru-
ments and bores two holes, for the purpofe of fecing what fhould pals there:
as foon as fhe left fupper fhe went up Hnim to the nurlery, and there he carried
fome negus, but not finding her there, fhe called to him in the way for him to
bring the negus to her, and he did accordingly carry that negus to her ; he fup-
poles fhe did fhut the door and twrn the key; the fame witnels fpeaks afterwards
5 : : about
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about the lock, at the time t
him to fay the door was la:k].:-ildzf:: w:-._s burft open, but he could not take upon
ehie ath ; or; whether or not is
er s 1t might be fhur, yer the door was not | not dn proof one way or
open ; it may be, and muft be, if not locked s not lacked when the door was burit
burfting into the room, thar I]ﬂclr.'mt I:::f l:h tlvn:llt st GO o
purpofe, if hie had been certain to hisgr:m Ill g-_'i' oor watild have been nothing to the
whether it was Jocked again or not, there i ection about it after he carried the negus
this negus, the Lady Beaois it ni: I!hn:u roof about it ; but having delivered
difcovery which was his bufinefs u:: miak ;'IT ks hu_had tnmmim&" and the
what paffed within, and for that ti‘l F o Jod um tode very wsiiie
his brother to fome other houle hE'""P':' e he chat had fent the fervants 1o bed, and
a8é: & five Lady Grofrencrs w-a : :r: += Epnverfmmn and diftinguifhes two voices
I.]Uki:’s-. he hears a converfation nl'i!'m’ il I'1:d]5 e oh 1o S ARk th":
time the principal [peaker was m}'Plegf:: ”Ir‘L s A N e e
% the Beother, they bt Hficn hi::r rofvenor ; he goes and communicates this
S AL o 1 e T a2, DU, MY i Yre iy, EnoM
wondered ar ir, but he cxp]aine%iu the rf:fuumh e TR NS
words articulated were not difcovered, but I;:: 'hr faying his brother had a cold ; the
the fervants did (two or three of th-::n it i i LS I S
F, & converlation carried on by n'-'ulv:' .-_:m ke, LY S S
accurate, that, upen the fecond time of ]i[l:l- o :l'“d . StfPth.g'ﬁmy w
E{JEIIJE‘!&UI'EI." it was the Duke of Cumbcrian'.ll]mgb:,;n o B R
Ecnpcupa-li fpeaker; what warranted the witn:{'ss:m I‘at:.r E:IIE? :;{ert III:: }].j s w;&f}h{c
ning he and his d T T . i e o i~
B e L et e e R T
e econd was certainly known tl'; be the Duke of C e », 10
will not do for this attion, converfation by tv.:r] oMot o B g
S8 otk e Wi the e e ik i “u voices will not do, the Lady fpeak-
R s another time, will never do for this
Conrt. There are three times, S ird t i
M. Danning. I now recolleét :crfct;ﬁ:r'?n:t\:ﬁ:tﬁld::‘?n: rmnl’rmchm i
::ﬂtt?l'mn ii!ﬂtn:d, ?End they likewife heard the two vcic::*s, 1=thi:n Ji:;inrﬂi?ter:nmhu::h:
e cvidence rryi i i ich i :
i e im;';'};f iﬂqﬁfk:hi:;gﬁ;ﬁu}:ht room, in which interval, or
EET:“i"E of this converfation, it was coninuing il r;v:}r:n::rualti:-? ﬂ:ﬁ; iuii::
¢ door, continuing, as fa i i inui i :
il |} Adtine pon graklmer L I, o
!:ﬂwun. two voices, one preponderating with ﬁnr} the other i:_i:inun]utd mnv:rl'g:m_n
intirely compatible with what muft have paffed be e R e
] . pa tween thofe parties in that pl
I believe my learned friend has not learned from his readin ﬁ | e
had no other way of lcarning, that it is ufual in fuch c-ircung-.ha ok
fort of converfation ; and yet I hope I am not underftood as tr';m:'l:':I mhc::Frg' e
croufly; it is far from my intention to do fo. I admit no «'.:'tl1.'1:;:rF c%:.:rf! sl
what is founded upon evidence. 'When is it this can have paffed ? tin:r:: ;:sr:'-i?na tmh:
ilhmegn:“kitnéu:v;t ﬁ;n:emﬁ:d m::;l;:‘n c::ln.lmpa:fs ij;:i few minutes when the converfation
& L w (4 :
the fervants he had foolithly fent to l::d,. nf-:i wh::nwlfcﬁ::;:dn:r.]r :n,ﬁtht‘:":cm ahr:d ml'!'l':‘:l
he had more foolifhly fent to another houfe ; when he returned, he i!u n:lt hr“;' o
converfation continuing, no diftinguithable difference, fometimes the Ladu}-nm:&i:fum:-
times the Gentleman moit : .I pr?ﬁ.-i's., gentlemen, little more comment or ubi"c;vatlan
is neceffary to fatisfy you in this cafe ; not that it is not probable, much lefs thar it
is not certain, that this bufinefs did pals at the time; bur, upon 'Eh:! contrary, it is in
clear proof that nothing of this forc did pafs at that time. [t1may be alked, how it can be
ftrongly proved thatayoung man and a young woman did not do what is natural for
ynunﬁ people in rooms together to do? You find they were enly talking : | confels
mylelf at a lofs to know what fpecies of evidence is more neceffary to pr?};u nothin
criminal at that time did pals. Now let us fee what more remains upon the evidence
thefe willing witneffes, to fay no more of them, if it be not altogether deficicnt, they
may ftand more upon it, and fay, Here 1 have you in this part of the caufe. Let me
obferve a circumftance more wpon the evidence, Mr. Giddings, in his mafter's room,
had accidentally oblerved this operation of boring the holes through the door. Mr.
Giddings is not underftood by my learned friend to be fuch a dull obferver, as not 1o

comprehend what this meant: the Duke was in the room, and he pointed and made the
abier-
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obfervation; and he fays the Duke likewile faw the man in a _b1u¢1cu;1t and red collar,
boring holes. I thank the gentleman for the atrempr, becaunle ic lucceeded in the way
of dilproving that more {trongiy in the fame way 1t was attempted to be proved. Yon
find he was in 2 Blue coat nn:{-; red collar; was in alight; was in a fitwation to be feen
in the room, and fuppofed to-be fren by Giddings.  Then Stephens confirms that evi-
dence of Giddings, that both himfelf and his mafter were apprized of whar was done:
can it be doubted what it meant? they knowing the holes were made for the purpofe
of oblervations ; knowing my Lord Grolvenor's agents anl I’ermma,. were in confe-
quence of fulpicions, entertained by himielf or themielves, ;tflrl being difpofed to make
this difcovery of what paft within that room, they can afl, W hatdid_ your client mean,,
knowing all this, to put himfelf in that room? 1am not at a lofs for an anfwer; [
muft carry the difclaimer through; here is a young rrympi areat attachments, warm
pafiions, and not very prudent, in a lituation, n11d_!uhjtf’t 1r_|.d:gd where no body is
prudent; he perfilted in the purpofe that broughe him there, in feeing Lady Groive-
nor. What was the purpole that broughe him there? that was evident 2 week or {o
before; Mr. Giddings proves it, and you may know without proof; I know, and
every one that hears me may know, God knows where, or what quarter it came from,
but there was in all the news-papers in this town, a fuppofed deteétion of thefe very
parties, in a milliner’s fhop in Leicefter Ficlds, To what good-natured pen we are
indebted for that invention, and whether they meant ill or well to both parties, God
knows; bucthere was fuch a ftory rais’d. The Duke reading of this tranfafiion, and
alarmed at ir, conceived it to be right to take the frit opportunity of feeing Lady
Grofvenor, and he made a journey to St. Albans on purpole to meet her, and fent her
word of it by a difpatch that was fent before he fet out.

Well, but why an affignation at 5t. Albans? Why not wait till fhe came to town ¥
‘Why not come to explanations, if neceffary, in a more public manner? And why not
find a proper place, and circumftances neceffary to talk abour it? To all thele why's,
I can give butone aniwer. I admit, to have waited till fhe came to town, would have
been better, and to have had an explanarion more public; but circumitanced as thefe
parties were, it was not natural in them todo whar parties that had nofore of intercourfe 1o-
gether probably would have done, but would have waited for a more convenient op-
portunity 1o come together.  In the way they were thinking of cach other, it was tobe
communicated that moment they read it, or as foon as poffibly he could reach her, was
the proper time; and there was nothing in that could prove the Duke imprudent; it
was proper for him to go and converfe with her about it, and ralk the bulinefs over,
in order to contrive how to find out the authors of this fcandal, thatit might not go
beyond the mark, though the occalion for it might be givenin a lefs degree than what
had really pafied. The Duke then went down to St. Albans, followed by his fervant,’
for the'purpofe of talking with Lady Grolvenor. - The gentlemen may fay, what the
Duke fays is no evidence; why do we not prove that? When he went into this room,
it appears in evidence, he was apprized they fhould be obferved there, but he did not
expeét the door would be burlt open; they did not expeét any body had been fo com-
miflioned, or was difpofed, if commiffioned, to have gone that length; butthey fup-
poled there would be people through the holes that were made, that would be atten-
tive to what they could hear or fee them do.  In the way in which this has been
conduéted, the one way and the other, it does not appear to me to be aclear proof of
a criminal tranfaétion. It may be afked, Why fhould he have zone into the room,
and have chofen to have fat upon that bed, at the fide to conceal himfelf behind the
curtain? It may be faid, Was it not extraordinary, that he fhould go o far imprudently,
as to put himielf in their power? and that he thould conceal himfelf as far as he mui(d,
from their obfervation, by fitting behind the curtain? It is to be fure very imprudenc
conduét, and fo far very indefenfible conduét. Bur can you fuppole in that fituation,
knowing, or having reafon to believe, fome perfon or perfons were looking through
the door, if the parties had but one grain of underitanding, would they tranfact that
Fart of the criminal converfation upon that bed, and fuch fpectators round ? Their
itting upon one fide of the bed would produce other founds to the converfation, not
fo l.':i.ﬁlj" to be heard; but the bed itfelf, in other circumitances, would have betrayed
from the appearance and condition of it, what paffed there, if it had been fo circum-
[tanced to contrive to prove what had paft there.

We are told when the door was burft open, the Duke and Lady Grofvenor were
both found in the room; the Duke, all the witnefles agree, ftandingin the middle of
the room; Lady Grofvenor, they all agree, was going or ftanding near the door, which
led into an adjoining room; two footmien were in the room with the relt that came in,

and
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and either one of them, or both, fu
pf buttoning his waiftcoar. 1 di’d cig:g l_'fr!::"m"'”;t!:'-'t's to have ﬁ:;:n the Duke in the 28
ing, 1do confefs, bur the witnefles fuppofed th:mefe?f’: nng a different fort of button-
ing his waiftcoat. The fame two witneffes fuppof ghm 1ave féen the Duke button-
Grofvenor's neck bare, and it feems fhe wore -!:FI? c Irrmﬁr!v:s to have feen Lady
come clg!’c about ehe nick; the Lady i e i ?ﬁr n&:Trcls which is calculated to
flie di 5 550 T s 1B b Tttt IRREIE e att of falling againlt the door :
from that accident, or their imaginations fi I.l'l.' ey faw her nec bare, proceeding
e khows 5t 16 iinolmble o Be cérmin: & :lg:-p ied :1hcm with that circumftance, 1 do
confulisn reptefented; they did not i ti:c?:::‘::m both parties thould appear in the
rupted, nor the door burlt open. The doot, it rnircrlatmn would have been fo inter-
s} -].'I atonce, and all this "ﬂﬂd]}l‘ compa b‘l:l':]: ,Wmﬁ‘-. burlt fmm Il&_h]ﬂg‘t's; 1t bu[ﬂ
their converfation: and :h‘;}r mult be {tirllrmm mmftFe reom, and fo broke in upon
circum{tanced as thefe partics were. Now Gcn:!crf;::l:n lL:[HL when you confider them
out any intentional aggravation in both thofi fervants, :;:an S Slae Sl with
two circumitances, 1 mentioned concerning the a s LT tnlgh: e miltahenas fhole
rties. 'When the two witnefles, their l‘:mglo Ak Ppﬁamnu‘ of the undrefi of the
and the other an officer in the militia, and a il:nj:i nf lf. tdﬂat’ ; rh1r1k, is a fteward,
iR Ml st avnals, whiehthey. Bodk el ard Grofvenar's, both of whom
any fuch circumftance; can you fuPPﬂfeFi"-'Ir Ste hcyuu neither one nor the other faw
the door; can you fuppofe M. Stephens t.hc a _mna,tth: e ot the Doles Sl
the purpole of g':ing them; can you fuppofe the Jn:fanr -,thwhnh:arg:c i ok o
fuppofe it true, when one did reprefent himfelf as got | 5 ud:her SHAHSIIVE, chn P
were all in the room immediately after, fo foon as t s ﬁﬂ-h ae tey
terial ? He was the fielt man in the r,m:un, and neit'l:-.rc :ns 5 ‘J]_-:FT““ ot
b e i o e e b e et r:r[hr: n?li is r?_llher faw either
!f!:]:;w lr;uddhc:nht, }I:;:It both thefe gentlemen waulﬂpﬂavc ;rn;wi;t fh?r: :;EuI:E;n:;d
¢y had been vifible. Confider their i iti ich
was the effeét of their own contrivance: ai:t::::::tfﬁn&:l%m tﬁ:: T‘rhmglt'ﬂ&?n:’ e
be feen, and they have not added this fort of exaggerated t:iﬁ:um1[‘:11‘:|u'-a -aI ';mr; b
tu_l'a{.a ravated neither, but in the confufion ||E1§cwh1ch the fmnn:: II:r'|.1.l ‘l}lnt Fog
this kind of fcene which they were not very well accuftomed to, the ai‘ ; f:t e
felves to have feen what never had paffed; if it had, it would hav I:-c}; B by
the two Stephens’s.  For upon the obfervation of what is rl:m:dt Irl' ﬂ?ﬂﬂ.ﬁd o
nefles to have paffed, founded upon what knowledge the lenkc “r&f dawith hi 5 w:!::-
tt[;nml;i you are, 1 :_ru['c, to be convinced nothing paffed in that room mlth:“;;:pn[:
:ht“;' ch i?:nb:fm:;:mﬁ was neceffary, Can you u}:l;;ﬁfe the parties were fo employed?
e fityation e Lady might be the effect of that fall which proceeded from h
ng into the next room. The confufion of the Duke of Curl;berhnd From I:r
tranfactions of that night, might caule that to pafs, which the wimeffes dm:l'an: 1:n:nml-|t 3
affed, from the effeét of wonder caufed by what had paffed in the room; if it nﬂ%ﬂc
it would be the effeft of wonder which this {cene produced. Does itim ort an Prh‘ 4
more, than his not having prefence of mind, or being exceedingly appﬁhcnﬁfvc ::[Ir': .
mifreprefentation and exaggeration, and afraid a much worle conftruction would I::
put on it than the tranfation itfelf when properly known would bear ? 1 don’t won-
der, upon the whole, that the Duke fhould talk improperly, and hold a foolifh con-
verfation; I don’t wonder that thofe expreflions did pafs upon it, * I will take m
« Hible oath I was not there. That is a farce, for people of his high rank are nn{
very apt to be found in fuch fitvations, and it is in fact much more Iﬁ:r:l].r to be their
own invention than his expreffion. That he denied his being there, is very probable
and that his expreflions and his language was different from that, is likewile very pru:
bable.——Gentlemen, 1 have not wittingly or defignedly concealed any pare of the
evidence; then what is there more than thefe four heads, that of itfelf produces that
ftrong, clear, and neceffary conclufion, which my learned friend fu would re-
fule from it, or affords that irrefiftible conviétion he thought it would carry ? Thefe
four heads of evidence, each feparatcly confidered, will not anfwer the purpole, yet,
Jjunda juvant, all together will anfwer what none of them feparately would perform.
It is a very common argument, and ftared and circumftanced as we are, we are often
driven to make the befl of them: but junda juvant is not for the firft time introduced;
I have often heard that that put mg-::]{:r, has more weight than {eparate circumftan-
ces, which, whillt they are fcparate, prove nothing ; when together, they can prove
no more : and to the end of the multiplication table, as many nothings as you pleafe,
and fomething will be the produce of them. What is there in one, or inall chefe cir-

cumftances put together, than what I in the outfer admiteed, That thefe partics had
o formed
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formed an imprudent, and if you pleafe, a violent attackment to each other, or 2
violent paffion for each other? all this may be true, and yet criminal intercourfenever
have paffed between them, as the ation fuppofes.  If the paffion muft have preceded,
yet the paffion may have happened, and not what my learned friend fuppofes the
gratification, and indulgence of it have paffed: yet the paffion might have fubfilted
with the moft perfect innocence of that crime with which he is charged in this altion;
all that has been given in evidence therefore, can afford no proof of his guile. [
think the argument is fair, for no man's guilt can be proved by any evidence that is
compatible with his innocence——Gentlemen, I do not difpute with my learned
friend in fome obfervations that he fet out with, upon the nature of the evidence, and
how this fort of evidence is to be fupported; he fays, It will hardly be infifted, nor
will it by me, that the evidence of ocular witnefles feeing the fadt is neceffary to
eftablifh a proof of it. e fays, and truly, in thefe cales circumflances may be fuch
as make the conclufion as neceffary, and the conviftion as irrefiftible, as if the cha
was fupported by ocular witnefies, or more fo. I am ready to admit there may be
circumftances that would make it as much fo; but admitting that I mult go a greac
deal further in my admiffion, or his argument will not fupply his caufe. I do not
¢ontend that the conclufion mult be neceflary, nor inevitable in this caufe; but I ad-
mit, becaule I canin no caufe deny, that a charge may be proved by circumftances;
it is true in all civil caufes, it is equally true in all criminal caufes, that there is no
charge fo high, or none fo fmall, but may be proved by circumftances: buc
then you will take along with you the nature of the guilr, and the ﬁmim which ought
to influence the confideration of the court, in weighing fuch circumitances, and judge-
ing whethe? they do or not produce, or afford thac neceflary conviction. If a man
is found weltering in his blood, with a fword through his body, though no man faw
him murdered, every man fees that which neceffarily infers he is murdered, whether
by himielf or another, men comffat; if it appears he was not his own murcherer, yet it
appears it muft have been committed by fome other ierl"un; if it could be proved who
was the perlon that committed the murder, yetftill his will muft be proved to convict
him. If 2 man is found in the fituation [ before deferibed, and another perfon is feen
running out of the room with a drawn fword in his hand bloody, that affords what
the law calls a violent prefumption; and though it is not full proof, yet the conclufion
of it feems irrefiftible, that he was the mureherers, which is all thae can be admitied
upon the head of prefumptive evidence: in Lord Coke's words it is thus explained,
Probable prefumption moves litle, prefemptio levis, which moves not avall; and chat
which the laws fay, and the laws of common fenfe fay, that thofe circumitances that
i’uppur: a violent prefumption, import a full preof tantamount; yet any circumitance
fhort of that will not do: there may be probable circumitances that will do in one cale,
that go not at all to another; and the degree of conclufion or inference that thefe
violent prefumptions afford, is, that they mult be carried to their true pitch, fo that
the proof may not be miftaken, or confounded with that which is not proved; and if
the circumitances fo to be proved, afford an inftance of a lefler degree of guile than
the aftion fuppofes, then that is no proof at all: and it is plain that there never was,
from the commencement of the correfpondence between the parties, to this moment,
a criminal inftance between them; and all the evidence put together, will not afford
that violent prefumption which affords full proof, and therefore the evidence bein
infufficient, it will not gain a verdiét which the plaintff expeéts: for you will not, %
am perfuaded, be induced to judge of it in the lame manner as if full proof had been
given you; and you will attend to no arguments, but give a verdict according to your
own underftanding, and apply thele rules in the my? have taken the liberty to tell
you them, correfted, as Ialﬁrr:h-:nd they will be in the way, before you give your
opinion upon the caufe; and I trult, and am perfuaded, you will think the evidence
that has been given, is infufficient to entitle the plaintiff to averdiét. Gentlemen, youare
told, upon the head of damages, that if you fhould give the plaintiff a verdict, which I
truft you will not, then you have nothing to do, but to applaud the moderation of
that pecuniary compenfation, which the p?aintifl', though unacquainted with the extent
of his own injuries, has been prompted by his agents to ftate upon this record for
100,000/, which my learned friend fays is far too little for the defendant to pay, or
the plaintiff to receive: and for the purpofes of making our thar fingular prepofition,
you are told, the guamin of damages in all caules depends upon the nature of the
injury, and the rank of the parties. [ fhall bcg leave to fuppole there are fome other
circumitances muft occur in the confideration of damages, that not only the nature of
the injury, but the condut of the party complaining of that injury, makes 4 material
ingredient 1n that confideration, dnd the circumitances of the parties; and I believe
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I fhall not find myfelf miftaken i i :
o oahionss 3 pouhaild End";rgﬂ clfe:gn Llhl:el‘:dn:r: topics are very fit to be added
in which thefe confiderations are material thﬁl ; come to that ftage of the cafe
Bance of an action of this fort brought Epte men, it is faid, this s the firlt in-
ends upon you whether it fhall be the I;frt. It .;:::: i [;1': blood, but that it de-
ighter evidence than you would require in other cafl et _?P““ you ndeed ; for if
rank of either party, or their idea o havingito desl ‘::5;1 and if the ?unﬁdmtmn of the
u:inﬁdcrla:tm?u of your verdict for the parties, this wnul:; :D;:r:ggﬁ I:: tll?: I,E:}tmﬁi' nhqk;:
roughe; for it circumitances confittent :'-' h the . o
they muit prove in e . abfolute negative of that which
i of v s Bt i, s o, e
the conduct of princes, itis faid, is n?l ugit:::: uf“c::aiﬂr ﬁEml:lr i s
?Pdﬁﬂf t}ﬁa prince is more extravagantly vi:ia%rcd a:;:?&g [?-;T:;:: alzd I.!h“ ﬂl-:t
ful tendernels, and conjugal fidelity in his fami 1 nda o T
is certainly a grear natim%l mnn:r::;, if h;a";'iféeﬁf n,::fdn;:mt cﬁ"d"af of princes
example, and whofe conduét men are to look to, with whur he e s e
as a ftate, has to do: and though there is a rank of men ITmt St
ﬁ:“t';:fi ;j}’ ‘I;:: diftinétion of princes of the blood, that huld‘:nfci;;-al::]ﬂrim{jlﬁ
‘thanked, there is no fuch order of men in this countr dlk ;
ince, whofe conduét can be a national conc RiliEpy: ancl A eiew Suson e
!ilnl:ttxec:tiv: ;_uthnréwa and who has a larg:ﬂirhn::rcﬂlt! ill:eult[g}m;tl:':niiit::r?t}bﬁ :il::
y and whole conduct, in every inftance, is therefore a natonal d
conduct is; and I trult ever will be found by thole who it caRCCHy Mk whisin
concerns, fuch as they would with it to be T,ﬁs to difts 125 Fﬁf‘ e e ey
whom this action is brought, from the ref S
that is diftinguifhed by high rank urIE: rﬁa:lf t:;: f:.';"r‘;':ﬁ & alliod tl;m' o
of national concern; and therefore I muft beg leave to dii’mif: 1"ra.'1:nls n:r ;;T'nlz'l; fe
that influence in your paffions, in the way in which I am pcrfuadndy?nu wii.l1 i
mit them to be influenced. Ir is faid it will be known from the conle |.1m:rm:n:512;"tlf'E .
dap'nagr:s to what degree you carry your refentment; and that no ban?ﬂ'tmmt no :EE
F)rli'unml’:nt, rior any thing of that fort can be apprehended here upon thar Ia.:l:uu::‘
oes my learned friend pot know, nor fuppole you to know hwir]djl' roportionate
the funds of any fubjed in this kingdom are to fuch a vated el ﬁp’ e dmmi:c
fuppofe it will weigh with you, ro give higher dam:%;%:lthan the ?Einr.ilford: o
upon a fuppofition it will be paid by another? does he imagine it \E'ul be the cr:a"?;,r
one manto pay for the fault of another, and that the expence would fall upon thofe
that have no fhare in it? I erult you will correct thar mifconception, and a.m:ﬁ.her mif
conception, that itis not the merits, or the conduét of the plaintiff, but the dcfendm"-
condudét that you ought to look to; and that it is not what the plair:n‘.iﬁ' ought to rfc:'::
but what the defendant ought 1o pay: now I have never heard the cunﬁdrrntinnl of
what the defendant ought to pay made the confideration of damages; I have always
underitood it to be what is the plaintiff under all the circumftances to receive: 1 u::-
derftand this is a criminal caufe, and not a civil one, and my learned friend was fo
kind as to {ay he would affent to that doétrine: but I don’c fee I have any interelt to
contend for that propofition; my judgement don’t lead me to contend for }.r[' not that
it merits an iota, when I confider what is to be cbierved in the conl‘tdc.-ati‘nn of da-
mages.  Itis fomething materially diftinguifhable, chat it is not an aétion for punifh-
ment, not an aétion for example, notan attion for vengeance, butit is what the terms
of the ation import, a claim for a civil reparation for a civil injury; it is certain this
is not an action for punifhment, it never occurred to me once to fuppole it was, and I
am as little difpofed to afient to thar doétrine, as to require my learned friend 1o affent
to that doclrine; it is certainly nothing like it.  But the action being fuch as itis, you
will confider the circumitances; you will forget the parties; you fhall forget, if you
lcale, thar the plaintiff is a peer of the realm, and the defendant a prince of the
lood, and I will confent you fhould think the plaintiff the injured hufband.——In
Ircland you are told there was a caufe, where the indignation o the jury led them to
ve fuch damages as drove the defendant out of the kingdom: I don't know what fo
rove the jury, whoever the parties were, and whatever the motives were that pro-
duced fuch indignation; I fay it muft be in Ircland, if any where, that the jury could
fuppole themifclves at liberty in trying a civil or criminal ation, to give way to thei
indwgnation, if ever fo fir, that was not the time nor place to be fo attuated by indig-
nation;—and 1 hope, Gentlemen, they will not be copied by you. Then there s

cafe in which a large fum of money was given, which ended in perpetual imprifon=
2 ment;
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ment; the laws have Prﬂ'-ridcd no fuch punithment, bue have taken eare it thould not
be the confequence of fuch actions as thefe, at leaft they ought not to be the intended
and intentional confequence of fuch aétions as thefe: the jury oughe not fo to confider
- the fubjeét s it is taking up the province when they are entrufted with no fuch power.
It is faid chere was an aftion brought by a prince of the blood, and the jury gave him
roo,o00/. in damages; does he tell you when it was the fum was recovered? thar the
acétion was brought for words fpoken of the then Duke of York, and he had the good
fortune to meet with one of thofe indignant juries, and at the clofe of the trial they
gave 100,000/ 1o the heir of the crown againit one Doétor Oates, for fpeaking fean-
dalous wordsof the Duke. Could my learned friend mean any other than to repro-
bate it, and to fay you fhould try like thofe men that tried in that aftion againft this
prince of the blood, becaufe that jury gave 100,000/, for that prince, you fhould give
100,000/, againit this prince? Does this cafe dilcover any refemblance in parties, or
any refeiblance of the fubjeét? 1 am fure there is not the leaft; but among all the
extravagant, illegal, and violent adts that juries have done, the whole compafs of
aftions put together fince that time, or before, could not have furnifhed fuch an one
as that which my learned friend has now hinted at.  Gentlemen, I exhort you not o
beangry, like the juryin Ireland; not to condemn to perpetual imprifonment, like fome
other jury; and not to copy the jury in the end of Charles II’s time, againit Doctor
Oates. My learned friend tells you, that from the crowded audience, :ﬁ: people are
anxious to {ee how far your refentment will carry you, and he is confident to fay the
. public will not be difappointed. 1 am convinced they don’t come here for, fuch a pur-

fiey if there is fuch an one that does, T am confident he will go home difappointed,
or [ am perfectly fure he will go away taught to correét thar miftake, and learn that
your refentinent will not carry you away one jot; that you will not be aftuated by fuch
refentment, nor fuch paffions; burt that it will be received by you as in deference to
your berter judgement it oughe to be. 1 have not dane with the firlt parrof this pro-
pofition intirely : you may, if you Elcafe, forget who the plaintiff is, that he is a peer
of the realm; and you may know him only in the degree of an injured hufband. 1
fincerely with ic were confiftent with my dury to leave you here, knowing the plaintiff
in no other charaéter than an hufband, knowing or fuppofing himfelf to be injured:
1 with it was permiteed to me not to bring before you any thing more refpeéting who
the parties are, or what their conduét has been; bue I beg leave to inlift, confident of
not being miftaken in infifting, it is not necelfary who the plaintiff is, it there was no
other evidence could be produced imputable to him than that of an injured hufband;
but if it thould be found that that affection which thus had produced this match,
ended with the match it produced; if it fhould be found that that blame, which in a
very large, if you pleafe, in any degree fhort of that which the ation fuppofes, is
impurab%-: to the parties, which, though we have been fhort of tracing, is not con-
fined to them; if it fhould be found, how regardlefs foever the defendant may have
been of that better example, to which it feems it behoved him to have regard to his
conduét, that the unhappy Lady had not that better example to have guided her
conduét; if it fhould be found the plaintiff, by any tranfaction of his, led the way to
produce the mifchief which it is faid has happened; if it fhould be found not to be
wnateention upon her part alone; if the plaintff fhould be found to have given the
example of improper and criminal paflions, by firft receiving, entertaining, and in-
dulging criminal paffions; if all this fhould be found true, I truft you wiﬁ not con-
ceive this immaterial, in the confideration of the aftion in the two parts in which it
fubdivides itfelf. To {peak in the expreflions of his letter, which are rather borrowed,
* That thofe which fhould feel, do not feel the treafure they poffefs ; if it fhould
be found to be truly faid, you will not conceive this to be immarterial; but you will con-
fider this, as I hope you will have occafion to confider it, as affording a degree of exte-
nuation, and a degree of apology for the blameable conduét of the unfortunate Lady
in this inftancey or whether driven, as I fatter myfelf you will not, to confider it in
the head of damages; but in both it is not irrelevant, in both it will be proper for
your confideration.

Gentlemen, [ am now proceeding to what I feel is a very painful and difagree-
able part of my duty; I wifh occafion had not been given for it, and it had not been
exadted of me, not only for my own fake, but to have fpared me this difagreeable
talk, which is the occafion that brings you and me together, and about which I am
now talking ; and I am moft confident it would have never exifted, if my inftruc-
tions were not true, which 1 am now going to fpeak abour. Iam given to under-
ftand, it is no fecret to any, buris a notorious circumftance, as tranfactions of l:rl;is

4 It



E!lf}‘- I i 1'.(
H F Edfﬂﬂ' Dﬁ'éﬁ quumber]and, .Def\‘fﬂdﬂﬁf ?
o 5

which gi e can be fecret: b
as “"gl :ﬁbﬁl"mnnﬁ‘a title to ti.:sf:gtm the moment which fi
rioufly has lived b the plaintiff, my i..n;dm' from that moment ormed that relation
he now c | himfelf in a conft wd Grofvenor, openl to the prefent hou
omplains. I ant violation » openly, publicl r
the cut ﬂf:h know that th of that ”Hh'.' . ¥r and BOED-
<o satrpiin el ik Ay 5 Ao ¥ TG/ he Wil n ut wikich
himfelf at liber elity upon one of e ought by fome, to im - where the nature
tiﬂns ﬁm ] tY. fmm th-t moment _c cﬂnuﬁiﬂg Pﬂﬁci s x .~ lh‘l ﬂ'hlig“h“ 'Df
he has injured her ; i el bt the difingion duty, 0 d'if:g?;:l o S
of it been as in the fame way fhe i inction you will a 3 bue diltine-
feét s perfeét from th is charged to have inj dopt : burt if
dama tt:tt:: ok ¢l‘llitl¢ltl1:l: ;r:i‘:l':m' as I take thﬂfbﬂ?umd e, bag [rh:upflﬂl::'df
Hmch: above all pecuniary da tiff to a verditt; and itﬁ:: tell you it is im
ktrn:d?di:?‘ e finelleft oo w8, inftead of confderin g m““d"iﬂgpfl:
fank. to | fays, the queftion is, W ingdom knows WWMEI::G!QHU pounds as a
, 10 pay in damages ? » What ought the d more pro
you, the queftion et but I truft I thall e defendant, confideri i M
to receive ? the only is, What ought th ave my Lord’s con ng his higt:
but the evidenc c"?ﬁtﬂtim of d‘"ﬁa;; i lelrgnlii? e sigh g pestk tclling
lence wi : s 1 perfuade the circumitance
extenuate, it will explai material to acco IP myfelf, will 5,
L v 12 i unt tor th ’ not be .
ﬁfg lrl::url'cd in lhi:l: ::_:n’;.:gﬁznpﬂlo ize, s well fnf.ﬁ:mi."& of the pﬂr:iesr:n:f::riilii
Py m atrachments Elrt“':h:re hlhl; fio matural as tghr:: Ef blame the partics
other fhould ti,iff:‘ hi‘ irsl?mm’ wﬂﬂwthf';;h'; o= difdppnjirn::hg S o
have aPP':al‘td . ".'.'rl:‘ at I.'IIh:I[jr to do s inks himitelf at libe B, ""ing
hufband, ww]dln thl? Lﬂ'dl',r, ar the D[I'I.O. and ll'ljlt fort of fmdu&ﬂy tﬂd-o.. the
fuch certainly natural er Lady, in an which would
e raBed. oo plaonGiF hae) bg;ﬁ%',f;{‘:;g;:fninu:hm ates
! tion to this duty, i it has been. : e cale of
:Ei: tﬂpﬂ" and way of life, cﬂ::{-:ﬁi among things moft ngt::;:' wld Lord Grof-
have Fm& :::-11 was fpeaking to a ju cmt_ni;? fee what pafles in m_":: to thofe whafe
fuous m';:':it \Emfj or cales in Par[;:}:.:']n” :f:: fbrfhaf men | am “':'Wi:ﬂI:lldTﬁ shout
ould have b circumltances, ng to, to
neceffary for me n gen only proving wh would have been a i
without which ow to ftare and prove to y g what they had feen befo =
you ought to S, what I am i re; boc s
Tond v s k3 st p
houfands of women wi is in its mature is to under-
ncﬁll'lt crif juflice to a:knuwi,dgt‘_&;"'x, which none at":re; :::ng::at the proof of,
neﬂ‘ﬁls Gfll;; if they could, I h:l'.rzl: I'I:Hrrf: cannot be compelled to brought into a
ut h:s they have called ; bu I have s enough in my bricf, to hﬂEmng“ tranfactions
End;:: q“tﬂ:"}ﬂ {]rj_!jr o fl‘thﬂitmn; ﬂg.h[ 4] eall them in that d o I]'Iﬂ[l-jr wit-
[“tﬁtﬂ?g); ;E:;'S ed that {“mﬂ will be Pre’_:r'::dll:?;r, mifi overcome ;g:e é.iﬂ-il Tﬂﬂ:
: crimina : o, fo culty ;
:E alﬂ‘i-n:-:e Etion, no |uvca1et:c55:mnc; E:';,I:q%?ﬂﬂf the plaindifi, whte :::,-T-:m e '.‘""h‘"l’"l!-:'!r
oy i i e v D e o pabtint, B
others Ief J:i:f' ;]I:,H I_b-een violated zgainl'tz;;u% ﬂflthat duty, which Tﬂ';:v:;tfﬁ.
¥, lome i i cntleman, 5
?:I’Pﬂ“"_bﬂwcen Lady i Pty el decently,
ome to times fubf and the defendant i faid o hav
5 ki equent ; and one at laft 5 fome to um £
= Rge, W ich was Prqw;;;] tﬂ-dﬂj.l h'_.l' b gocs back to the very DE;- P_mdtlt,
re inftances which would tuke a the reverend Mr. Taylor ; frDmP"‘;m of the mar-
w‘é‘ﬁ Mr. Stephens forgets, and -:I%: at feope to tell, will ;FP"-"‘-' that time, there
?ﬂ will be fome part of tilu ubic{t 3 Fﬁ: r:mu.:ﬂ‘ all mbﬂﬁnt‘én“]:m{ before
a:':l'_‘ﬁb Betey, and fuch names as he of your inquiry ; he forgets Poll ﬁé e fup-
hi is brother's organs of hearing are mﬁll““" ; his memory ma bf' harlotee,
ngﬁ;'l::ut does he remember m’ and may be as incapable nfr: | as defeltive
came to the Caftle at Chefte — es ? He does remember colleting chofe
!buwﬂikmw' r, but who that Lady i fome Lady wh
ir. ITdo i . 11hall call one of two of thal e he d'?“" know; bye and b .u
the fort Jﬁiﬁ:ﬁfﬁf{nw-m? inftrutions, m; r"hﬂf:' ;‘ﬂlihcﬁw faying more lm{]':
nce 1 have in comma e I fhall not be .
f“ ‘:"l'f;“bcrﬂ*{ it is for that reafon 1 g,‘:ﬂ? y before you upon this part :rdtif u::“f:ﬂ
y n mifunderfiood ; not that I call T.I:li:a.!f:]iﬂ‘ lhltrlht' purpoeie of this E‘-’id:n::
ence fimply 1o the head of dama-

ges, nor as importing the im
alleft degree of confiderati
: on that can be material far
you 5



8 Richard Lord Grolvenor, f”.-'.:rmrfff :

you; but I call this evidence as equally material to' both parties in the canfe; it iz
at leaft neceilary to afford fuch apology and extenuation for the conduét of the par-
ties as the nature of the cale will admir; that conduét I defend, and infift upon de-
fending firenuoully ; though in fome cafes I admit her conduét would be indefenii-
ble, yet if this evidence comes up to my inftructions, I am perfuaded you will not
find a verdict for the plaintiff. 1 thall now enly make an apology for mylfelf, for the
time 1 have taken ; 1 am fure the importance of the queltion will afford an apology
for me, in having gone through this fo minutely upon the obfervarions made by the
council for the pi::.xintiﬂ', and the different degrees of evidence produced to fuppore
it. If I have gone no farther than the purpofe of imprefling you with a belief, that
this tranfaction is not blameable to the purpofe of this action, I fhall be happy in
contributing my mite ro this important point ; and conceiving the evidence infufh-
cient to fupport that action, I truft you will find a verdiét for the defendant, when
you have weighed the grounds upon which [ have prefumed to ftand.

My, Skimwer. My Lord, I have a great deal of evidence in my brief, to prove
that Lord Grofvenor has been guilty of violating the rights of marriage in many
inftances, and I hope that will extenuate and apologife for the conduct of Lady
Grofvenor, and not be thought an immaterial circumitance for the confideration of
the jury; the firft I fhall call 15 Mrs. Langford, who is miftrefs of the White-hart
inn g St. Albans.

Mrs. Lancrorp fivors. Examined by Mr. Skinner.

Q. Do you remember Lady Grofvenor coming to your houfe upon the twenty-
firft of December laft ? e !

A. Yes.

Q. En you remember the Duke of Cumberland coming to your houfe ?

A. Yes. L]

Q. Can you think of the time the Duke came to your houle ? can you remember
the aircumitances of being prefent in the room at the examination of the bed after the
door of Lady Grofvenor's room was burlt open ?

A. Nobody asked me to look at it.

Q. ;fusit not when they were making obfervations upon the bed you was there 2

A: No, Sir.

Q. Was not Stephens there ?

A. No, not ar the time I was looking at it by myfelf.

Q. How foon after the door was broke open did you come into the room ?

A. Some time after.

Q. Did you hear the noife it occafioned ?

‘A, Yes, to be fure.

Q. How foon after the noife of that alarm did you go there ?

A. Twenty minutes.

Q. Who did you fee there in the raom ?

A. Lord Grofvenor’s fervants.

Q. Having found cthem in the room, did you while they were in the room look ag
the bed?

A. I looked at it when they were gone.

Q. Did you lock at it before they were gone ? Did you come a fecond time ?

. Mo, Sir. ;

). How did you find the bed?

A. I found the bed, my lord, as if it had been fat upon by fomebody.

(). What part of the bed was it that had that impreffion ?

A. The lide next che fire.

Q). How far did you think the impreffion was made ?

A. So much as any body might fic upon it once or twice.

Q. The impreflion was fo far as a perfon fitting upon the bed, but did not look
as it 1t had been lain in ?

A. The Lady might fit down ence or twice, but it had not the appearance of
being lain in by nobody. "

Q. When you came into the room Lady Grofvenor was there ?

A. Lady Grofvenor was not in the room when I came in, but in the adjoining
room.

Q. Thy fervants had not left the room then ?
i A. Not



Henry-Frederick Duke of Cumberland, Defendant. g

A. No.
% .I]n frhatﬂlli:uat'mn was Lady Grofvenor’s drefs ?
. 43« Jult as the came into my houfe; I had took notice of the drefs wh the
into the houfe, and it was jult the hen 1 f; i 3 drefs
was Jult as when the Lady cJarne into tll'.:l:rnz;":;-:'r.:f.II N RN A8, o e e
i.mrj{. What drefs was the in ?
A. A plain hood, my lord; in that drefs I f; i
with high curls mrm:d.r}l;und. S S T O o

Crefs Examination.

Q. How long was it before you went up ftairs after the door was b ?

A. It was fome time before T went upf;: the fright was fo great a:ntxf:: ::i:i.nq
open the door it frightened me, and [ had not ftrength nor fpirits to go up.

Q. You found Laiy Grofvenor in the other mm%

A. Yes.

Q. Standing ?

A. No, the was walking about.

Q. What was the appearance of the bed ?

A. As if a perfon had far upon it once or twice,

f{). 1T}I_I:Jn: ’gwet was not rumpled by that ?

- The fheet was not rumpled, not wiere any bod .

Q. Was the bed ﬂraighttnpcd cinwnf A <

A, It looked as if it had been faton, it did not look as if it had been lain ia.

Q. How was it towards the foot of the bed ?

A. Towards the foor juft as it was made firlt.

Q. Did t'::u obferve the bed very carefully ?

A. I looked atit, I could do no more, no body bid me losk at it.
MQI_‘_ Have you never told any perfon that you did not lock particularly at the

A. No, Sir.
Q. Not the next morning at St. Albans ? $
A. I told them it looked as if it had been fat upon.
bch? Did you not tell that gentleman, that you did not particularly dbferve the

A. I don’t know that I did.

Q. I don’t ralk of Mr. Scephens, nor you don’t mean of Mr. Stephens, you mean
another perfon ?

"A. No Sir, no perfon.

Q. Had you no converfation with a gentleman that came down to St. Albans,
upon what obfervations had occurred to you the night before 2

A. Yes, Sir, two gentlemen.

Q. Whar did you tell them ?

A. 1 told the gentlemen the bed lobked as if it had been fat upon.

Q. Did not you fay thefe words, you did not recollect lmkinlg at the bed?

A T recalleét I did tell them fomething about it, but I can’c tell what it was in

particular,

Saran Grrey fwern and examined,

Q. Was you the chambermaid at the White-hart inn at St. Albans, at the time
Lady Grolvenor's door was broke open ?

A. Yes

Q. Ar whar time did you go into the room ?

A. I went in fome time after the door was broke open.

Q. What did you fee when you went in ? _
A. 1 faw Lady Grofvenor’s fervants and the waiter there when [ firlt went iny

Q. Did you fee Lady Grofvenor there £

A, Yes, | faw Lady Grofvenor.

Q. What drefs was the in ?

A. In the ﬁml:aﬂu{:h? ﬂﬁi:ms in all the evening.

Q. Was her hair d vel'd ? 1 ; ] 5
A. No, Sir, her head was dreft fiill, and juft the fame as it was all I:i:: %
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3. Did jou obferve the bed ?

A. Yes

Q. In what condition was the bed ?

A. Tt was rumpled upon one fide, where two people might fit there

Q. Upon which fide was that ?

A. The fide next the fre-place.

Q. Had it not the appearance of being lain on ?

Ai- Nﬂj Sir.

Q. How far was it dented down ?

A. Not a bit near the head.

Q. I believe you warmed my Lady's bed ?

A. Yes, my Lord, twice. ] ’

. Do you remember any thing iarricular of the fheets being tumbled ?

A. The fhect where they might have fat on was a little rumpled juft where they

fat.

Crofs Examination by Piaintiff's Council,

Q. You are a chambermaid ?

A. Yes, Sir.

Q. You warmed my Lady’s bed at night ?

A. 1did.

Q. When you left my Lady, in what ficuation was the lock of the door ?

A. The lock of the door was very well.

Q. On what fide was the key ?

A. The key was on the outlide, T gave it my Lady in the infide.

Q. Did my Lady lock the door ?

A. I don’t know, I did not hear her put the key in the door nor lock it.

Q. You fay the bed was flatted, 1 afk you if it was not much tumblgd ?

A. lewas not much tumbled.

Q. I'ask you if it did not appear as if {fome perfons had lain upon it ?

A. It did not appear to rge as if any body had lain upon it at all.

. Were the fheets tumbled or crumpled into heaps?
A, The corner where they might have far, and that was all. :
. I ask you whether you have ever faid that the bed was tumbled, and that youw

thought fome perfons muit have lain upon it ?

A. I never faid fo.

Q.aljid any body ask you to give an account the very day after this affair hap-
pengd 2

A. Yes.

Q. Did you give an account in writing ?

A, Yes.

Q. Is that your hand-writing ? producing a paper.

A. Yes, that 15 my writing.

Q. Was this the day after this had happened, when every thing was frefh in your
memory ?

A. I wasrather flurried, Sir.

Q. How long did that flurry continue?

A. I did not recolleét things fo foon after the tranfaction, asIdonow.

Q. Could not g'nu then have recollected that the bed was much tumbled, or that it
was not tumbled ¢ How came you to fay the bed was tumbled, and the fheets tumbled
ﬂlb».b::j-d fhoved into heaps, fo that you thought fome perfons muft have laid upon
the [k

A. 1 did not fay no fuch a thing.

Q. Nor you did not fign any fuch thing?

A. No, Sir.

Q. 1Is that the paper you figned, good woman? .

A. That is my name upon the bottom.

Q. Was itread to you?

A, It wan,

Q. Was this paper you figned the day after read to you by any body?

A. Xes, Sir.

¢2. Do you fee the gentleman in court that read it to you?

2 AT
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gﬁt might I::l:,r fcl:lr any thing I know, I don’t remember.
£, WWasno luch thing read to you as has been repea
e you as has been rec?
Court. Repeatthe words, and afk her if fhe heard it read,
Counci! reading. ** She was defired to take notice of the bed, which fhe did, and faw
1t was much tumbled and laid flac; and fhe fid, It was not fo tumbled when I lefe

& . I did not make the bed in fo (ovenly a manner; the fheets were tumbled and
** rumpled into heaps, and were not fo when I left them.”

Sarab Gilly. They took me to the bed to fhew it me; [ faid, I did not leave

Lady’s bed in fo flavenly a manner; what my Lady did to it after, I could not t:HTT
Q. But this was read to you [ have now read to you?
A, Yes.

Q. Andyou fignedic?

A. There is my name to it.

Q. This paper was read to you, and you figned it}
A, Tt was, I ignedit.

Q. Did you think the day afer it was truth?

A. Ko, Siry 1don'cthink ir was.

Q. How came you w fign it then ?
A. 1 don’t know.

. Q. You fay you did hear it read ? .
A. I might not take fuch particular notice of it.

61

Tuomas Rosixson fwern. Examined by Defendant’s Council.

Q. Do you remember the night when the door of Lady Grofvenor’s room was broke
open ? '

A. Yes, Sir,
Q. Did you obferve the bed?
A, Yes, Sir, 1did. _
Q. How foon after the door was broke open?
A. About five minutes. £ ap ;
. What was the a ance.
% It feemed only :lr:pg:x'rumpltd upnP:‘tihat fide next the fire place.”
Q. How rumgpled? What was the appearance?
* A, It feemed asif fome body had fat upon it.
_ Q. Was there not the appearance as if fome body had laid upon it?
* A. None ax all.

Crofs Examination. Plaistiff's Council.

Q. Did you mean to fay one or two people
A. One or two. : J . wlig
Q. What :‘LEC%]I'I.H.H:‘ :;II:.T].l}'uu give nffl!tthe next morning ;
. I believe that is the account of it A .
g,_ E"md you néver faid it had been toffed and tumbled as if fome bady had laid
vponit?
A. No, Sir.

Mrs: Beav. Gramaix fiers, Exgmined 3y Defendant’s Council,

Q. Are you acquainted with Lord Grofvener?
A. Yes, Sir; particularly. ;
Q. How hng}iw.re you known him?
A~ T have not been acquainted with him fince the year 1768.
. In what year E:j:'f _'3'::-:;&::nnw hmgglirﬂ:"
im firlt in ear 1768, -
= & ‘Lrt:ﬁ:l!; means did ]I'QE hc:u?mc acquainted with my Lord Grofvenor?
" A. By means of Mrs. Muilman. _
Q. WI:;:: diclcﬂ:.c lm\ir S
n Courr, Weltou ; :
3:, gﬂ }-r::mmll:{t the time of being introduced by Mrs. Muilman ?
A, I did not fee my Lord Grofvenor at M:;L Muilman’s houle.

[¥iE]

Q, Where
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Q. Where then did you fee him ?

A. 1frft faw my Lord in Jermyn Street at a ftay-maker's.

(). Were you known at this ftay-maker's ?

A, Noj it was a Jodging that Mrs. Muilman’s maid wok by chance.

0. For whom was that lodging taken ?

A. For me.

Q. How foon after you had been atthat lodging did you fee Lord Grofvenor?

A. The next day. |

Q. Do you know how long that lodging had been raken ?

A, It was taken, and upon my word I don’t exaétly remember the time.

Q. For what purpofe was it taken ?

A, It was taken for me to fee my Lord Grolvenor in.

Q. Did you fee my Lord Grofvenor there?

A. Yes; the fecond day.

Q. What palt berween my Ldrd Grofvenor and you that day when you faw him
there? ,

A. Nothing that day, only Mrs. Muilman wrote concerning a pifture: we went
that day tolee the pifture, which was fomewhere in Weltminfter, but where, 1 don’t
know.

Q. How foon after thatday did you fee his Lordfhip again?

A. The next day he came, but 1 was not at home, and it was the day after I faw
him again.

Q:What paft berween his Lordfhip and you that next day?

A. 1 had particular connexion between my Lord Grofvenor and I.

Q. Particular connexions ! of what kind, Madam ?

A. Connexions as between man and wife.

Q. Did thefe connexions continue ?

A. Yes: [everal times.

Q. For how long ¢

A, Nor feveral times that day, but feveral different days my Lord came and con-
tinued his vifits.

Q. By what name, Madam, was you known to Lord Grofvenor?

A. Sarah King.

Q. How long did you continue in this lodging in Jermyn Street?

A. Upon my word, I can’t exactly remember; I believe about two or three weeks,
or fo.

Q. Did your connexions of the kind you have been fpeaking of, continue with my
Lord Grofvenor after you had left thar lodging?

A. Noj; I did not write to my Lord Grofvenor again for the {pace of eight months.

Q. Where did you fee him, Madam, after you had lefe that lodging ?

A. At Mils Woadfall's.

. Where does [he live ?

A. In Oxford Road, at a place next door to a public houfe.

Q. How often did you fee him there?

A. Very often.

Q. What paft between my Lord and you there?

A, The fame as before.

Q. At that time was you breeding ?

A. Yes; I was brought to bed in April, in the year 176g. g

Q. How long was that after you had been acquainted with my Lord Grofvenor®

A. T believe, Sir, it was between nine and ten months. ;

Q. Who was the father of that child?

A, My Lord Grofvenor.

Q. Where did you lyein ¢

A. At Mr. Harper's, Story Street, Tottenham Court Road.

Q. Who fupplied you with money for thofe expences ?

A. My Lord Grofvenor fent a twenty Euuml note by Mils Woodfall, and Mrs,
Burdet, an acquaintance of Mrs. Muilman’s and mine; we had it wrote in the name of
another perfon.

Crofs Examination by Plaintiff’s Council,

Q. Where do you live now, Madam?
A. In Orange Streer, Leicefter Fields. Q. Do
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4 Q. Do you follow any profefiion or employment there?
] A. Mo, Sir, T am married. Fea 3

{A'l" Hhal: is your hufband ?

« He was a captain of a thip or vefle] in the French fervice.

Q. What is he Eiw:" i S

A. At prefent he waits for his friend’s afliftance to fet up fome bufinefs.

; Q. Where does he wait for his friend’s affiftance? Whar friend's?
: A. His brocher.

Q. Where is his brother ?
: A. Ax Panis.
| Q. Where is he ? Where does he live ?
A. Who? my hufband? '
Courcil Yes:
A. Helives with me.  He expedts fome friendfhip from his brother.
Q. What bulinefs does he follow now?
A. None, at prefent.
Q. Whar is the bulinefs he is to follow ?
v A. A library,

Q. Do you know Mr. Giddings, Madam ?

A. No; vpon my word I don't remember him.

Q. He is gentleman porter 1o the Duke of Cumberland?

A. Yes; | believe I have feen him,

Q. Where have you feen him?
huuﬁf; I think I faw him, to the belt of my knowledge; he came to a gentleman in my

Q. Who introduced Mr. Giddings to him? How came he to know there was fuch
a woman as you? Who introduced him?

A. My fervanes, [ believe.

Q. Ishe acquainted with your fervant?

A. Not as | know of.

Q. How came he to your houfe then?

A. He came with bulinefs, he came with an affignation to come here.

v Pm came he to think it would be of any ufe to make an affignation for you to
come here ? i

A. 1 don't know. 3

Q. ¥uw_ when he came to you, did you tell him the ftory you have told here ?

A. Tes,

« Q. Isthere any friendhip between you and Mr. Giddings now ?

A. None ac all.

Q. Not fo much as a prefent?

No anfewer.

Q. Mot even a prefent?

i A. No; “mhi“g‘.r 5 he houfe?
. Not even previfion fent to the houle:

% No, nuthiﬁg; only he came and afked me. 1 have told the !.Nl{h- I did net
think it was any harm. 1 did it to ferve my Lady Grofvenor, and vindicate the caule
of my own fex. 1 think my Lady would not ufe fo true a man as Lord Grofvenor ill.

. Whart did you fay?

fl'l!. Iﬁ};:i{it wa!im poffible thar my Lady Grofvenor could have the honour of fo true
a man as Lord Grofvenor wae, and ufe him ill.

Q. So you did not know who Giddings was ?

A. No.

. Out ard to Lady Grofvenor you came here ? :

% 335 ;Dg.:?igif my hulbanddooked over ft, T thought there was no harm in t.

Mrs. How fiwern. Examined by Defendant’s Council,

Q. Do you know Lord Grofvenor ?

A. Yes, Sir. cd 6%

Q. Have you ever been acquainted with him ?
A. Yes, my Lord. _ v
Q. At what time did your acquaintance begin :

_ A. In May, 1;68. Q. Where

— T

R
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Q. Where did you live at that time ?

A In Glaftonbury Court, Long Acre,

Q. How came you introduced to Lord Grofvenor ?

A, By one Mrs, Lellie.

Q. Ar what place was you introduced to him ?

A. In the houfe.

Q. At Mrs. Lellie’s houfe ?

A, Yes.

Q. Was you left alone with Lord Gml’vtnnr*‘

A Yes, .u;. Liord.

Q. What pafled berween you and Lord Grofvenor the firlt time you was introduced
and left alone with him?

A. No atherw. a}»tn:n that I heard, I was to lie with Lord Grolvenor.

). Anc d did -rﬂ-u.

A. Yes, my Lord, T did.

Q. Did you ever jze Lord Grofvenor afterwards ?

A. Yes, my Lord, I did.

Q. Wheret

A, At the fame houfe.

Q. How foon afterwards?

A. I f{aw him three_days afterwards.

Q. Did any thing particular pals then ?

A, Yesy the fme thing over again pait.

Q.. When did you fee ﬁm again ?

A, The next day after, the third Lla].r

Q. Andwhat pait then ?

A. Nothing ac all paft chen,

L___ Did you fee my Lord Grofvenor afterwards ?

Tes ; about once afterwards.

Q__ How long afterwards ?

A. 1 think about a week afterwards.

Q. Didany thing pafs then ?

A. Noj nothing in the world ; but he was to come to me totakeme to a partlculag
place at Hampltead, but he never came to me afterwards.

Q. Do you know the occalion of his leaving you ? ?

A, Noj I donor know any thing of it.

Crofs Examination by Plaintiff's Council.

Q. Did you ever fee him fince ?
A. I met him a twelve month ago.
(.1_ Did you ever fee him before § ?

. No; that was about the month of May. I faw him afterwards ; I fpoke to him

n thc ftreeras [ met him. :

Q Did he afk you if you knew: him 2

. Yes. 5

. Where do youlive now ?
.I"".. In Caitle Street, Long Acre.
Q. Are you married
A. No, Sir.
Q. Du you know Mr. Giddings ?
A. No, Sir. :
Q. Who called upon you to come here ?
Ne anfwer.
Eﬁﬂri:dIdild you fay it was a twelve month ago that you knew him 2

1

% Péd you know the perfon you was I'pcakmg to was Lord Grofvenor ¢

© Mary WaTER fwors,

Q. Where do you live ?
A. In Bolton Row.

5 ; Q. Da



Henry-Frederick Dule of Cumberland, Defendans,

Q. Do you know my Lord Grofvenor?
A, Ide.

Ig%hﬁ?!’f?u know of my Lord Grofvenor’s having met any woman, and whom, at

A, It was hor me.,
Q. Do you know of any fuch a thing ?
A. I have heard of i,

- Q. What do you know yourfelf? have you ever feen Lord Grofvenor yourfelf an

your houfe?
A. Yes, Sir, I have:
Q. What did he come thers for?

A. To fee a pattern of a waiftcoat my lodger had i

T35 Wk sk yolir Jodeeih y lodger had at that time.

A. Her name was Tremilly.

Q. Did my Lord Grofvenor meet, or fre any body clfe at your houfe befides her?

A. Ldon’t know. I don’tgo into my lodgers’ apartments we,
1 certainly don’t know of any other. ey T A

Q. Did you ever know any perfon of the name of Gunning ?

A. Ido not.

Q. Are you certain no fuch perfon was there?

A. It mighe be fo; but I really don’t know.

Q. What was this woman, your lodger ¢

A. A fore of milliner, fold rufiles, and had cording for waiftcoats and coats:

Q.[ When my Lord Grofvenor was there at any time, did you ever hear him fpeak of
[ §

any ching that had pafied between him and any woman there?
A. No; never.

i I}-d - - - & |
" 3{? idl you ever hear him complain of any deveption or ill ufage put upon him

A. No; I really do not.

65

Asn Treminny fworn, Examined,

Q. Do you know my Lord Grofvenor 2

A, Yes, Sir

Q. Do youlodge at Mrs, Waten’s?

A. No, Sir.

Q. You know my Lord Grofvener, you fay?

A. Yes, Sir.

Q_ Did Lord Grofvenot ever come to the houfe where you lodge 2

A. Never, Sir; not to this prefent place whete T Jive now.

Q. Have you ever lodged at Mrs, Waten's ?

A. T have lodged at Mrs. Waren's,

Q. Lord Grofvenor came there to you, what miglit be his bufinefs there? 'What did
he come for?

A. Mrs, Waten wanted Lord Grofvenor to give her charity, and he would
relieve her and her family, for they wanted money; and Mrs. Waten did ger me o
fpeak to my Lord Grofvenor for ber.

Q. When Lord Grofvenor came tothe houle, T afk you what he came there for? :
A, Mrs. Waten had wrote him a leter, and he afked what bulinefs Mrs. Waten had
to write to him for charity; I faid the was a woman much in diftrefs, and that he was

fo good and charitable. \

Cowrr. Do | take it right, Mrs. Waten had wrote to him for charity?

A. Yes, my Lord. |

2. Did you know any woman in the houfe of the name of Gunning?

A. Yes; Tdo -

Q. Do youknow whether my Lord Grofvenor and chat woman met at this houfe ?

M. Yes, Sir.

Q. Tﬂé what you know of that meeting ? how it came about? and what was the

urpofe of it?
: .-";P.n My Lord, Mrs. Waten did think if fhe could get this woman to fee compa

ny,
fhe would be relieved, and he came for this Lord did not like Mifs
Wou relieved; ar g purpofe, my —
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Gunning; but the girl was in diltrels, when he faid, I will give you a little trife, el
me what place you want.

Q. Do you know any thing elfe thar paffed Iwirh my Lord and Gunning?

A. I don’t know any :hinﬁjpalﬁd with Mils Gunning, only honefty ; Ifee nothing
but what was honeft, and what fthould be.

Q. In what part of the houle were my Lord and this Mils Gunning together?

A. My Lord was in the parlour, and I was with Mils Guoning in the other par-
lour, and Mifs Gunning went into the parlour to Lord Grolvenor; after that [ was
called in, and he ftaid a minute with Mrs. Gunning, and [ was called out of the

room.

Q. Who was with Mifs Gunning and my Lord when you came out?

A. There was no body left in the room with Mifs Gunning and my Lord, but they
were not above a minute together.

(). Did they go into any room befides that?

A. I did not fee that.

Q Do you know whether they did or not goup ftairs?

A. They did not go up ftairs, my Lord.

Q. Was itonce only, or more than once, that you faw Mifs Gunning and my Lord
there?

A. Mifs Gunning flept twice with me.

Q. Was my 1 ord with Mifs Gunning more than once?

A. He came twice.

Q. What pafied the fecond time when he came between him and Mifs Gunning ?

A. 1did not ice nothing.

Q. Where were they together when he came the fecond time 2

A. Inthe parlour.

Q. Was any pody with them, or were they alone ?

A. I was all the time there.

Q. Did you ever hear my Lord Grofvenor fay any thing, or complain of any thing
thar had paffed between Mifs Gunning and him?
& A. No, my Lord, I heard nothing of that ; he had nothing at all to do with Mrs.

unning.

Q. Tﬁ%hﬂt was it you heard him fay?

A. He had nothing to do with Mifs Gunning, and fhe told me the fame; he faid he
had no affair with Mifs Gunning.

Ceart. What is that fhe fays?

Council. That my Lord Grofvenor faid he had no affair with Mifs Gunning.

They then called for Mrs. Molefworth, Mifs Amelia Pelham, Mrs. Charlotte Hayes,

Mrs, Delmé, but tbey did not appear.
Mr, WeppERBURN.

M AY it pleafe your Lordihip, and you Gentlemen of the Jury, Idid not think it
would have fallen tomy fhare to have troubled you with a reply; but the nature of the
defence, which my learned friend has very truly ftated to you, that he was commanded
to make upon this occafion, demands of me, in juftice to my client, and in juitice to
the public, to {peak in vindication of my clienr, upon the recent infult which has been
now offered to his character ; and I do fubmit to you upon this caufe, wasit not enough
for the noble defendant to have done the injury he has already done to the plaintiff, buc
le muft add to that injury? and againit his better judgement, command his eouncil to
afferc what could not prumd,lT:m has been attempted to be proved? and to call
over a multer-roll of the moft infamous names in town, none of which has appeared,
except the two firlt wretches, who have fworn to their own incontinency.

1 will now conlider in what manner to apply the defence, in the confideration of da-
mages for which it was introduced. Gentlemen, there is an injured huiband bringsan
attion againft the fecond perfon in this kingdom, brather to the throne, for thar injury.
In anfwer to this, a defence is fet up, which the learned council, who opened it, knows
to be no defence in point of a&tion. If only a zeal for maintaining Lady Grolvenor’s
bonour; unfortunate and indifcreer as he has ftated her 1o be, there might have been
fome degree of merit in that ftate; but this defence has nothing to do with her defence,
let it be proved in the way it has been commanded him to open; it would have proved
nothing, it would not have acquitted the unfortunate Lady.  How has it been proved?

You are told from his inftruétions, and I am fure nothing buc inftrutions, and in-
' ftrultions
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ftruftions which nothine but o

' mmand i ¢ .
the m"d“iﬂ: with Whil;ligli:: cundufl::;::ﬁ:t::f::d Ta‘it incluced him to comply with, in
Lord Grofvenor w il kot » 10 have flated fuch a defence.  Thar

! as guilty of viclating the facred rites f e vere b
rage, and that was notorious. and there w o s from the very hour of mar-
that knew him; and though il: was fo n::-mr?;ullu grl mu}l?fm TR £ Sl TR
of marriage, but four witnellis were called to pr 0 very often repeated from the hour
who is drelt and brought into courtas y ; lm At the frfk i Birs. Beeu Geriiin,
hie s v ol urt as you have feen, :m.d you have heard the evidence
gvens a fpeak the milerable firuation to which th i

lﬁ;{ﬂ:and ill accounted for, and is fuppoled, God k-mwlls Wh:r;.m:m? it -
ip in the French fervice now in E ity Bl i i
bufinefs. How affiftance ::an“;::n 1&::?:1"1? .Mlllmnlimg et Y to be got into
fervice any preferment here, thatgam[’cance oo lately in the French
is the account that is given by a woman, the hul%:ﬂml; rom a brother in Paris. This
Gidd; : n, and of whom is acquainted with Mr.
i ﬂ':;gz I'[f the hufband is of that ability, and her forcune fo lictle as not to afford
t drefs, you will judge whence that expence comss; and fhe fays fhe thinks i:

the c?‘mman caufe of the fex, and fhe has the impudenct to conie he : and thi
man has lh: im : - . 3 - od : s W=
her as one of htﬂd:: Ei'::-:[ 3 ;jlrfi:-gﬁgbhr:f?wnﬁr' thﬁg i ML
myn Street, had lodgings taken for her by I"-'lrfJI rgui::i.ll:::i::s :?:!;?dray: ﬂmltwd oy
The lay-in within a year afier, and laid the child to Lord Grofveno t; EF:I:I'IH-;EH o
witnefles is called to confirm that teftimony ? 1s the maid called Whﬂu}?i d u’: ? ?r-mhf
Is Mrs. Muilman called, who, fhe fays, introduced her to Lord r&r;ﬁ’: . -
they called? Mrs. Muilman might be compelled to tell, whether fhe w nl]l:r:L é&m
not ; the maid might be compelled to tell who fhe hi d that lodging f oo
st e ¢ ired that lodging for; the prople

e where fhe lived might have been compelled to have told you they lod

there t'h: two other women might have becn compelled to have mld}' au Iillmt Lﬁfd
had received a twenty pound note of Lord Grofvenor for the expence o her lyin -ienT
snd tnklngr care of the chil_ﬂ, if it would have borne it; but thereis not a title ufgevit
‘IFIl:tm n::l: :. ItI:lﬂE':': I: 3::11:: Emdlblﬁu ftory, introduced by moft incredible witneffes.
1 - How, who is called to (hew a different faft, who is one of
the dirtyelt of all the women coming from abour Long Acre: this woman, whole evi-
dence is given very loolely roo, was introduced, as fhe fays, to fee Tord Grolvenor
once or twice; upon thele occalions fthe faw a perfon, as j‘he’l':rs, and proltitured her-
felf to a perfon that called himfelf Lord Grofvenor; and fhe met ina placein {ome court
_:,hnut Long Acre at one Mrs. Leflie. 1f thar evidence 1s 1o be admitred o blaft a man's
charafier, what man is there in this town whofe charalter is not in danger, if it was ac
'!,*h: mercy of fuch witneffes as Mrs, Beau Germain and Mrs. How, H‘?ID‘:IN' hmu. ht
in to prove their having profticuted, or pretended to have profticuted thcml’tlvtsgm
the plaintiff? There is none of us all, not even the graveft charafter ; there is not a
learned bifhop upon the bench, but may have his charadter blalted by the fame kind
qf :g[lhmunjr, if it obrains any degree o credit. Who can crlquin: inta the various
labyrinths of abandoned profligates, from whence they have produced them, and the
means by which they have been traced and brought here ? Gentlemen, it is of all forts
fhg:ppgr , where the proof is of the moit fulpicious kind of teltimony, which no plain-
riﬂ" is prepared for, no pcrl‘gn can meet [uch a ftab in the dark, by the evidence of fuch
witnefles as thefe.  Where is Mrs. Leflie? the evidence, fo unfortunate and wrerched,
does not pretend to give you any account how fhe knew it to be Lord Grofvenor parti-
cularly: Mrs. Lellie might have been called here to have told you, (who is fuppofed
10 have introdaced him) that fhe knew Lord Grofvenor, and that Lord Grofvenor
was introduced to that woman. They then produced and called Mrs. Waten, and
Mrs. Tremilly to fupport this caufe. The firft witnefs, even by her own confelfion,
is a common proftitute, keeps a houfe where Tremilly lodges; but from the ttory they
hs}'l:h tell, there is nothing improper in their pare neither. This woman writes a-beg-
ging letter 3 he finds her to be an objett of charity; he finds there a Mifs Gunning,
who likewile thinks herfclf an objet of diftrefs ; he has no improper connexions wiﬁ;
them, but Lord Grofvenor’s charity extendsitfelf in a lirtle charity s and from thefe two
witnefiks, particularly the lalt, in her broken Englith faid, nothing paft but honefty
between Lord Grofvenor and any perfon in that houfe, and as an application for cha-
rity, the addrefs was made to him: tha is the application of that evidence laid before
you, and the addition to this very bad and improper evidence introduced in this im-
r and cruel manner. Then they have had the afetation to read over thole infa-

mous names, the moft infamous in town, as if you would not take notice of the farce
that is played of calling of witnc(lcs by mame, becaufe they are in the attorney’s Hr'r-hef.
' This
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This is a defence which heceffarily fuppofes you will find a verdift againit him, and it
only goes to the poor fhift of mirigating damages; and wherever the application goes
to the plaintiff, it is only endeavours lo ufed to blaft the character of the plaintifi; w
extenuate the guilt of one perfon, by imputing guilt to another: that is the fole pur-
nofe of this detence, which, I am perfuaded, youas gentlemen, who have the common
teelings of humanity, for this aggravated injury done to him, for this fref infult, o
depreciate him in the minds of the jury, and ro take away the honour of his family,
will treat with indignation, and the rank of indignation it delerves. [t 1s impofiible
to extend the refentment of a jury to a ftronger point than to confider fuch evidence
to blalt his charafter fo introduced, and fo feebly fupported by fuch detectable
witneles.

Gentlemen, I will trouble you with but few words upon the nature of the caufe, as
the defendant’s council give up the caufe. It is impoffible for my learned friend,
with the ingenuity he poflefies, though no man can argue with more dexterity than
he does, by disjoining of circumitances, to make you think there is a defell in the
proof; he cannot think you will imagine it from the probability of its having pafied,
and the utmoft impofiibility of not believing that every thing had pafied berween
Lady Grofvenor and the noble defendait to complete Lord Grofvenoer's difhonous.
I will not go over the whole of the evidence, but my learned friend was o prudent as
to fay, 1 had rather {poke under my nltruétions than exceeded them.  The firlt meet-
ings, he fays, import litle, and the previous meetings muft import little, becaule
the feduction of Lady Grolvenor was his fole motive. It was neceflary w (hew the
conftant atrendance of the noble defendant, and that they had opportunicies, and took
opportunities, as the different circumftances prefented favourable epportunitics to
them; for that purpofe I fhall thew, that in different public places the Duke and Lady
Grofvenor appeared together, not fuppofing any thing decifively criminal could have
paffed in public. For that reafon we went on to another degree; he faw her in pri-
vate meetings in Kenfington gardens; - he fays no criminal intercourfe could happen
there, as it was not proved they were together, but only purfuing the fame road.
am willing to fay fo; every opportunity could not have been favourable to all his
wifhes; fome might have been taken where the perfons of fome witnefies might res
ftrain what others might not reftrain. He fays fhe was very innocently going to the
Duke's houfe, for Lady Grofvenor always went there with the Countefs Donhoff; 1
can't fay her preience gives {anétion 1o all parties where the goes: 1 don’t know for
certain, nor to the contrary; fhe was with her upon fome occafions; but my learned
friend miftakes, when he fays the meetings there were by chance, for you will recol-
leét, Gentlemen, that upon all thefe occafions their going in at the back door of hig
gardens, the Lady went in at the gates of St. James's palace, where her fiter Jodged,
and the coach then remaining, and the fervants were difcharged for two hours, at
that feafon of the year, Aprilor May, about nine o’clock; and the Duke of Cumber-
land is at his garden door always at thefe occalions, and the ladies walk in, fendin
away the coach, that coming back again about eleven; then they go back again the
fame way they came, by the Duke’s garden-gates, through the Park, and the palace,
and meeting the coach at the gates of the palace vpon thefe occafions plainly proves
it could not be an accidental meeting. The Duke always meets them in the Park,
and delires them to walk in, and yet my learned friend fays there is no harm. Gen-
tlemen, you mult plainly fec it was concerted; and if the Countefs was with her, itis
not impoflible that fhe might not be fo totally infeparable from her upon thele occa-
fions, but he in his own houfe might find an opportunity of (peaking to my Lady
Grofvenor, without even the reftraint the Countels’s prefence mighe impofie.

Mr. Dunning does juftice to the caufe ; lie cannot go againit his owo reafon, and
he admits it as a breach of decorum in the parties. ho are the parties that have
thus broke through ir? A young man of his Royal Highnefs's age, and a young mar-
ried woman of Lady Grofvener’s age. Mr. Dunning is forced to admit the letters -
prove, and allthe circumftances prove they both had an unbounded paffien for each others
The Duke had owned it, and 1n one of his letters you find the Lady had owned it,
that the had a paffion for him. They met alone, not by chance. It is impoffible to
fuppofe Lady Grofvenor went to the Countefs of Donhoff’s, intimate as the was,
while fthe was out of town, without her knowledge. She came there in her own eoach,
upon a pretext that very ealily impofed upon her own fervants. The Duke came in
a chair, it 15 true, but the curtains were drawn; they came there berween leven and.
eight, and ftaid ull aboue eleven; fo nothing could have pofiibly happened, becaufe’
when the good woman who attended in the houfe- brought the candles, and came,

L into
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into the room, and the door was not lock’d, but (he i - )
herfelf. Now the witnefs rold you in her pmdcngr?l:vhr}:?ln:;,n-.-:]rr. 'f:‘rll:.ﬂgdﬂﬁ .L?P[
mever went in without knocking ac the door, and then fhe intridu;m.'- l[:l:-nlr: :_'a.rtlh o
fhe wenc to place them upon the table near the couch. where they were fittin ;j: *
the Duke bid her put them upon the other table, which it feems, was at th l-a:'fu: itaI
cn_dr?fthu room. lIcis faid by Mr. Dunning, That her i}-ing-iu fo litde a 1i:m: atEu:T-
might prevent her having Improper connexions with him. You may ealily conceive
uy !..ady Grofvenor enterraining equal palfions for him as he for her, whether ol :
parties were to be reftrained by a circumitance fo immaterial as that is - if the h'.c:
been delivered fome few days, lefs danger might have been fuppoled; But fac that
reafon, there is no reafon to fuppofe, that in thef meetings cmmﬁblc s M. Diiniin
fays }'Ithti:l}' are for a violation ﬂfpﬂﬂﬂttﬂt}'. they fhould n%[! have gone to the full c:-::;::E
::: J ;?thlfgu?::: guﬂ_nc. Then concerning the letters; here are two people infatu-
paffion for each other, and he writes, and fhe receives letters which
were very unfit for any married woman to receive: but Mr. Dunning fays, they don't
inﬁf’;mé’?:’““- any thing which had pafled between them ngcefiary toflupport this adtion.
ave been much ar a lofs to conceive that any letter, that could have been wrote
from any gentleman to a gentlewoman, could contan any kind of expreflion, that
could have a direét proof n§ what is neceffary to fupport this action. It is the common
language of theworld. Don’t the letters import, in the ftrongeft manner, that nothing
was waming IH.‘[“"CEII them to the fl.ll] Erati cation Qf:\rgr}r wilh :hfr ;u-u!d have 1n-
dulged togecher 7 Mr. Dunning fuppoles a married woman may be BENETOUS €nou
o own her pafiion to an unmarried man, and no advantage taken of it ; his reafon for
that fuppolition is fingular, becaufe a married woman may without blame own her pal-
fion for an unmarried man, and yet may have a lawful object, and no mifchief happen
from him. I believe there are no inftances, where 2 woman makes a confellion m’ﬁ:;
paflion to an unmarried man, but that criminality which is improper becomes their
ﬂbj'ﬂ&i for that moment fhe becomes no lungcr in a ficuation for honour w guard her,
the becomes in the power of the man for whom (he has made fuch a liberal confefion.
Suppole that the Duke at firlt had no view of dithonour, and his intentions were pure,
yet ic was impollible but you mulk fuppole from the whole of thefc letters, and her
concurrence, it infers every thing had paffed between them that was poflible to have
pafled, receffary to fupport this altion. Gentlemen, Mr. Dunning concludes from
the expreffionsin the Duke'sletters, becaufe they are foextremely ardent, fo very paffion-
ate, that it is the language of a perfon whofe paflions were not gratified, rather than
of a perfon whofe paffions had been already gratified. He argues fo, and appeals o
his own conviétion about it. I apprehend neither my learned friend nor I, at the cool
period we are arrived, could judge fo of a young man of twenty-five, and a young wo-
man of twenty-two. [ fhould judge young men of the Duke's time of life, and you
women of Lady Grofvenor's, even after they had the gratification all their wilhes mu'}ﬁ
defire, they would Rill continue to exprefs themfelves with the fame ardency; and the
expreffions (hewed there was no referve in the Duke’s letter, and not much referve in
her in receiving fuch letcers, containing the molt paffionate expreffions (he could receive
from a lover, to whom nothing was denied.  Gentlemen, the journcy to Chefhire was
fuppofed to be indifcreer, was really idle, but nothing could have palled upon that
journey that was criminal. Mr. Giddings, whom we have been obliged to call as a
witnefs, and though we don’t think he deferves equal credit in all he fays, yet Mr.
Giddings, no doubt, is an unexceptionable witnels, and the beft; bur, however, he
has endeavoured to cover ir, and urged the apology at the fame time he (tated the tact,
and therefore does not deferve credic in all points; but undeubtedly Mr. Giddings could
not be ignorant Lady Grofvenor was upon the road, from the time he fet out from
Towcelter; the witnefs had twold him, who told his Royal Highnels at fupper, and
Giddings was then with him; Giddings then heard Lady Grofvenor was in the houle;
fhe wene ftage by flage as they went; they followed her, and he could not have the
leait doube of knowing the Lady was the object for whom the Duke went that road.
Gentlemen, in the next place concerning the rooms; the doors were always chalked :
Mr. Giddings has told you he thought it right to chalk the door of the rooms; he
thought it unneceffary at Chefter; bur if I miftake not, the Duke himfelf chalked
fome door.
Court. Giddings faid the Duke did it himfclf, or he did itin the Duke’s prefence.
Mr. WPedderburn. 1 recolleft now it was fometimes the Duke; but it was cither the
Duke in his prefence, or he himfelf did ic; that was not like combing of his hair, or

bringing up the water to wafh him, or duinE thofe common things no lervant n:Ehtﬁi ;
, u
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but a precaution ufed upon that occalion, which had a particular meaning, and a
caution Mr. Giddings does not take upon him to fwear was obfervedac Cheller.  Iris
manifeft he knew pointedly and regularly every night where Lady Grofvenor was 1o
be, though they never fet out together; and it isimpofiible it could not be learnt, or
come to the knowledge of the Duke, without her knowledge; for kis fervants and her
fervants had no communication together in the courfe of a weel. The Duke lays ac
an inn always upon the road, and Lady Grofvenor was there likewile ar the lame inns 5
he always laid in achalked reom, and the always took care tolay near the chalked roam;
which is decifive to that point, and decifive that they did meer. “The objection to
their having been together at Whitchurch, is that the maid might have improved
from it fince; but fhe took lefs notice of it at the time that is accounted for by the
evidence fhe gave, thar there was a perfon lying in the houfe which was difordered
in his underftanding, and upon the firlt noife, fhe wanted to know what it was; fhe
then recolleéted it was the fool’s room; fhe thought the fool would do her fome harm, and
then fhe locke the door; fhe paid bue lictle attention to the circumitance, though ic
was ftrong enough to dwell in her mind, and to be refrefhed in her mind, from the
diforder in which he found the bed the next day; that only applies from pafling over
the circumftance the nexeday. What was it the woman heard # they both heard 1t5
but being told the other woman was to fay the fame thing with what the witnefs faud,
we fent her back, not to give you a repetition of it. At that houle the Lady chofe a
bed-chamber contiguous to that where the Duke lay, and not contiguous to that where
her fervants lay. It would have been fingular if (he had affedtedly chofen another room,
not the beft, and a damp room, at any other time, when fhe would not have chofen
any body fhould lay in it, not her own fervants.  Can you fuppofe that perfons, who
carry any degree of prudence about them, would have chofen fo dangerous a place,
when they had had a caution of that particular room, but this room was chofen by the
Lady as it was contiguous to the chalked room. The witnefs hears the door of the
Duke’s room open; hears the ruftling of cloaths between that door and the door of
the Lady’s room. What does the maid defcribe the bed to be the next morning ?
Mr. Dunning fays a chamber-maid at an inn {hould not think it an uncommen E%I:t
to fee a bed in which two people had lain. She fays this bed was in a firuation the
never faw a bed before: therefore, fays he, it is an imagination of the maid’s, and fhe
has multiplied it to herfelf; the fituation is accounted for, and the fingularity of it
The maid found a great many pins in the bed clothes, and proves the Lady was not
undreft, and what %ad palt had not been in the naked bed, but upon the bed; and
there is no doubt that the bed would not have the appearance of two people lying in it
The maid's evidence is ftrong and pointed, when you come to canfider the particular
nature of her evidence, which proves that fome perfon had gone drelt, ruftling in the
paffage; that that door did open and Mhutagain, Need I afk the queftion, that it could
not be any more than the unfortunate Lady? 1 think the pins being found in the bed
the next day, and her being diforderly, will prove it very clear. You find he purfued
ftage for flage with Lady Grofvenor; the rooms were contiguous; both their paffions
were equal, ftrong for one another; and though direét proof of it was not given by
the letters, nor at the meetings before they came to Wﬁitchurch, yee the judgement
neceffarily formed upon thar, is, that it was impolfible but fome one of the opportu-
nities mult have been taken by the parties; all were nofturnal; all in bed-chambers,
and remote from witneffes. They were near Lord Grofvenor’s houfe in Chefhire; I
don’t defire you to believe any indecency to have paffed in the fields, nor in Mr. Gid-
dings’s prefence; I don’t defire you to believe neither, that Mr. Giddings was always
fo near; I think you can’t. That circumftance in his teftimony is extraordinary, for
the Duke's taking thefe double journies; he does entertain noble fentiments upon
other occalions, and that he thould have done it with no other perfon bur Lady Grof-
venor, and to choole to have a witnefs, fuch as Mr. Giddings 1n company, to fee all
things that {hould occur between him and Lady Grofienor, is very extraordinary; but
1 am fure there are no perfons in their rank would ever choofe to admit a third perion
fo near, Then the fcene ac St. Albans is fuppofed to be innocent, for the purpole of
this aftion, not innocent in itfelf, not innocent thar a gentleman fhould be in a lady’s
bed-chamber at an undue hour; but for the purpole of this action it is innocen,
becaufe it was impofible for that to have pnﬁ‘cg:u which (hould have been proved o
pafs then.  Mr. Stephens is furprized to find when he carries his negus, that the Lady
15 gone t bed [o foon; he went to the nurfery, fhe was gone; he is prewy politive as
to the door being locked ; the chamber-maid proved the key was on the infide; and
Mr. Stephens, you find, was prepared by boring two holes in the door.  Whar is E:
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be done then? the next ching is :
a: i rdl'f" iy b:d:‘;_l b n::-,::]:::j; :I:Edhs::tfemqn:;;:f; : hh:hgtsdm 'sllchﬁ:w ants,
the nurlery; chey all ' i turb the Lady or children in
the Duke came to Lady Grolvenor's room; thEWEI nl::m 4 llg:w NISRSRSA ool 0k e
the room; Stephens liftens at the door; be ht:r, h:: = mu1 aave been fome. time in
then to his brother; a confiderable in!l;rvni therelt : P:DF bt Eﬂnvlcrﬁ[mn; be, gpes
brother; then he carries his brother up Rairs in i ;:r: palics beipec. bis reic wighy hin
a long converfarion pafled between him and hE? ﬁr;tﬁ:q?" hwh:rc WA Ko lagy He)
lfl;ﬂ':lz;iu;h:hm after a great deal of paufe and dr:ruhu:-\,i ﬁ.—.f‘f'nglffuﬁﬂ:;snf.fﬁﬂrﬁfd
» they came down again f i .
the doors that ene patt 3 the gl Rl b Sl
you find, was ordered for the Duke at two o'clock in th S B g o
remarkable. Was there not time for converfan 7 th: g, WAICL WA} SECY
Stephens’s firlt coming to the door, and th . m’-m o Mrge sl J e, S s 06
confulting? Was there not a pul’l‘:h"ilit duE:nE;in: :::u:ii&n:tﬁ:h“ hhrg;]&:r. gt e
I::ﬁ.:;i:fﬁﬁ ':Frnpk:d j 'II'imr,his left fufficient for all the g;a:?gc;litnntﬂfu:ll;?: :fi;:::
efire. And tho e g -
nllluch :m;tuerfaﬂnn palles upq:-:gth,s:[ rilu]lf:':nﬁr:mygt-tmzfl:h:;r;::;cﬁﬂllf:\:t?::llﬂ;“‘
there mult be fome converfation pafs in the | - ekt
men, Mr, Dunning oblerves thaﬁutlhing?:::ﬁrfdrﬂv:r E_fiﬂu;ﬂandf: r:]h;!if I i:-IHTMIEI'.:'
ved from the window of the Duke's bed-chamber Stept]:gm bori ?li huL, inE;;ﬂh S
of Lady Grofvenor's bed-chamber, and he apprized the Duktmgn-f l:chnt ci " {ttdmr
which conveyed to Giddings's idea they were warched, which ke commu 'rcau:‘:l m]:f’
Royal Highnefs, In that cale, 1 do in my cunl'cicné: {uppefe Mr Gigslqml 5 r:: Ii:
have come to the knowledge of that circumitance, that tI-u:P oor was bored o .
meansthan by feeing Mr. Stephens daing it Gid&ings told me upon his nm; :vll:d o
he had made a progrefls in all the houfes he was in before; andP:t St .ll’l.ll:llatl:'»sl i:‘:;-;
fure, he mult meet with that circumftance of the holes in the door. and of lhjn‘ drefs
Stephens was in that night. [ will put it upon a fair balance, whether Giddings's f
!)n alle ar truc. If f;ﬁfc, then the Duke unapprized, rafil. andpn:cipimgd, wcnz{
into the Lady's bed-chamber without any ground of fufpicion that he would be watched :
but if true, the evidence is ftronger than if no fuch circumftance had ever occurred.
What is fo ftrong a prn-?f of it a5 this ? If warched, it was dangerous for him to go iny
he fhould have avoided it undoubtedly, as it would naturally be the effeét of difcover
If Giddings had made the dilcovery, his Royal Hi hnefs would have watched furia.n
fafer opportunity.  But, fays Mr. Dunning, the Duit's paffions were the paflions of
a young man, rafh and inconfiderate; he had come there to fee her, and he would fee
her, even at the rifque of that being known: then if his paffions were fo unreftrained,
that he would rifque all to fee Lady Grofvenor, do you think it would make him ftop
fhort, when he had rifqued all for the pofleflion of her, and it would not bave carried
him on to the granfication of their utmoft withes ? Thus far Mr. Giddings’s evidence is
for the inter of the caufe, if all 1s canfidered. I will take his evidencé as true, and
upon that circumitance I will build a confirmation of the inference; for how was it
poffible for any man to go away from the abject he had run all that hazard to obtan 2
If they knew there was a poflibility of being watched, yet they rifqued being locked
up together in her bed-chamber at an undue hour of the night. They rifqued a detec.
tion, and do you think they would not rifque the whole for the gratification of their
withes ? It is to be believed, becaule he did that which a cautious man would not have
done. Permit me to fay, it is not in human pature for him to run all that rifque, and
not to go farther; and that young men, or young princes, have not paflions dilferent
fram other people. Can you believe that young people of thefe warm paffions would
flop fhort of their objeft upon a conlideration of prudencey when it had been inefiectual
in preventing the danger of being interrupted and difcovered 2 Mr. Dunning fays thac
it might be all innocent; rmit me to fay that innocent liberty, which a man
:_n? fo that argument mizht take with a married woman, is the liberty of having con-
ult
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ed aignations, with her feigning them under borrowed names; and going to meet
her at the houfe of a perfon gone out of fown, continuing with her four hours together,
and he may take the hiberty of writing to her in warm terms; {he might take the liberty,
of telling him her paffions, and. as Mr. Dunnia fays, be might take the liberi of
fitting with her upon a couch, and he may take the liberty of kifing her ten ;
times upon that couch, and nothing pafs between chem; nay, he may then, according

to his argument, take the liberty of being upon the bed with her, and all the hfm'
1 there,
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there, and yet nothing happen. He may take the liberty of fitting upon the bed
at St. Albans within the curtains, for the confideration of that liberty, and then ftop
fhort juft at that precife point ; to be fure, granting this much we will grant him
no more. I don’t fee why ftop fhore, why nat go into a naked bed together ? you
might have fuppofed upon a feries of this argument it was cold, the fire went out,
ﬂnf it was warmer to be in blankets than cloaths, and they went to bed in order to
converle more cafily, and yet all pr:rfcufélg innocent ; and you cannot fuppofe a guile
of which you have not feen a direct proof. If any one ever heard a trial of this kind,
1 don’t believe that one inftance has occurred, where the direét proof has by the in-
difcretion of the parties been capable of being given in evidence. Their being upon
the bed within the curtains, therr being at the Countels Donhofi™s, and all their
repeated opportunities, and being at the Duke’s houfe, and all their private meet-
ings, in the prefent cafe amounts to that violent prefumption which my learned
fricnd allows is equal to all that teltimony can amount to. Confider the letiers by
themlelves, the journey to Chelhire by idelf, the journey to St. Albans. 1 forgot
Mrs. Langford and her maid, they are anxious for the honour of her houle, they
come up and give an account of the imprefMion of a perfon fitting upon the bed. I
am fure with regard to the two Swephens's, you oblerve the degree of caution u_ruh
which they gave their evidence, and the unwillingnels they had rto ftate any thing
unlefs with the moft ferupulous exafnefs in every circumitance. The elder Stephens
faid, Mrs. Langford did not chufe to fee it with the fame eyes he did.  Stephens did
at thac time argue againit her, and ftill the faid it did not appear as he faid it did ap-
pear; but four witneffes defcribed] che fituation different from what fthe faid. The
maid admits the account was read over to her, and upon that account it was exprelly
ftated, and her mme was put to it, which is noc il written ; the expreifion that the
bed was thoved up into heaps, that is a chambermaid®s expreffion ; I defy the gentle-
men that took it down to have coined it, it is a word peculiar to herfelf; fhe fays
the bed was very much tumbled and difordered, and looked as if it had been lain
on; thatis her account. However ilie may have been brought up in conjunttion
with her miltrefs, or partially fince, I don’t know, but you will judge of that; the
other parts of the evidence have furnifhed me with ample matter for that. The firlt
account fhe has given is a fair account, made upon the fpor when the oblervation
was recent 3 no realons could have induced her then to have given a different ac-
count ; it is far from being a contradittion of evidence. My learned friend oblerves,
if the circumftance had been true with regard to the Duke’s being feen buttoning
his wailtcoat, and the Lady’s neck bare, the two Stephens’s wuld%mw given an ac-
count of it. Though the two Stephens's did not fee i, the two footmen did. Ste-
phens fays, he ran to the other room to Lady Grofvenor, whofell, and as the Duke
was going away they did not obferve the drefs being loofe. The firft Stephens’s de-
feription was, thar Lady Grofvenor was running towards the next room, and by the
firuation in which fhe ftood with refpeét to both doors, it occurs, that the witneffes
might fee her naked breaft, becaule as the was going into the next room, fhe (urned
herfelf and looked back ; bur with regard to his Royal Highnels buttoning his
wailtcoat, and the Lady's drefs being fo unbuttoned that her neck and brealt were
naked, it is {ufficiently proved by the two footmen. Then you are defired to lay
afide the meetings, they prove nothing ; to lay afide the letters, they prove liule 5
to lay afide the journey to g‘-cﬂiir: and to St, Albans, the whole proves lkittle; and
the common argument of Fuméia Fuvam will not apply in this cale; in fore cales it
will apply with wrefiftible force. It is evident fhe had affe&ted no referve in her in-
clinations to him ; it is admitted fhe was a paffionate lover, wanted nothing but the
ﬁr:.:iﬁc:ltluns of her withes but one cpportunity, and if but one opportunity had
appened, and an imperfect account of that opportunity had happened, you might
have fuppofed for once an alarm might prevent it, an accident might happen to pre-
vent a fecond opportuniry 5 bur if opportunities are multiplied, and they are all that
are wanted for the proof of'the crime, here it proves to you in fair reafoning, the
impoffibility thar fo many opportunities could have happened, and the gratification
of a criminal paffion have Ecn prevented, and that that paMion fhould never have
been gratified in thofe opportunities that were unfortunately given to the parties;
t'_"lfr 15 the fame courfe of reafon a man purfues in every period of life.  If probable
circumftances make a folid ground, two increafes and three increafes, and a multi-
plication of thact is admitted to be the ftrongeft fpecies of evidence ; circumitances
united fpeak for themfelves, and form a body of reftimony which no human vil-
kiny is capable of inventing.  You have here in this caule the ftrongeft cir:unﬁlan;cs
4 that
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that can be given in evid i this a3 - S W
naked bed, End nathin i:!‘;:‘t!::ndmetfurigﬁbiﬁnra’n::lhﬂl'c:?n%haliji;hpi-ﬁm Ijn i
IE be feen, can be fufficient proof of the difhonour of a huﬁEnd, and L;L u;ﬁ;};nnzi'
the rights of marriage. Gentlemen, the confequence of fuch a verdiét is fixing the
impunity, and for future obfervation it is only the common precaution of lockings
a door, to commit all chat their extravagant paflions may dictate; and unlels the
parties were mad enough, which is beyond the conception of bifhin folly, to 20 ;u
a place where there were witnefles, this aftion is fuppofed to have nur.rou;d of
1;‘1'0:!1". I am fure you will be extremely cavtious how you lay down futhga rule g5
t['ulii the manners of the time require a different rule, to prevent a further progrefs
O Eﬂﬂﬂﬂui‘nfl—z_ It 15 I'ﬂld- thﬂ Clrcumﬂnnc:s, as well as thﬂ' rank_ Df [l“: 'dth:ﬂdiﬂ][
and conduét of the plaintiff, are all to be taken into confideration ; 1 don’t difpute
the propofitioh. IfT talk of the rank of the defendant, I don't exclude the idea of
his circumftances : if the plaintiff, though he is a Pﬂc;nf{hﬂ realm, is to be con-
fidered as any other fubject, what is done to the charafer of the I:ldintiﬁ'!‘ he has
been injured by his Royal Highnefs in the tendereft point, and now injured in his
character by a proof attempted, and by a command given to ftate to you what is not
proved by the evidence, but attempted to be proved by the lowelt clafs of perfons
in this town, and a lift of names called which never appeared, to poffels you with
Z.Iﬂt.'ES:! thus }’ﬂu_ﬁnﬂ his charafter ﬂltafk:d, bur not iml}cachc& s and therefore he
is entitled toa higher reparation upon that account, for the aggravation of the in-
jury done him by the noble perfon, who ftands in the rank of defendant upon this
record.  As to the rank of the defendant it approaches near to the throne, being
the higheft perfon fhort of royalty in this kingdom. 1 wonder to hear any thing faid
of the circumftances of his’ Royal Highnefs ; need I ftate, will it be expeébed I
thould call evidenee to prove the circumftances of the Duke of Cumberland 2 will it
be expected that I fhould rove, that no damages can operate fufficiently againit his
Royal Highnefs, though lﬁ: damages are given by the jury with the applaufe of the
Judges? But fuppofe thofe damages are not more than the provifion of the Duke of
Cumberland can be fuppofed to pay, and not retrench from the ordinary expences
of his table. Bur it is faid, juries are not to confider no caufe of damages as a piece
of punithment ; the fingle point is, what the plaintiff ousht to receive, and not
what the defendant ought to pay. I havé mifunderftood the direction of the court
in all caules, if it is not what the defendant ought to pay, not what the plaintff
ought to receive. If it had been a man of a moderate condition in life, the fame
clafs of people with you and me, gentlemen, are we to be told it is not to be judged
from the magnified fitvation of the defendant? bue if this man receives two, and the
other three, or four thoufand pounds, he is well paid. Is that to be the argument
that is to pals with you ? I never heard that the jury in Ireland were blamed for
finding a verdi¢t upon the dictates of their own mind, 1 never heard that the jury
was cenfured by the court, or the verdift thought difagreeable, or attempted to be
fer alide, upon a fimilar caufe before Chief Juitice Holc,  Gentlemen, you are the
fole judges, and it refts with you to judge how much is due for the violation of thofe
rights, which the public rights are injured as well as the party; and let me be
permitted to ftate to you, that inftances are not fo uncommon, where the rights of
the public as well as individuals are concerned, according to the natre of ’-h"_"t‘ﬂ“_'!"n
as to affeét the public. Itis not long ago that damages were given for a violation
of an injury which affected the public as well as individuals, I mean the cafe of the
journeymen-printers; a fine of two or three thoulind pounds was given; in other
cafes much larger damages. In thefe cales, the principles upon which it was fup-

rted were, that the jury was the only judges how much ought to be the price of an

pglithman’s liberty 3 and I do contend, you are the only judges how much is the
price of a nobleman’s honour, and how much the price, fitvated fo high as his Royal
Highnefs is, he ought to pay for the violation of that facred right, in which the pub-
lic honour is fo immadiatci? interefted : you cannot confider this as a private aflair,
in which he might fay, I have injured your family, dithonoured ydur wife, 1 am a
prince of the blood, I have affluence, here take the money. s that to be the prin-
ciple to be looked to, by thofe who are better inftruéted to determine a caufe ? Gen-
tlemen, I have no doubt upon thefe fatts which are proved, and adding the cir-
cumftances of this frefh attack upon the character of a man fo injured, that you will
find a verdiét for the plaintiff, and I have no doubr that the damages will be fuch as
will mark this caufe as a fignal caufe, and a falutary example to the public.
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Gentlemen of the jury, this aftion is brought by the plaintiff againft the defen-
dant, for what is called criminal converfation with the plainuff’s wife. Now to
entitle the plaintiff to recover damages in fuch an action, there muft be evidence, 1o
the fatisfaction of the jury, of the precife aft of criminal converfation ; the declaration
muft neceffarily lay tdar he carnally knew her, and there muit in all fuch cafes be that
evidence which fatisfies the jury of a precife at: no indecencies, no familiarities, no
conjeétures or probabilities, is fufficient to make out the ground of fuch an adtion,
But there is no precife fpecies of evidence that is defined, what fhall or not be fuffi-
cient, bur it muft depend upon all the proofs of the caufe applied to fpecific fats,
In moft of thefe aftions that have been tried, and in my experience 2 great number
indeed, they generally have been able to prove what is almolt equal to the very
aft, or tocarching them in the act. I will ftate to you fuch falts to which evidence
has been given; a great many arguments and inferences have been made ule of in
fupporting the caufe : 1 will ftate thofe particularly that require your attention. The
firlt, in order of time ftated in evidence, is what paffed ac the Counrels Donhoff’s ;
the next in point of time is what is contended to have paffed at Whitchurch: che
third in point of time and the moit pointed, is what is contended to have paffed upon
the ewenty-firlt of December, in their return to St Albans. Now thele are fpecific
afts, which are laid before you as afts of criminal converfation ; that is of the act it-
felf being done ; and a great deal of evidence has been given in order to corrobo-
rate the inferences drawn from them : it is given by the evidence in a confuled man-
ner, and therefore is not neceffary for me to ftate them regularly ; in regard to the
facts, there is very listle contradiction of the evidence ; what pafied at the Countels
Donhoff’s goes to fhew an acquaintance, a familiarity, and a ftrong intimacy; as for
inftance, the footman that proves in 1768, he faw Lady Harrington and Lady Grol-
venor on into Carlifle houfe not en a public night ; tKa: he faw another perfon and
the defendant come out; that is evidence of an acquaintance, which don’t in itfelf
go a great deal further. Another evidence about the fame year of acquaintance, is
a footman keeping a box at the playhoufe, and the Duke came into that box, and
told the foorman he need not take care of it any longer, for he would take care of it
for Lady Grofvenor ; the fervant then quitted the box. Another picce of evidence
that don’t go a great deal furcher is, upon her going to Kenflington-gardens, the wit-
nels faw t%u: defendant purfue the fame road, but there is no witnefs that faw them
walk there together ; the fame witnefs faw her go tw Kenfington-gardens, faw the
defendant purfuing the fame road, at the fame time her fifter a maid of honour was
with her. There is another piece of evidence previous to that, tronger than thofe I
have yet mentioned, that is, her going to St. James's, fending her coach away for
two hours, and walking into the park with the Countels of Donhoff, meeting the
defendant, and at his requeft going into his garden by the garden-door ; one of the
witnefles faw them chere going into the Duke’s houfe ; this happened once or twice.
This is the general evidence, introductory to the evidence of the particular faéts
which I firlt ftated to you: then as to this particular fadt, it is proved by Elizabeth
Sutton, that Lady Grolvenor vilited the Countefs Donhoff ; that he went out of
town, and (he vifited her both before and after the went out of town ; at laft fhe
went out of town and did not come back for five wecks ; during the time the Coun-
tefs was out of town, Lady Grofvenor went to the Countefs’s about feven o'clock in
the evening ; fhe came and afked for her ; Mrs. Surton was left in care of the houle,
and her hufband and family were there ; fhe told Lady Grofvenor her Lady was not
at home ; Lady Grofvenor faid, fhe certainly would be at home that evening ; fhe
went in, and went up ftairs ; the witnels fays, this was about feven ¢ clock at nighe,
and that fhe afked for her brother, or whether he had been there; fhe don’t know
which was the expreffion; then fhe faid her brother would come ; fhe went up into
the drawing room, and about half an hour after, a Gentleman came in a chair,
which was fhut up clofe; that when he was brought into the hall, he burlt out of
the chair and went up fairs ; the witneffes fay, he had on a blue great coat; that
he went up fairs into the room where Lady Grofvenor was 3 the took up candles
when it was a proper time, and when fhe went in Lady Grofvenor was fitting at top
ar!d he was at the bottom of the couch ; there was a table near them, and when the
witnels was going to place the candles there, he bid her place them upon the other
table, which fhe did. She fays fhe herfelf was brought to bed in the next moml':i
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St. Albans, Mr. Seephens called him up; he himfelf did not hearken at the dngr; he
fays after Mr. Stephens called him up, the door was burft open, and the firlt thing he
faw, when the door was burlt open, which was burft from the hinges, not the lock,
was the defendant ftanding in the middle of the room dreft; it was about ten o'clock
he thinks; and as Lady Grolvenor was going to the oppofite door, which led into ano-
ther room, (he fell down; the defendant, he fays, was buttomng his waiftcoar, and
foon after he oblerved that Lady Grofvenor's neck was naked; her drels was a clole
drefs, which buttoned up to her neck ; he fays the defendant at firft feemed very much
confounded, and faid, | hope you will do me no harm ; he was going out of the door,
and Stephens faid, Stop the gentleman, that we may fee who he is; when he gotinto
ancther room, he faid, You ice [ am not in the Lady’s room, and faid he would take
his oath of it; Stephens faid, you have been in it. He ook particular notice of the
bed, and obferved it was much tumbled; the defendant had on a black or dark wig,
and a filk handkerchief about his neck. Upon the journey, the family that cravelled
was Lady Grofvenor herfelf, and two of her children, and the fervants; in his crofs
examination he faid about Kenfington gardens, what I have ftated already, and there-
fore I need not repeatit.  The next witnefs fpeaking to this is Edward Bennetr; he fays
fupper was in about eight o’clock ar night; when he had been in bed about half an
hour, he was called up again, which was about half an hour after ten; Mr. Stephens
went down with a dark lapthorn in his band, and put his ear to the door, and heard
founds like two voices in the room; and when Stephens burlt open the door, he faw
the defendant ftanding in the middle of the room; the door was burft open by three
puthes; they might be between one and two minutes about it; he fays when they came
in, the defendant was buttoning his wailtcoat; he fays, Lady Grolvencr went to the
oppolite door; her breaft was bare; fhe fell in going into the other room, and Stephens
went to her afliltance; he looked at the bed, which was tumbled upon the outfide.
The next witnels with regard to this part of the caufe, is Matthew Stephens; he fays,
upen the 21t of December, at St. Albans, he was employed by Lord Gmﬁreljnr o
derteét them; having information that all was not righr, he attended Lady Grolvenor
from Chefhire; wh%c fhe was at fupper, he bered two holes in the door of the room,
where (he was tolay ; thewent up from the parlour about half after eight or nine o’clock ;
he carried a negus to her bed-chamber, and fhe took the negus and turned the lock;
afterwards he looked through the holes he had bored, and he faw a part of the room,
and a part of the bed, but could fee no body; but he diltinguithed two voices, one
was Lady Grofvenor's; and then a fecond time he liftened, and heard both voices,
the defendant’s voice being louder than before; then he fays he confulted with his bro-
ther, and his brother faid, If he burft open the door and nothing was difcovered, it
would do mifchief; they were deliberating about it fome time, and they went again
the third time ; then after litening and hearing the voices as before, they broke cpen
the door at the hinges; he was the firlt that wentin; Lady Grofvenor was endeavouring
to efcape, and fhe fell down in going into the next room, but by what accident does
not feem to be particularly explained; the defendant paffed by him, and wentinto the
other room, and faid, I was not in the bed-chamber; he faid, You was; then he faid
he would take his Bible oath of it; the witnels’s brother, and the other fervants faid,
they knew him to be his Royal Highnefs the Duke of Cumberland; he fays the bed
was much tumbled, and the fheet was rumpled; he faid the woman of the houfe came
up, and {aid no impreffion appeared vpon the bed bur of a perfon fitting down 5 he
fays he was the perfon that firlt went in, and upon a queftion you fuggefted, he fays,
he did not fee any thing particular about Lady Grofvenor’s drefs, or the defendant’s
buttoning his waiftcoat, or any thing of that fort. The nexe witnefs is his brother,
John Stephens; he faw the door broke open, was with them, and faw the defendant
in the room {tanding, and he faw Lady Grolvenor going into another room; he faw
the bed was rolled Hat, but not the boliter; fays he faw nothing itular as te the
drefs of the defendant, or Lady Grofvenor. As to this part of the caufe, fome wit-
nefles have been called by the defendant.  The firft is Mary Langford ; fhe was there
while the fervants were there; fhe looked at the bed before the lefe the room; fhe fays
the fide of the bed next the fire was as if it had been fac upon, and there was no ap-
pearance of its being laid on; fhe fays Lady Grofvenor’s drefs was juft the fame as it
was when [he came into the houle; her head-drefs no ways difordered or dithevelled.
The next is Sarah Gilby; fhe went into the room while the fervants were there; the
fays fhe was in the fame drefs as when fhe came in, and her hair no ways difhevelled ;
the bed was flatted on the fide next the fire, as if one or two had fat down upon ir, buc
there was no appearance of laying on it.  Upon her crofs examination they afked her,
: i
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s pécuniary demand: in that caufe, the jury did with my approbation and direétion not

. find a verdi& for the plaintiff, but for the defendant. I have confulted the judges up-
on that, and it has been approved in fuch cafe, if the plaintiff by fuch a trap draws a
man in, though the crime before God is the fame, he is nor to recover damages: that
did happen here, and a verdict perfectly agreeable to my fentiments was given.  Ano-
ther thing I will now take notice of, which is, what happened ro day, regarding what
the phintff ought toreceive; they have this day, without objection becaule they could
not objeét, let the defendant go into a recrimination, to fhew that the plaintiff had
been falfe to his matrimonial vow; as the damages are to arife from the tranfaétions of
the defendane, it is nothing what the plainiff’s behaviour is; if it was eriminal, no
behaviour of the plaintiff could go to excufe them, for what they have done criminal :
but if the p]ainziHP is under the fame circumitances of behaviour with his wife ; if the
fact is made our, you will confider what to give him for the injury which he complains
to have fultained ; and therefore 1 will take a circumftance which has always been gone
into in the extenuation or aggravation, that is, the nature of the feduction. [f the
defendant making ufe of the friendfhip of the hufband, under this friendthip and his
holfpitality, as fome cafes have been, or where they have been living in the houfe, mak-
i_n%]ul-'::nf thac friendthip and the opportunities of converfing with the wife, whom the
hufband leaves in charge of his houle, and abufes chat friendfhip, honour, and hofpi-
tality, or ftanding in any relationfhip to the plaintff, the meafure.of damages would
certainly increafe. If a fervant or a brother make ufe of the introduétion that gives
fuch opportunities, the law isvery ftrict. I don’t know of the cafe alluded to fo late as
Chief Juftice Leigh. 1 knowin Queen Ann, the cafe of Mr. Dormer, damages were
given for afervant violating his mafter’s bed, laying in the houle s and therefore the ufe
of damages being what the plaintiff ought to receive, and whether the defendant is
rich or poor, it is the fame thing as to the meafure. If the defendant is poor, if he has
incurred a juft debt, he ought to pay and make fatisfaction. If it is the cafe with a
very poor perfon, he is liable to have his body taken in execution, it is no excufe for
a2 poor man ;3 but ftill it enticles the other to a juftification ; if it was not fo, a poor man
would have little rifque, and the rich would be punifhed more feverely. But whether
the defendant is rich or poor, thatis notto meafure the damages ; it is in cafe of afine,
but not in fioint of damages; thatis to be meafured upon all the circumftances of ag-
gravation or extenuation, arifing out of the caufe; as to thofe circumftances, you are
better and more proper judges than I am; therefore 1 fhall fay nothing, but leave
them to your obfervation ; but the rule is neceffary to be explained. The defendant
has gone into a ground, which I think goes into the meafure of damages only ; Idon't
recollet it happening in experience, buc one has fo many of thole aétions to try, that
we can’t remember them all particularly. T have turned icin my mind formerly, and 1
have talked with others upon it, when it firlt occurred to me, whether a doubr might
not be mide, if recrimination fhould be a bar to an aétion of this kind; recrimination,
the ecclefiaftical law makes a bar.  There is no difference berween adultery of the hul-
band and wife in point of law, for women may have a divorce for adultery from a huf-
band, in the ecclefialtical court, as well as the hufband a divorce from the wife; but if
one fues for a divorce, and the other recriminates, by the rule of the ecclefiaftical law,
no divoree can begiven; they are both equally guilty, and the law does not interpofe.
I am of opinion againft it; in this aftion it cannot be a bar, for though the plaintiff
may have behaved in this manner, it is becween him and the perfon whom he has had
criminal converfation with, and it is not a bar to his recovering again(t the defendant.
I thill think thac the hufband drawing a man into doing the act, is in faét abar ; there
lam clear: but in this caufe, it is my opinion, it is no bar; therefore it goes to da-
mages only. And as to damages, it depends uponithe evidence of the faét; for if cthe
fadt is proved, thatthe hufband has likewife taken the fame liberty, to be fure it goes -
a Igrcat way with regard to the injury he complains of, lofing the comfort and fociety
of his wife. If the witneffes called to it do not prove it, there isanend of it.

To prove this, therewere four witneffes called ; the firft is a miftre(s Beau Germain o
fhe fays the knows the plaintiff particularly well; fhe firft knew him in the year 1768,
by means of Mrs. Muilman in Crown Court, Weftminfter; fhe faw him firlt in Jermyn
Street, ar a ftay-maker’s, alodging which the maid took for her, and in order to admie
Lord Grofvenor with her: the next day after the lodging was taken, the plaintiff
eame, and fhe fays nothing paffed then; the day after (he was not at home, but the
day after he came again, and they afted as man and wife; and fhe fays che fame con-
hexions were repeated between them feveral times; the fays fhe wént by the name of

Barah King; then fhe was three weeks ar that lodging, burt fhe did not weite to him
HENH
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again for eight months; fhe faw him often at Mifs Woodfall's, and the fame thing hap-
pened there ; fhe was broughe to bed in 17635 fhe politively fwears the plainuff was
the father of the child.

The nexcis Mary How ; fhe fays fhe knew the plaintiff in 1768 ; was introduced by

~one Mrs. Leflie; was at her houle left alone; fhe lay with him; fhe faw him three
days after at the fame houle; the fame thing paffed ; fhe faw him after that and fhe
fpoke to him ; he did not own her ; fheis atked how fhe came to know him ; fhe fays

e is fure it was him, and fhe faid it was my Lord Grofvenor.

The next witnefs is Mary Waten, who fays nothing material ; fhe knows
the plaintiff ; he has been at her houle to fee a woman who was her lodger, one Mrs,
Tremilly ; the is called, (he fays fhe knew the plaiteff; (e lodged at Warten's; the
faid Waten had wrote to him for charity, and he faid if fhe could get him a woman, he
would relieve her; that is not faid in her prefence; and therefore not evidence.  She
fays the plaintiff and one Gunning went into the parlour, and they were alone toge-
ther ; the fecond time fhe was with them in cthe parlour. Obfervations have been made
with regard to the charatter of the perfons. That comes out of their own mouth. Mrs.
Beau Germain accufes herfelf of incontinence, which; to be fure, évery woman muft
be guilty of who has a baftard child. She is introduced by Mrs, Muilman, the other
is introduced by Mrs. Leflie; but the fame abjeftion lays to her. They have fworn
it. Upon thele obférvations you will weigh whether you believe they fpeak truth. It
is material to the verdiét in damages. If you think they are perjured, you will confider
the whole. If you are fatisfied the fafls are clearly proved, you will find a verdiét for
the plaintiff, and give what damages you think h=is entitled ro wndér a1l thie érfeum-
ftances. If you are not fatisfied of the proof of the fadts, you will find a verdict for
the defendant.

The jury went from Wefiminfer-Hall to Lord Mansfield, a bis boufe in Bloomfbury Square,
and gave in their verdid for the plaintiff, with fen thoufand podnd damsgés.
=
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FREDERICK CALVERT, Esq;

Baron of Baltimere, in the Kingdom of Ireland ;

FoR

A Rare on the Body of Saranm Woobncock:

And of EuizaseTd Grirrinsuss, and Axn Hanvey.

T the Affizes held on the 23d of March, at Kingflem, a Bill of Indiftment was
A found by the Grand Inqueft for cthe County of Swrry, as follows ;

The Jurors of our Sovercign Lord the King, upon their Oath, prefenr, that

Fredevick Calvert, late of the parilh of Epfom, in the County of Swrry Efg; Baren of
Baltimere, in the Kingdom of Jreland, not having God before his Eyes, but being moved
and feduced the Infligation of the Devil, on the 22d Day of December, in the
Eighth Year of the Reign of our Sovereign Lord George the Third, King of Grear-
Britain, &c. with Force and Arms at the Parith aforéfaid, in the County aﬁ;rcﬁid, in
and upon one Sarab Weedcack, Spinfter, in the Peace of God, and of our faid Lord
the King, then and there being, viclently and felonioufly, did make an Affault; and
her, the fuid Sared Woodcock, againlt the Will of her, the faid Sarab Wosdiock, then
and there felonioufly did ravith, and carnally know, againft the Peace of our faid Leord
the King, his Crown and Dignity, and againft the form of the Statute in fuch Cafe
made and provided. And Elizaberh Griffinburg, Wife of Jofepb Griffinburg, lat= of
the Parith of Saint Awm, Sebe, in the County of Middlefex, Doétor 1a Phyfic. And
Ann Harvey, otherwile Darby, late of the Parith of St. Leoward, Sboredisch, in the
County of Middlefex, dforefail, Widow, before the fiid Felony and Rape was com-
mitted, in form aforefaid, to Wit, on the 22d Day of December, in the Year afore—
faid, with Force and Arms at the Pacith of Egfom, aforefaid, in the faid County of
Surry, did felonioufly and malicioully procure, aid and abert the faid Frederick Catvert,
to do and commit the faid Felony and Rape in Manner and Form aforelaid, againft
the Prace of our faid Lord the King, his Crown and Ligaity, and againf¥ the Form of
the Starute in fuch Cale made and [m:vidc;. o



2 The Trial of Lord Baltumore, &c. for a Rape.

On Saturday, the 26th of March, 1764, the Court being met, the Prifoners fut-
rendered themlelves in difcharge of their Bail, and were fet to the Bar, when the Court
proceeded thus P K,

- AheClerk of the-Avraians (read the Tndidfment to them-as before.)

Clerk of the Arraigns. How f{ayelt thou, Frederick Calverr, Baron of Baltimere, in
the Kinpdam of [ r':'_r:_:{;_fi__it_rt_ thou guilty of the Felony aind Rape whergof thou Rand<{l
indicled, or not guilty ¢

Lord Baltimere. Not guilty.

Cierk of Arr.  Culprit, how wile thou be tried ?

Lerd Baltimore. By God and my Cqungy.

Clerk of Arr.  Ged Frd thee a good deliverance.

Cierk of Arr.  Elizabetd Griffinburg, art thou guilty or ot 2

Griffinttree Mot guilty. , -
Cierk of Army  Culprit, how wilt thou Ff!{uiuif € E z

Grifinhgre.5 By God angd my Country. &

Zlerk of Ave. God fend thee a good defiverance.

Clerk of drr.  Awu Harvey, otherwife Dargy, are thou guilty or not £

Hargey. Not guiley.

Clerk of Arr.  Culprit, how wilt thouw'be wied ?

Harvey. By God and my Country.

Clerk of Arr.  God fend thee a good deliverance,

Clerk of drr.  Make a proclamaton jor filence.- » - .

Cryer. (Oyez, Oyez, Oypezg My Lordss the Kﬁlg’} ﬁlﬂiﬁtsi ﬂrﬁf ~charge and
command all manner of perfons to keep lilence upon pain of Imprifonment.

Cryer.  Oyez 5 you good men thatare impanelled to try between our Sovereign Lord
the King, and the Prijoners at the Bar, anfwer to-your pames, qu:fgu?ng?.g.!incs.

ulboaaint fl'-.'li'y'w':fe called over bid appeared.

Clerk of Arr.  You the Prifoners at the Bar, thele men which were laflt called, and
do now appear, are thofe wlo are to |mi".i_||.'ll:tj1|'r:cn our Sovereign Lord the King and you,
upon the trial of vour feveral lives and deaths; if therefore you will challenge them, or
any of them, you muft challenge them as they come to the Book to be fworn, before

Lgvra

N B

they are fworn : and ou thall be heard. | Pl X ’
: 3%00d iMFngF, of Kingfloa challenged by the prifaner|
Billiam Fremeh, of ditto “dirtto ditto
- Walliam Hebis, of ditto ditto ditto _
¥ 2V AL Fobn Warnodk Penfold, of diteoi 7 idid Hroasdie | 1o Lol
Hiillifam Perter, of ditto ditto ditto
Parrick Jobnfon, of Peterfham, - - - < fworn

Samuel Chriffopber, of Peterfham - - - {worn
o Gea. drmyfireny, of Richimedd, challenged by ditto

Groves: i beeler, of ditto, =1 (=l = pokLo=0 Jfworn |
Henry Taylor, of Kew, - - challenged by ditto

Charles $eljler, of Richmond, - ~digea, . o psoau]
Charles Martin, of ditto . ditre it
Richard Chinnery, of dicto- - - LU . [warn.
Henry Reak, of Kingfton, challenged by ditto

Henry Hardmead, of Ricl‘.}ma_nd = o e
Fob Gardner, of Richmond,  challenged by ditto

fofepl Dawis, of Peterfham, - - - - fworn'
Henry Hunt, of Richmond,  challenged by ditto

Fabn Scere, of dito dirto

Thomas Roberts, of dito, - - - - - fworn
Fobn Plagt, of ditte - - - - - - [worn

Fobn Greems of diwo - - - "~ - . f{wern

Thowras Stmmiends, of Thames Ditton - - fworn

. William Watcrman, of Richmond - - - [wom
. dAfber Turzery of Egham - challenged by dicto
 Thomas Gull, of Thames Ditton, challenged by ditto
Benjamin Plauner, of Thames Dinon - - - fworn

Clerk of Arr. - Count thefe ; :
- Pagrick Folmfon Henry Hardwead Fobn Green

* Samuel Chriftopher. - Fofepl Davis Thomas Simmends
Greves Wbeeler Thomas Reberss T5iliam W aterman

Rickard Chizmery Fobn Plau Benjamin Planner



The Trial qf Lord Baltimore, &ec. Jor a Rape.

Cryer.. Gentlemen, are ye all fworn.
o Clerk of drr.  Cryer, make proclamation.
Cryer. QOyez, Oyez, Oyez; If any one can inform my T ords the King's. JuBices
the King's Serjeant, the King’s Avtorney. General, of any treafius, murders, [elsaics, o
mjl‘dl:m.:ll!ﬂl‘-&_. I:u_.l:'l.'lmil.i.l:d ardone hy the lirifuu:nar. the H-J.r, et hum come tarth 4;-.-,1. b
fhail be heard, for the Prifoners Zand now 2t the Bar upon their deliverance ; ,1--_;;', Foer-
fons that are bound by recognizance 1o give evidence soaint! the Prifiner: at the Bai, lic
them come forth and give their evidence, or they will forfeit their retoanizances.
< Clerk of drr. Frederick Calverr, 18q; Baron of Ealtimere, in the ‘i(inge_ium of Jre-
land 5 Ann Griffinburg, and dnn Harvey, hold vp, your bands. Gentlemen of the Jury,
leok upon the Prifoners, and hearken 1o the charge, ‘They Rand indicied by the aames ot
Frederick Calvert, Elg, Elizabeih Griffinburg, and Ann Horvey, (asin the lodiZment b -

3

Joxe fet foriby. . Upon this Indidtment they have been arraigned, and upon their Arraign-
ment have ﬁaﬂcrﬂm guilly ; and for their Trial have put themfzlves upon Goa ﬁu]

their.Countgy, which Country you are; Your charge theretore is, to enquire whether they
b guiley u_;[.]'ns l?fnny_ and Rape whereof they ftand indifted, or notguilry. If you find
@gw&gh. o thall enguire what goods or chanels, lands or tenements they had, a¢ the
tume of the elony commutted, or at any time fince : If you find them not gailty, you
fhall'enquine w]\l‘,qhgr.th;f_&:! Torghe fame : If you Bod that they did Ry fur the fame,
mh}lmqgg:nf their goods and chatels, as if you had found them guiley @ IF
you' fin them nbt guilty, and that chey did not By for the fame,’ fay fo, and no mére;
and hear your evidence. R i . :
Counen.. sor  THE Crows.
anfT-Ja Avat s

S e dn SR Cgidn Lagh, My. ok, “4d Mr. Baker.

SHDEN™T

i '(I:_'I_J!U!Fﬁll. FOR THE Pn[wxzns.

ey 23l0giod Jofel Recorder, cgm-r--,?'phpi Mr. Lacas, and My, Shaw,
ELL = i

~s1 ylgdonl) dsad bl 1 sfl :

S m DTN Doker then opéned the Indidtment.  After which

L N AW SR MLIST .l T IO i de 210 G130 r 5 :
Mr. Serjeant Leigh ftated the Cale with the feveral faits,  a< they will appear:
i_'—".-ﬁh‘i _fg qupErH: Tl;g_ﬂ[w&.r:ﬁ we » ‘._Ei not repeat bere) and concluded to the ﬁ:ﬁtﬁw-
HJE_]F”I.PNI_:‘I [e1wal™ | ol it = ! !

A i e on. T told you at firft, 1 would make no appeal to your pafions,
nor iEaiﬁimi“ilw: told }:_fuu the tory as it was told to m?:li ih:!'Fcal!. the Wit-
n -and ,if they do mﬂ._Ll]; e waoul .[aﬁsﬁ&.m,‘ you will, I doubt nog, fihd
:ﬁriﬁ;‘rﬁ" l'.'lii't'_if.' they do not prove i, G,pd.fnr'ln_d th.ﬂ.l: an inhocent perfon
thould fuffer, Tc is our bufinefs to lay it fairly, candidly, and full Before you, and
then in God’s name, et the confequence follow.™

“udani RMW the Witneffes thould be examined apart; to which the
Profecutrix readily agreed. '

st  SARAH WOODCOCK fworn.

Weedeack. 1 live in King-ftreet, Tower-hill; my father and fifter live there, |
" Mr. Co. Did you carry on any bulinefs in the month of December ?
in i ek ey T omb A W ERES
Mr. Cox. Whart huﬁn&:l's!:': RTo ;
k. The bulinefs of a millener. ? e
' 'ﬁf&ﬁﬁf you can fpeak louder, do 3 'if nor, I will repeat to the ]m-r_ Do you re-
mﬂl.'il:;l:r‘nn]! hody coming to your houle in the month of December laft # —— but take
- A i d cﬂ“_. i ]
u%n;:’fd;p::k ;‘ :;tkwu_m, which I fince find 1o be Lord Baltimore, he came
to the thop. . > il
' " What was his bufinefs ?
» ?ﬁgjmi. He came behind another cuftomer.
Mr. Cox. Was that cuftomer known to you ?

' . Sh % a5
iifrb;"f‘sﬂ;fpﬁd at that time between you and the gentleman 2

5. Weedcack.
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8. Wacdeock. The gentleman forced his difcourfe very much to the lady, and then
afled me what the ruff was that was in the window. I reached it to him; and told him
it was eighteen pence ; he bought the ruff, and went away.

Mr. Cox. Did he come at any time afterwards ?

S, Waedceck. He came again two or three days afterwards ; T was not at Home ; a<
bout a week after he came at night ; nothing particular paffed then, ke enly bought
nine vards uf:'ihbﬂn, and went away.

Mr. Cex. When did you fee him again? -

3. Weodesek, T can't exactly tell the time. [ believe about 4 week after that, as neat
as 1 can guel, I faw him again, he came about noon; he came in a great hurry, all
oter mud on one fide, and faid a coach had Aung him down.

Mr. Cox. What did you fay ?

5. Weedeock. 1 faid it was very odd he fhould be fo near the coach and not fee it. He
fuidd it was thinking on me. I gave him no anfwer, not to my knowledge. 'He afked
me if he mighe fic down, if he (hould not hure the chair. [ rold him, that he would’
not hurt the chair. He alled me for fome filk mittins ; he faid they were for two lietle
miffes; and muft be abour the fize of my arm; he faid he was a neighbour, and lived
juft by, in Tower-ftreer, and would bring the ladies fome time or other o fee me; he
then fad, he thould be glad to accompany me to the play, if I would go. I madean-
?-.-[-r,, I never was at a play, and never intended ic. Thar was all char particulatly pif

e Elién:

Mr. Cex. What day of the week was this? b :

8. Woodeock. 1 cannot tell.

Mr. Cex. Whae happened after this at any time?® **

8, Wesdeeck. T faw him no more to my knowledge. On Monday, the 14th of De-
cember, at night, one Mrs. Harvey came ; fhe afiérwards told me hername.

Mr. Cox. Do you fee her? g

8. Weodcack. Yes 5 (pointing to the prifoner Harvey) fhe befpoke a pair of laced roffles,
and afked, if I conld get them done by the nexy day noon ; after fhe had befpoke them,
fhe afk.d me, if my name was not Woodcock ; fhe faid that 1 had been ftrongly re-
commended to her, and lhe loved to encourage young beginnérs; and told me if fhe
liked the ruffles, fhe would recommend me to a lady of her acquaintance which wanted
a great many things. _

Mr. Cox. Did any thing elle pafs that day ? i

8. Weodeock. Mot 1o my knowledge, Tﬁt next day about noon, fhe came accord-
ing to her time, and ferched the ruffles, and faid, fhe wanted feveral more things,
and afked me, if | could come to her houle next day at four o’clock ; 1 anfwered, I
would come if (he pleafed. .

"Mr. Cox. Did any thing more pafs then ? '

5. Weodcock. Nathing particular. The next day, according to my time, I went,
alout half an hour afier fowr o’clock.

" M. Cex. What day of the month ? :

§. Woodeock. December the 16th, the day of the week was Wednefday. T went tof
Curtain Eow, jult by Holloway Mount. The maid opened the door, fhe went up ftairs
and let Ker mifkrels know that T was there, and then 1 was ordered up fairs; fhie be-
haved in a very genteel manner, and afked me to fic down, and then defired to look ae
the things which I had brought ; fhe ordered tea direétly ; 1 told her, I could not ftay
to dink tea, and begged to be excufed. Juft as I'was I‘Etnlﬁng of that, in came a lictle
man like a Jew; and Made a great many compliments to this lady, as if he had not
feen her betore thar day. T have fince found the name of this man to be Ifaac Ifaacs ;
then they began w talk abourt his going to the play, fhe faid fhe was going into the
city to fee a Jady.

Mr. Cox. Did fhe name what part of the city, or what lady ?

8 Weedrock., Noj he faid he mufl have a coach to go te the play, and that if The
would, fhe might go part of the way in his coach, that he would fet her down. Then
the turned to me, and faid, chis is the lady I told you of ; fhe then faid, the would be

lad if I would go along with her; thac fhe wanted a grear many things, and would
Et‘ a good cuftomer to me. I made many excufes, that my drefs was not furtable,
and then delited t2 be excufed from goinz thac T[ght-_. fhe faid, the lady was avery
agreeable lady, and would think nothing of my drels, it was all very well, and begged
I would go ; chen the Jew went with a prerence to fetch a coeach ; he came back sgain
diveltly, and hurricd away very falt; we were hurried into the coach, and the maid
cemingly, was to bring the candle, but kepr back with it I wentinto the coach
the dark, and was not able to diltern what fort of a coach it was. When I got
inte
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into. the coach, the Jew drew up the glaffes; Iobferved that they were very good glaf
fes for a hackney coach. He faid, it was a very good coach im';n'}::ﬂ. | by zngd by %a,ui.
it was a very good coachman, as well as a goad coach, he drove fo faft, and 1 did not
hear bim firike the horfes. The lady made anfwer, and faid, the fuppofed that the
gentleman had put fix-pence in the coachman’s pocker, in order 10 make hiny make
halke, that he might get o the play time enough. In about half an hour we were got
to the houle ; jult as we were got to the houle, as we were coming to the door, Mrs.
Harvey faid, Mifs, thisis a very fine houfe this lady keeps; I faid, I was very forry [
was come in fuch a drefs, for | was quite athamed ; then they knocked at the door,

they drove in fo falt, thacl did not know that it was in a coust-yard, but thoughs
it was a door in the ftrect.

Mr Cox. Wasita duor in the ftreet *

§. Weodeock. No. Then I was defired to walk up Rairs ; I went up along with Mes.
Harvey ; they led me into one room, then a fecond, aotd out of that into a third 5 therg
was an old man fitting, whom | found fince to be Doftor Griffinburg: he got up ia 3
very complaifant manner, and afked me to fit down; Mos. Harvey alked for the lady;
he faid he would go and fee lor her; he went our, and brought in word fhe would be
here prefently.

Mr. Cox. Who did you fee next ?

8. Woodeack. 1 fat about half an hour with Mrs. Harvey and Dr, Grifinburg, and
then in came the gentleman, whom 1 fince find to be Lord Baluimore.

Mr. Cex. Whar pafled then ¥

S. Weadecock. 1 was much ftruck, knowing him to be the man I had fren at my fhop
before ; he came in with a great many compliments, he fuid how do yuu do, Mals, 1
hope you are well, and fuch like,

Mr. Cox. How was he dreft ?

§. Woodeock. 1n a linen night-gown ; he pretended he had not bren well 5 as l'n;
came in, 1 underftued Dr. Griffinburg, he was the freward, Mors. Haivey faid to him
fomething about the lady, I can’c tell what,

Mr. Cox. Whai pafled after this 2 !

§. Weodeock, He faid 1o me, I told you I would recommend you to fome ladies, that
they were great ladies, and would want many things in your way. 1 did not remember,
that he had told me that; I made anfwer, I was much abliged to him, and afked
him where the ladics were 3 he faid he would go and fec for them; he went outy and
broughtin word that the ladies were not at home, but would be foon ; then after we had
fat a Ltcle while, he faid he would go and call the houfekeeper ; he went out, and brought
in a woman, which I find fince to be Mrs. Griffinburg.

Mr. Cox. Is fhe in Court ?

8. Woodeock, That ;ch!-:: at 1:;1: Bar (pointing to ber.)

. Cox. Whar paffed then ! ; .
gl;ﬁ*ﬁ;mi. Hr:purdemd tea, and afked me to drink tea. I told him I was i:dbflgfg
to him, I had drank tea ac Mrs. Harvey's. He laid he had not, and therefore defire
it might be Il:-]r%ug;nt. e « S
. Did they drin _
gﬁ?’ﬂm&. 'l'hc; did, and with a great deal of perfualion Idrar!k one difh. Al-
; h in a heap of nicknacks; fuch as pucles,
ter tea he weat out of the room;, and b[!ﬂ“% L in 3 heap of I I o
{melling-bottles, retotums and a ring : He faid he had bought them all for me. 5
him 1 had no ufe for u:..emf. and ff";d{mt 'l:dhm&h m;cdmﬁ;:: ggﬂ'w MHE wir:fﬁ ﬁﬂﬂ
: faid, he lwppo could play, and
?‘:;;u;“?hﬂf;zﬁibl;r 1 mig‘?ﬁ, but now [ thought it rather b;nn:tl'{dﬂ}i; j[-L:'l 1L.]‘.:;u:l,, tlf E
would notacecpethe chi g we Mouid play forthern s MR YEECE N0 b
cept them afterwards. 1 a1 tli!irjﬂp i h-:rm'e deod s ‘i}’ Y toid ber It
if The would let me go home.  She faid we mu._rﬁﬂ 01} : i i
for my friends did not know where 1 was,
grew late, and Fegged that L might g0, Jor T i T coteman. foid he wanied
would be uneafy. She faid 1 fhould go. preicaty. iaht:; and as the ladies were
to fce the houle. 1 told him 1 did not care to {tay to-pight; and 3 .
o, T ety Yol e |1 B el B
e, Ry G O ime. I faid I did ot choofe to promife it
will you promife me to come anather time. ;& ¢ outs not that 1 bad, at
w_uui";rnut promife, hclf;uﬁﬂf I h:;::tl Ilnlzlt;:f:hl:f:: Euxl.iim the perfon that courted
::: rljful:;ltgyt;gzuﬁ, home. Hfthm faid, Mifs, but you fhall fee the houfe to,night,

: r came into a room where
thersfore took me in mre:m:hcrrmmuréwm When we came ni (8
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there was a harplicord, he alked Mrs. Griffinburg whether the was fure all the family
were out, becaufe if he was fure all the family were out, he would play the mulfic to Mifs.
This confirmed me that he was a fervanc in the houfe ; and becaule I thought | heard
the Doétor before fay, here comes the fteward ; and the gentleman having fo mean an
appearance, 1 had no notion he was malfter of the houle.

r. Cox. What paffed after this?

S, Woodesck. As foon as he had faid that, Mrs. Griffinburz turned to Mrs, Harvey,
and faid, how glad fhe was they had got fo nice an opportunity to have the houfe all
to themfelves.  After he had played the mulic, and they had ftaid a hule while, 1 was
had out into the room I was firft in. Iintreated of Mrs. Harvey again thac the would lec
me go home, for it was late. They faid it was not late ; it was not above cight or nine
o’clock, and the lady would come prefently. 1 told cthem, as to the lady, 1 did not fee
fhe would come, and I muit go home. Lord Baltimore faid, Mifs, you fhall flay te
fupper firlt. 1 faid, Sir, 1 don't choofe any fupper, and begged I might go home.  He
then ordered fupper.  Mrs Griffinburg went out of the room, aad ordered fupper.
As foon as the was gone, he took me up behind the window curtain, and faid, Mifs, you
thall come and fee where you are: You don't know where you are, do you. [ iaid, no,
Sir, where is it; but he did not tell me then; he began to fhew indecencies, fuch as
opening his breeches, and purting his tongueinto my mouth. 1 few into a very great
Eal]iun, ftruggled, and got from behind the cartain.  Mrs. Harvey and Dr. Griffin-

urg came up feemingly to help him: With that, I foughr with them all, and faid [
would go home directly, and made up to the door : with that, he f2id I thould Rtay to
fupper brlt. 1 faid I would not ftay, 1 would go home direétly. He then made me
fic g;wn by him at fupper, but I would not eat nor drink.  Fle then offered me a glafs
of fyllabub, which Iknocked out of his hand, and got up again, and fiid [ would go
home, and made up to the door. He faid it was late, and faid there could be no coach
got for me. T told him not to tell me about a coach, I wanted no coach, and would ftay
upon no account whatever. I defired he would not attemptto perfuade me.  With that
he ftood over me (I believe it might be then about eleven, but can’t exadlly fay the
time ; I think it was about eleven when they had firlt done fupper) he itood over me
till between twelve and one. [ told ——

Court, What do you mean by ftanding over you ?

S, Weodcock. Perfuading me.

Mr; Cex. Before this, had you applied to Mrs. Harvey and Griffinburg o go
away ¢ °

§. Weodeock. 1 applied to them all in general, who faw that I cried and took on in
fuch a manner.

Mr. Cox. Did you cry at that time ?

8. Weodeock. 1 had ericd from about fupper time, from the time he had me behind the
curtain, for I had no notion at firft of being kept there.

Mr. Cox. What pafled after that?

8. Weodcock. Sceing the diftrefs T was in, and that I would go home, and 1 faid how
frightened my friends would be, he faid, he would write a letter to my friends, and fay
that I was inall fafety, and well, fomething ro that purpofe. [ faid if he could fend a2
letter, what was the reafon he could not let me go home? I would ©o home, and he
fhould not keep me upon any account whatever. With that he faid T could net, nor
fhould not'go home. T cried very violently, and faid it did not fignify, they fhould not
keep me there. He flew into a paifion, and faid 1 need not trouble mylelf about him,
for he fhould not meddle with me. I told him no, no more he thould. ~ iie went away,
Then Harvey and Griffinburg, and Dr. Grifinburg, ftood over me for abour ano-
ther hour, to perfuade me to be reconciled, and go up ftairs cobed. I told them I
would go to no bed in that houle, norany where but where | was,

Mr. Coex. Was my Lord in the room at this time ?

§. Woodcock. No, he was gone. At lalt they faid it did not figaify, for if I would
ftay up all night they would not, and I fhould go up ftairs. With that they led me
up a pair of back ftairs into a room where was a bed.  They perfuaded me very much
to go tobed. I told them I would not go to bed in that houfe. They both went to
bed fome time after in the fame room, and I walked about the room all night, crying,
and in the greateft diftres poffible. T went often to the window to fie for day-light ;
And as foon as day-light came, I opened the window, 1o fee if I could jump out; but
when I looked, 1 faw there was no fuch thing as jumping out and faving life: It was
two pair of ftairs. T ftood at the window rill eight in the morning, when I faw a young
woman coming which T thought looked like an honeft perfon, and would go and eell

L
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my father. . 'With that I throwed down my handkerchief. whick et wi r
as if dlp&d in water.  She wook it up ; bﬂ: being fo hig'h ﬂmmdi:!wnl:-:;r ‘;itltl wl’:::]:fr:
It came from, and _ll:-.-nfm'c went on her way. I then calied ou, young woman, youn
woman, twice ; with thas the held up the handkerchicf, and made a motion ;-;'ut' I!E
would fling it down within the rails.” I was going to tell her where 1o 20 to my father :
The two women jumped out of bed in their thifts, and pulled me away with all the
force ihgp could, and abufed me, and afked me how I could make fuch a piece of work
They faid 1 had much reafon to cry indeed, when I was brought tw a houie, and agm_,

tleman that would do fo much for me, and wilhed b .
luck in the world as I was likely to have. hed they were as likely to have as good

Mr. Cox. Which faid that ?

_§. Woodeock. Both of them. Tfaid I did not care any thing about its if he would
give me his whole eftate, and fettle it all upon me, 1 would not ftay upon any account
whatever, therefore begged they would not thirk of keeping me, for I would go home,
Sometime after this they went out of the room, and in came Dr. Griffinburg and Lord
Balumore, which terrificd me very much: Indeed 1 was crying in a violent manner,
and faid 1 would go home. My Lord faid it was ftrange I fhould make fuch a piece of
work, had not he promiled me that 1 fhould go home at twelve o'clock. 1 told him I
would go home directly, for my relations would go all about among my other friends,

and when they could not find me they would gu out of their fenfes ; therefore I muft go
home direétly.

Mr. Cox. What relations did you allude to ?

S. Weodeock. 1 meant my father and my two filters.  After that I wenit down ftairs,
and I cried jull as viual.

Mr. Cox. Into what room ?

§. Woodceck, 1 cannot remember the room; he went with me, and I believe he led
me down flairs.

Mr. Cox. What happened to you then ?

§. Weodcock. 1cried as ulual, They brought the breakfalt, but I would not eat nor
drink : 1 went on in the fame manner till twelve o’clock came ; then I was quite out-
rageous. 1 faid it did noi fignify their pretending to keep me, for I would not ftay.
He pretended again to write to my father. [ told him it did not fignify, for nothing
he could do fhould keep me there.  Wich that he affured me that he meant nothing
but honour, for he loved me w diftraétion : That he could net part with me, and | muit
. ftay. 1 wold him I would not ftay upon any account; he faid he would write to my
father, and when my father came, he would make fuch propolils to my father as I
thould likes and if I did not like them, and like to ftay, 1 thould go home with my
father : With that he wrote." I do not know what anfwer | made to him, and [ was fo
much difturbed, 1 can’t recollect whar he wrote.

Court. Did he read it you? :

§. Wosdcock. He did.  He then put the pen in my hand, and told me 1 muft write,
dear father, thisis true. And fhould be glad if you will come direétly this afterncon,
from your dutiful daughter, e,

Mr. Cex. Did he bid you write thofe very words ? A

S Wecdeock. Yes, word for word as he diftated, and ftood over me to fec me do it
I did it to fee my father. e o,

. Csx. How came you to put {uch a fublcription as that 3

I;ﬂi’ﬁ;kﬁt I wrote iFtwith Flfia view, that mgtfa:h:r might come direétly ; bur, if
-t had been otherwife, [ muft have wrote it becauft he ftood over me. He put the pen
into my hand, and faid I muft write ir, thar was enough for me when I was in hus

er. )
Mi. Cex. Was that the reafon of your writingit 7
§. :H"wdcnct, It was, and that my facher mightcome directly.

The Letter read.

w daushter Sally fends you the inclofed, and defires you will not be uneafy
. unYI?:rtnc:uE::, btclt::fﬂ :n:rywthing will turn out well, with a little patience and
¢ prudence. Sheis ata friend’s houfe, fafe and well, in all honefty and urr: no-
« ching elfe is meant, you may depend on it; and, Sir, as your prefence and confent 15
« peceflary, we beg of you to come in a private manncr o Mr. Richard Smith’s, 1n
+ Baoad-ftreer New Buildings.”

Mr.
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Mr. Cex. This is what was wrote by my Lord ?

8. Waodeock. 1 believe it was wrote by him.

Mr. Cex. What time 2

8. Woadcock. 1 can't jultly fay ; I believe it was about noon. When he had wrore,
I obferved there was no dire€tion where my father thould come ; wich that I told him,
I was very fure he did notintend to fend ir, that he had put no dircftions upon the
letter. I afked him, where it was? He faid, it was New Broad-ftreer Buildings, 1
afked him, what his name was ? he faid, it was Richard Smith. I afked him, if he
could look firmly at me, and fay, with truth, that his name was Richard Smich, and
thar that was New Broad-ftrect Buildings? 1 puc it home to him feveral times; atlaft
he owned, his name was not Richard Smith, bur that Richard Smich lived two or three
doors off, and that that was New Broad-ftreet Buildings. I then afked him, what end
of the town ? he faid, St. James's. I did not know, whether the letter was fent or
no, till afterwards.

Mr. Cox. What pafled that day afterwards ?

§. Woodcock. 1 went on crying in the fame manner, and pleading that they would
let me go home. I often went to the window to thew my diftrets ; which, when they
faw, one or other of thefe women always pulled me away. i

Mr. Cox. Which did ?

3. Weoedcock. Both of them, as they happened to be in the way. I was prefent at
dinner, but neither eat nor drank.

Mr. Cox. Who dined ?

8. Woodcock. 1 think, Dr. Griffinburg, Mrs. Harvey, and, I believe, Mrs. Griffin-
bure,

Mr. Cox. Did you fee any more fervants during that day ?

5. Woeodcock. No.

Mr. Cox. Or any other part of the family, befides Dr. Grifinburg, Mrs. Harvey,
and Mrs. Griffinburg ?

& Woeodeack. MNoj I went on in the fame manner all the day, crying, and taking
on, and bege'd I might go home ; and they pretending that my father was coming.

Mr. Cox. Was any thing faid to you about going fo often to the window ?

§. Weedeock. Nothing particularly, bur they pulling me away, and faid I fhould
not ftand there. In the evening, on Thurfday, Mrs. Grifinburg, or fomebody, had
nrdﬂ:réed the windows in the room where 1 had been before, in the night, to be
na Up.

Mr. GE.::. Do you know who gave that order ?

§. Woodcock. 1do not know who ordered them, of my own knowledge. With
thar, Lord Baltimore came in, and pretended to be in a great paflion with Mrs. Grif-
finburg, and faid, What did fhe mean by ordering the windows to be nailed up, to
make his fervants think he was going to murder %nmebodr, or do fomething bad in-
deed, that the windows muft be nailed up. He turned o me, and {3id, Madam, I
affure you_ if you offer to open a window, or make any difturbance any other way,
I will fling you our of the window, or do for you, 1 affure you ; which frightened me
very much ; and I thought, that may-be he might murder me. This was before
fupper. I went on in the fame manner, pleading and crying; 1 don't know that I
ftopt crying all that day. They fupped together, but there was no fervants : I nei-
ther eat nor drank. After fupper, when time was come to go up ftairs, I faid, I
would not go up till he had promifed that he would nos meddle with me, nor come
near me. He promifed he would not, and went away. Some rime after that, I was
led again up the fame back ftairs into the fame back room.

Mr. Cox. Who led you up ?

8. Woodcock. Mrs. Harvey, or Mrs. Griffinburg, I don’t know which; 1 believe
bothof them. They intreated me very much to go to bed; I told them [ would go
to no bed in that houle ; T would neither eat nor drink, if they kept me there ever
fo long ; they went wo bed, and left me. 1 walked about the room in the fame man-
ner all nighe, in the greaweft diftrefs poffible, and in the morning waked them with
my crying. They then afked me how I could make fuch a piece of work ; they
never heard a perfon make fuch a crying, or faw fuch diftrefs in their lives. With
that I told them, I thought I had great reafon for it, when I was taken away from all
that was near and dear to me in the world. I did affure them, that I would not ftay
there, and they fhould not keep me upon any account 5 for that I would never yield
to his bafe purpofes. Wich that, Mrs. Harvey faid, fhe did not fuppofe he wanted

fRF]



Tte Trial of Lotd Baltimore, &c. fora Rape. 9

to do any thing againft my will. [ told her, if he did nor, whar was the reafon thae
he kept me there from day to day, and would not let me go home? Twld her, 1
would not ftay, or yield to his baie purpofes; if he would gite me his ‘houfe full of
filver and gold—This was up in the room, if | remember right.  She faid, fhe did not
fuppoife he would do any thing ii:lm& my will, or keep. me againft iy will. - | old
her, he never would keep me with my will, for it never, would be my will 1o ftay
there 5 and that if he would marry me, and feule all his eftate vpon me, [ pever
would have him, for I hated him, and ever fhould ; and therefore begged he would -
not keep me in that prifon of hell, for it was a prifon of hell indeed !

Mr. Cox. Who was in the room at this time ?

8. Woodeock. Only Mrs. Harvey.

Mr. Cox. What happened after this ?

L
&, Woedcock. Some ume after this, I went down ftairs again into the {ame room
where I was before. He came to me s 1 was in the Emdﬂhﬁulﬁu_
fore ; it was before breakfaft; and I told him, though he had no compaffion on me—
I afked him if he had ever been a fathery if he had, he might have fome compallien
for my father: if he was a father himfelf, furely he muft confider my father, whae
he muft feel for the lofs of a child that he loved, and could not tell where fhe was;
whether fhe was dead or alive. I told him, not only fo, but that we were engaged in
bufinefs, and they could not carry on the bufinefs without me. With thar, he faid,
he had been more careful in that refpet than [ had ; for he had fent my father fome-
thing, that his bufinefs might not ftop. I told him, that would be of no ule, for they
could make no ule of it oll [ came, He faid with thar, 1 fhould write 1o my father -
myfelf. I told him, if I did, it would be to no E.::puﬁ:, for 1 fuppofed | mult write
juft what he pleafed ; and if he did not like i, he would not fend ir, let me write
whatever I would. He faid, yes he would, and I fhould write. 1 faid, I fuppofed
he would ftand over me all the time. He {zid; no, he would go away; but he left
the two women ﬂmdhﬁﬁnw:r me ; therefore he mi ;;‘J well have ftay’d himielf,
Mr. Cox. ain the meaning of what you call flanding ever you. £y
§. Weodcock, Standing clofe to me, to fee how I acted, and take care of me; this
was upon Friday, abour the middle of the day. I wrote three or four lines, and faid
more than truth, becaufe I knew it would come into his hands; and if ic did not
pleafe him, I knew :h:Iih:E;mH not let ;"l:gn-.
. Cox. Can what wrote
?H’g:mi. lp:':.lid that he {-T:l ufed me with as much honour as [ could expeé,
and be they would come immediately. After 1 had wrowe thele two or three
lines, the two women faid, he had fent m father two hundred pounds the day before,
and that I ought to put it in, and know if they had it : that they fhould rerurn thanks
forit. 1 told them I would not do any fuch thing, for I car'd nuthing about it.
. Which of them ? : ;
?.I;t’wim: Both joinely, and I refufed it feveral times. After that they mz E
and afked Lord Baltimore, whether it fhould be fo or not ; he came 1n a.ndthindhlg
not care much about it, but 1 might, if 1 would, put in 5 ﬁ_-.}I wrote that they told me
they had fent two hundred pounds, and 1 defired to know if he had it. ® <
Mr. Cex. 1 think your expreffion was, that you put into your letter more
; how came you to do that ? xitag
“u;!‘ﬁ’wdmh F]:' the reafon ] faid before ; that | knew he wozld mhf:::d:;{ll
did not fay fomething in favour of him. In an hour or two nﬁ:r;é:, t > iﬁm'F
one of the fervants, 1 forger which, and faid that a gentleman fad Brovg it & SEh
which Lord Baltimore brought in, and faid nlli ni-mn:.i EI::]E, Egh;rim }:ﬂ. Sy ;lut{
fathuer B hecn dhary, ot iyt ]::]n ve it was his own forging, for it was
aid. I would not believe any thing of it. Idid believe it e i
te in another lan . He pretended to read it to me, but mﬁ;ﬂf“m
:‘htiun;u:.ll, for he could read it as he lik'd. With that he faid he would B 05
man. and make me a liar, 1 faid he could not, buth:wuldm.;:e “I;:ngTL ylum
leafed, and could talk w him in another language. The man was brovght. 15
i vl e et e s e, i o e, 1
tisfactory anfwers. He faid 1 couldc R
know but I mighe, if they did not fpeak uﬂ? Th:'. ;‘rumr::Engﬁﬂl e
he fpoke to him fomething Arlt in anosher BUERE ML him 1 did no believe
e i, o becuute he had been talking (o him i another angage. 1 afked

i A addli I afked him
him what fort of a man it was came thi. He faid a middling man. o
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what he called a middling man ; he faid a tallifh man. I afked whether he was old ro
young, and what fort of a face he had ; but he could give me no fatisfatory anfwer to
anything I faid. I then faid to Lord Baltimore, Who is a liar now, you er me ? I faid
they were a parcel of popifh, rubbifhing people, and [ would not believe anyching they
faid to me ; (for I thought Lord Baltimore had been a Frenchman and a Papitt. )

Mr. Cex. Can you give any reafon !

8, Weedeock. 1 thought him a Frenchman, and therefore {uppofed him to be a Pa-

ift.
» Court. Did he fpeak broken Englith ?

8. Weodcock. Ithought fo; but that might be my ignorance.

Mr. Cox. What time was this ?

§. Woodcock. About dinner time. They went into another room ; there was mufic
and dancing by Mrs. Harvey and this Smith.

Court. Did the perfon that fpake this foreign language to my Lord, pals for Smith,
or one of my Lord’s fervants ?

8. Hoodcock. He paifed for Richard Smith. My Lord Baltimore played upon the
mulic, Richard Sm'ul!: and Mrs. Harvey danced, and I walked about the room in the
greatelt diftrefs.  After that they took me to look at the piftures ; and there was a fhip
in diftrefs, I told them that was my picture. They faid no, and took me w another
picture of a fhip in a ftorm, and told me that was my piflare. Then they led me back
into the room again. They all fat down before the fire, and I far down wich them. He
faid to this Richard Smith, as foon as he had fat down, he fhould draw Mifs’s piciure, T
faid he fhould do no fuch thing ; I fhould not think of having my pifture drawn.” He
drew my picture in the poiture I fat crying, in this manner (deferibing it, swirk ber bead
Jeaning apen ber band ;) they did not put the tears into the picture.

Mr. Cox. What paffed that night ?

8. Hfeedcock.  Nothing more particular.  About twelve at night it was pretended thac
the little Jew man that firlt took me away, was fent with that letrer that [ wrote, Brough-
ton came in, who was called the fteward, (that is, one that anfwered to that nams) and
brought word that my father had ftopt the Jew. Lord Baltimore was in a violenr pal-
fion, and fwore he would go and pull my father by the nofe. [ defired he would give
me leave to fpeak a word or two : that I was very fure my father had done no fuch thing,
for he had not fpirit enough for it. While I was fpeaking, in came the other man, the
Jew that [ had feen at firlt, lfaacs; he brought a letter, which he faid he had brought
from my friends ; and told me they were all well fatisfied and pleafed, and fo put the let-
ter into my hands. It was wrote by my fifter, and my hifter writing fo feldom, ['did not
know her hand at firft; but turning the other fide of the letrer, I found the feal to be the

ung man's that courted me, Mr. Davis, which confirmed me it was come from them,
which was the firlt word I knew that came from them. !

Mr. Cox. The purport of the letter ?

§. Woodcock. It was, as near as | can remember, this : Obnly pleafe to appoint a place
when and where we may meet you. It was direted to me, if I remember righr.  This
was about twelve at night: time was come that I muflt go up flairs, which I would
not do till he had promifed me he would not meddle with me, nor come near me, 1
went up ftairs to the fame room where I went before, and Mrs. Harvey and Mrs.
Griffinburg came up to the fame room, and prefled me very much to go to bed. 1
ftill eried, and faid I would not; but finding my ftrength was gone, 1 faid, may-be I
will lie down fometime in the night in my cloaths.

Mr. Cex. Had you eat any thing at that time ?

$. Woodeock. To my knowledge I had neither eat nor drank. Upon my faying thar,
Mrs. Griffinburg went out of the room, and left only me and Mrs. Harvey. 1 fancy
that was between one and two, but I cannot fay,

Mr. Cox. Did you lie down in the middle of the night ?

8. Woodeock. 1 lay down in about half an hour after Mrs. Griffinburg was gone; and
fhe coming up about half an hour after frightened me, for 1 thought it was Lord Bal-
timore coming up, which fer me in fuch a tremble, that 1 was obliged to get up:
then I walked about, and fo laid down again, and fo I went on all the night in greac
diftrefs : then I talked ro Mrs. Harvey, and afked her if (he had ever been in love : [
think fhe faid yes, 1 am not politive : with that I told her, then I was engaged; thac
a young man kept me company, and we were about feitling; that he had a great
regard for me, and that I could not fay but I had the fame for him, and therctore
begeed her to think how hard it muft be in my cale.

M. Cox. That part of the ftory was true, was it?

3. Hoodoock
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§. Wosdcock. Yes. Trold her how I had been brought up from a child in a very
religious way,

Mr. Cox. That part of the ftory is true ?

8. Woeodeock. Yes; and that I could not bear any of their ways; and that if Lord
Baltimore would fettle all his eftate on me I would not comply, and a great deal of
fuch difcourfe, which I can’t now recollect; butr be that fhe would lay it before
my Lord, and intreat him to let me go; for 1 thoughe, if the would lay the cafe before
him, and tell him how it was, he would let me go. Ifaid, I dare fay, if the had a
mind, fhe could let me go herfelf. She faid, no; tho' fhe had knowr the houfe fo
long, fhe did not know the way out of the houfe, With my crying, and being in fuch
an agony and diftrefs, the got up fooner than common, and we went down ftairs ; bue
when we came to the bottom of the ftairs every door was locked, and we eould get no
further; we were therefore forced to go up ftairs, and were upwards of an hour before

we could get into the room, where there was a fire, below ftairs, where we were
before,

Mr. Cex. Did Mrs. Harvey try to get out ?

8. Woeadrock., She did, bur ¢ not. She did noc Iry to get out of the huufc, bt
only inko the room where the fire was down Rairs.

Mr. Cox. What was done in confequence of this defire of your's ? §

8. Wesdeock. When we came down ftairs The did go out from me, but Mrs. Griffin-
burg was prefent : they did not leave me alone not ane five minutes together, T believe.
Lord Baltimore came in foon after, I was in greac diftrefs, as ufual.  They had fome
breakfaft.

Mr. Cox. Who ? :

8. F'oodcock. Mrs. Harvey and Mrs, Griffinburg.  Lord Baltimore was prefent, if I
remember right. :

Mr. Cox. Did he fay any thing to you ?

8. Weedeock, He did, but I cannot exaélly remember what.

courf. What time did Lord Baltimore come.

§. Weedcock. 1 think about eight or nine o'clock. I pleaded the fame arguments
with him as I had done with Harvey, and told him about this fame young man. With
that he flew into a vielent paffion, and called me all the hirc_hrs and whares ht_ could
think of, and throwed the news-paper at me; and rold me, IFI_ offered to tell him any
thing more about another man, he would fing me out of the window, or tie my petti-
coats about my head, and fend me home in a wheelbarrow. The little Jew was pre-
fent, Mrs. Harvey and Mrs. Griffinburg ; and he faid to the Jew, carry the lur o a
mean houfe, like herfelf. With thac I was terrified very much, and thnu%ht he meant
a bawdy-houfe. _He few out of the room in a great paffion, and left the little Jew,
Harvey and Griffinburg. They perfuaded me to be reconciled. They faid, had he
not promifed he would fend for my father, and make fuch propofals as he would like 5
and if | did not like them, I fhould go home again, and had [_ not better leave it to
him. With that the litcle Jew came and told me, that all my friends, and Mr. Davis
in particular, were well pleafed. 1 rold him [ was fure it was a very great ftory, therefore
begered he would not fay another word about it; but with their perfuafions, and fearing he
would fend me to a bawdy-houfe, I defired Lord Baltimore might be :alkldd in. l":dHc
came in. 1 told him, if my father eame, and terms were offered him, I would con er
them, and begged that God would direft me. This was on Saturday about noon :
after this I was very ill, and ;ﬂuli hﬁld up my head no longer.

r. Cex. Had you eat or drank then ! |

g:[ﬂ’aadrer&. NL only a difh of tea that morning. 'With that he t:am; _tt;‘ l'ilh Mfg
told me, by that means I put it out of my power to help myfelf in that whic ;};ﬁ
afraid of ; and then he went and mixed a‘dmught and ]:ruught 1; me, anH - 5
I muft take it. 1 refufed ir, fearing there might be fomething hurtful in ;:[»u e fai
there was nothing hurtful in it, and I inuft take it. 1did. This was about two or
three o'clock.

Mr. Cox. What was the draughe ? :

8. Weodeock. Fhylical, Illiielicw.-. Idmnk Itl:mt day

. Cex. Ind any thing happen at dinner t ; '

5 ik, Noling i Ty n o st i bt 1 0
ir. till mni . Nothin rii £ . At
:‘I;i“h:hi‘:lig :-::]ni‘:# guucm bed againg: got a little more fpirits, buc 1 if:;d I would
r:m go till he had promifed not to come near nor meddle with J:F r::dhfn:umulr:; *ﬂﬂﬂm £
_ lead me up Rairs, which he did : when hg had got there, he ¢l 0
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to bed, and ordered Mrs. Griffinburg, before 1 went up, to make me fome whey : I
believe between two and three o’clock, as well as I can recollect, fhe brought me lome
red wine, and I drank a lictle of ir, and eat a bir of a toaft: this was in the morning: 1
had not laid down then: this was between two and three o'clock on Sunday morning
I had laid down in my cloaths.

Mr. Cex. Did you take any whey ?

8. Woodeock. Noj 1 did not: the wine was brought inftead of the whey.

Mr. Cox. Who was in the room belides ¢

&. Weedcock, Only the two women and mylelf.

Mr. Cox. Who lay in the room that night ?

8. Woodcock. Mrs. Harvey. I laid down fometimes, and fometimes walked abour,
but was very terrified leaft he fhould come to me. Mrs. Harvey faid, furely I muit
think the man had a great love for me to come from his bed to me. 1 faid, no, it was
not love, it was luft. [ pleaded many things as ufual with her, but nothing had any
influence upon her: we came down ftairs again.

Mr. Cox. Who did you fee? ;

8. Wasdcock. ‘This was Sunday morning about nine @ ten o’clock. Lord Baltimore
came in to me, and alked me how I did, (this was after | had breakfafled) and Alked
me if he had not kept his promife. He afked me if I had any whey. I told him no,
I had a fiztle red wine. He was very angry with the houlekeeper, and faid that I muit
take another draught, for it was enough to kill me.  With that he mixed up another
draught, and infitted upon it that I fhould rake ir, which I refuled, fearing there
fhould be fomething hurtful; but [ did take it. He went out and left me dll the
afternoon ; Mrs. Harvey continued with me.

Mr. Cox. Did any converfation pafs between you ?

8. Woodeock. As ufual, T was crying in the fame manner. In the afternoon he came
in to me, and defired I would compofe myfelf, and fic down and talk to him a litle.
With that he began to ridicule religion, and to fay that all things came by nature ; and
that man, when he died, went to the duft : that he thought they had no living fouls :
and he faid that, as a philofopher, he believed there was neither God nor devil, Heaven
nor hell. I defired they would bring me a Bible, and I would prove to him that there
was all. With that the Bible was brought, and I proved to him from the word
as much as was in my power, that there was a God, a devil, Heaven and hell:
and after that I concluded my difcourfe, which was from two or three in the afterncon
till nine at night, with very little intermiffion.

Mr. Cox. What time did the family dine that day ?

5. HWsedcock. Abour four o'clock.

Mr. Cex. Did you dine with them?

§. Woodeock. 1 believe that day I might eat a bit; I am not fure. I told him my
reafon of having fo long a difcourfe, and being fo plain with him, was to convince him
of the difference there was between him and me; and that he might be affured it was
impofible 1 fhould comply, and that I would not ftay upen any account whatever, and
therefore ed he would let me home. After fupper they all went out of the
reom; that 15, Dr. Griffinbure, E;rs. Harvey, and Mrs. Grifinburg, went out,
and left him and me alone. Then he began to thew indecencies: he bt pulled me
into his lap. This was about nine o'clock on Sunday night, and wanted to put his
hand in my tolom, which I would not ler him, and got out of his arms. Then I was
fet down in the other chair, ke began to open his breeches again, and ftrove to pull my
hand to him. I ftruggled and got away, and got up; then he prefled me to one corner
of the room, and there preffed me up againft the wainfcot, as if he would prefs me o
death. I ftruggled and got from him ; then he got me down in an elbow chair ; he

opened his breeches, and ftrove to pull my petticoats up. I ftruggled, and cryed
out all I could, and begged and pll.':lEl.‘d with him that he would take my life, for I
would never yield theother to any one, but upon honourable terms, which was marriage.
He then got up and walked about the room awhile, and then fet me down, and ferved
me in the fame manner, but did not compleat his bale purpofe ac thar ime.  This, I
believe, was near tvo hours. I ftruggled and cried all I could. Then he called in
MTF- Harvey, and faid we muft go up to bed ; and he faid he would lead me up flairs,
which terrified me greatly. I did not know what I fhould do with myfelf, leatt he
fhould Aing me upon the bed when he got me up ftairs. Mrs. Harvey made an ex-
cuft: : fhe faid fhe had forgot fomething, and muft go down again. I was afraid they
had juggled it between them, and begoed and pleaded he would not meddle with me.

He began as before o open his breeches, ani ftrove to pull up my petticoats, S;;'m
wer
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after Mrs. Harvey came into the room again, and he told me. if [ i

felf that night, and go into bed, he would force me 1o 20 ?:T::: E::! f:ihn;:n?m;-lri&ﬂx
away ; and I wene w bed with Mrs. Harvey. This was on Sunday night, All this
night 1 had no reft : I_dldm': £0 to {leep any part of the night, as IXnow of. 1 fharted
up and cryed, O, he is coming ! he is coming! with that [ apain pleaded wich Mrs.
HEI‘W}" (4e] Pﬂ.’r’lﬂdthlm to ler me go home. 1 met with no i-l.l'l'.'C'L‘rS. as The W_’uﬁ as
relentlefs as ever,  This was on Menday morning. When I came down fhairs T was in
mt tanher. §went on crying as ufual, praying that I might go home, or fee my
| -

Mr. Cox. Will you take upon you to fay you was crying all this time ?

8. Woodeock. 1 cealtd very littls indeed, by and E?Ecnmc o me and faid, if |
would go and have my face walhed, and another cap on, and clean things, and leave
crying, 14hould fee my father; butif I would not I thould rever fee him ; for what
could My father think to fec me in that dirty condition, and my eyes fo bad with crying,
1 had had nochangeof linen. 1 went up ftairs with that view. Hefid, if T would
up hewould fend tor my father, and I'thould fee him. He then faid, now you fhall fee
pour father to day. 1 had putenfome linen, with my own gown and petticoats,

Chyrt. Who furnithed you with the linen 2

S. Wosdcock. Mirs. Griffinburgh brought it.  Then he faid I thould fee my father, [
fhould go and take an airing in the coach, and that would divert meakitde.  Trold him
that weould be no pleafure to me. "1f he would carry me to fee my father, that would be
apleafure tome.  With that he faid 1 fhould go and take 4n ainng, and fee my father
when T came back, Soon after this they b t word the coach was ready, and thac I
muft go. He led me down ftairs, inte the coach. It was inthe yard at che door.

Mr. Cox. Was che gate thue ? _

8. Woodeock. 1don’t know. He handed me into the coach himfelf.  He then gor
in: Mrs. Harvey and he fat on one fide, and Dr. Griffinburg and his wife fat on the
other ﬁdl:i{ He bade Mrs. Harvey ficforward, againft thedoor. I far berween my Lord
and Mrs. Harvey, -

Mr. Cox. Hadany body hold of you ?

S. Woodcock. 1 don’t know exaétly. They drove out of the gate with fuch violence,
that tore off part of the gate by that means. .

Mr. Cox. Perhaps this occalioned the coach to ftop?

S. Woedcock. Ttdid not caufe the leaft (toppage.  They went througly the fireets over
Weitminfter-bridge, They had like to have béen overturned, they went with fuch,
violence. They had like to have been overturned within three or four doors of the
houfe. As near as I can recollet, this E]u raﬁm.}t two o'clock. When we came to
Weftminfter-bridge, or before, T can't juftly fay, I fiid; I hoped he was not going to
carry me far, thug}f; was ot gging :.bmild l!lc E:ul No, he ﬁ:sp only raking an Ei‘:ing 16
divert me, and that he fhould come back again to dinner. 'When we came fome way
farther, and I faw the four and five mil:ﬁnes, 1 faid T hoped he was not going to.
carry me abroad. He fuid, yes, to be fore, he was‘?uin%_m me to Spain, to fee.
the Spaniards. We puton, I afked him again, and he faid the fame.  When we got
to Epfom, he faid, now we are come to Spain, and thefe are the Spaniards. There
were two ﬂrthrcrrhminthtfﬁrp&ﬂ. - ¥ M

Mr. Cox. How came youto know it was 3 e '

8. Woodcock. T faw th:pa{l to diret to Epfom. When they came to Epfoi they

to talk about the country houfe. Then | Kgm to think we were going tht-_m_.f_

m we came to the houfe they afked me how T liked it. T told chietn rhat wasa ok

Elironrhmrhz other, and hoped they wére not come to ftay chere, for Ic-:_mld Hot
o | ¢ - r |

+. Who afked you how you liked it ? _ i 26

gﬂg’m# Icamr; fay ; i i hch e got out of the coach, -
Mr. Cex. Who handed you ouc? _
S. Waedeoek. 1 can’t recollett. - ;
Mr. Csx. Did you go into the houfe immediately ?
8. Wondeock. 1 _did;m_, - |
?rﬂgsml TH‘E? went to dinner foon dfter we weréin. It waic about fri-sf: o'clock.

ime di ¢ people appear to you, or other L e
?mt }l:ut!t:’ :ufllint;ﬂd?ﬁ': ﬁﬁprlzb'mh f:rﬂ}::m waited liF::lglf. I did eat

a very lietle bit. - g =
M. Cox, Did any fhf“ﬂ?“ﬁatdi“""’ﬂ 8. Waedcock.
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S. Waodeock. Nothing, that T can recolleft, particularly. After dinner Mirs. Grif-
Enburg, Dr. Griffinburg, and Mrs. Harvey, went out of the Foom. Hﬁ then tools
me up behind the window-curtain, and began to fhew the fame indecencies as before.
I pleaded muchwith him, and ftrugaled all I could, and begged and prayed that he would
take my life away. 1 told him I would give that up freely, but never would the other.
With that, he faid it muft be fo that night, whether I would or no. ‘Then they came
inagain. They took meout of that room into fome other rooms, to fee the houfe. I
told them I thought it was the worft fight Lever faw. They then told me it muit be fo
that night: Mrs. Harvey and Mrs. Gnffinburg roid me fo.

Mr. Cex. Did they explain particulars ? )

8. Weodcock. No. 1 was in great diftrefs, and cried very much. After this they
came in again, and I drank tea with them. Nothing particular paffed at tea.  After
tea they went up ftairs again.  Lord Baltimore faid, they muit do fomething to divert
themiclves ; that they would play ac blindman’s buff, and I fhould play with them. 1
faid I could not play at blindman’s buff, I woulddo no fuch thing. He faid I fhould
not always [ic in that manner. I was crying, and he fiwang me round the room, and
faid I fhould play with them. One of the women was blinded, and one of them pre-
tended fhe had catched me; with that I faid pofitively I would not be blinded. 1 far
down and cried again.  As foon as he faw thag, he came and fat down by me, and ftrove
to make me look at him. Nothing would make me forget my trouble. I ftill kept
crying, and pleading with Ged, that he would take me out of time into eternity.

Mr. Cex. Did you fpeak loud ?

S. Woedcock. 1 don’t know whether they heard me or no.  After this they went to
fupper, but before they went to fupper the two women and he himfelf all joined together
and faid, I might as well do it quietly, for it muft be fo thatnight. This was fome-
time before fupper.

Mr. Cox. Did any thing particular pafs at fupper ?

§. Weedcock. No. 1 eatalittle bir, but drank nothing, for fear they had put fome-
thing in it. After fupper he ordered them togoto bed ; with that they led me out of
the room. I was crying.  They led me into the bedchamber,  The two women began
to undrefs me. _

Mr. Cox. Who?

8. Wosdeock. Both of them,

Mr. Cox. Did you oppofe their undreffing of you ?

§. Woeodcock. 1wasin fucha tremble and fright, that I had no ftrength left ; therefore
I was not able to refift them, bue eryed, and begged, and pleaded, that God would
take away my life, and preferve me from that wicked creature. Dr. Grifinburg faid
(he was by then, Idid not know it till he fpoke) he faid, O, my dear Mifs Sally, den’t
cry fo, don'ttakeon fo, it will be all well by and by, Mrs. Harvey faid fhe never faw
any one make fuch a piece of work in her life : if I was going to be killed I could not
do more. Itold her] had much rather bekilled. 1 eryed and rook on in a very fhock-
ing manner, and pleaded much with God to take me cut of time into eternity. Then
they led me out of that room into the next, and fet me down in the elbow chair.

Mr. Cex. Were your cloaths pulled off ?

. Woodeock. My cap was pulled off, but the reft were only unpinned, and fuch like;
with that they fer me down and pulled all che reft of my things off, and put me into the
bed.  When the curtains were open 1 faw thar Lord Baltimore was in bed. :

Mr. Cox. When you faw that, you fay you was fo terrified, andin fuch a frighe, that
you was not able to make refiftance. Did you go into the bed with your own accord 2

S. Weodecock, No, they had forced me a-top of the bed : they drew the curtains, and
tucked me up, and wene away, as I believe.

Mr. Cex. What happened after this ? , '

§. Weodeock. He turned upon me with all the force he could, and forced himfelf be-

tween me, and faid he would get into me : with thac he lay upon me all the weighe he
could, and ftrove to pufh himielf into me with all his might ; and I cried and ft led
alll could, but he heldmy mouth rogether with his rs, that | mightnotery 5 ve

to lie over me, fo much as to fmother me.  'When he had been fometime inme, I felt
{amething come from him; and then he turned off from me as he came on, and left me
to liveordic asl could. He faid nothing to meall niJ;ht. Ilaid in fuch a fright and
fiuch a tremble, for fear he thould come to me again, Ifweat chat the drops ran off from
me.  In the morning he turned upon me in the fame manner, and ufed me in the fame
sanner. I eriedout as 1 had done before, and made all the ftruggle I could.  He faid
e never heard fuch a noite in his lite ; 1 fhould raife the whole houfe, After this he =
aked meif | wanted the poc? T faid yes. 1 got out of bed, Tden’t know how, l?n&
there
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there came a great quantity of blood from me. [ ftrove to get on my things, and to

t away, | was fo afraid for fear he fhould pull me in again, that [ got a few of my

ngson in a loofe manner 3 and he faid I could not get out, but muft fay till he let
me out.

Mr. Cox. Before weafk you any other queftions, was you ateither of thefe times at all
confenting to what he did ?

8. Woodcork. No, notin the leaft, I made all the ftruggle both times that 1 could.

Mr. Cex. Did you cry out ?

8. Woodeock. 1 did.

Mr. Cox. When you was let out of the bedchamber, into what room did you go?

8. Woodcack. Into the next room, where Mrs. Harvey was. 1 was not dreft. 1 fat
down and cryed. Mrs. Harvey got up. I began to tell her of the ufage I had had,
but not particulars.  She faid, yes; youmade ncife enough, Iheard you: 1 faid, well
| miﬂﬁ:. She faid, you will like it well enough by and by. I told her no, 1 fhould
ever hate every thing of the kind ; if that was to bemy life, it would bea burthen indeed ;
but I hoped 1 fhould not live long. Finding fhe anfwered me in a rough manner, I
thought with myfelf, thacl had loft every thing that was dear to me, bur m life, how
fhould I do to fave that? With this I refolved, to alter my carriage, and do every
thing they defired that was immaterial, for thefe three reafons—That 1 might not be
ufed 1ll ;—chat I might not befent abroad ;—and that I might have fome opportunity of
returning to London again, which wasthe only hope [ had. By ftanding at the windows
I thought that fome time or other I might fee my friends. Wich this I refolved to alter
my carriage, as much as poffible, and do every thing they defired that was immaterial.

Mr. Cox. Then you declare this was a refolution took at that time, and for thefe
realons ?

S. Woodeock. | am pofitive of it as I ftand here, taken at that time indeed.

Mr. Cox. Not atany fubfequent time ?

§. Woedcock. No; this was before | had come out of Mrs. Harvey's room.

Mr. Cox. Whatdoyou mean by immaterial things?

8. Wosdcock. Any things that were innocent.  Asto diverfions, Iwas bred up not 1o
take any, and thercfore was rﬁl‘u]mi not to comply with playing at cards, or dancing,
or mufic, or any thingof that kind.

l_".':unl-[::'c.1 Duyu}; mcallg:. by immaterial, any thing you did not think finful ?

5. Weodcock. Thatwas my meaning, 2 .

M. Cox. Tt will be proper to afk you if you are not brought up in a particular fedt,
and under what denomination are you and your father.

§. IWoodcock. We go under the denomination of Diffenters, Independants.

M. Cox. 1 believe you pay a deference to more days than one in a week.

S. Wesdeock, No, only the Sabbath, the Sunday. :

Mr. Cex. You have been brought up in a very paricular way, I believe ?

5 Hoodrock. 1 was. y .

Mr. Cox. Are you taught to think ita crime to dance or play at cards?

5. Woodeock. 1am, and that from the word of God. :

Mr. Cox. Having faid this, inform my Lord and the Court what pafled the refl o
ﬁ.sfi;ir’;ndmi. When 1 came down ftairs, Lord Baltimore fat at breakfaft; Iforget
whether Dr. Griffinburg was there or no.

Mr. Cox. Were the women there ? -
8. ;Fwdmh One of them was, the other came afterwards. I took no norice, nor he

i no farther than this; my Lord faid I was nm:_wn:ll, and I muit rake a powder,
?rj:in.sh:r;.ibcﬁnt breakfall, I:-cfur:}I had eat any). While we were at breakfalt, b he faid
to Mrs. Harvey, Mifs wants fomething, does fhe not { She faid, yes, f_j:t_r,F & wants
fome clean linen. He faid, you fhall go to Epfom and buy Mifs fome mu mdmI; 'lpl?ml
and things, and fhe fhall work, and that will diverc her mind from fitting a;m thin %T]E
While Mrs. Harvey was gone, he faid I ﬂmldliu and take an airing in a :_ 3 :i.
was Tuefday mofning, Fu:rld him I had never been upon water, and fo “.';‘ afraid.
had never been upon the water, but only croffed our little niver at Cambridge.

Mr. Csx. Did you go?

8. Weodcock. 1did.

: : 3 |
?:ﬁ’z;mfhfr::m out of the houfe. He faid T muft run, for fear T Mould get cold.

1 did. When I came to the canal, Iwas all in a rremble, and did not know how to go

in, for T was afraid. When [ cdme in, the bottom of the boat was vefy full ﬂhxghrt
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I thouzht that was a very unfit place. 1 thought it would have killed me, but I thought
I was as willing to dic as live, therefore ] would go. When I was upon the water, he
faidd it would fic me for goin&ahmad : this increafed my fears that 1 had had befere. Then,
if I remember right, Mrs, Griffinburg faid we will take a walk in the Park. I then faid,
if we did, | fhould be glad to go to fuch a place, becaule 1 fancied there was 2 foor-path
and a gare that way to go out of the Park, becaufe the way they ‘brought me had no
foot-path near it ; therefore T choughe, if I could any ways efcape, Icould not go that
way, fo wanted to fee if this other gate would lead me out; but whether fhe came at
my thoughts or not I cannot tell, hut we did not goa fixth parcof the way, 1 believe.
Then we camein again, and Mrs. Harvey, fome time after this, came home, and brought
a hat, and fome white ribbons to put on the hat, and fome pink ribbon, which the {ad
fhe had bought for 2 night ribbon.  With thar Lord Baltimere faid he liked the pink
ribbonbelt npon the hat, With that T faid if he liked that beft 1 would put it oa, for the
the fame realon as before, thar I faid 1 would do any thing in my power that was imma-
terial ; fol puton the pink ribbon.  When we went up ftairs again, fhe faid the would
have the white ribbons tied up for Favors for a wedding. T faid, 1 fhould not think of fuch
a thing as a wedding, indcedr.: She infifted upon it. She made up one for herfelf, and
made another and fixed it to my breaft, but whether fhe pinned it 1 do not knew. Then
we came down again, and fhe faid to Mrs. Griffinburg, how fine we were, and that fhe
fhould have one too; therefore when I came back they made me tie up one for her.  Ax
night he breught me the Spectator toread, which, when | had found fomething fenious
in i, he came and took it away, and gave me fome of Dotor Swift’s works, which was
very foolith and abfurd, that I would not read'it: 1 faid it was nonfenfe and ftuff. Thar
was all I remember that night. He did not defire me to go to bed to him that night. 1
went to bed to Mrs. Harvey.

Mr. Cex. [ believe you made no application to Mrs. Harvey after this 2

S. Weadcock. No; asthey would not let me go before, 1knew they would not ler me
go after. There was anotker circumftance which I believe I forgor, that was this: He
(Lord Baltimore) faid one day (I believe on Friday) that if he was o be fo foclifh as 1o
ler me go according to my foolith defire, did I think my friends would take mein? 1
told him yes, I knew my fricnds knew me very well, and would take me in; butif
they would not, that fhould be no excufe to him, for Iwould beg my bread from door
tadoor rather than ftay there.  He faid [ thould go and expofe him finely indeed. Teold
him if he would let me go then I would not. He afked me, If I would promife him? I
faid 1 would. He afked me, if I would take an cath? T faid I would, upan the Bible,
and 1 would keep it. For this reafon I did not importune Mrs. Harvey, becaufe T knew
fhe would not let me go; for as I knew he was afraid I fhould expofe him before, I
knew he might be afraid I fhould expofe him now. Afterwards, Tonly importuned every
day thae I might go to London again to fee my friends. I importuned Dr. Griffinburg,
and all of them, asthey were prefent.

Mr. Cox. Now you come to Wednefday morning.

§. Woodeock. We ook an airing again in the clofe boat on the water in the evening
of that day. Juft at tea time there came in two gentlemen and a lady that he had fent
for from London, as I underftood. After they had drank rea, he called for a fheer,
which furprized me a good deal, and was I afraid they were going to play at fome mil~
chief, but T foundfomée cime after that they were going to att the magic lanthorn. While
they were ating the magic lanthorn, they hung up feveral fheets acrofs the room, and
{o wene and danced behind it.

Court. That is athing rather they call the Iralian fhade. :

8. Woodcock. But while they were acting this, the lady that came down from Lon-
don faid, that is l.ord Baltimore that is afting the old man. There was a perfon afting’
the part of an old man, With that I was glad to hear the name, for I had never hcarﬁ
it before; and thought if I could now get to London and get a pen and ink, T would
write a letter and throw it out of the window.

Mr. Cox. Till that time you did not know the perfon that had done you this mifchief
was Lord Baltimore ? .

8. Wosdrock. No, 1did not. Next morning, which was Thurfday, I intreated Dr.
Griffinburg that he would afk my Lord to let us go to London again. He faid he
would. He went, and came fome time after tome, and told me we were to go home
that day ; but I wasnotfatisfied till I faw the coach that we were to go toLondon in, That
day, the women went out into the patk, and wanted to run, anddefired me to run
along with them, which I did a little way ; but I ftrove to drep shem, which they did
not let me, but came up with me, :

Mr. Cex.
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Bir. Cox. What happened the reft of thar day ?

§. Wordeock. | do not remember any think particular till T came to Londen after din-
e, wbout four or five o'clock. | fat in the fame fituztion in the coach I did before.

Rir. Cox. When did you come ro London ?

¥. Woeodcock. Thatevening ; they drove much as they did before,

Mr. Cox. Whar happened on Thurfday nigh ?

§. Weodrock. Nothing particular, only I was fearful I (hould be obliged o g0 to bed
to him, and was very much terrified. We went up the back way into the fame room
we was at firft ; then Mrs. Harvey faid 1 muft go ro bed to Lord Baltimore. 1faid [
would not do any fuch thing. She faid I muft go, to be fure; had not I been befors ?
1 faid I would do no fuchthing, 1 then made another excufe applicable to my fex, and
defired that (he would go and beg me off, but fhe would not go, therefore | went my-

felf, rather than go to bed. Iwentto him and told him, and he gave me leave to go to
bed elfewherc. I laythat night along with Mrs. Harvey.

Mr. Cex. The next day was Friday, whar paffed chen ? ,

8. Woodcock. | was very dull, as ulual. I don’tknow whether 1 cried or no, but was
very dull. By and by, towards noon, [ believe, he faid he would introduce me to the
other part of the family ; and then he told me, if I would be quiet a few days longer,
and male myfelf fatizfied and eafy, and not tell any of the family what had paffed be-
tween him and me, 1 fhould {ee my father, and if | liked to live with my father beit, we
fhould have a houfe and live together. He had put fome money into my hand, and
told me, after [had feen my facher I thould go where 1 pleafed, do as [ liked, lay out the
money as | chefe, and if 1 liked to go to meeting | thould go. He ordered my hat and
cloak to be brought down, and then he went in and ferched a woman which they call
Madam Saunier, or fome-fuch name, and told her that there was a lady come tw be 2
companion to the young ladies. He told her 1 was a very religious lady, and fomethirg
of that kind: She faid fhe would take care of me.

Coart. Who is that ?

§. Woeedcock., Sheis povernefs to the young ladies. Then he introduced me into the
family, and told them I was recommended by my father as a companion to the young
ladies, and then he went out.  This was a part of the houfe I had not been in, excepe
the firlt night, when I believe they fhewed it me. . 4

Mr. Cax. You had a fair opportunity now of telling Madam Saunier of the injury
you had received.

S. Woodcock, Hehad laid the fricteft injuntions upon me; and 1 thoughe as thti{
were his fervants they would be as the reft had been; therefore 1 thought it was be
to keep it to myfelf.

Mr. Cox. Wh;dt pt::_ﬁ‘:d in the Iwhull.- of thar day ?

. Weodcock. WNothing particular,
Is'dr, Cox. Was you w%ﬂ!:the ladies in the afterncon of that day ?
8. Woodcock. 1 was. S e
.Cox. Was my Lord with them

?;i’c;:ﬁwl: N-:;-?:r he only came in at meals. 1 faw nothing more of Mrs. Harvey

Mrs. Griffinburg only um;i inhthrn, and ‘Esmngh: the victuals.
. Cox. What happened that evenming

gﬁ#’gjmk. thﬂ; particular; unl;gr after he went up-ftairs to bed, he fent Mrs.
Griffinburg to ferch mein. As foon as 1went into the room [ burfl into tears. Tftl! was
on Friday might. He was in bed. She went into the room, but did not ftay. He afked nllz
to come to bed : 1 told him no, Iwould not. He affured me if | would come to bed he wr:ﬂl
not meddle with me, he would only lic by my fide. Itold him I would not, ulTﬂfﬂ
over; at laft he infifted upon it that I thould come ; and knowing they would ule r:}
if I did not do it, 1 went into bed. As foon as 1 had got into jumped mﬂ:.‘u&
bed and fetched the candle; and when he had done fo, he ftrove to tear uﬁ_my
to fee my nakednefs ; I ftruggled with all my might, and would not let hl'm rﬁ:_t ‘;
full fight : 1 cried our, and ftruggled all 1 couid. With that, he expoled m';. I:#
the fame manner, and wanted me to look at him but [ would not. M;;;r :l"u: aam
weat and fet the candle down again, and then he came and ftrove to e
‘things again. .

. Cox. Did confent that night ? iy

'IM;!"EE«L h?::] not at all IE{?rurgglt}& :lll_ll cn;u;d Tn:f; dT: w!:: :1:‘:1:3“:; ::I:

-wh iz he intended, by reafon of my then fituation. tie did nG P c"“w;
lled my hand to him ; I told him [ thought it was impofTible that any
::l.makt plzafun: in fuch vile Mm?m:s: there was nothing muﬂp:rdcula;ilgl;‘::
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night, that I know of. On Saturday morning he got up, and fent Mrs. Griffinburg in
to take me up. When fhe came in I was very ill: fhe defired I would not flay to
drefs myfelf there, but faid I muft go into another room, and had me into another
room which I had not feen before, where there was a bed. When I was got there, the
feeing the condition I was in, afked me if I would go o bed again : I rold her no; but
finding I could not ftand ir, 1 told her yes, I would. I went to bed, and laid about
two hours ; but they came fo often to me, that I could not get any fleep. They came
and took me up : they fent the maid in to drefs me. !

Mr. Cox. Who is (he ?

S. oodeock. 1 do not know her name.

Mr. Cex. Had you any converfation with the maid?

S. Woodcock. No. Then there came a woman to take meaflure of me for a gown,
ult after that Mrs. Griffinburg came in, and faid my Lord wanted me in his room,
went in. He afked me what [ would have for a gown ? 1 faid I don't care any thing

about it; I would as lief wear what I have. He faid, would I have blue? 1 told
him it might be blue if it would, Idid not care. He faw fome bruifes upon my hand,
as he ftood ar the window, upon my hand and arm both, and afked how they came;
I told him he did it the firft nighe, and thac he had made it worle again.

Mr. Cex. Was that truc ?

8. Woo.cock. It was ftriétly true. 1 went into that room where I was at firft, and
they brought me up fome gauzes and petticoats, and faid I mult chufe fome ; but he
had fAxed upon the colour of the petticoar himielf; and as for the gauzes, I told her
I did not care, fhe might take which the plealed. I wok the perticoat.

Mr. Cox. Did any thing elfe pals ?

8. Woodcock. She faid, as I was a milliner, I could make the caps mylelf. My Lord
faid the perticoat fhould be a lighe one, and thar was ligh.

Mr. Csx. Did you hear my Lord fay fo?

& Hoedeock. 1 think I did, but am noc fure. I faid I was foill I could not work
there. Shedefired | weuld tell her what I wanted more; Ifer down fomething
ebout wires, but I don't know what, The maid lefc the penandink, but came back again

m a minute. I afked her if fhe could not leave it, becaufle I wanted it: fhe faid no,
The could not, [he would bring it again.

Mpr. Cox. What did you want it for ?

S. Woodeock. To wrire to my father, and fling it out of the window.

Mr. Cox. Did (he bring you the pens and ink ?

S. Woodeock. No, Mrs. Griffinburg defired 1 would take the work and work with
“the ladies. 1 took an apron and ruffies to make; and there was a lady to drink tea
that day; after tea, Lord Baltimore faid, he thought the ladics fhould to cards.
The eldeft Mifs entreated me very much to play, but I refufed, and faid I could not: 1
did not chufe it. As foon as they had got to play, 1 retired to the next room ; Mrs.
Griffinburg came uate me, and rold me fhe wanted me to fee the apartment fhe had
been preparing for me, for that I could not have that room I was in in the morning ;
therefure the carried me up into a ftone garret ; it feemed 1o be all ftone ; it was very
cold, and ftruck like a well, and was among all the fervants, that I was very much
frightened and unealy aboutit.

bir. Cox. Was there a window.

8. Waedcock., There was a window cut out of the leading 5 I could fee nothing but-a
bit of the leading of the houle, which looked out upon the gutter, and a bic of a fky-
light. 1 was very much frightened and uncaly, and ﬂmuéu it very odd I could not
have a better room in fuch a houle as thar. I was afraid that now he had done with
me himielf, chat he did intend I fhould be expofed to any body that he mighe fend.
Upon that 1 told Mrs. Griffinburg that 1 durft not lie there; fhe, upen that, faid, o
oblige me, fhe would bring up a little bed, and lie there a nighe or two. Then I came
down ftairs again to fupper. . :

Mr. Cox. With whom did you fup ?

S. Beedeock. With the Lady that came to fee him, Doftor Grifinburg, Madam
Saunicer, and the Governels, the two Miffes, and Lord Baltimore 3 but I neither eat
nor drank. On Sunday I kept up in the garrer, and they came often and difturbed
me, that L eould have noreft any where. I came down {tairs to breakfaflt, and then went
up again, and came down again to dinner 3 and after dinner 1 ftood up ar the window,
and as 1 was ftanding up at the window, (this was the corner window, and looked to-
ward Hampflead) as I was llanding, Ithought I faw Mr. Davis, the perfon to whom
I was engaged.

Mr, Cox.
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Mr. Cox. Who was in the room with you?

8 Weodeock. Two more ladies ; i
the governels and the two childrmf:ﬁdcmn;al? fl;nnrili": o ‘EY, o ot L
while I went to the window ; there T faw ™M ’D okl i LT by the fire-fide
fo ftruck 1 could ' LWV and when I Frlt faw him 1
not tell how tofland ; and fearing that he thoul b
up I thought he did not know me ; but Ee w [: b;r:u P = it e
Faundl:ng Holpital, and there peeped two ;-r three SR et ot
Hi:h mﬁk aibmk out of his pocket, and made a nwriu:tsi"ﬂ:rll:ii j\:'xdﬁ.;m it i
W that I waved my h . ; OF e o wriie;
gt e Lo li"_':1::“ ::'I‘-'mf:;::l:\wt?nszﬁt ﬁ:r;:-"l:{rlr‘r b[;u ]hc did not underftand me;
again, I waved my hand for him to come ialrtl:'lm : ;E e h'lm‘ e
which was the room Lord Baltimore generall [r.': o i 2o b the rext room,
out chiiiking whether e was there of o, s calicd o bu I ran in hap hazard, wid-
not come to you! Tcannor come to you i Tl o Em e . b e LR i
fide-of the houfe ; T croficd the rn:n:nlj: e hm:ls “."":] the other corner room, the Welt
tidm Are you well ? But T prevented him, hf;ﬁ?n.;m;::n;nh:ﬁ,_ﬁ IE . hﬁm}r-':{ YH':
he is well, and we are all well; he faid then, How d i B <A 7
is Mrs, Fla ? . ) : s 0 you d.“," U'hen he faid, Wheie
Mr. Cox. Whar was ll:huircaﬁ:-l-n ut}:;]-:a:i S, che b,
8. Wasdeack. 1 tearedfome of the ' :
room Lord Bultimore came in. [ w::?;l?l?u‘:ﬂ:]idaﬁm\:: :‘:ﬂ before 1 coufd et ont o che
{Pﬂk to him as he came in, nor he to me. Afier this ['E‘I;‘.I'!“l:atll::; tah;rrrn:hie., th{t it i
ink, and paper, and bring it up into my room n‘rc:ﬂ-i:'l tl';r ‘arrer l'::'aul v
i, becaule 1 wanted it to amufe me.” 1 ]'ayiin the gﬁrru%ha?;im: i :iﬂl e A
fhe brought me a pen and ink. T 'began to write immediatel :Itfn:‘ ::ﬂuﬂ“; L
prevented chat I could not go on with my letter : thisisa ar!nf it - r:—,{ ¥ Al
throw it out of the window : This was on Mun:iar mﬁrnif Wlh'g??ﬁﬂ Jl‘-'dld e
letter, Mes, Grifiinburg came, and faid the milliner had l:ru%l.gh: e fhaiie kg’ T L
3 e care o come down, 1okl Mie GH s B el i = s, fhe
faid, I m“PCI go down : ' With that, Twentto the milliner ; the had hm:;ht Fﬂ%l?g:;:?::
cloaks _th Hlﬂ_l.', I touk one that 1 thought lecked the Fla:r:mrcﬂ, and thar was all ;
Mrs. Griffinburg intreated me wery much tofpeak for more things ; and faid, T muit
fome aprons. fal_'ked the woman if the bad any flowered muﬁn‘- fhe fad !{hn: ol
bring it when fhe came again; that was the fubflance of wha: P:Iﬂ!;l then ; 1 wnnkdl
1 had my breakfaft with the family: Then I went up into my garret i w':;lh:
Griffinburg came after me. ' I afked where my Lord was ? fhe afked rﬁmw; :::t hi Fi'
I tald her, yes, I wanted to know if ever he intended T thould fee my frimds“ i -“?
I could not bear to live fo. She defired T would tzke my work and po duﬁ‘a;ir:r
which accordingly 1 did: And foon after I came in, Lord Baltimore r:a.Em in, and cla :
me upon the thoulder, as I fac with my back to the door; and told me he was comin Fn
tell me Iimmhinﬁ that would pleafe me very much, that I fhould fee my father l.'iu:%iz
without fiil : With this, to be fure I was pleafed, and went up flairs with intent 10 pul::
my thingson. Mrs. Grffinburg followed me, and faid m  father was fent for to come 1o
her houle, and that I muft make hafte, and go direétly ; for he would be there before 1
could ger there ; fhe helped to put on my things; and I came down ftairs into the room
nexe the Foundling Holpital; there was a lady that had been there the day before. Lord
Baltimore began to tell her what a religious lady I was ; sod that he was forry for many
things he had faid to me. Wha his reafon was for this I don’t know, except he thoughe 1
fhould expofe him toe much.  Some time after this, he led me into another rooni ;. and
when he gotme there, he faid, T now was going w fee my facher; that he was fent for, and I
was going to Mrs. Grifinburg’s to meet him. He told me I mullfay I was willing to (tay ;
and if I would tell my facher 1 was facisfied and eafy, he would do any rhing for me that
I defired : T told him that I would, bue T muft fee my father alone:  He faid, then he
wu;lld [;_:a]x:k Enx him firlt. T told him, he might, but I would fpeak to him alone.
r. Cex. lain your meaning. ;
8. Weodcock. My meaning wu%hh, Sir, that I might put him into fome way of get-
ting me lw::_{, if I could not getaway with him ; then he faid, 1 fhould take the lirtle
Mifs, and I thould fay to my facher, 1 was a companion of that fady ; to thac L only fuid,
very well : Then we were fent on to Mrs. Griffinburg's houfe, with an intent to meet my
father, in . Dean-ftreet, Soho; I went to this houfe; when I was there, | faid 1o Mrs.
Gr’mlﬁbuﬁ 1 thought you faid my father would be here, before I fhould get here; but

1 fee you have deceived me, as you have done all along, She fuid he would come pre-
feutly.
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fently. In about two hours after this, or rather more, Lord Baltimore and Dr. Griffin-
burgh came. As foon as he came in, 1 faid, I thought you told me I was to fee my fa-
ther; but 1 fee you have deccived me, as you have all along; and I fee [ fhall not fee
my father to-night; he faid, yes, you fhail : Buc what do you think has hnppr!'l:d ? Your
father has taken up Mrs. Harvey, and put her into the Round-Ticufe: This gave me
fome pleajure, but I dared not fhew it; 1 did not know what to anfwer ; ar lait, I faid,
1 did not fuppole that would do any good, for (he would not tell where | was : Soon after
this, in came another man, and faid, Lord Baltimore’s houfe was befer with Juftice
Fielding’s men : He fell into a paffion, and faid, my father mult be a fine man indeed,
to fet to work fuch rogues as Jultice Fielding and his men, were, that they were che
greatelt rogues that could be. 1 was frightened, and thought my life aud my friends
were in danger, becaufe he was in fuch a rage; and I was afraid, having much about
the fame opinion of him, that he had of Jultice Fielding, that may be he might [end fome
of his men, and fet the houfe on fire, or do fome mifchief. After this, there was a greae
demur about Mrs. Harvey's being at the Round-Houfe, and how they thould get ar her,
and get her bailed: Sometime after this, I found that Mrs, Griffinburg had been to fre
if the could come at her; Mrs. Griffinburgh faid fo, and that (he could not; with thae
they were in a great taking, in what manner to procecd to get this woman bailed.

Mr. Cox. Who was ?

§. Weodeock. Lord Baltmore, and Dr, and Mrs. Griffinburg ; then I Rudied whar I
thould fay and do: At lafl, I faid, that if they had got Mrs. Harvey (I fpoke to Lord
Baliimore) they might depend upon ir, they would never deliver her up till T was fer at

. liberty : 1 told them, if they had a mind Mrs. Harvey fhould be fet free, it muft be me
that could do it; that if they would ler me fee my facher, and 1 could fettle things to my
mind, | could releafe her if I pleafed. In two or three hours they gota man o go, u
account of fpeaking Englifh ; they faid, if Dr. Griffinburg went, they fuppofed the old
man  meaning my father) would think he fhould be run away with : Then they got fome
tradefman to go along with them to carry the lecter, which 1 had then wrote, if I remem-
ber right, at Dr. Gritfinburg's, to my father.

Mr., Cox. What was the purport of thar letrer ?

S. Weedcock. The intent of 1t was for my father to come to me: We went then to
Whitechapel ; I went in a coach with Lord Baltimore, Dr. Griffinburgh, this man, the
Doctor's niece, and the kttle girl : This was on Mﬂlﬂﬂg‘-

Mr. Cox, Was there any fervants atrended the coach ?

S, Woodcock. 1 faw one run on the fide of the coach as I went; it was Pierini, they
call him the valet de chambre : We went to a tavern ; [ cannot fay what it was ; 1.be-
lieve I (hould know it again, if I faw it: There was only a little boy thatled the way up
to a back room : When we came there, this man, the tradefiman, was fene wich the letrer
to my father: He came back, and brought word, that my father had been out ever fince
nine in the morning in fearch of me, and brought the letter back. I was very Joth to go
back again; I did not know what 1o do. I wrote to the landlord of our houle, to tell
my father to be as cafy as he could; for I would fend for him next morning at ren, as
Lord Baltimore told me I fhould : At that time at the tavern he told me | thould fend
for him in the morning : It was the landlord of my father's houfe, whofe name is
Berry. The tradefman brought word back again, my father was not come home as yer;
fo Lord Baltimore would go back again, and faid, he fuppofed they were making a fine
piece of work at the other end of the town. We went back ; and when we came o Co-
vent-Garden, the coach ftopped, and the tradefman got our, and went to Jultice Field-
ing’s, according to their orders.

Mr. Cox. Did he come back again ?

§. Weodcock. He did, along with Juftice Fielding’s clerk, who brought a card, wich
his compliments, and that I thould fee my friends there : [ did not know what to fay to
the man; I made no anfwer, bur gave the card into Lord Baltimore’s hand 3 he read ir,
and faid I thould not %z With thar, 1 told the man to tell my fricnds, that I was there
(I mean at Dr. Griffinburg's houfe) and that 1 defired my friends to come to me there di-
reftly ; the man did not come any more ; but there was meflenger after meffenger, came
to tell him of men being about the houfe, and a great mob in the yard ; and withal, that
there was fome women had been crying there, With that, 1 was afraid it thould come
out, that 1 had feen Mr. Davis at the window. I begged of my Lord, to ler me fpeak
to the man firlt. I found there was another meffenger come about fomethings I wene
out of the room, and there was Broughton, which we cail the Steward : I afked him whae
the women faid ? He faid 1 was feen out of the window ; 1 told him I was, and I wanted
to fpeak to him about that. I told him I thought that my life depended on its being

known ;
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known ; and therefore beaged, |
e L e AP ok o
thing, his bread depended vpon it I told him he nm;: ht:;-h"' would promife no fuch
ic another way.  Ac laft, he promifed me, that b not fear his bread, he mi_he get
Bim. ‘Then.T caméisito ' e would not tell him unlefs he afked
the room, and what paffed, I do not k
M['. {:'d.r. Whiﬂ wWas lhﬂ I't"ﬂr-;]-]‘l of [his appnflri_ﬂnlt - 'nuw-
8 Haodeock. I the: 5 : o conceal it from my Lord?
3 thoughe may-be he would murder me thar ni '
Afrer this there was a great deal of confufion, and th ttll-: :]t' OB 0 T iy
[fcaﬂ;i:ulhrhcid m!:e contriving to go fome other way ;E{r f:n;;: m'_“:;:::;' ]‘le“‘lgf '-JI"-M
rightened, he was afraid to go home for B ke Bhiaald & e
I told him they could not take :%:1 out un! ool 13 tako me out of the codch
i ol Ll : {s T would, and that 1 14 il
tice Fielding's men. ot ALK TINRE S WOUS Mok g wiziy Ul
When we l:aEnt within ﬂ;ﬂ;ﬁnmiﬂzme :’;I::l:::t:‘oﬂgn L et e -
know: Right againft the coach there were feveral ﬂiﬁw& by whofe order I do not
c:;utl_d fee ;:in]r :j my friends ; but Lord Baltimore :“:g m:ndc:zﬁia:kﬂtn.:gﬁ rh; ol
up for, and ordered the coach w drive on immediately : whi G Gt o
could; and the men ftrove to ger into the yard Iul Aingpdias e i
i T i ._».;T along with the coach ; Juflice Fielding's
$th:, hI cried our, let the men érnmc in: HEE E:u;:.:?:'ll :E:: iEH::::I }J:lfi gle;:::i;ur:nﬂl:f
ith that, we went up ftairs ; Sirl -
Lord, Picreni wanrs Fguﬂ.' t{:r:ﬂ;ﬁ:;ﬂ: wltg'%::i:h::tnhd::]]l.:i: lg:::w ol :_rl.d - i
trefs, _fnringi: was coming out that I i:adlm:n Ei;:n out of the wi -I:i: [I'":ImmL ol it
ftrive to hide it; I plucked up all the courage I could, and :;Ll:lréi :F. i
;:'!, wlh?:;giﬂlf:i wanted. He faid I had fpoke to l'um:ehudy a:: ITh:sw{i?:i':::f h'i::E
im 1 had ; he afked what I had faid : I told hims but di iftrefs,
I was afraid : When I had wold him, he f:?édh?;:q.;lc? l;ll::l:i :ri[nl:'s: :l:l Tfﬂ:h“f;%l’ iy
the fame himfelf. He fuppofed I was glad to fpeak 1o the firft 1 h’:dcl' 3 \"r}?ﬁ v
I was rejoiced, I had been in fuch a terror before, left he thould kill F: ‘i Ml’:c oy
he and the Doctor talked a good while in fome u':!'u:r lan ; T {r
i ] language; what, I don't know. By
nd by, Lord Baltimore fud I muft go to bed to him ; that I muft li= with him th
AT e Htai ik wirecklod "1 Seutell "he piomlic ine e woah ot msedile with
me; I thoughe if T did not, he would make me go to bed to him; fo 1 did goto I:ﬁ“
him, and he did not meddle with me. On Tuelday morning he got up firlt, and it
away, and fent Mrs. Griffinburg to take me up. She came andgtg:& Fi l:rd‘E:lI 'w;m
wanted me direftly : With thar, I got up and went 1o him. 4 thr:l c;mt to h'nm I:t
faid, Well, now we will write to your father, and fend for him as propolfed. [ hull“T—:;:r:l
over night, that one Mr. Wates was o come in the morning at ten l:-’clu-r:i.:.: S50l fEdl
r.hu-ﬂ%ht it was better to ftay till ten o'clock, before I fent ro my father. I thoughe it
would be Mr. Davis would come by the name of Wazts, Arcten ﬂ':]u:krl wrote aglcmr
to my father, the purport of which, if 1 remember right, was this, that I begged m
friends would come with all the decency and refpeét becoming a nobleman's hagu%r: HZ
tu-_uk the letter, and fhewed it Mr. Brown, the attorney, and feemed very much pleafed
with it, and fentit away.  After this, he wanted to know what I fhould fay to my fa-
ther, and whether T would fay as I had told him, thar I was willing to ftay. I faid I would
but T would fee my father alone by myfelf.  Wich that, he faid he would d> any thing'
to make me eafy. Wich that, I faid very well, but could not tell what to anfiwer him.
He faid I fhould have a houfe to live in, and live with my friends, if 1 liked it better
than living with him. Jult upon that, Piereni came in, and faid, my Lord, here is Mr.
Watts come; but before thar, I fhould have told you, my Lord faid, that whoever
came, 1 muft fay I was wiliing to ftay. The man came up, and faid, there was Mr.
W;:irs. Lu{g E-altinmmﬁwmr out to him.
r. Cox. Who was left with you ?

§. Weedcock. 1 don’t know; tTI?:re was Mrs. Griffinburg and Dr. Griffinburgh back-
wards and forwards ; but whether they were in the reom or no, I can't fay. My Lord
brought Mr. Watts up ftairs; he was in the firft room, and 1 was in the artheft room ;
he was brought up ftairs: The doorshappened toftand ajar, that I could juit fee them, but
1 could not them. If I remember right, there was Piereni in the middle room.
My Lord talked with Mr. Watts for about ten minutes; and then my Lord came e,
and Mr. Watts almoft behind him; and my Lord faid, Mifs, here is a friend of your's;
I faid, I don't know the gentleman : He then faid, Mifs, you don’t know me, nor dol
knew yous but I am come from your friends, to know if you are here by your own con-
gent ? I anfwered, yes; but I want to fee my father.

Mr. Cex. In that very form of words ?
G 5. HWoedceck.
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B Faedrock. 1 think itowass T was in fich a Aurry at that time, 1 can’e be politive.
He fud, very well, Mils, if you are here with your own confent, nobedy hasa right 1o
take you away ; your fervant, Madam ; and then he ralked with Lord Baltimore again.

Mr. Cex. VWhat happened to you after this?

S, Foedeack. T wentinto the nextroom ; 1 did not know what to think of Mr. Watzs,
and I had no thoughts at that time of a lawyer 5 therefore [ went into the middle of the
room, to fee if I could fee any iriends about; when I faw nune, I opened the window ;
this was on the At foor : 1 faw feveral friends at that ame, but one pretty near that I
knew, Mr. Cay : He afked me, if I was there by my own confene? 1 faid, yes; buc 1
faick T wanted to fee my father. He faid, my father would never come within thole wails ;
I then turned away in a great rrembling, and faid, then I never fhall fee him; that was
my way of thinking at that time ; I thought, that as they would not ler him come in, I
{hould never get out. Atter thar, Lord Baltimore came in again, and faid, I mult go
to Lord Mansfield’s, and faid; 1 muit fay 1 was there with my own conlent, and not to
teli Liord Mansheld particulars. -
. Mr. Cax. Let me alk you this queftion : Dic you before this time, know Lord Mans-

eld ?

S. Woodeock. 1 never, as I know of, heard his name.

Mr. Cex. Don’t you take in the news-papers ?

8. Weodeock. No, Sir, Idid not think of his being a magiftrate.

g Mr: Cox. Did Lord Baltimore explain to you, who he was, or why you was to go to
im ? ;

8. Weadesck. 1.ord Baltimore faid, if I did not ftand by him now, he fhould be un-
done : He then faid, will you be faithful to me now, and keep your word ; otherwile 1
am undone ? [ faid I wbuld ? but I would rell my Loord Mansfield, that I wanted tofee
my father alone. He faid, if I would be eafy, and tell him 1 was ealy and fatisfed, 1 fhould
have a houfe, and live with my friends, and have the young man. With that, I teld
him I would fay, I was willing to be there, as I promifed him before, but would fee my
I friends alone. He afked, if 1 would tell my friends the particulars? I rold ham, yes ;
I would tell my friends all ehetruch,  After this, he faid very licle. Another mellage
came for him. He came up, and faid, we were to go to Lord Mansfield's immediately.
I faid, very well, 1 was very willing. Mr. Brown, the lawyer, my Lord, and mytelr,
went together in Mr. Brown's chariet,

Mr. Cox. Did you know the bulicels you was geing there upen ?

S. . Weedesek. 1 did nor. ,

Mr. Cox. Now tell all that pafied ?

8. Wocdceck. Asfoonas] came into Lord Manshield’s doors, my Lord Baltimore had
hoid of my hand up the fteps; I clapr my-hand upon Mr. Ports, one of the gentlemen thar
ftood in the Hall, whom I knew ; and be took no notice of me, which firuck me very
much ; becaule Lord Baltimore had told me, chat my friends would not lovk upon me;
and fecing fuch a repulle from Mr. Potts, it ftruck me very much ; 1 faw feveral other of
my fricnds there s but I did not fpeak to any body, norany body to me ; I went into an-
other rogom, and Leord Mansfield met mie ac the door 2 Lord Mansfeld afked me o
come in 3 and Lord Baltimore was to {tay in the next room ;then Lord Mansfieldand I were
alone, only another gentleman prefent. I was not then apprized who Lord MansGeld was.

Mr. Cex. Tell, diftinétly, what paffed between you and Lord Mansfield.

8. Heedeock. The Arlt words that I remember, were thele : Child, was you carried
there againtt your will ?

3. Hesdeock. 1 faid, yes, my Lord. He then afked me, if I was kept there againft my
wills I faid, quite againit my will; My Lord then faid, quite againit your wiﬁ? I faid
again, quite againft my will. * He was going to afk me fomething ; but what the words
were, 1 don’t know ; I faid, my Lord, T don’t care to go into particulars.

Mr. Cox. Why did you not tell my Lord Mansheld ac that time ?

. WWeedeock. It was becaule I did not know, that he had power to releafe me ; if I had
known, I fhould certainly have told him what had happened. | He then faid, Mif, I
think you are of age ? 1 faid, yes: He faid, well, Child, are you willing to fay with
thisman? I faid, my Lord, as things are as they are, 1 am willing, but nat without fee-
ing my friends alone : Heafked me, what friends ? T faid my father and my fifters: He
defired them to be called. Then he ordered the man would bring Lord Baltimore throu

fuch a place, and take me our ac the ether door, that I might net fee my Lord 5 and there
I met my friends alone.

 Mr. Cex. Ihd Lord Manshicld ftay in the rogm 2
8. Weodeock. No. : .

Mr. Cox.
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Crafs Examised.

Lord Bsltimore. You fay, you have not been at home, fince this affair happened ?

8. Wocdeock. 1 have been with feveral of my friends.

Lord Baltimere. With what friends ? :

S, Woadeock., The firft I went o was Mr. Cay, [ ftaid with him one night; from
there I went toMr. Ridgeway’s, I ftaid chere from Tuefday night to Friday ; from there
I went to Mr. Wilfon's, ftaid there from Friday o Sunday ; on Suaday I went to
Mr. Wallis’s, and ftaid there till the Menday fen’night.

Lord Baltimere. You have been very much hurried and fatigued in thifting abour?

8. Woodeock. From there I wene to Mr. Yeoman®s at Weitmindter, 1 {taid there from
that Monday to the Monday three weeks ; and from thence I went to Mr. Ruet’s ; in Fri-
day ftreet, and flayed there from Monday to the Friday fe'nnight; from Mr. Rurtt’s, 1
went to Mr. Keene's, and ftaid from that time till the fourth week after my going,
it:{id from thence [ went to Mr. Wallis’s; I went to no other perfons till I came to

ingiton.

Lgﬂrd Balvimere. Whar, not to Mr. Potes’s ¢

§. Weedeock. No. 1

Lord Baltimere. Are all or either of thefe gentlemen concerned in carrying on this
prolecution, you are not able o doir?

. Weodeock. A fev of gentemen have lent my father money, upon a note of hand.

Lord Baltimsre. 1 underftand from your evidence, thar you was b ht to my
houfe without knowing where you was coming to; that you was during th® whole time
you was there under abfolute confinement ; that you would have got away if any op-
portunity had offered; and if any opportunity of complaining had offered, you would
have done it ; do you infilt upon this as the truth?

8. Woodeeck. 1 do.

Lord Baltimere. 1 think Iunderftand you, that for the firft four days, you neither eat
nor drank any thing ?

§. Weodcock. No, the firlt two days, to my knowledge, I don’t know that I eat
any thing, -from Wednefday rill Saturday moming.

Lord Baltimore. And then you only had a difh of tea ?

8. Wesdeack. No, Sir,

Lord Baltimere. 1 did not underfland from your evidence, that you had cat any
thing till Sunday dinner ?

8. Weodcock. The toaft and wine I had on Saturday night.

Lord Baltimsre. Did you take any thing folid ¢

5. Weodcock. 1don’t remember that 1 did.

Lord Baliimere. You muft be very much exhaufted, and yet on Sunday yom had a
long difcourfe with me, to prove thatthere was a God, a keaven, a hell, and fubjeéts
of thatkind; how old are you ?

S. Weoodeock. 1 am twenty-feven.

Lord Baitimore. Will you fwear you are no older ?

8. Weedeock. 1 will fwear [am twenty-cight.

Lord Baltémere. Will you fwear you are no older?

8. Weedeock. 1 will fwear I am chat.

Lord Baltimere. Will you fivear you are no clder ?

8. Weodeeck. 1 do notknow I need el ; I am cwenty-nine, and that is my age; I
cannot exaftly eell

Lord Baitimere. To the beft of your belief, how old are you?

8. Woodeock. 1 believe I am thirty next July, I cannot be fure of that, whether I am or no,

Lord Baltimere. How often h:.cI you feen me, before you was brought to my houte.

S, Wosdeock. Only three times.

Lord Baltimsre. You have told vs I exprefled fome refpeét, and artachment to you ; had
I never taken the opportunity to give youa civil falute, when you was behind the counter?

S. FWepdeack. No, vou never did.

Lord Baltimere. You talked of my having faid, T would bring a lady to you?

8. Woodeock. 1 underftood you, thar you would bring a lady.

Lord Baitimere. Might I not have faid, I would fend ?

§. Wesdcock, No, 1 underftood that you would bring.

Lord Baltimere. You have told us, you never faw Harvey, buttwice before this time ?

W oodcock. Yes.

Lord Baltimore. Did you ever fee Ifaacs before ?

8. Wovdeock. Tiaacs T never faw before.

Lord Baltimere. You had no fufpicion where you was going ?

8. Weedcock.
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. I;{;::;d Eﬂ&f?re;j Thar banwB:ﬂdaw T:m man:;:’a. I:-t]irw “:11‘:3::13:::: J:;ILT:P:T:T;J;‘::L

at branch off ; does it noc ? roi recolleét tha - Smicl P e
drask tea’ and fipped. shag dep ¥ ul .t, € that e, Smich was of the paciv.thar

S, Woedeock. 1 believe he was.

Lord Baltimore. Pray will you tell me when you fickt heard that I had feni any, thing 10
your father ? %

8. Weedcock. On Friday. g 2

Lord Baltimore. 'Who did you hear it from Frlt ? il

S Woadeock. 'Lord Baltimare ; when'T was, pleading, that il he had no comnafion
for me, he might have for my father. i

Lord . 'Did it come from me ?

§. Woodcock. 1 believe it did. i
- -Lord: Baltisiore.. Did noc Dr. Griffinburg tell you firlt of all, that T had fent 4 fuin
of money to your father? _

8. Wovdceek, - T don’t rémembeb that he did. .

Lord Baltimere. Did not you expreis great fatisfadlion upon hearing I had fent fuch
a fum of ‘money to your father? . i 5 i

‘8. Weddeack. 'Noy I'did mor. -

Lord Baltimere. If 1 underftood you, you did noc lie. down till Friday night ; and
that you did not v}-n.lil off your cloaths while.in the houfe.

8. Woeodcock. Yes [ did; on-Sunday sight ; but Lnever had my cloaths off before,

Lord Baltimere. You have given an account of your ,gqﬁngy to Woadcote ; had you
any notion, when you got into the coach; thar you was gowg ro Woodcore ?

5. Weodceck. No.

Lord Baltimere, Had no-body told you ?

8. Woodeock. “No. !

Lord' Baltimere. You was given to underftand, by mec, that you was to take an
airing, and come back, and ﬁn fee your father,

8. Woodcock. Yes, y" ]

Lord Baltimere. In your firit information,.as read in the. King's-Bench. you faid
you was carried into the coach by force, and they told you, you was going 10 Woaod-
eote.—TYou have defcribed your fitting in the coach. between me and Mrs. Harvey
Did you fic forward or backward ?

8. Woodrock. My face was o the horfes.

Lord Baltimare. You faid, Mrs. Harvey was ordered by me ta fic forward, fo as
to fhut up the window as well as poffible.

8. Woodcock. Yes,
Lord Baltimere. So that you could not fo well fee the people as they pafiid by.—

You faid that, when the coach ftope, you withed it might overturn.
8. Woeodcock. My reafon was, 1 hoped that, by that means, 1 might have made my

i ity had h ned. The coach did not at all, as I know of.
efcape, if any oppertunity e ftop e

*
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Lord Baltimgre. Was the glaffes down, or up ?

8. Wocdcock. They were ur. uil we got off the ftones; and then Lord Balimore
put onc of them dewn a little.

Lord Baltimere. 1 fuppofe, as foon as you found thar, inftead of being carried our
for an airing, you was carried further ; you was ill-difpofed to partake of the mirth
that went forward in the coach.

& Woedeack., 1 was. 4

Lord Baltimere. 1 underftand, you did not know you was going to Woudcote, till
you came to Epfom: there are a great many fteps, are there not, that lead up to the
houfe 2

S. Woodcock. Yes.

Lord Baltimere. Wha pot out of the coach frlt ?

S, Woodeock. I can’t telly T was led up the fteps direétly.

Lord Baltimore. Into what room #

$. Woodcock. 1 believe, the firft room ; we ftay'd there fome time.

Lord Baltimere. Did 1 propofe to take an airing in the park ?

8. Weedceck. 1 might go out, but I can’t fay whether I did. |

Lord Faltimere. 1 fhall be glad to know if you will {wear now, that when you went
out of the door to the canal, you did not lay hold of my arm, and run along with
me ?

S. Weedeock. 1 don’t know that I did.

Lord Baltimere. Itis a pretty ftrong circumitance ; did you go upon the canal be-
fore dinner ¢

S. Wocdeock. Yes, before dinner.

Ceurt. What time did you fer out from Lord Balctmore’s houfe 2

5. Woedcork.  About owo o'clock.

Cenrt. What time did you ger to Woodcote ?

5. Weedeock. About four.

Lord. Paltimere. How foon might you dine ?

5. Woodrock. 1 believe in about half an hour.

Lord Baltimare. Where did you dine ?

8. Woadeock. In the grear dining-room, up one pair of ftairs.

Lord Baltimere. 1t was there the ficfk infule was offered behiind the curtain, was it not ?

S, Woodeock. Yes.

Lord Beltfmere. 'Was it at that time that'1 talked to you of coming to bed, that I
told you it muift be thac nighe ?

S, Woedeeck. Yes, he faid it muft be that night; I got away from him; 1 don’t
know that I made him any anfwer to it :

Lord Paltimere. Do you fay, upon your oath, that when I ralked g0 you of your
coming to bed that night, that you faid nothing 2 ;

§. Wasdeock. 1 wold him, I would fooner give him my life a hundred times over.

Lord Baltimere. Upon your oath, did not you fay, if 1 would ufe you faichfully
and tenderly, you would let me go to bed w you ?

§. Weedcock. No, I faid no fuch thing.

Lord Baltimere. Did you not fay, fome other time might be more convenient ?

5. FWozdeock. NWo, 1 did not

Lord Baltimsre. Where did you drink tea ?

8. Woodeock. Below ftairs.

Lord Baltimore. Did not the magnificence of that place ftrike you 2

§. Woodeock. Yes, it did ; though 1 would rather have been in the poorelt cotrage.

Lord Baltimere. Did not you fay, that you believed that room was finer than any
room in the Queen’s Palace ?

8. Weedeock. 1 don’t know ; poffibly I might.

Lord Baltimere. 1 think you told us, you eat nothing at fupper ?

8. Weodcock. 1 car a lirtle bit, but drank nothing.

Lord Baltimere. Then you did not drink feveral glafles of wine to my health ?
Who firlt withdrew to go to bed? .

5. Weedeock. 1 am not pofitive,

Lord Baltimere. Was it not me 2

8. Weodcock. No, 1 believe it was Mrs. Griffinburg ?

Lord Baltimere. Did you and Mrs. Harvey go out of the room before me, to go
to bed, or afrer?

8. Woodcock. Before,

Lord
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[ ord ;i i i
o 9m Baliimere. How long might you be in the room, before you was put into my

8. Waedeock. I cannot form any judgment.
}ﬂ;l:].‘u;ctlcfgﬂ;m ¢. Can you recolleét your defliring to have a litde water 10 wath
R . ; .
my fmﬁ:ﬁ r-:Itg:;;dﬂ:: women propofed it ; they talked of my having water to wafh
Lord Baltimere. ' : y. 3]
ferved Dr. Gri!ﬁnhul;;uifl mﬁg ¥R, B85, 69, SO0, A, DEE YO, ob-
3. Wosdeock. Not many minutes.
Lord Baltimore. Was it almoft immediately ?
f. H';wgn:::t. | brli.':::vc almoft, bur can’t exaétly fay.
sord Baltimere. The Doétor, 1 thi i i afe i
h;,r; %‘“;E”T‘ENW ot Sl think, did not interpofe in any other manner than
" @ G, 0.

Lord Baltimere. It is pretty extraordinary, that Dr. Gri i
room at all, at fuch a l:inf::; tirrha: reafnn dﬁ he give ? Lt Dot o
%;:fﬁf:iﬁar}rﬂﬁifﬁ:ﬂ'wa.,:k-,.,-l;l:,?]imlh;m' Sir 3. I ﬂid not hear him give any reafon.
the Doftor itaid, o wr:nr.baw:y:‘ PR lm.ﬂ iy foedhih SRS TW R

-g- H:ﬂﬂd'ﬂri'. No, I can't tell.
Lord Baltimere, You have given an account of the womens havin
bed, ,DF having tucked up the cloaths, and going out of the rmn‘!;. a Fhli:: ,;:uﬂl-.z
muorning I got up to open the door to you 3 you have defcribed the infults offeréd you,
IhﬂmH‘ nlus ;-‘uuml your modelly, to repeat the account of them. Did you fleep
that might? 7
8. Woodcark. Not.at all that I know. :
Lord Baltimere. Did I ? ' .
8. Weedrack. He lay very ftill the whole-night, I don't know whether he was alleep.
Lord Baltimere, You have deferibed yourlelf a5 being under dreadful apprehenfions,
let 1 fhould repea it a fecond time, why did you not endeavour to fave yourfelf from
that ﬁ.::ﬂnd infult, by endeavouring to get out of bed, and find your way out.of the
room 2
8. Waodcock: For this reafon; 1 wasin fuch a fright, I dared not ftir hand or foor,
for fear he thould hear me, and turn to me. oty
Lord Baltimere. In what room did you breakfaft, in the maorning ?
8. Wocdeock. In the firlk reom below fhairs.
Lord Baltimere. At what time ?
8. Weodeock. ean’t particularly tell thar. .
L ord Baltimere. You had fo far compoled yourfelf, that you had intended to do
thing that was only trivial ; to give into my ways, and for that reafon you pinned
the ribbons on ; did not you puff them up according to the fathion, that I faid they
were puffed up wo high?
8, Woodeock. ‘They are puffed up no higher than are commonly done.
.. Lord Baltimere. You wore the Ealr. I prefume ?
8. Woodcock. Yes. g L :
Lord Baltimere. Now as to thefe ribbons, you fay they were new made up ribbons,
bu that they wese made up by requeft of Mrs. Harvey, and the other woman ?
Did. not you think that breaking in upon your rule 1M
S, Weodesck. 1 did it by compulfion, not by free choice.
Lord Balimere. Did you think any foree would be ufed ?
S Wesdcock. ‘They were very rough with me, and I thought they would be rougher,
if 1 did; refule ir. . _ , :
Lord Balimore. How long might you wear thefe ribbons ?
8. Wecdeock. 1 believe all the ume.
T.ord Baltimore. At your brealt ?
§. Woedcock. Yes, 1 believe 1 did.
Lord Raltimere. Did the two women wear them ?
§. WWesdcock. | cannot tell. B = p
Lord Baltimere. Some of the millenery goods were gauze, were they not
. 8. Woeodcock. Yes. : .
Lord Baltimere. Did not you make Mrs. Harvey a prefeat of fome gauze ?
§. Woodcock. No, 1 did not. fiord
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Lord Baltimere. Do you recolleft, among other amufements, your being carried to
fee che houle, and the library.  Was there not a book of prints that took your fancy ?

8. Weodeeck. Yes, 1 did look ar them,  The Doétor brought them inco the room for
me te ook at, but not at my defire.

Lord Baltrere. You was fometimes in the park, and fometimes on the water ?

8. Weedeeck. Once upon the water thae day.

Lord Baliimere. It was ufelels to you to difcover any particular grief for what had
happened, and you did not difcover it in your countenance ¢

& Weadeock, In my countenance 1 did, T was very dull.

Lord Ba.timere. You eat and drank at dinner ?

5. Headeock. 1 did.

Lord Beltimore. “T'he fame at fupper?

3. Woeedeock., Yes.

VLord Baltimere. There was a gloom then. You was out of fpririts, and melancho-'
ly 3 where did you lic that night '

8. Wocdcsck. With Mrs. Harvey.

Lord Baltimere. It was thought a little ftrange and Ex:raurdinnrlzfth:[ I did not want
again to lie with you. T think you and all the company laughed heartily upon the oc-
cafion: Will you'deny thae ? :

8. Weodeock, Yes, 1 will ; T was glad he did not lie with me again, bur I did not
laygh abou ir, i

Lord Baltimore. Was there any laughing upen the occafion ?

8. Weadeock. No, not that 1 know of.,

Lord Baltimere. 1 think upon the next day you made a vifie with Dr. Griffinburgh,
to fre a poor woman in the houfe that had broke her leg ? :

8. Weedcock. Yes, Dr. Grifinburgh carried me to fee her, but not at my defire.

Lord Baltimore. 1 belicve while he ftayed in that room, you went down for your -hat
and cloak to walk in the park 7 el '

8. Woedcack. We went all in the park together, but this was when we came back.

. Lord Ealtimore. Then you don't recolleét your going out of that room for your hat
and cloak, to take a turn wich, Dr. Grffinburgh ; how many times might you have
been in the park with Mrs. Griffinburgh only ? g i

8. lFoadcock, I ot above once, " T

Lord Ba'timore. 7 0 you recolled being on the other fide of the pales above the canal
with Mrs. Griffinburgh only ? :

& Hepacock. Wo. Sk L

Lord Baltimere. How far might you go with Mrs. Griffinburgh only ?

8. Weodeock. Abour half a furlong. : W e :

Lord Baltimgre, I bilieve there were a great many workmen i:l;fingl out a piece of
ground by the capal ?

8, Waodeock. There were, '

‘Lord Baltimore. And there were workmen altering a fiair-cafe ?

8. Woedcack. Yes, there were, and putting up paper.

Lord Baltimove. Then for the reafuns you have given, you did not think right o
mention to any body what had happened to you while you were at Woodcote 7 what
day did the vilicars come from Lopdon 2 ;

8, Heedeack. The vifiters came on ‘h_\[."edr.l;efd'ag, two gentlemen and a lady.

Lord Baltimere. You was fufficiently compoled to receive the lady and do the honours
of the houle, to wait on che lady, and fhew her the pictures, and what you I;he}ﬁght
might be agreeable toher?. \ :
& IWeodeock. Shehad a mind tofee the pictures, and 1 Mewed her the pictures in'the
room fhe was in. '

Lord Baltimere. Did not you afift in preparing the fheets, and putting the things in
order for the exhibition ? _ i ;

§. Woodeeek. 1 believe I did takea needle, in orderto do aliztle of it ; not above one
bit of thread. : -

Lord Baltimore. And you lent them a few pins? =~

S. Weodcock. No, 1didnot; there was a pincfhion on thé ground, T might fick a
fewof thilepmep o, S R R L : b

Lord Baltsmere. Was you on the light or dark fide after this apparatus was got ready ?

_ 8. Woodeack. On the dark fide., Lord Baltimore was acting the old man part of the
time, and another part he came and fat by me.

Liord Baltimore. Did not you Gt upon my knee ?

8. Weodcack.
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8. Wesdeock. Woldid nor,

Lord Baltimore. Do you pledge your credit upon it, that vou did not fir upen my k
andidid not kifs me ? P CAL YO 1 pon my knee,

8. Weedeock. Kifs him! no that 1 did net. Lord Baltimore came and crowded him-
felf in the [ame chair where I fat, that was all ; 1did not ficon his lap.
Lord Baltimore. Perhaps | was upon your knee ?
8. Woodcock, No, not that | know of,
Lord Baitimere. Did not the cords break, and the fheets tumble apon the ground,
after the company had taken fo much pains ¢
S. Weodeock. Yes,
Lord Baltimere. 1 believe notwithftanding the misfortunes you were {0 nruch depref
fed with, you laughed very heartily ac ic?
8. Woadcock. 1 might laugh, but I did not laugh heartily, that I know.
Lord Baltimore. Will you fay you did net laugh heartily at it ?
8. Weodecok. 1 can'’c fay 1 did not, 1don’t know thae 1did:
Lord Balrimere. You was on the righe fide 1o fee the exhibition ?
5. Woeodcock., Yes, 1 was,
Lord Baftimore. Was it not amufing ?
§. Weodeock. 1thought it an amufement beneath geatlemen of fenfe to employ thens
felves in.
Lord Baltimore. Did not you laugh at that time ?
§. W oodeack. No, Sir, very liule.
Lord Baltimere. Did notyou walk with Mrs. Forreft about the houle, and have fome
converfation with her ?
8. Hoedcack. Mo, 1 had none. R :
Lord Baltimere. Do yourecolled her afking you how long you had been in this family ?
S. Woodcock. She afked me no fuch thing. :
Lotd Baltimore. Did not you tell her how long you had beenin the family ?
S. Weodcock. Not that [ know of, +
Lord Baltimore. Did not you tell her you had been a twelvemonth in my houfe?
* 8. Wasdeock. Upon my oath, T faid no fuch thing, . 1
Lord Baltimore. 1 believe you complained to her that you had come down without 2
fufficient number of clean things ?
§. Woodcack. Mrs, Harvey told her fo. _
Lord Balimore. Did not you all dine together, and then come to town together that
afterncon ?
¢ cock. Yes, we did in different carriages. ; _
i.uﬁr;wgafﬁm:. During the time thefe people were there, did you bc;rar by your
manner of countenance that any thing extraordinary had happened to you
. iWosdeack, No, 1 did not; 1 fupported myfelf as well as I could.
Lord Baltimere. 1 believe yu;: m;l us that Mrs. Harvey returned to her own houfe
rned to London :
fm; :;}':nl:g:ir?ﬂo not know when fhe wentaway; Ifaw no more of herlaﬁerhl:ndar.
Lord Baltimsre. You have given an account of your “eing introduced 1o t R:Enwrr-l
nefs of the young ladies; did you confider it asan innocent thing then, w impofe upo
thele young ladies ¢ : b the
. No, Idid rot ¢ myfelf to the Governefs as one come ou
mfnff:ﬂtﬁkl -.-Iig‘n-ur. Contr whit he (aid, becaufe he promifed in a few days I
ther. g
B e e Was not théte & bed ordeted to-be.put up for you in Madam Sau-
nier’s apartment ? ERE B v
§ 7k NdﬁDid  hever underfland o> '
timore. . : ; .
. ?ﬁmi No, nﬂ'ﬁlpﬂn that day, on Saturday, when Mrs. Griffinburg faid chat
ie in the garret. " e
: ni:ﬁr;lmmE Where does Mrs. Saunier lie?
sk, ‘In the garret. s
mgﬁfﬁmm, Wa%it ir:!'r:'.hm garret you was to lie?
8. Woodeock. No, not in thae garret. S . Mrs.Saunier lay in?
limare. Did not you underftand youwas to lie in the garret )
?Hﬂ;}:ﬂk. Na],):.m: whyirﬂl was there; The lay on the fame ftory, but not in that room.
Lord Baltimsre. You did net chufe to lie there ?
8. Weodcock. No, 1 did not, I was afraid.

a

i st s
Lord Baitimere. You lay with me that nI:fht. 1 underftood this going to bed wi

e : ST ou to make no
was one of the things; you gertainly wn:wl.tt not fubmit to: how came y 5. Woedshel.

refiltance ?

9

-
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8. Wosdceck. Trold him 1 would not go with him, but I knew he would ufe force if 1
did nort.
Lord Baltimere. What time did you get up next morning #
S, Waosdcock. 1 don'tknow : this was on Friday.
Lord Baltimare. There was a vilitor ?
S. Wovdcock. That was on Saturday.
Lord Baltimere. 1 {uppofe you had converfation with her ?
§. Woodcock. Wo, ronc but what 1 rold you.
Lord Baltimsre. You entered into the general converfation that was going forward #
5. Woodeock. No.
Loid Baltimere. You did not, though fhe was a vifitor to them ?
S. Fesdeack. Mo, 1 did not.
Lord Baltimsre. How came you not #
8. #esdeack, 1 thought my Lord and all his company were alike, except the young ladies.
Lord Baltimere. Did you recolleét the mufic mafter’s being there, and 1and you pul-
ling one another ; T pulling you towards me, and you drawing me to you—fome famili-
arity of chat kind?
8. Hpedeock. No, he was then come to tell me the news of my father : he took hold
of my handkerchief, which I took from him again.
Lord Baltinisre. Then you was not anxious when the gown was made, or whether it
ever was o be made ?
§. Wepdeock. Wot the leafl in the world.
Lord Baltimore. Then as to giving diretions how it thould be made, the cut of the
fleeve, and all [uch things, you did not concern yourlell about ? .
8, Wosdeack, Mo, T did not.
Lord Baltimere. Nor was in a hurry to have it ?
8. Feadeock. No, 1 was not.
Lord Baitimore. Whether you did not prefs the mantua-maker to take care, of all
things, that you had it next day at dinner?
8. WFopdeeck. Mo, not that I know of,
Lord Balrimere. As you fay it was athing fo indifferent to you, you muft know whe-
ther you gave fuch orders or no ? _
8. Woodeock. No, 1 did not; Grifinburg ordered the woman to make the gown next
day by dinner, but [ did not.
Liord Baitimere. Doyou know the name of the milliner ?
&, Woodeeck. 1 did not then, but I do now. :
Lord Baltimere. Have you not fome reafon to know it now ¢ Don't you know that
that milliner has been applied to, and told if fhe comes here fhe (hall lofe her bufinefs ?
S. Waadcock. 1 know of no fuch thing. :
Lord Baltimsre. Pray what had you of her?
3. Woodeock. A cap and cloak.  There were more :hmgs hrought I did not take
them : there were more things mdcrtd by Mrs. Griffinburg’s defire ?
Lord Baliimsre. What were they ?
¥, Weodeack, A muflin apron an undr;r—p:ttltmts
Lord Baltimere. How many ?
8. Woadeock. 'T'wo under-petticoats.
Lord Bairmore. Do you mean to {wear they were ordered by herand not by you ?
8. Woodeack. She defired I would order what I wanted.
Lord Bultimere. Did you order them or fhe? ol
8. B sodeock. 1 did not order them, t my knowledge, but Gnﬁn&urg did. 1 don't
care to give a pofitive anfwer when I am not politive.
Lord Baltimere. Whether you gave any particular direétions how they m:n: to be madg
8. Weedcock. 1 can’c tell thac [ did ; Icrﬂ not that I know of,
Lord Baltimore. Twould put it more home to you, that you may recolledt ; Did not
you order the milliner to make the two under-petticoats to tic before ?
§. Woadeock. No, upon my oath I did not.
Lord Baltimere. Was it the mantua-maker or ymlrf-:]f:h:ll made I;h.t apron to the gdhni
8. Woodeock, There was none that 1 know of.
Lord Baltimore. Did not you order an apron to the gowa 2
8. Wesdiock, No.
Lord Baltimore. Nor ftomacher ?
8. Wesdeock. She afked me if | would have a ftomacher: I told her Ididnotcare abouti.
Lord Baltsmere. Did you, at the time you went to Mrs. Griffinburg’s, know that
there was any difturbance about you ?
S. Woodeock. No, 1 did not ; 1 went to meet my father.
Lord Baltimore. You was very anxious to get away from my Lord, and glad to take
any opportunicy ?
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8. Woodeock, Yes,

Lord Baltimore. How did Mrs. Gri H
& Woodeock. Inacmhi. o s

Lord Baltimare. Was it my coach or a hackney coach ?
i.a HWoedeock. That I don't know. i
rd Baltimore. You was quick enough in pointing out the difference between -
niey coach and gentleman’s ina former cafe ; 1 d::fircgyuu would tell now ? i
3. Woodcock, 1 looked, and think I faw a number, but am not cerzain.

Lord Baltimeré, Was there any body in the coach :
and the child ? FOCK Iy sodii enmpe yourly M, Grifisturg,

8. Weodesck. No, not that 1 know of.

Lord Baltimere. What age is the child of ?

8. iril’ﬂm'cwi. About cight years old.

Lord Baltimgre. Mrs. Griffinburg has not i -

Py g gota yard with great gates before her

3. Woodcock. No.

Lovd Baltrmere. She Ll out of the coach firlt, did e not ?

8. Woodcock. Yes.

Lord Baltimore. Did the child go out before you, or after you ?

S. Woodcock. 1 can'c tell.

Lord Baltimore. Now you had got into the open ftreet, why did not you get I.'W'li.'
into the firlt thop that was open for you ?

8. Woodcock. Becaufe of this; I did not know buct the fervants were there ; and I did
not think of it.

Lord Baltimere. Confider, you was hazarding every thing againft nothing : If your
father was there, ftill you would have been fate if you had gone off ; if your father was
not there, you would have been fafe, and yet it never occurred to you whenin a public
ftreet, with no foul but old Mrs. Griffinburg and a child, whether that was not a ime
run away. [ afk you another ching : Did not this coach ftop two or three doors from
Mrs. Griffinburg’s houle ? j

S. Woodcock. Yes. '

Lord Baltimere. You then had to walk to her houle ?

8. Wesdcock. Mo, the coach went on again. .

Lord Baltimere.. Whar time of the day was this ? _

5. Woodeock: About two o'cleck. b toastd i

Lord Baltimere. You then was in the public ftreet, exceeding defirous of 'E;,r.in'g

you

it

away from me, and never thinking thar was the time to run away.—What room
go into at Mrs. Grilﬁnbur%‘s? :

§. Wesdcock. A back parlour on the ground fver. p

Lord. Baltimere. Yuur father was not there # Lt

8. W oedeock. No. | e ‘ oty

Lord Baltimere. Did not Mrs. Griffinburg go down into the kitchen to give her orders
about the dinner # brnd :

§. Woodeock. She went down and made the door faft after her _ N

Lord Baitimers. 1defireto have aplain anfwer, withour feeing fo much of l;h.t_: confe-
quence: | defire to know whether fhe did not go out of the roomand go down into the
Kitchen, and leave you and Mifs Fanny alone? v

Mr. Serjeant Leigh. She explains every queftion you afk her, and if you take the an-
fwer, you mufk lec her explain it. ; :

§ Woodeock. 1believe fhe might go once or twice.She weat out two or three times ; the
always kept the door faft, and kepe amuling me with accounts that my father was coming. .

I.ord Baitimere. One would have thoughe Iydia.mng WOIAN 45 you are could have

t out of the parlour mi; I:I:: fireect.  How many hours did you Rtay there ?

. I can’t tell how many. -

ifdm;. What part of the nﬁermun did you fet out for the Crown and Mlgfjl'ti'

3. Waodeock, About nine o'clock. 1f I had tried o efcape from Griffinburg’s 1 be-
i uld not. :
lﬂlﬂrdmﬂdﬁmm What time did Mr. Morris the tradefman come ?

§. Wosdcock, He was broughe to carry the letter.

Lord Baltimere. Did he carry the letter ?

. 1CE i

i.uﬁﬁ;:;w:— Did he not come back and tell you he could not find your father at

N Wodeac. ¥
i 7
infd Baltimore. Then you wrote another letter ?
S, IWeodeock. Yes, 1did, and fent it to my faches
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Lord Baltimere. That letter was your own letter, wrote by yourleli ?

8. Wecdeock. Yes, itwas.

Lord Baltimore. Did not you come to the door 1o Mr, Morrie, and give him thar 'er-
ter to carry to Mrs. Berry, the landlady of the houfe where your father lives?  Tua
{peak of the boy’s leading the way into the room ?

8. Woodeock. Yes.

1.ord Baltimere. Had you any refrefhment ?

5. Woeodeock. We had a bottle of wine.

Lord Baltimere. Was any body in the bar ?

§. Woodcock. 1 cannot tell, my Lord had held of my hand.

Lord Baltimore. How far might that tavern be from your father’s 2

8. Woedcock. The length of the Minories, and a litiké way up thae ftreer.

Lord Baitimere. Had you never been by that houie ?

8. Woodeock. Yes. 1 fhould know it if I was to fee i again.

Lord Baltimere. And then you was afraid to awempr to get away becauls I had Lold
of your hand ?

S. Woodcock. Yes.

Lord Baltimere. Who broughe in the wine ?

S. Woodeock. A little boy.

Lord Baltimere. Was any bell in the room ?

§. Woedeock. The bell was rung, and the boy went backwards and forwards.

Lord Baltimere. Whether, during the time you was there, you was nut more than
once left with no body but the child and the neice.

S. Woodcock. No: Lord Baltimore was in the room zll the time | he never wene our.

Lord Baitimore. 1 believe the tradefman came back, and went back with vou in the
coach to Dr. Griffinburg’s ? did he not?

8. Weedcock., Yes.

Lord Baltimere. He got out of the coach to go to Sir Jahn Fielding’s ?

8. Woeodeock. So I afrerwards underftiod, to fee about Harvey.

Lord Baltimare. Was not his bufinels to ferch your father to Dr. Griffinburg ?

S. Waodeock. 1don’t know any fuch thing.

Lord Baltimsre. One of Sir John Fielding's clerks caime with a card, you faid ; you dird
not give an anfwer to it, but put the card in my hand, and I faid you fhould not o ; then
you defired your father might come there.  Recolect yourfelf, and tell me whecher chat
15 the account you ftand by ! You fwore, upon receiving the card, you did not fay, I will
not go to Sir ;ohn Ficlding’s? 5 PR

§. Woedrock. Nov that Tknow of ; T did not fay any fuch thing.

Lord Baitimere. Recolleét yourfelf

8. Woodeock. 1 cannot recolleét thae T faid T would not g0

Lord Baftimere. You recollefted wich as great exactnels azever T heard a witnefs 2

8. Weodeock. In giving in my evideace, | gave in every thing as far as T could recoli=®

Lotd Baliimore. 'Whether, when the card was breught to you, you did sot tmmedi-
ately fay, without putting it into my hand, that you would not ge to Sir Joha's 2

Court. Can you fay politively one way or other ? ;

§. Woodcock. | cannot. -

Lord Baltimore. 1 think you fay, when the coach came back agnin o miy houle, thae
there was a great mob, and you called out to them, to let them come in ? :

S. Woodeock. Yes. '

Lord Baltimere. When did you firft hear of this thing they call the§ Fibeas Corpus 2

8. Wopdeock. 1 heard the word Habeas Corpus, when they were ralking in their swn
language.

E:m% Baltimere. What did you underftand to be the reafon of your ghine to Lokl
Mansfield's # '

8. Woedeock. 1 concluded thar my friends were taling fume Reps dnd char exrying
me to Lord Mansfield’s was fomething done by my friends in appolition to Lord Balki-
more ; but I did not know that Lnrﬂiﬂansﬁcld was amagiftrate, :

Lord Baltimere. When you was firlt told you mult go before Lord Maasheld, did
you not fay to me that you was fatisfred, and would not leave me ? J

S. Weodeock. Ma, [ never faid fo.

Lord Baltimore. You fpoke of a letter you wrote to your father upon the aceafion ?

. Woodcock. 1did.

Lord Baltimore. 1 believe there was fomething rémarkable m that leeer ?

8. Weodeock. Yes,1 pur a little bill in it, thae my facher mighe know it carne from me.
~ Lord Baltimere. This letter was wrore that day before you went to Lord Mansfield :

how long before you wene,  had you finithed this letter ?
8. Woedcock. It was jult then out of my hands before Mr. Wares camein the it time:
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" Lord Baltimore. You exprefs in that letter the i
fromme, and defired they would make no more diﬂﬁr?:n;:?mmt B1 ST
8. Weodeock. 1 did not know what

: _ [ to fay, in order that he mighr let it po.
it by his order, in a manner contrary to my hearr, becaufe 1 wi%h af:aie; h%nm:lmt
otherwife letit go ; and becaufe T was afraid my father would be afraid to come.

m aﬁfﬂ{: :::-Itsi:&:. you really and truly wrote it againft your own fentiments ?

wl;:,d gnm: You have mentioned Mr. Brown's being there ; was it before Mr.
§. Woeodcock. Before.

Lord Baltimore. Before the firft time ?
8. FFoodeock, Yes.

8. Woedcock. Yes. it g a letrer betore Mr. Brown came ?

I..m:% Battimere. Flad you any converfation with Mr. Brown, orme, aliout the haleas

8. Woodcock. They were a talking, butI paid no regard to what they faid.

Lord Baltimere. E;d not Mr. Brown afk ].r-uﬂl Whr:the% pou il 68 ;E;}Dl;afﬂ »

8. Weodesck. Not thae I know of,

Lord Baltimore. 1id not you tell him was more than of age confiderably, 267

Sﬁﬂfﬂf‘;ﬂ! ﬂﬁ}m’-‘lt know I faid fuch a word, I do not know that Mr. Brown aflecd
me i QUTILEoN £

Lord Bﬂ?.tfmrrr. Did not Mr. Brown tell you, you was ar your own liberty 2

8. Wosdeock. No, Sir.

Lord Baltimere. And vou did not exprefs a fatisfaction at it 2

8. Wosdcock, No.

Lowd Baltimore. You went with Mr. Brown and me, in his carriage, did not 2
did mot you come to him before you finithed your letter, and he de you to go l::’:“k,
aﬂ-ﬁniﬁi ic? :

8. Weodcock. 1 gave it Lord Baltimore, and he fhewed it to Brown. 4

Lord Baltimsre. Was you defired to finifh ic? i |

8. Weodeock. Yes, Lord Baltimore defired it.

Lord Baltimere. Mr. Brown then wene oue, did he not?

8. Woodeock. That I do not know.

Locd Baltimore. When did he return back again; before or after Mr. Wans ferved
the Habeas Corpus ¢

8. Woodcock. After. 2

Lord Baltimere. When you went to Lord Mansfield’s, what did you do with your
things, had not you locked them ui:in the gr:r, and got the key ? )

§. Woodrock. 1 carried away the key of the garrer, bur did not know that I had ir,
tll a week afterwards. :

Lord Baitimere. Had not you twenty guineas of me to pay for them? -

§. Woodcock, Noj he g_tﬂ: me thirteen guineas on Chriftmas Day, when [ was intra-
duced to the reft of the family. v

Lord Baltimere. 1did not give you money to pay for them that morning ?

8. Weodcack. No. 1

Lord Baltimare. You have given us an account of what paffed before Lord Maai-
field, and that he afked you if you had not been brought to my houfe againit your
eonfent, and you faid twice quite againft my will; that he afked you if you was of

and you told him, yes? 3 r

§. Woodeock. He was going to afk me fomething, I faid, I was more than of age.

Lord Baltimere. Did you not tell my Lord Mansfield, that you knew he had no
power, as you was more than of age, to oblige you to go back to your father ? Mmﬂ::&
ing faid you was taken away, and detained againft your confent, you told :
Mansficld, that you was willing as things were as they were, to back to my llmulh
Now, this is very myfterious, and unintelligible, that you thould teil this gent rbr:E
thar you was brought before to be gor out of my hands, that you would go

in with me ¢
.g::’:‘lf ¥ oed-ock. 1 did not know what Lord Mansfield’s T Was. o

Lord Baltimere. You knew your friends had broughe you there, to get y_qall nﬂu :

my hands ; you was with 1 ord Mqts&cldf,“and m;.‘i?r l?tm;uﬁcf::::::; :;1'::: ; m:r;;
n to give the. not telling him yc ;

2:3}:: :;a?rf“:tharﬁa{ﬁe m?kmwinéul?ord Mansfield’s authority: - Now, when you

was fent to your friends, did you immediately afk that queftion, was that the il £

5. HWeedeack. 1 am not pofitive that dn: ?m firfk. 13 gl 2
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Lord Baltimore. Did youexprefs to your friends no {ort of inclination to@o back with me,

8. Isedcock. 1 exprefied an inclination, by which they found 1 did not know Lord
Mansfield’s power, and they acquainted me with it.

Lord Baltimore. I afk you, if when you came to your friends, you did not exprefs
an inclinatien to go back with me?

§. Heedeock. | had no inclination to go back.

Lord Baltimere. Did you fay nothing to your friends of being defirous togo back ?

& Hoodcack. Na, not thatl know of.

Lord Baltimere. No, nothing of your being better able to fupply them, and provide
for them ?

§. Woodcock. 1 can't now tell what I faid: they found thac I did not know his power.

Lord Baltimore. 1 alk you onz more quellion, Whether you did not fay, cven to
Mr. Waues, after you left Lord Mansfield’s, that you was wiliing te go back w my
houfe ?

8, Weodeock. No, no fuch thing 5 and all my friends can teftily the contrary.

Lord Baltimsre. Who went to bed firflt, the laft night you lay with me 2

S. Woodeock. T did,

Lord Baltimere. In what bed ?

5. Weodeock. In Lord Baltimores bed.

Lord Raltimere. Pray, was any body in the room befides me and you ¢

S, Woodeock. He went out.

Lord Baltimsre. You went into the bed, when T was not in the room.

8. Woodeock. 1 did. He came up afterwards 3 Mrs. Griflinburg's neice was in the room,

Lord Baltimere. So you went and undreffed yourlelf, and went to my bed, and I came
to you.—I think you faid, it was on the promile that 1 thould not meddle with you ;
though you fay I had broke that promife the laft time I came 1o bed to you; yet you
youriclt got into my bed.

8. Wecdcock. 1 did fo, becaule T was afraid he would kill me that night, if I.did not.

Mr. Cox. Did you exprefs to your friends any defire or inclination towards Lord
Baltmore ?

8. Woedcock. 1 can’t tell exaltly what 1 faid 5 they faid, Lord Mansfied had power
to deliver me. :

Mr. Cex. Did you, at that time, tell your father, or fifters, that you wanted to go
back again to Lord Baltimore ?

3. Beodeock, Mo, 1 did not.

Mr. Cox. You faid, Lord Baltimore had promifed to fend for your father in the
MOrning,.

$. Weedeock. He faid, it was done with a view to get my father to me.

Mr. Cox. What made you write fo foreign to your heart

3. Weedcock. Becaufe 1 knew he would not let it go, if it was not wrote fo; and my
father would not come, if he was not pacified.

Court. At the time that Lord Mansfield afked you, if you was of age, and you told
him you was—De you recollect that he faid, you was at liberty to go where you pieafed.

S. Wovdcock. He faid fomething, I can’t tell what.

Court. When you went out of one room into the other, to your friends, who began
the converfation firlt, you or they ? Did chey know, by what you had faid o Lord
Mansfield, that you wanted to go back to Lord Baltimore’s.

Mr. Cex. She had not feen them before ; they koew not what had paffed between
her and Lord Mansheld.

Cenrt. Did you tell them what had pafied batween you and my Lord Mansheld 2

5. Weedeock. 1don"t remember that I did.

Mr. Cox. When you found Lord Manshield had power to fet you at liberty, then
you told them you had been violated.

&, Woedeock. No, not in my Lord Mansficld’s houle: As 1 remember, one of my
Afters aftked me if I had been ruined, 1 faid yes.

Court. MNow, with relation to ruining, that is a fort of general term; it may be
with, or without, your confent.—Did you tell her, whether it was without your confent?

S. Woedeock. She afked, if with my confent? I faid, No, without my confent.

Mr. Cox. What was your reafon of not applying to my Leord Mansfield, and after-
wards applying to Juftice Fielding ?

8. Weoedcock. 1 was fo overjoyed at being at liberty, that I thoughe of nothing elfe.

Elizabeth Woodeock, Swern.

Mr. Baker. Do you remember a woman coming to your thop for a pair of ruffles ?
—Do remember one Mrs. Johnfon ?

E. Wenlcack. Yes, and Lord Baltimere followed her.
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Mr. Beker, Do you remember his coming feveral times?

£ Wovdeock. Yes, I was at home three cimes when Lord Baltimore came.

??r:#f#izm.éwlis ].r{:Iu at home when he bought fome ribbands ?

=+ #egaceck, INo, 1 was not then 3 Mrs. Harvey came on Monda

December, and defired to kitow whether we had :lny!rﬂnwmd gauze; 1 Ettd;::rht]?:
book and fhewed her: fhe befpoke a pair of double ruffies, and ordered them to be done
the next day by one or two o'clock. ~ She accordingly came, and paid for them ; and
ordered my _,ﬂ-.rr o bring fome lace with hér (o puc on a child’s cap) to Cumin:mw
w:lwrc fhe :In:d fhe lived. ~ The next day my fifter went, about half an hour after four
o'clock ; that was on Wednefday. My fifter did not come home all night ; we were
very r:'tuch frightened 5 we fat up till one o'clock ; then a leteer came that fhe was ac 2
friend’s houfe; that fhe was fafe and well. A porter broughe it ; it was not my fifter’s
hand-writing. ‘This was Wednefday the 16th of December,

9

35

The firft letter fBeson ber.

E. Weodeock, Thatisit. There was no name, nor the place flie was ar. [ afked
the man who broughe it, where he had it.  He faid he came out of Whitechapel, and
then he went away.  This letter faid fhe would come home at twelve o'clock next day.
I far oill chat time, and ‘was very uneafy. 1 then went 1o all her friends fhe ufed to go
to, 10 coquire after her.  The firft night we had any account of her, was, a week after
fhe had been gone away. : 4

My. Baker. What methods did you take to get at her? -

E. Weodcock.  We went to fee after Mrs, Harvey, but could not find the place ;
nobody knew fuch a woman.  Mr. Davis came and twld me he believed he had found
fomething of it our. T went accordingly to Mrs. Harvey’s ; the maid came t the
door ; 1 afked for Mrs. Harvey, if fhe was at home. She faid no. T afked her how
long fhe had been gone out. ' She faid, ever fince that night week. I afked if any
body went with her.  She faid a young lady. .

Mr. Baker. Then from that you traced out that Mrs, Harvey was gone out with a
young woeman ? -

£, Weoedcock,  Yes ; and by the defeription of her drefs I knew it was my fifter 2

Mr. Baker. Do you know dny thing of your own knowledge between that time and
when you faw your fifter at Lord Mansfeld’s ?

E. Wocdcock. We followed this Mrs. Harvey: fhe came to her own houfe on
Chriltmas-day ar night, and was raken up.

Mr. Baker. There was an Habeas Corpus taken our, and you faw your fifter at
Lord Mansfield’s, how did fhe appear ?

E. Boedeeck.  She appeared almoft out of her fenfes. We had a t picce of
work to perivade her thar Lord Mansfield had power to deliver her.  When I wene to
her, T afked her if fhe was married.  She faid no. - "We told her fhe might now get
away, Lord Mansficld could deliver her. 'We had a great piece of work to perfuade
her he had power to deliver her.

M. Baker. Did fhe exprefs any defire of going back to Lord Baltimore’s ?

E. Weedeock. No, but great defire of going with us : only fhe was afraid Lord
Mansficld had not power to deliver her.

Mir. Baker. Did fhe exprefs this more than once ?

E. Feadeack.  Yes, [everal rimes. ;

Mr. Baker. She did go away, did fhe not ?

E. Woodeock. Yes, very much rejoiced.

M. Beker. Do you remember any thing that paficd when fhe went away ?

E. Wesdeock. oy Ibe went with Mr. Davis and feveral others, I was left
behind, ' :

Crofs Examination.

Lerd Baltimore.  When you was before Lord Mansfield, I fhould be to know
whether your fifter was not told that Lord Mansfield was a Judge, that he was 'l.;.hlef
Jultice of the Court of King's Bench, and had power and authonity to deliver her ?

E. Woodeosck. No, not before me. & Gl

Lerd Baltimere. Did fhe not exprefs a defire to go back again?

E. I¥oedeock.  No, pot that T heard. - . ’ on,
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Cowrt. Did you afk her any queftions with refpeft to what had happened
to her?

E. Feedeock. No | did not, my other fiiter did.

Leérd Baitimere.  You are the perfon that was in partnerfhip with her I think ?

AL, Weodeock, 1 was.

Lerd Baltimere. Do you know any thing sbout her going to Sir John Fielding ?

E. Wosdeock, Yes, [ wene with bery we did not know fhe was going upon fuch
a thing. 3he went about Mrs. Hasvey, to fee whether fhe was to be kept or releafed ;
I was ac Sir John's.

Lird Baltimere. Had you heard her give an account of the Treatment (he had
met with ?

. Woedcock, 1 heard (he had met with a great deal of ill treatment.

Lerd Baltimere.  Did fhe fay fhe had force ufed to her ?

¥. I¥cedcock, Yes, fhe declared fhe had force and violence ufed to her.

Mary Maris fwern.

I am fifter to Sarah Woodcock ; I came to Lord Mansfield’s a little while after fhe
was broughe there.

My, Serjeant Leigh, Did you ?G with your father and Gifter ?

Maris. No, 1 tollowed them ?

Mr. Serjeant Leigh. Where was your father and your fifter Elizabeth when you
came to Lord Mansheld’s ?

Maris. They were at that time gone into the room with my filter Sarah- I went
te them,

! M*'; Serjeant Leigh, What was the firft pare of the difcourfe that pafied between
them ?

Maris. 1 can’t recollett, I fell upon her neck and kiffed her.

M. Serjeant Leigh. Did you upon that occalion alk her any queltions ?

Maris.  To the beft of my remembrance [ faid, are you ruined ? She anfwered yes,
Tam. I afked her, by force ? She faid yes, by force.

Mr. Serjeant Leigh. 'What was the next queftion you put to her ?

Maris, 1 can't recolleét ; I chink the next queftion 1 afked her was, did fhe defire to
go home to her friends ? She faid yes, if fhe could be delivered. 1 faid, child you are
in a place where you can be delivered.  She faid thar was all fhe defired.

My, Serjeant Leigh. Do you remember what was faid by your father or your fifter
to her ?

Maris. I really can’t remember now.

M. Serjeamt Leigh. How long was you together before Lord Mansfield came in
again ?

st;;Fs. I cannot pofitively fay : according to my judgment it was but a fmall fpace
or fime,

M. Serjeant Leigh. "Was there any other kind of converfation paffed between your
father, your fifter, and you, whether fhe could be delivered, or not?

Maiis, 1 cannot recollect now.

Mr. Serjeant Leigh. You told her (you [ay) fhe was in a place now where [he might
be delivered ; what anfwer did fhe make you ?

Mavis.  She faid ic was all fhe defired, ro be delivered,

Mr. Serjeanmt Leigh, Did you hear what fhe faid to Lord Mansfield when he came
into the room again ¢

Maris. 1 was prefent ; but my confulion of mind was fo great that I cannot recolieét
all that pafled.

My, Serjeant Leigh. 'When you went from Lord Mansfield’s, where did you go ?

Maris. 1 went o Juiltice Fielding's.

M. Serjeant Leigh.  What did you go there for ? Was it to lodge fome complaint
againft Mrs. Harvey ?

Maris.  Yes, that was the occafion, to the begft of my knowledge ?

Mr. Serjeant Leigh. Was you in a coach 2

Mearis. We went on foot.

Mr. Sevjeamt Leigh.  Did you walk with her?

Mares. | walked with her, or behind her. !

M. Serjeant Leigh. Do vou recolleét what dhe convarfation was by the way ¢

Maris. No, [ cannort.

Mr, Serjean
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_ My, Serjeant Leigh. Did you ever hear her for of the ulage the had receive.
Lord Baltimore, till you came to Juftice F:':lding'.-.};‘ i

.:Iiun'.r. No fhe had not mentioned any particulars of her ftory till the rold them
to him.

M. Serjeant Leigh, Did you hear that fory 3
ris. My confufion of mind was fuch, that I have no ditin& recoliection of mind
to give particulars.
M. Serjeant Leigh. When you afked her whether (he was ruined, and (he fai
did fhe fay it was by force ? . : ; ¥ > 4
Maris. 1 am pofitive of that : fhe faid all was done againft her will entirely. Th;
fhe faid at Lord Mansficld's to me only. f (8 g hu

Fofepb Waodeock fsern.

F- Weodcock, 1 am father to Sarah Woodcock, o radyis .

Mr. Cox. Do }mu remember the night when your davghter Sarah was mifing ? . .

J« Woodcock. 1dos; that way the firft time ever fuch an accident happened.

Mr. Cox. Do you remember a letter being brought ?

J Woeodcack, Yes, very well; a letter came abour one in the morning, to fay fhe
was fafe ac a friend's. ; LL «ool =1l

Mr. Cox. Did the family and friends ufe their endeavours to find out where this
young woman was ? . '

J- Woedcock. Yes, all poffible means were ufed. sl b :

M. Cox. Do you of your own knowledge know any thing of an advertifement
about the leter ? ;

F. Weodcock.  On Thurfday night there came two létters : in one of them there was
a bank note of 200 1. the contents of this was, thar ' was to meet my daughter at one
Mr. Richard Smith's, in Broadftreet New Buildings ; and there was a note at the
botrom from my daughter.

(The firft letter.)

I beg of you not to make yourfelf uncafy about your daughter 5 for fbe is at a friend's, and
will mief.bme about twelve o'clock to-merrow morning. The reafom of this iy, that Jhe
could not get a coach. Otberways you may fleep fecure that fbe is fafe andwell as you at bome,

- Woodegck. They came by the hands of a porter. jreaw | : _

Mr. Cox. 1 fhould be glad to know what you have done wuth_ﬂ-u: zool.

- Woeedcock. 1 made no manner of ufe of it; I puc it that night into the hands of
Mr. Cay, abaker, in Whiteerofs-ftreet, to keep it till we fhould hear from her : he has
that note to fhew pow.. On the Friday there came a Jew-like man, thae fent for me
and my daughter to a tavern on the other fide Tawer-hi!! (I have fo:.rgn: the fign), o
defire me to mece abour my daughter’s affairs.  He faid to me, this day 1 faw yoeur
daughter. Said I, we are in great concern to know where fhe is.  Where did you fee
her 2 Said he, I faw her chis day at Bethnal-green ; hut_I never faw her before in my
life. He promifed thac on the morrow following, which was Saturday, I fhould fee
roy daugheer becween ten and three in the afternoon.  He fwore to it many times. IF
my Lord had fent me twenry bank :lmtlts |t!w4.}uld not hav::. il"uuﬁad_lu;'r: h:: -.:nle n:a:zd‘::n

my daughrer. That gave us a liztle relief; we were in hopes ti : -
]I;':iered.r W;]I:carcl no mn:‘E about her for five or fix days. We were fecking after Mrs.
Harvey, and could not fiad her for fome time. We heard [he came home on Chrift-
mas-day at night : we took all the mechods we could to take her up; and we did take
her up. I had one that waited in Mr. Goff’s houfe in the fame row, to fee if (he could
fee any thing pals in Harvey’s houfe. Accordingly fhe was taken up on the Monday.
On the Sunday [ was told, by Mr, Davis, a perion thac keeps her company, where
Ihi];:stax. He intended (I think) to marry her, with your approbation ?

F. Weodcock. Yes, they ?ad appﬂ::umi on: mth;:u:}fnt:;"
. Cex. 'Were any meafures taken to get at your

;ﬂ.ﬁrﬁg:dmk. This};'ricnd, Mr. Cay, advifed me to employ Mr. Watts to Mhlhl:

out. We went to Lord Mapsficld's the Tuefday after we heard where fhe was, whic

was on the Sunday before. [ went there ; it was fome time after my daughter ::i
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bheen there, and Lord Mansfield had examin’d her. Then my davghter and 1 were

togedier in 2 room.
My, Cex. According to the belt of your recollection, tell my Lord all thar pafied ac

that time between you and your daughter.

F« Weodeock.  To tell every word is impoflible, becaufe T was in fuch confulion ; not
having feen or known where my daughter was for eleven days; and chen I am in
apge too § ; '

Mr. Cox, What age ?

. Woodeock. Threefcore-and-four. I was glad to fee her ; bot was forry to fee her
in that condition. She feemed like one that was, almoft bereaved of her fenfes ar chac
time, She feemed to be fo concerned abour fecing Lord Baltimore again ; for the did not
know that it was in the power of Lord Mansfield to fer her at liberty. She faid thar
over and ever o me. She faid if Lord Mansheld had told her he had,” the had
forgot it. :

Mr. Cox. Had either of your daughters talked o her before about Lord Mansficld's

pwer ¢ .
. 7. Wosdeock: - When they faw her, then they told her, that he had it in his power
to fet her free.  She faid then fhe thould be very glad o go with us. That was the
fubftance of our difcourfe. Lord Mansfield came into us, and faid, you may go
where you pleafe, Have you a mind to go with Lord Baltimore, or with your friends ?
Do which you pleafe. She faid fhe would go with her friends to be fure. He then
faid fhe had liberty to go where fhe pleafed.

Mr. Cex. Did Lord Mansfield fay any thing about her changing her mind ? And
whar-was her anfwer 2 ;

F. Weedcock. Lord Mansfield faid fhe had chang'd her mind ; 1 do not remember
whether fhe made any anfwer o it. '

Mpr. Cox, Do you know the reafon of her going to Sir John Fielding ?

- Foi¥godeock.. . She was to go there about Mrs&-‘arvéjr. I did not know what had
happened to her while fhe was at Lord Mansfield’s ; bat as foon as fhe came to Sir John
Fielding’s, fhe freely made her complaint to him, without any fuggeftions irom
any body.

Rev, Mr, Fames Watfon fworn.

- Mr. Baker. Was you prefent at Lord Mansficld’s when Mifs Woodcock was
there ?

Mr. Watfen. 1 was prefent. -

Mr. Baker. Did you afk her whether fhe would g0 back with Lord Baltimore, or
her friends ? Pleafe to tell what paifed.

Mr. Watfen. When we went to my Lord Mansheld’s, the fervant told us, he was
not within then, but was at L. C. J. Wilmot’s. The fervant faid he would go and
acquaint his Lordihip that we were there. Then he went, and in a fhort time Lord
Mansfield came in. When he' came into the hall, he afked if the Habeas Corpus was
ferved 3 Mr. Watts anfwered, it was. His Lordfhip then faid, gentlemen, if this
young lady fhould choofe to go with Lord Baltimore, or words to that purpale, foic
mult be; for no perfun has any right to compel her to go any where againit her own
confent. Thercfore, his Lordfhip faid, none of us muft touch her. To which fomsbody
prefent fuid, there was no refcue intended. Lord Mansfield having faid, if any of us
touched her he muft commit us ; he then faid, if fhe fhould choofe to go with her
father and friends, if Lord Baltimore, or any of his people, touch her, I will commic
them. Lord Mansfield very condefcendingly added, I give you this friendly hint thac
you may know how to behave. Upen which Lord Mansfield reired into an adl-
Joining room, having ordered Mr. Warts to fend to Lord Balimore, and lec him
know that he (Lord Mansfield) was ready. In a very fhort time [ faw a carriage with
two Gentlemen and Mifs Woodcock, The firft Gentleman walked in, and as he ap-
peared to me, with much prelence of mind : from whence I concluded it was not Lord
Baltimore. The other gentleman, whom I afterwards found to be Lord Baltimore,
handed Mifs Woodcock out of the carriage; when he led her up the fteps into the
hail, fhe put her hand on Mr. Potts’s arm, looked up in his face, thook her head, and the
tears ftood in her eyes. Mr. Potts lifted up his right hand, as I imagined, intending
to'lay his hand upon her’s : when I pulled back his hand, and faid, are you mad ? re-
collecting what Loord Mansfield had faid. Several gentlemen faid, do nor touch her.

Mr. Pous faid, Idid not touch her; fhe has laid hold of 'me. At this time, a fervant
opened
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npencd a door of the room adjoining ; i :

S oy o A . Bl o V0.
three quarters of an hour, more or lefs, T heard a bell T T T
A'.“.' I kiew Lord Mansheld’s voice wlim“ he fai?] ::5 &ng.\‘:nd the door was opened.
?‘ilri Woodcock the filter, there? To which it 1.:111 :Ihfi‘t‘rﬂ.f?rd;:'lc 1:..}'.]‘12 ot
bei;: tf:'-;ﬁf 3[‘&"-{:-;} :ixjf;t;tzjuﬂ b].-.d IUpun which his Lordfhip ::r;l:rﬂdiﬂ} nﬁ;dl.l:jt 1:

. Or; an i ame I [

two daughters, when they were intmdu:;d:: [:;lr:lt:ZL:I[::: -Ill'::: :Ilr el = .h:!
had been introduced aSout a quarter of an hour, or near] ::-. e t||'lcm o
the doe wis ihiown open; and FebrbHETeS o ;JL .1:, - I:ttlr: more or leis,
walk in. When we walked into the room, Mr P"'Imd!c k': ey Mt e
bt s . ock the father, and his three

aughters, were there, and no other perfon thae 1 obferved, 1
faid, well girl, how do you ftand affected now ? to oo wi 3 e -h"’ i
with Lord Baltimore ? She anfwered, to go wi}]:lc:n?ruif:ﬁfrriuar?bfrdind IIr [tTldsi 3
treated a few fteps. o o s gl

Mr. Baker. ﬁ'hethﬂ' any of her friends that went in with i i >

Mr. Watfon. X cannot tell's in"n fhott tie ‘the o4 s e el
door, Lord Mansfield appeared and fiid to this purpofe = Madam, is ic your de.
fire, or are you willing (I cannor fwear pofitively to all his m:-u:s 5 th:ur &
Eﬁlgmn of fuch of them as I do remember) are you willing to re:ﬁ:nur 'tiui-::u

ltlmrure to his houfe in Southampton-Row, or to go with your father a Til:t"' d.nij*
to which fhe anfwered, with my father and friends by all means Lr::rdnt:? -
field afked her, whether fhe had been taken or carried '|.'|-'1I:E‘IWL'-|‘|.I:‘T o ?m‘
and detained againtt her will ? fhe anfwered, thar as fhe had been c::ﬁ:dm e
place which the did not then know, but found afrerwards to be Lord Baltimore' 1:':ll'l-ti
h:_ad been I:épr, all this time againft her will. Lord Mansheld repeated the ut[? n:
with fome variation of the terms, and told her, that her guingp:irh her f;lthu*m |

= 5 3 and
friends was not to be underftood to bein cuftody by them, but to be ar liberty as ufual
After this his Lordfhip faid ro ns that were prefent to this effet; Gcml-:mc? . would
have you take notice of thefe anfwers, becaufe poffibly this matter ma be varioufl
talked of in publick, and juftice ought to be dene to both p:lrtizrs; for 'ﬁ'hﬂ{
this lady came before me on her private examination, fhe exprefied, at firft, her inclis
pation to return with Lord Baltimore, however fhe expreffed a defire DitinAare
mitted to fee her father and fifter, or fifters, upon which 1 called for her fath:rlrn:;.
fifters, and now fhe has anfwered as you have heard.  His Lordfhip then faid fomewhat
which I have not been able ever fince to recollect, for I had attended to whar he had
faid, when his Lordihip had defired we would take notice of her anfwers, but his Lord-
thip concluded wich this, and [ fuppofe gentlemen none of you make any doubt of it
His Lordmhip then f&id, madam you are at full liberty to go where you pleafe. Hi;.
Lordfhip then alked Mr. Wats if the habeas corpus was regularly ferved ? to which he
anfwered, it was. Then his Lordfip faid, it was not ferved by any of Sir John Field-
ing's men wasic? it was anfwered none of us werein any connection with them. Then
fand i:;!r. Watts I ferved it myfelf, and would not do fuch another jobb for five hundred

unds.
Pu-i‘.erj. Leigh. . That part is not material.

My. Watfen. 1 Mall ftop whenever you pleafe ; the went away with her friends ;
after we were gone from Lord Mansfield's houfe 1 afked her, as fhe was going,
whether it was with any reluétance that fhe had left Lord Baltimore 2 She faid, by no
means, I am willing to go with my friends, I have reafon to be thanktul to God
Almighty for this day"s deliverance, I hoped in God, as he knew [ was innocent, and
taken away without my confent, that fome time or other he would open a door for my
deliverance, though 1 did not fee how ; I heard fome of her friends making an appoint-
ment to dine togecher at a tavern, and I being under an appointment to dinner, left
them ; | never faw her to my knowledge before.

Sufamnab Spencer [rwern.

Mr. Serj. Leigh. Do you know the two women priforiers at the bar ?

Spencer. 1 know them both, I lived with Mrs. Harvey in the Curtain, I lived with
her almoft three weeks. :

M. Serj. Leigh,  'What time of the year?

Spencer.  In December; fhe took a houfe ready-furnithed and went in, and [ went

to her the fame day.
L Jir.
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M. Serj. Feigh.  Pray do you femember any thing of this young woman, Mifs
Waodcock, coming to the Curtain ?

Spencer.  Yes; it was the 16th of December, it was on Wednelday.

Mr, Serj. Leigh. What time of the day ?

Speneer.  Berween four and five in the Afternoon.

My, Serj. Leigls  Had your miftrefs given you any orders in cale this yousg woman
came ?

Spencer.  Wo.

Mr. Serj. Leigh. Was any body elfe in the houfe ?

Sgemcer. A littde Jew man, I never heard his name,

Mdr. Serj. Leigh. Where was he when fhe knocked at the doeor ?

Speweer.  In the kitchen.

My, Sery. Leigh.  Did he vfe to vific you in the kitchen ?

Spewcer.  He ufed o wilic my miltrefs, he was then cating Sprats in the kitchen.

My, Sevj. Leigh. Who let in Mifs Woodcock ?

Spemcer. 1 did 3 (he afked for Mrs. Harvey, I faid the was within; 1 fhewed her firlt
in the parlowr, my miftrels was then in the dining-room.

Mr. Serj. Leigh.  After fhe had gorin, did the Jew fay any thing abeut her?

Speneer. No,

Mr. Serj. Leigh. How long did he {tay in the kitchen?

Spencer.  He went out as [won as fhe was fhown up ftairs, afrerwards he came and
knocked at the door, I let him in, he went up ftairs as if he had not been there fo
lately in the kirchen.

Mr. cerj. Leigh. How long did he ftay before he went away ?

Spemcer.  INot long 5 my miltrels ordered me to bring up the tea-things, Mils Wood-
cork and the Jew drank wa with her.

Blr. derj. Leigh. - Wihen tea was over did he ftay or go away ?

Spencer. He went away in a coach, with my miftrefs and Mifs Woodcock ; my
miftrefs told me fhe fhould be ac Lome next night, or the night after.

by fewd, Deigbion: il pou Jee ghem. into che coach ¢

dpriner. 1wl koo ke ing any miltrefs did not lee me light them in, fhe bid me
goback and take care of the child, for fhe faid iu::im:[l.

Al Rerj. Leigh.. How old is ic?

Soemier. 1 believe it is about three or four years old, fhe told me to go in and

niet it
q M. Serj. Leigh, Was it a hackney or a gentleman’s coach ?

Spewcer. I did not ebferve. .

M, Serj. Leigh, Pray when did you hear of your miftrefs ?

Spencer.  The Sawurday afterwards ; when I faw the Jew again, he told me my
mifkrefs would be at home that night or the next; he came to me on Sunday night,
and gave me two fhillings, and faid my miftrefs would be at home on Monday nighr.
This man came every day afterwards, on Sunday, Monday, Tuefday, 8&c. my miftrefs
came home on Chriltmas-day at night. :

Mr. Serj. Leigh, Did he give you any order from your miftrefs 2

Spencer. 1 told him I was very much afraid of being in the houfe.

A .i'rfr Serj. Leigh. Had there been any enquiries made after this girl that went with
L]
Spencer. 1 did not know who fhe was till the gentleman told me,

Francis Goff fwora.

Goff. Mrs. Harvey did live in the Curtain, by Holloway Mount.

Mr. Cex. Do you remember the time of the ftory being told of a young woman’s
being miffing ? Did you ever fee Mrs. Harvey go f?mm her own houfe ? B

Geff. 1 obferved her from an application that was made to me from Mr. Davis to
watch Mrs. Harvey, in confequence of that application I did watch her; they went to
Moorgate and took coach, Mrs. Harvey and a Jew with her, I faw her go to Lord
Baltimore's gate, the coach fer them down at the Buffalo Tavern door, Bloomibury-
fquare, and they walked from thences; I Jaw Mrs, Harvey go in, the Jew went anothes
way. (He points out the prifaner Harvey.)

Lrafs
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Crofs  Examination,

Lord Baltimore, 'When was fhe taken up ?

Geff.  The Monday after boxing-day.

Lord Baltimere.  What time of the day ?

Gejf.  fHibout cight in the morning.

Lord Baltimore,  Was The carried before a magiftrate ?

Goff. o 1 and feveral more went with hier to the Devil Tavern, Temple-bar
then we carried her before Sie John Fieldng at eight o'clock at night, that was wlm.;
we got there 3 1 believe we ftaid fome confiderable time ar the houle while The dreffed
herieli 5 1 believe it mighe be paft ten o’clock before we gOr away,

Lard Baltimore. What was the reafon for keeping Mrs, Harvey from ten in the
morning tll eight ar night without carrying her before a Magiftrate ?

Geff.  Becaule I believe Mr. Watts was gone with the writ to Lord Baltimore’s, and
The was kept there till he returned.

- Lerd Bolsiizare. - 'Was you before Sir John ?

Goff. 1 was; fhe was ina listle while before I wasin, I did not go in at firft,

Leovd Baltimore. What was the charge ?

Geff. 1 believe for feducing her, and raking her away.

Lord Baltimore, Was you one of the perfons that fpoke to her at Lord Baltimore's
window ?

Geff. -1 was not with Mr. Davis then, I left him half an hour before.

Lovd Balvimere, Did Mr. Watts ferve che writ that time ?

Geff.  le came out once without ferving it

Lerd Baltimore, How came that ?

Geff. 1 do not know, ;

Lord Baltimore.  'Was not the reafon becaule it was underftood fhe had ne mind to
leave Lord Baltimore ?

Geff  Mr. Waits told me that fhe faid the was content with her fituation ; he went
back again and did ferve ic; I am not certain whether he faw her the firft time.

Mark Ridgway fwers,

My, Baker, Was you at Lord Mansfield's houfe when Mr. Woodcock the father,
and ut.l.'.lghtm! were there

Pideemay. 1 was at Lord Mansfield’s that day, T was there when Mifs Woodcock
came there 5 and after fhe had been introduced to Lord Mansheld, for fome little time
the parlour dror was opened, and we that were in the outer room were admitted into
the room whers the was : then Lord Mansfield afked her, before us all, whether (he
wouldremurn home wich her friends, or return back to Lord Baltimore’s houle ? fhe gave
for anfwer, home with her friends: he afked her no queftion after that; he faid this, that
when he had examined her by berfelf before, that fhe had mentioned returning to Lord
- Bumore’s houle, but my Lord immediately added that fhe faid, I will tell my father
py mind 3 my Lord repeated the fame queftion again, fhe faid with her friends : in
confequence of that we all Jlujr}r}.:ut of tl':.! room, and handed her down the fteps.

rd Baltimore.  How di appear !

Eﬁgwg{{ When we had got htlrr.i:lcwn the fteps, and turned round the corner, that
was e Grlt cime I afked her any queftion: T afked her if fhe had been ill.ufed ? fhe faid
fliehad, and immediately exprelizd ber(elf in the moft ftriking language that ever my $
heard concerning the cruel ufage fhe had received, and the mercy of her being delivered ;
and fpoke as much in point of th;nl;_fulpfﬁpud gratitude as ever I heard in my life.

Court.  Are you a relation to the family :

Ridgway. G}J;Ij' a perfon that ha'-:ji“ir::ard :;F this vilenels.

rd Baltimere. Arc you nora neer d y

Eﬁgwq. I am, Sir. . I never faw her before in my life; I am rotally a ftranger

to her.

jﬂ'ﬁﬂ' MJ&FW’-

Afr. Serjeans Leigh. We have underftood from Mils Woodcock there has been I:_
fricis. . and intimacy between you and her, and I want ro know when you had inte
Jir=nue o her being miffing in December lalt, whether you didd not take fome means to

dilcover waere The was ? &



43 The Frial of Lord Baltimore, &c. for a Rape.

Davie  On Wednefday evening, the 16th of December, I went to Mr. Wood-
cock’s, agreeable o an appointment before ; I was then informed that Mifs Woaodcock
went out about four o'clock, to wait on a cullomer, one Mrs. Harvey. [ waited till
about nine that evening 3 fhe did not return 3 T went then away.

Mr. Sevjeant Leigh,  Did you not return next morning ?

Davis. 1 came again about eight the next evening ; I found Mr. Woodcock and
the other filter in the greateft contufion that could be.

Mr. Serjeant Leigl,  Did you endeavour to difcover where fhe was ?

Davis. Not at that Time, the Tuefday following I did.

Mr. Serjeant Leigh, Where did you go to make an enquiry ?

Davis. 1 went, as T was informed Mrs. Harvey lived in the Curtain, to enquire
for her : Several perfons had been to look after her before.  On Tuefday, about three
o'cleck, 1 went to tie Horfe and Groom to enquire for her; they informed me they
did not know fuch a perfon.

My, Serjeant Leigh.  Did you go to the houfe ?

Davis.  1did not. I faw the perfon we had met at the tavern the Friday night be-
fore, who fent a note to fer facher, defiring an interview with him.

M. Serjeant Leigh.  Upon Friday night you fay you had an interview with a perfons
what perfon was that ?

Davie. This was the frit Friday after fhe went.

My, Serjeamt Leigh.  Give an account of thar.

Davis. On Friday T was i company with Mr. Cay, at the White Hart tavern,
and we had jult drawn up an advertifement to put into the papers, relating to this girl
there was a porter had brought a note to her father to this effeét : ** Mr. Jones's com-
¢ pliments to Mr. and Mifs Woodcock , defires an interview with them at the King's
“ Head tavern, Tower-hill.” I wentthere; I faw a fhort man, to appearance a Jew ;
he cafied himfelf Feres.

Mr. Serjeant Leigh,  What meffage did he deliver £

Davis.  He faid he came from Mils Woodcock.

Mr. Serjeant Leigh. Did he tell you where fhe was ?

Davis, Mo, he did nor.

Mr. Sevjeant Leigh. Do you know who that man was ?

Davis. We luppofe his name [faacs 3 he is the perfon thar went away wich Mif
Woodcock in the coach, as the maid defcribed him.

Mr. Serjeant Leigh.  Then you don’t know. Have you feen the man fince

Davis. 1 faw him at my Lord Baltimore’s houfe.

M. Sevjeant Lefgh.  When you faw him at the tavern he would not tell you where
this girl was ?

Davis. No,

M. Sevjeant Ieizh. Did he mention at that time any thing of Lord Baltimore’s
name ?

Davis. No, he faid the was with a very confiderable merchant.

Mr. Serjeant Leigh.  Youdid at laft learn, by tracing Mrs. Harvey, that fhe was at
Lord Baltimore’s ?

Dawis.  Yes, by information of Mr. Goff.

M. Serjeant Leigh.  When you had that information, what did you do ?

Iavis. We had no information that fhe was there, only that Mrs. Harvey was
traced there v

Mr. Serjeant Ieigh. Having that information, what did you do?

Davis.  They had obtained a writ for taking up Mrs. Harvey, I went, with fome
more friends, about eleven or twelve on Sunday morning; we could fee nothing of
Mrs. Harvey; we went to an adjoining houfe, drank fomething, and then they returned;
that was on Sunday about noon.

My Serjeamt Leigh., You did not fee Mifs Woodcock ?

Dawis,  No, not then. I went into the Strand and came back again, and then I faw
Mifs Woodcock ; I came down Southampton Row that afternoon, about four or five
o'clock, and turned round to go to the Foundling Hofpiral 5 at the fartheft window
in that front, the window next the Holpital, I firlk faw Mifs Woodcock.

Mr. Sevjeant Leigh, How was fhe employed ?

Davis. She was ftanding at the window, and looking out at the window in a very
penfive manner.  When I frft faw her, I was within a few yards of the wall that goes
to the Foundling Hofpital. My furprize was fo great, that I could hardly believe it ;
I came nearer, and faw [he had taken notice of me.

M, Serjeant Leigh.  Did The do any thing 2 o

avia,
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Davis, Not then. Icame back from the corner of the wall, and pulled a book out
of my pocket, and made figns for her to write : She fhook her head, and pointed with
her finger. [ went bk to the gate thar belongs to the Duke of Bedford's ; 1 ftaid there
for about a minute ; while I was there, fhe got from that window to the Venetian win-
dow in the centre of the front, fhe waved her hand, and chen [ went round to the other
corner,

Mr, Sevjeant Leigh, How did fhe appear ?

Davis.  She feemed in the greateft agony that a perfon ceuld be in.

Mr, Serjeant Leigh, Did the fay any thing ?

Davis. 'The firlt word (he faid was, I can’t come to you, I can't comic to you; [
faid, How do you do ? fhe rather waved that anfwer, and faid, How does my father
do? 1 anfwered her, Heis well, and we are all well : [ chink the next was, Are you
well ? fhe faid, 1am well. I afked where Mrs. Harvey was, for | had a warrant in my
pocket for taking her; fhe fhook her head, and faid, 1don’t know, [ don't know.

M. Serjeant Leigh, T)id fhe fpeak thefe words calmly and quietly, or in an appear-
ance of diftrefs and mifery ?

Davis.  She feemed in diftrefs and mifery to the greatelt degree.

Mr. Serjeant Leigh, Was this the only queltion ? _

Davis. 1 faid, Is all well? She feemed then more confuled than ever; and put
down the fafh.

Myr. Serjeant Leigh,  After this, I believe you was at Lord Mansfield’s, when fhe
was brought there ; do you remember what paffed, or what was faid in her prefence ?

Davis, Mr. Brown I“;id in my hearing, that it was a mere joke for my friends to
ateempt any thing of shat kind, for that fhe would certainly go back again with
Lord Baltimore ; which confufed me, in the manner | {tood connefted with her,

My, Serjeant Leigh. This affurance of Mr. Brown, that the would go back with
Lord Balumore, fo confufed you, that you did not know what was faid or done ?

Davis. Yes, it was fo.

Mr. Serjeant Leigh. Did you go to Sir John Fielding ?

Davies, 1did. ;

Mr. Serjeant Leigh. Do you recollet any thing material that paffed ?

Davis, 1 do not. ;

Mpr, Serjeant Leigh. Did fhe tell you any thing of her ufage ?

Davis. No. )

M. Serjeant Leigh, Had you put any queftion to her ?

Dawvis. No, 1did not. : ; :

Mir. Serjeant Leigh. 'Was you prefent at her information before Sir John ?

Davis. 1was.

.ﬂ;r. Serjeant Leigh. Then the accufation was made ?

Dawvis, Yes, it was. 1

Mr. Serjeant Leigh. "Was that the firft you heard of it ?

Davis. Yes, it was, : e

Jrimere. Was you prefent at the information o

mﬁd ’E:r]l)hn :likr::i r.Ee queftion whether fhe had bﬂ:n laid with or no; I was
not prefent during the firft converfation ; She was inaroom with Sir Jobn Fielding, and
when fhe came out the information was made in form.

William Watts fworn.

. Cox. Did you know the family of the Woodcocks before December laft ?

i;::. fi"'n.!rs, Drthe 1gth of December, one Mr. Cay, a baker in White Crols
fireer, a client of mine, for whom I had done a deal of bufinels, applied to me, and
told me he was come on an important affair; for a member of fociery was miffing,
and that they could not tell where fhe was, and told me the manner fhe went away ; and
he told me the appc:i;;ltment made by pltoh: a.;]kr.:du.

what you was €m .

ﬂ'ﬁg .lc:’:;‘fs.Tﬁ“m cmjr;layad by him}im go to the father, in order to wait for the co-
ming of this perfon to the father’s ; between ten and three of the afternoon of that Satur-
day a perfon was to come ; 1 went and waited at the father's a confiderable time, and no
body came ; Mr. Cay and I went to the King's Head tavern, which was a E‘fzwh:m
this perfon had been before, and we made every enquiry Wwe mulf:dtﬁﬂ t k,-P"rT-'
shere had been no fuchp erfon there that h:lj'. Upon this [ advifed the ma "51 ,;‘
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matter known to Lord Mansfield ; ic appeared to mein a very ftriking light as to the
unnatural abfence of the gicl ; and 1 went to Lord Mansficld’s at Canewood Lord
Mansfzld was not there, but was expected o dinner ; I waited till abour one or two
e'clock ; he did not come ; 1 went to his houle in Bloomfbury fquare; T was told there
was a great deal of company with hia; [ was recommepded by the fervants to waic on
him next morning 5 1 went nexe morning, and fw Lord Mansfield ; that was the Mon-
day before Chriltmas day ; 1 acquainted my Lord wigh the appearance in which the facts’
firuck me, and my Lord iaid (to the belt of my remémbrance; I do not fpeak the words,
I fpeak of the fubftance of the marcer), It is a very extraordinary affair, bur rime will
give light to it : . 5 ; ' ol
* Mr. Cox. When did yourapply for 2 Tabzas Corpus ? Be
Mr. Bants.  On Chriftmas day intelligence wis brought me, that the houfe Mrs,
Harvey lived in was found out, upon which | applied to Sir Joha Fielding for a war-
rant 3 °Sir John did not grane a wareing; this was on Chrittmas day : The next day Sir
John granted a warrant . . Pty i
“MELCex. Do you know when it was por i exseudion ¥ : _
Mr. Wans. On Monday, Mr, Davis on Sunday came and informed me he had
feen Mils Woodcock ac Lerd PBattimore’s houle; on Monday T ordered the parties o
meet me at a Coffechoyle, and there drew up that dffidavic which obtained the Ila-
bédd ;T obrained ir direted o Lord Bahtlinore = i RN
Mr. Cox, Being ig puficflion of chis, whar did you do ? L
M. WPares. 1 wasdefived by furde frients of the gitl, who were frangers to me be- |
fore; all excepr Mr-Cay, they defired thiacll would dtténd them in arder 1 ferve this
Habess : 1 went there vn Moaday,” dhdfome of us went to the pate of Lord Balrimere,
and fome of themy did sot boliave quite m that mahdet Twouli have Withed e to
have done'; there was'a fort of difitithasce beriween his fervants and the people along
with me. B e S g g
Mr Cox.- Whar day was fixed for tiinging Lord’ Baltimore before Lord Mansfeld ?
Mr, Wans, 1 enquired which was the upper fervant, and nearcft his Lordihip's
perfon.  One Pirent then faid, -he carfied and received meflages; and Mr, Broughton,
the Steward, was with him, 1 believe, at that time, and the man feemed to be an upper
fervant: I cxpiefled a defire to fee them, and that I came to propole fomething greatly
to the advaniage of Lord Baltimore. They defired me wo walk on one Tide; %\i.riﬂﬁud
down the yard, and then Faddrefied chefe perfons in this manner: It is now not ua-
known that Mifs Woodcock is at this houfe, ey R i g R '
Mr. Cox. Come to the point when you faw my Lord Baliimore? :
Mr. Wanis. 1 had orders to come next morning, and a promife of feeing my Lord :
this was between ten and cleven oclock, T was introduced to ny Lord, and my Lord in
a very genteel manner accofted _me, he had been told who 1 was, and that I was an
Attorncy on behalf of LMils Woodcock. ™ 1 vold him, My Lord, T wait on your Lord-
thip, in order to acquaint you, that the friends of Mis Woodcock have found that fhe
is here; bur are doubrful whether fhe ‘is here wich 'or agzinft her will, and it hi Iy
becomies your Lonlihip to difclofe s matter; for as 1 find (he is of age, if. fhe is here
with her will, it is not in the power of her friends, or the law elf, to releale her; if
fhe'is hiere agninft her will, you eangot detain her.  Upon this, my Lord acquiainge
ine fhe was - chere with heeconlent, perfedily happy. My Lord retited from me a
wiinute or two, and he came to mé again, and defircd me to follow Kim ; Tdid, and he
opensd a door thar Inroduced mie intg a room where was Mifs Woodeock, and Mrs.
Gniffinburg, 1 believe; it was a petfon. moch like her! My Lord, in a polite manner,
pointed his hand, and faid, Thar, Sir, is the lady in queftion. - Upon that I madeher
i bow, and what 1 am paing to lay now is the fubftance of the mateer: I do not
F}'rc'tend. nor will I fiwear to the words that palfed 5 T will tell chem then as they were,
n my making a bow, it is my prefent apprchention that fhe immediately was. (tandi
very nuar the door, really to recelve forie perlon . 1 did not know that; 1 atked her
o quiftion @ T alket! her, whether'The was there wath Lier own confent.  She fid imme-
diately, T am here with my dree will apd confent. . Upon that my Lord Topked upon
me with a complacency,. and feeming expeftanon thae I fhould be fatisfied.: upon
that T faid to my Lord, (he looked to me, expefting an anfwer, whetber [ was or was
not fatisfied,) I am not furpifed that your Lordfhip has ot femptagons enough o
‘pain the approbarich of thit young woman. Mifs Woodcotk faid, Where is my father ?
I fard, Very near, Mifs:—And my fiflets AT, Yep, they are, - Said fhe, Can I fee
them # 1 fad, T dty nde Know. * Says my Tord, T hall wike that as d great favour, ,;f
vou will ferch chefather and'the 'E&eﬁ, ﬂ-gi't they ‘may hearher declardtions, and recaive
YRS the

F i ol
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the fame fatlsfuﬂ:lm asyou have done. Upea this Ltold ¢ will
this I went out of the e, 1dd nntﬂgervr tl&e H \:ﬂ; 1‘\‘4! o 121% ma o
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Mr. Cox. What faid Sir John to the rape ? ;
Mr. Watts. He afked her if fhe knew the nature of that offence, and the confe-

quence of it, and that-it was a capital offence ? She faid no. He afked her, whether
the was willing to profecute him ¢ fhe anfivered, fhe was, if fhe could do it fafely, or if
it could be done : “that is all I know of the matcer.

Crofs- Examination.

Lord Baltimore. 1 {hould be glad to know if I did not offer that the father and fifter,
and two or three friends, might fee her, if a friend of mine was prefent ?

M. Waits. 1 do not remember that, nor do not believe it

Lord Baltimere, Can you take upon you to fay it ?

Mr. Watts.  Safely as 1 can to fpeaking any thing elfe at that diftance of time.

Lord Baltsmere. You are not clear in it?

Mr. HWarts. 1am as clear in ivas I can be of any thing ar that diftance of time.

Lord Baltimere. Can you give an account of the converfation you had with Mifs
Woodcock at my houfe # I fhall be glad to know, if, after fhe went from Lord Mani-
field’s, after fhe was difcharged, the did at any dme fay fhe would go back te my
houfe ?

M. Watts. No, never.

Lord Baltimere. What did fhe fay ?

Mr. Wartz. 1 had no converfation with her,

Lord Baltsmere. Have you never declared to any body, that fhe declared, as fhe was
going to Sir John Fielding’s, that fhe would go to my houfe ?

Mr. Watts. 1 never heard her fay fo, or declared to any body that I heard her fay fo.

Lord Baltimore, 'When you was talking with me, did you not threaten me, that a
profecution would be carried on by a great body of diffenters, that would be too much
for any one man to ftand againit ?

M. Waits. No; there was thenno ¢ L

Lord Baltimore. Did you ever fay any thing about this being carried on by a body
of diffenters ?

My, Watts. No. 1 know of no fuch thing.

Dr. Fobn Ford, of the Old Fewry, fworn.

Dr. Ford. 1am a phyfician and man-widwife. On the 1ft of January ———

M. Baker. Was you acquainted with Mifs Woodcock before ¢

Dr. Ford. Noj; nor ever heard of her name. I was fent for in confequence of the
advice of Mr. Bearcroft the council, who faid it was neceffary for fome man-midwife
20 examine whether the was a virgin or not. I did examine her, both by infpeéting
the parts, and introducing my finger. I found that the perinzzum was much fhorter
than, it is the opinion of the beft practitioners in phyfic, it ought to be in virgins; on
my infpecting the parts, they appeared as if they had been a good deal inflamed ; the®
now the inflammation was fublided ; the vagina was very rough, and the edges were
covered with matter, and the parts were extremely fore. I gave it my opinion fhe was
not a virgin, and had heen lately lain with. There was a great deal of forenefs.

M. Baker. 'Was there any external marks of violence ?

Dr. Ford. ‘There muit have been great force ufed.

Court. Could you diftinguith whether it was by force or by confent ?

Dr. Ford. 1 fhould imagine a good deal of force had been ufed ; but whether with
her confent or not I clnnm‘%c pﬂl%livc: that fhe had fuffered a good deal of violence
was very plain. %

Cours. ls there more hurt done by ftruggling, when againft confent, than when
voluntarily ?

Dr. Ferd. 1cannot think that, in ordinary cafes, the parts would have been in that
firuation, unlefs there had been a great deal of violence.

Court. You mentioned matter ; was that any thing venereal ?

Dr. Ford. No; it had not that appearance: and I afked about fix weeks after,
when | faw her, if the had any fymptoms of the venereal difeafe ? and fhe faid, No.

Sir Fabu Fielding fivorn.
Sir Jobn Fielding, Mifs Wopdeeck came te my houfe, I do not recolle& the time;
a
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a woman, whofe name was Harvey, was in cultody at that time before me, upon a war:
rant granted, on an information made by her fitter, Elizabeth Woodcock, rclating to
Sarah Woodcock's feduttion ; and that was the reafon of her coming to my houle, as
far as I could judge.

- M. Serjeamt Lesgh.  Did you examine her refpeting this Mrs. Harvey ?

8ir Fobm Fielding. As Mrs. Harvey was in cuftody, it was neceffary for me to
examine Mifs Woodcock relating to her offence ; for though fhe was before me as a
. perion of evil praftices, and a feducer, it was neceffary for me to take an account of
the whole tranfaltion before I could fee the nature of the offence, [ did examine her.

Mr. Serjeant Leigh. In the courfe of her examination, what did fhe fay in relation
to the prefent affair ? did fhe aceufe any body elfe befide ?

Court. The matcrial queftion is, as to the information, whether fhe did that of her
own free will ? .

Sir Jobn Fielding, 'Would you have me give a mere anfwer to that gueltion, or fhew
the method of her giving her account ?

My, Serjeant Leighy  Whether the acconnt at that time was voluntary or freely made
by her?

?é'ir}‘u.bn Fielding. When fhe was in my room fhe was {urrounded with a great va-
riety of friends. I infifted upon it that no perfon in that room fhould fpeak a fingla
fyllable : thar it thould come in her own language, from ber pwn mouth.  There are
two informations taken by me : there isone a very loag one s the other was taken at
her re-examination.

Lerd Baltimore. 'Was the prefent information taken from her own mouth ?

Conrt. The information againft Lord Baltimere. : :

. 8ir Fobn Fielding. The account of this againft Lord Baltimore came out in the
courfe of her examination concerning Harvey. :

M. Serjeant Leigh. - Was there no particular examination of her about a rape?

Sir Jobr Fielding. Yes, there was an examination private, and taken in writing, I
afked her if fhe was ruined ? fhe faid, yes: I afked her, whether by force ar by con-
fent? fhe anfwered, By force and againft her confent,  And then the general circum-
ftances of the information were taken in writing publickly; and, I hope, with the ut-
moflt candour. - :

Council for the Crewn. ~We have now, My Lord, done with our evidence.

Court. "My Lord, your Lordhip has now heard the whole charge againft you for
this offence of which you are indi¢ted : now is the proper time for you to make your
defence ; therefore 1 defire you will fay all yeu have to fay in your defence.

. Lord Baltimere. My voice is fo low, will you permit the gentleman to read what 1
have here writ down ?

Ceurt. If you pleale.

Lord Baltimore's defence, read by Mr. Hammerfley, Lerd Baltimore's Soliciter.

b Lord, and Gentlemen 3 2 5 _
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i {ede him a confiderable fum of money; whether the eafe with which that maney was
ehiined from me might fuggelt the idea as a means of obraining a larger fum of
money, of whether it was thought negeliary to deftroy me, in order to eftabiith the cha-
racker of the girl e the world, I Know not; but | do aver, upon the word of a man of
lonour, that there &5 no truth in any thiag which has been faid or fworn, of my having
otfered violence to this gisl. 1 ever held fuch brutality in abhorrence. | am totally’
acainitall foree ; and for me to have forced chis woman, cunﬁ-.l::rlnF my weak ftate of
health and my frength, is not only a moral but a phylical impoffibilicy.  She is, as to
Lodily health, fronzer than 1 am.  Scrange opimens, upen fubjelts forcign to this
chasee, have been fallly imputed o me, 1o inBame this accufation,  Libertine as [ am
n-:lrrrl'il-mtd, | hold no fuch opinions.  Much has beea faid againft me, that [ feduced
this girl from her parents:  fedudlion is not the point of this charge; buc I de affurs
your lordthip and the jury, this part of the cale his been agaravated exceedingly beyond
the truch.  1f 1 have been in any degree to blame, I am fure I have fulficiencly atoned
for every indifcretion, which a weak arrachment to this unworthy woman may have led
me into, by having {uffered the difgrace of being expofed as a criminal at the bar, in
the county of which my father had the hoaour to repre®ent in parliament 5 and where
I had fome pretenfions to have attained the fame honour, had that fore of an adtive life
been my objeit. :

[ will take up no: mere of your lerdihip’s time than to add, that if I had been con-
fcious of the gwit now imputed w me, | could have kept myfelf and my fortune out of
the reach of the laws of thiscountry. [ am a cidizen of the world; 1 could have lived
any where : but I love my own country, and fubmit to its laws 5 refolving, that my in-
nocence fhould be jullified by the laws. 1 now, by my ewn voluntary g%, by fur-
rendering mylelf to the Court of King's Bench, ftake upon the verdict of twelve men,
my life, my fortune, and, what is dearer o me, my henour.

Mareh 25, 1768, BALTIMORE,

Conrt to Elizabeth Griffinburg. ‘The charge is a%aini't my lord for ravithing this
young woman, and aginit you for being accellary before the fatt. Now is the ume
make your defence @ what have you to fay for yourfelf 2

Criffnlurg’s defence,

All that they have fivorn of me I am innocent of. Al the while this girl was in Lord
Baltimore's houle the was not confined at all : {he ufed to drefs herfelf, and told me the
was going ingo the country. I have lent her cloaths at different tmes: fhe did go
into my room and chule thefe cloaths, caps, handkerchicfs, and any thing the defired.
She was at all fimes ready to pleafe my lord.  After fupper was done fhe went into the
raam, and fhe befpoke of me fome water to wafh her feer, and I fetched the water;
the afked if the water was brought up .5 @nd it was firft brought into the wrong room ;
and as the came out of the room fhe undreffed herfelf, and 1 faw nobody touch her:
fhe afked me if | had a pight-cap for her? I faid no: fheatked me if 1 had a ribband
for her cap? 1 faid no, I have no ribband, I have a red garter, if you will have thac:
fhe f2id that will not do, it muft be fome white ;. the-took a- white tucker out of her
black gown, and thatfhe tied to her head. She then opened the door of ‘my lord’s bed-
chamber; my Lord fail, Who is there ?  hearing fomebody at the door. When fhe
went to open it, Dear Griffenburg, faid: the, my Lord will be angry;  {o fhe turned
back azain, and fat by the fire. My hufband came and called me 1o go to bed. My
hufband faid, How can Mifs Woodcock come in the room when there is people in the
room.  To which the anfwered, How thould I know: that. Then I weat into the
roomn, and went to bed; and Mifs Woedcock came behind me again; 'a rufh-lig
was in the room 1 faw her %-o_'.imu the room, and then came back again.
kasw that before that fhe would goto bed o my Lord; fhe told me fi

Ceurt to Harvey, -- What have you to fay in your defence ?

- Harvey's Defence.

I am innocent of the charge laid againit me:: I folemnly declare, that no fort
af force or violence was ufed ro her, cither by me or my Lotd, or any other
perfon. - She went to bed ta my Loxd with-all the eafe freedom. in the world,
as freely as any woman ever went to.a man. All shat I have o fag is, I am ready,
© antwer any queftion chge may be atked me.. . 5 . od Yo 91 arme ot iy

iy
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Lord Baltimere again.

As 1 was [itting, afier dinner, with the lady, abaur the diftance I am from you
}.mdlhup, fhe then addreffed herfelf to me, and faid, My Lord, if you will pm}-.-::::r:
or me, and ufe me tenderly and faichfolly, T will come 1o bed to you at pight
upen which I arofe up, embraced her, and “told her I would treat her fo. 1 went to
the window, as fhe mentoned, and did ufe fome familiarities wich her, and (he with
me. I puc the curwin round me, that the fervants runnine through the room might
not fee vs.  She confented to it. 1 went down ftairs nmuﬁg the workmen; 1 came
back agaim: lhc faid, 1 believe I am a litle out of order ; upon which [ fa':d thae
was not material ; which i ail Iaid o Mils Woodcock, till th= came to bed 1:.-. me;
fo help me God. 1am fureno body fo much as perfuaded or afked her.

For the Prifemers.

Mr, Way fworn.

Mr. IWay, 1 was at Lord Mansfield's houfe, I happened to be in the room with my
LPrd about ten minutes before Lord Baltimore and Mufs Woodcock came in 5 his Lord-
thip defired me to ftay, faying he had fent for his clerk, who was not come. A lirtle
af!cr. the ﬁ:rvlnF came into the ftudy where I was, and faid, that Lord Baltimore and
this 1‘“!_]!" were without, upon which Lord Mansfield ordered me to go out and acquaing

- Bultimare, he could not fee him at thattime, butto bring Mifs Woodcock in to him ;
his Lordfhip defired fhe would fic down, and defired me not 10 go out of the room,
After fhe had fat down, and feemed compofed, Lord MansBeld afked herat firlt how
fhe came to go away from her father in this manner ? fhe faid thar (he begged to be
excufed from Igwll_ig an account of that, fhe would tell that to her father alone: my
Lord Mansficld faid, he did noc want to know any of her family concerns, but that he
wanted to know whether fhe was under any conftraint from Lord Barltimore, or was
confined by him ? fhe anfwered not in the leaft, or words to that effect, for 1 had agreed
to ftay with him ; he repeated it again feveral times, and fhe faid I had agreed to ftay
with him, feveral times over. He afked her about pare of a lecer, fornething wrote at
the bottom of the letter to her father, if it was her hand writing ?  (he faid it was : he
aflied her about a Perfon who had feen her from Lord Balimore’s window ? fhe faid ke
had feen a perfon whom fhe knew about the houfe, and flre faid that fhe beckoned 10
him to come to another window; accordingly, upon her meeting him at the Window,
he afked her if fhe was well? fhe faid yes; and fhe faid that the rsafon why fhe
beckoned him tacome to the window was, thae her father might be (atisfied, and might
know (he was well ; and that he faid, then you are well, and have been well, or words
to thateffect, and at jaft afked, is all well? on which fhe faid fhe turned away from the
window. Lord Mansfield afked her in this kind of way [ think, from the affidavic, you
are of age, of Ave or fix and twenty 7 fhe faid the was ; becaule, fays he, it you was
not of age 1 fhould not take your anfwer fo ealily, but I fhould take you away ; fhe
anfivered, as I am of age 1 know youcannot dait; my Lord; fhe repeated it feveral times,
She had mentioned lomething about her father, before Lord Mansheld afked her
if the would fee her father ; fhe faid fhe (hould be glad to iece her father and
tell him fhe was well : he was ordered to be fent for to fome neighbouring houle, and
fhe fat down about ten minutes, while her father was fent for, and faid nothing. A mef-
{age was t in that the facher was come -iato the hall, and his Lordihip directed
me to let the father and fifter in, and afked her if dhe would, fee her fifter : he alked
her alfo whether fhe was afraid to fee her father 7 fhe fuid no: his Lordfhip direcled tha
her father and fifter fhould be putinto a room with her by themiives, and no other
perfon with them, ncmrdingf}r they were lefe mmr half an hour I believe, or more
When they came out notice was carried in to Lord Mansfield thae they had had their
converfation, and he came out to them into the anti-room s as 1o what paifed then, a
great many people were called in, and I was not very clofe by, I happened, to bein
another room, and was not very near, a great many were nearcr: upon & meflenger
fhewing unto my Lord that they were - of feeing him, my Lord flepped into
his anti-room, and they were all called in. ' :

Lord Baltimsre. Had you an opportunity of making any ebfervacion on Mifs Wood-
cock’s Behaviour, while with Lord Mansfi¢ld ; did fhe fecm to know for what purpofe
fhe was brought there2 -0 ¢ . L ind

Mr. Wy, My Lord defired her to be compaeled, (he had a.great deal of fime to ?:
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fo, and after thole queftions were afked, there was near ten minutes before her father
came; fhe fat by the fire fide, fhe on one fide, my Lord Mansficld on the other.

Lord Baltimere. Did fhe feem frightened, or concerned ?
Mr, Way, 1 cannot fay that 1 faw any particular fright; fhe anfwered my Lord
Mansficld with a pofitive fmile upon her countenance, when the faid ne, my Lord, you

cannot take me away, for [ am of age.
Crofs Examination.

Mr, Cox. Was that reprated more than once; I am of age, I know you cannot
do it ?

M. Way. Yes.

Mr. Cox. Did fhe fay how the came by that information ?

Mr. Way. She did not give any account how fhe came by that information.

Mr. Cox. You fay my Lord Mansfield defired her to be compofed, then I fhould
conceive his Lordfhip thought the might be otherwife ?

My. Way. He ordered her to fit down and compofe herfelf; fhe feemed to have a
fmile of pofitivenefs, not a direét fmile.

M. Cex. Did you fee her give her evidence here !

Mr. Way. No.
My, Cex. That (mile feems natural to her,

Robert Rofe fuworn,

Rofe. Iam fervant to Lord Mansfeld.
Lord Baltimere. Do you remember upon Tuefday the 29th of December Mifs Wood-

sock's coming, with other people, to his Lordhip, and my Lord granted a habeas
corpus to bring my Lord Baltimore and the young lady to him ?

Eofe.  Lord Baltimore fent a meflage to my Lord Mansfield, that he would bring
her any Time when my Lord fixed; he came at ten o'clock, and we acquainted my
Lord that Lord Baltimore and the lady were there ; he ordered the lady to be intro-
duced, my Lord Baltimore remained in a little room adjoining to the library, and [
believe Mr. Brown the attorney with him,

Lerd Baitimere. Did you obferve any of the family of the Woodcock’s there ?

Rofe.  There was a meffage came out alirtle after from my Lord, to ferch her friends.

Lerd Baltimere. Do you know who the people were that came after ?

Rofe. They faid, the father and two fifters.

Lord Baltimere. Did you fee any interview between Mifs Woodcock and the facher,
. and the two fifters ?

Rofe. 1 was in the room while fome converfation paffed between them. She came
and took hold of her youngelt filker and her father; and fhe afked them whar made
them fo uncaly. She faid the was very well off, and very happy ; and defired they would
not make themielves uneafy. | immediately withdrew out of the room, and went to
the hall where all the prolecutors friends were, and, 1 believe, Mr. Wats, and Mr.
Brown ; and I faid I believed the young lady would go back to Lord Baltimore again.
I took it from hearing her fay fo when I went firt. The fecond time was about five
minutes fpace ; fhe faid, what fignifies my going back : all my friends will think me a
whore. They faid no ; all her acquaintance had a good opinion of her. Upon that
fhe turned round to me, and defired me to let Lord Mansfield know fhe had agreed
with her friends. Then my Lord ordered all the perfons into that room thar were
concerned in the affair.  There wasa young man they called a fweetheart of the young
woman’s; he went in firlt. There was nothing more particular, befides what my
Lord faid. :

Lovd Baltimere. Was any thing faid about the manner in which my Lord treated her ?

Refe.  She faid fhe was very happy and well ; and that he, Lord Baltimore, had
done fomething for them, and fhe fhould be able to do fomething more for them

yet.
Crafs Examinatioi.

Mr. Baker. Can you tell how long they werein this room together ?
Rafe.  T'believe, as nearas I can guefs, [he was with him near half an hour.
Mr. Baker. You was there when they firll accofted one another; and then you

heard her fay what you have mentioned ?
Rgfe.
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. Rafe. She bid; them not to be uneafy, fhe was very well and wvery hippy 5 Eoed

timore had behaved very genteelly to her, in that (he was very happy.  They

Fﬁl.d and whifpered a grear deal ; they burft into tears: fhe was ot in reard
at

Mr. Baker. Th.rn
went out of the room
the room ? .

Rofe. About ten minutes. She turned about, and faid, Sir,
obliged to you if would tell my Lord I have agreed with my friends.
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you cannot fay what they faid to her upon ‘this? You fay you
» and retarned again in five minutes ; how long didh you' ity m
1 fhould: be muly

Myr. Baker., So you fay, fhe faid the laft time of ally my acquaintance will think me
a whore ? nl
Rofe.  That was at the laft time T was in,

Mr. Baker. And then at once the fai fhe defired you would let'my Lord know fhe
had agreed with her fricnds 2 Then, fir, to fer. this mater right,-t aflc you it you
heard any thing more than this? = v o _ _

Rofe. The firft time, that fhe was well and ha py, and my Lord had ufzd her very
genteelly, and done a grear deal for her, and chat T ﬂ’:unu]ij be able o do more for them 5
the lafk time was only as to that cxpreflion, My acquainzance will think me a whore: _

Mr. Baker. The fecond time you only heard that expreflion. ~ As loon a5 fhe Taid
the had agreed with her friends, you told Lord Mansfield ; and my Locd fGid chen,
young woman you have agreed with your friends ? h

Kefe. Al the profecutrix’s friends were prefent then : my Lord flid, madam, yod
arc of age, you may do as you like, you are not confiried 16 ont or other; nobody has
a right to controul you. Said the, my Lord, I will go back to my fricnds ; fhe
clapped her hand w her breat.  He faid, do yeu fay Lord Baltimore confined you.
She faid, yes. from my leart. They withdiew: the fweeth=arc took her down the
fteps ; he feemed very fond of her. _ g gy -

Court. You fay they were about half in hour togecher : how long might you be

rc ? ’ X ) : . - e
mﬁﬁﬁ‘ Both times together T believe about twelve or fourteen minutes. ‘Twas rathef
curious the fielt time ; 1 was making up the fire; and then 1 wear W fo tarry fome of
my Lord's cloaths.: I told the comany that [ belicved flie was going back 1!-'|tl::_m3|lr
Lord. ' . ;

' Mr. Brows fivorn. i
. . T was appointed to go to Lord Baltimore 5 it was a Monday nigtit
thcﬁ:';rvf:-ﬁ'!:mc 1o my Eﬁft. I Ew;g Mifs Woodcock there.  Abbut twulm btjuc ﬁ“-:l
ing fome body came fiom Lord Bulimore™s to my houle, to defire T would s ar ;}r
Baltimore's huule 5 1 wenr there about nine ; ' was ews up into a room in t Ehﬂ-nEPht
of ftairs floor 3 a fervane wene in, and he came ot to me, *.ﬁld-l_u]d me, tl".l.l:; the nig ;
before there had been fume people at his houfe frum Jultice Fielding, who h : alst:fimgtrt
or wanted to force in at his gates ; | afked what could be the cccalion of it 5 l: i ,']t &rf
was a woman taken into cultedy for having fcr.h:::dln young woman, ﬂl‘rl!u that ¢ ‘M ;

i i n here 5 he faid the was :

I faid, [iave you got the young woman here 3 he faid fh in the nmltr_{:mmthoﬁ ¥y
Ll}rdlwld me they Taid they had ceme vl.fth ‘afl;li;l?::j{;?rp?s.:l:;i :1‘:; :lliﬂ;!jh I.:g:u(:‘nrpul;{
they had forced into his gates ; 1 ofhed i i en r:IM::r L 'D.*Ii:"s = S
or his fervants ? he laid no, and that one of the perfons i Rl o Ao
was in a room ; | was introduced in to drink coffve; the was fitting _chu ..PH_I 45
iting. idtomy Lord, that he fhould get Harvey h'". » as fhe s
]::I::“r:;n;; ;vu::':na%;mutni‘ Thii};rﬂ”“E‘LadF came mnning_ up m{;;n%-.:'ui;r;}. I::;i::l }
Jetter in her hand, and faid, Sir, I havea If_[tﬂ' I am a going 10 nw' t; Tid irlwu
igifh ity and fend ic.away ;. fhe faid (he would. 1 went cut with my

:?.Ldadh;;j:ﬁngﬂ;, and advifed mybﬁﬂ I:: b;:ll thg;m]u‘::ﬁ Ih?:k‘lfa ;;:?t :huf:rg.ldnr::
bail her 3 he had not, he faid, any y but Mr. Broug ¥ Rice Fielding's ; 1 did,
i » he faid he thould be obliged to me to go o Juftice F el A

Dr;:] ?;}tﬂj:ziiu; d'ing faid fhe was taken up for an offence, fﬁrdﬂ?“?'“ﬁ;‘-‘;:i!i I;“ﬂ’:ﬁ
;gulr'n woman. | went from there back to my Lord, and tol ‘m,if w'u:ll he had juit
¢ be accepted then, but 1 muft go again at two o'clock. My kﬂ i T’h“." .l sy
hen ben frvd wih & wie of Habes D A Mbia Al
Mifs Woodcock came up, and afked if fhe muft go o m d be glad to fee my facher,

from my Lord Baltimore ; 1 fho gl i

I hope I cannot be taken from my fhe fuid fhe was twenty-0x 3 1 {sidy 1
but no body elfe. Upon this I afked her her age : :n.* any juritdiétion over you ; fays
don’t think that any Jucks; s e away 3 and fhe faid fhe wauld
fhe, I am E.ll-d of thar, I was afraid | "bEu go
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go then to Lord Mansficlds, immediately 5 fhe took me by the hand, and jumped inte
the chariot, and all the way fhe faid, Sir, are you fure I can’c be taken away from my
Lord? I faid yes, as fhe was of age.

Lord Baltimere. You was telling us fhe fhewed you a letter (he had partly wrots, and
not finifhed, do you know any thing furcher of that letter ?

Mr. Brown. Shewrote the lerer, and [caled ir, and I delivered ic here into Coure 6
day ; I had the letter, and lcup: it ever lince, the Habeas Corpus coming immedidulr
after; prevented the leter being fent.

Lord Baltimore. Was the frightened or compoled ? |

Mr. Brown. She feemed very far from low ipirits  The was very chearful,

Lord Baltimsre.  Did fhe know for what purpole the was going there ? :

Mr. Brown. | told her he was Lord Chief Juftice of the King’s Bench, and could
fet her ac Iberey 3 fhe 'was afraid my Lord could take her away by force, bur hoped.he
could not, being twenty-fix years of age.  We had a good deal of talk before fhe was
inclined to go, iurfear of bring forced from my Lord.

Croft Examination.

M. Serjeant Leigh.  Friend Brown, I thirk this young Lady was a ffranger to you.

Mr. Brewn. Yes.

Mpr. Serjeant Leigh. And yet the frlt converfation that ever paffed between you fhe
brought you this hulf-wrote letter, and you fay you have kept the letter ever fince;
how came you rot to rewurn ic to the perfon by whom it was wrote ?

Mr. Breser 1 did not think of i

Mpr. Serjeant Leigh. Mr. Brown, I afk you this, If ever before in your life you kept
a letter you was intrulled wich ?

Nr, Brewn. 1 was not intrufted with it.  The letrer was delivered to the feevant to
be carried to Mr, Woodcock ; when the Habeas came, the fervant [aid he had got_this
letter, and gave it me, I putit in my pocker.

Mr. Serjeant Leigh, Pray what bulinefs had you wich this letter, upon what ground,
what motive, or what inducement ?

My, Erown.  1had no inducement at all,

M. Serjeant Leigh. | afk if you ever did fuch a ching before in your life ?

My, Brewn. 1 have many times, Sir, had letters, and kept them for an hour or two.

My, Serjeant Leigh, She went in the chariot with you, then why did not you give
her her leweer 2

Mpr. Brewon. 1 did not think abour it

My. Serjeant Leigh, It was her leteer or her facher’s.  Would you, a2 man “of
bufinels, take a lerter, direfted to another perfon, and keep it 2 What was your mo-
tive?

My. Brewn. | had none atall.

Mr. Serjeant Leigh. When you came to Lord Mansfield’s, why did you not deliver
the letter to the father ? j

M. Erewen. 1 had no reafon particularly for net delivering the letter to the father 3
there \\Ims a great deal of hurry and confufion, and I did not know the father from any
bady elle.

M. Serjeant Leigh. Very well 5 then the fact fhortly is this: The letter was wrote
by the girl, when only you and Lord Baltimore were there, it was delivered to a foot-
man, to be carried to her facher, that letter you took from the footman, and have kepr
to this hour.

(The letter vead.)
Honner’d Fatber,

Agrecable to my Promife I bave fent for you and bep that you and my fiflers will make
vourfelves eay and Contented about me I am as I told you befere with a very beunerabiz
Gentleman that bas afled witly the greateft bowner towards me and T make no doubt but be
will allways due it therfore beg you will calm yourfelves and come and fer me with all that
becomingnefs that becomes the Place and fitavation I am in as being in @ Nobleman boufe
and therfore bope you swill make we more Stur ahowt it but afl with decretion and come
your felves and [ am foure I will give you all the fatisfaltion you defire I Put this bit of
Paper * in the Letter as A witnefs this i my writng and my will vhat you fooud come fo Pray
make no further adue but come along with the coach from your Dutyfull

Danghter Sarab Waodoock

: Giles

* This was a bill of parcels, which Sarah Woedeock had-ia her pocket, belonzing to her in her
way of bulinels as 2 milliner.
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Giles Hitcbeock foworn.

1 am clerk to Mr. Hammerfly, I was at Lord Baltimore's on the 29th of Deoem-
ber laft, about eleven o'clock, or near that time. 1 was in the parlour ar my Lord’s
houfe : and while I was there, Mr. Warts and my Lord Baltimore came into the par-
lour where I was. My Lord addrefled himfelf to me, and faid, this gentleman is come
to me concerning 2 Lady that | have in the houfe. Upon which fome converfition
arofe between my Lord Baltimeore and him ; and Mr. Wares faid, the lady's father,
and fifter, am:! everal friends, wanted much o fee her. My Lord asked where they
were.  He faid, hard by. My Lord faid, they are welcome to come and fee her,
provided I have fome friend or friends prelear : and laid, he had been extremely ill
ufed the night before; thac his houle hag been belee by a parcel of people ; thac they
had not treated him like a gentlemen; but had vfed him extremely ill, and [orced open
the gates, Mr. Wacs faid, what can you do with fuch a body of people ¢ He fid
methodifts or diffenters, [ don’t know which. He ferved the Habeas L"urprs upon
him from Lord Mansficld. My Lord faid, I will cbey the writ immediately, and go
with you ; and fix the cime. g]pon this Mr. Watts went our of the room. [ went
with Lord Balumore up (tairs into a room; where I faw the young lady : I never faw

her before nor fince. My Lord ipoke w her, and fhe feemed very chearful with my
Lord, and laughéd.

Lond Baltimere.  What pafled 2 i

Hircbeock. 1can’t fuy; my Lord ordéred me into another room. I waited there
fome time. Then my Lord defired I would go into ancther room, becaufe fome peo-
ple came up into the room, as | imagined, where this lady was. My Lord urcﬁ:d
me dowa (fairs. [ waited there fome time. My Lord faid he had no further com-
mands for me. I came into the hall, and faw my Lord and the lady together. He

ave orders to the coschman to drive to Lord Mansfield’s. I faw them go into Lond
kﬁnnsﬁrld's.

Lord Baltimore. How did fhe appear?
Hitcheock, “I'he lady appeared very gay and fprightly.

Crefs Eﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂ.

My, Raker. Did Mr. Brown go in the charlot with them ?

Hitcheock, Not as I'faw; 1 faw my Lord go into the chariot.

Myr. Baker, Who handed the young lady in, my Lord? Or did fhe go

riclt ?
htH:‘p.—.bm-i. I ftood with my back from the door to the fire-place.

Mir) Baker. You faid my Lord Baltimore faid, the Lady"s friends might come te
her. Did you fee any of her friends chere ?

Hitcheock. Mo, O B

iftimare. Call Dr. Grifhn :

fi;fgr}:m Leigh. 1 abjet to his rﬁ,ﬂ-imﬂnr. _I-Ie now ftands indifted Irere_fnr a
confpiracy ; in abuling this young weman, in carryin her to Lord Baltimorc's : in the
next place, we have here a record of the ﬂﬂn'l-'lﬂlﬂll1 Dr. Gr}lfi:nburg, for a crime of
this nature, for having atcempred a rape upon a girl ; for which he was fined 6s. 8d.
and imprifoned in the King’s Bench. . ; :

Lord Baltimore. | don’t care whether he is examin’d er not : 'bu_t he is here, and I
cender him that the Court may not think I am afraid to examine him ; if they object
to his being examin’d, 1 don't prefs ic.

Francis Smith fvorn.

ith. Tam a paincer, : _

g,[:m' Batr:mr:.FDu you remember your being in Lord Raltimare’s houfe in Deceiti-
ber lall ? .

4. It was on the 17th or 18th of December laft Lord Baltimore fent for me. 1
wci?m his houfe 5 the I'r:rv?a.m bade me go in 5 I went into a yellow buw-wmdulr room.
Lord Balimore was there with a gentleman : he defired me to fic down; and I was to
drink tea with his Lordfhip, Dr. Grificoburg, and this lady. After tea, there wasa
Jittle converfation about feveral indifferent things; and Lord hllnml d:ﬁﬁﬁ I‘;‘.t h‘;a
draw a Gketch of that lady’s picture 3 and he gave me a black penail. I de n::
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to put hericll in a pofture to draw her picture. So the did.  Afeer 1 had begun her
picture about half an hour, T thought the lady was tred, and 1 defired her to reft. 1
afterwards delired her to pat herfelf in the fam: poficion, which fhe did.  Afrer I had
finithed ir, T poe it in Lord Baltimore's hand : the fmiled at it and the converfation
went on till fupper was ready : and then Lord Baltimore defired me to ftay to fupper
with him. There was my Lord, this lady, Dr. Grifferburg, and another lp_,dj, that
fupped with us. I teck particular notice of this lady, the being a ftranger to me: (he
ate a bit of fowl, and feveral other things, and drank o every body’s health; and I did .
the fame as every body docs.  Alter upper I went home. :

Lord Baltimere.  As you took this lady®s face, you will be able to tell us, whether it
was & chearful Tuce, or whether in rears 2 - .

Surith,  She nev.r ericd all che time. No, a Rgure that would cry would not {tand
in that pofition, and T eoeld not o 0a,  She was very willing t2 flay in that pofitien.
She was drawn in this pofition (deferibing if), leaning her h-:ar:i upon her hand.

Lord Baltimere, Was thore any appzarance of concern or Iorrow alsoar her 7

Swmith. She was rather cheuwfol t fhe beliaved with the fame calz’ that - every
body did. feetid

Lord Baltimere. She faid fomething of your having carried a letter. :

Smirh.  Thar was a fetter 1 receiv®d from a_gentleman a folteight befores Wwho fent
me a lerer o lend o Lord Balidnwre 3 which T did : and that day the gentleman had
heen 1o me, and fawd he defivdd o !—J,}L'.*.k to his Ll‘ll‘dmiil, but he would not g0 to his
houle : and me defired me o les him krow 3 it was a all geademan in a brown coat,

Lird Balimere, How came he o find you vt ?

Sunpb,  Lerd Biltimore wold e a gentleman thould come to me.

Lord Baiftimere. IDid this ladv fay any ching to yuu about your having brought any
letter trom bier father or triends ?

Smith.  Nos this lady in cenverfution afk®d what this gentleman was. 1 told her he
was dreft in a brown coat,

Crafs Examinalion.

Mr. Cox. Well, Mr. Smith, your account is a pretty ftrange one; you have been
gogurinted with Lord Baltimore a good while, have you net ?

Smith, N.xt May, fix years, 1 have had the honour to know his Lordfhip; and
have had the honour to work for his Lordihip. .

Mr. Cox. Wit day of the month was this you drew the lady®s picture ?

Swith, It was on the 17th or 18th of December latt.

Mr. Cex.  What brought you to Lord Baltimore®s houle that day ?

Sureeb, Upon that day he fent for me.

Mr. Cox. D bhelet you know what he wanted you for ?

Swith. 1 wought he had fent for me to draw a picture : and I afterwards faw the
ruth ot it.  His Lordfhip fent often for me to draw piétures. :

Mr. Cox.  And yet when you came there Lord Baltimore leat you his pencil ?

Smirh, When 1 was there | rold him I kad not gor a pencil in my pocker.

Mr. Cex  So then you was knt for to draw a picture, and yet you went without your
matcrials: huw came you to ke in fuch a harry ?

Smith, He fent 10 me to come diredtly. ;

Mr. Cox. And loyou was in fuch a hurry that you left your pencil in the other

Kot ?

Smith, That is natural for people when they change their cloaths.

M. Cox. What not to take the things cut of their pocker ?

Swseh.  The lervane told me my Lerd Baltimore wanted wo fee me directly.

Mr. Cox.  'Well, and then you faid, you thoughe that he was in a hurry 5 and you
went and left thele materials ac home: that is the faét I think. Now when you came o
Lord Balumore’s there was fome converfation paffed relating to a letter.  Tell my Lord
and the Jury what the letter was he afked you about.

Smith, The letter 1 had wrore w my Lord from a gentleman that had been
with me.,

Mr. Cox. What gentleman was he ?

S, I don't koow.

M. Cex. How did he fend it you?

Smith, My Lord wold me thar fuch a gentleman fhould come to me.

Mr. Cox.
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Mr, Cox. Now fee if 1 underltand you.
thar a gentleman fhould come to yeu s
you fend that Jetter ?

Smith. I fent it to my Lord.
€ Mr. Cox. Then it was a letter direfled to your hands—to be given to Lord Bal-
timore ; and this you was informed of a fortnight before ?

Smith. This gentleman came juft that day.

Mr. Cox. And this was the very day the man came with the meflage 1o Lord Bali-
more, and jull before that this letter was brought to you ?

Smith. No; this leter was brought a fortnight before.

Mr, Cox. When was it delivered to Lord Baltimore ?

Smith. The inftant I had received it

Adr. Cox. Then had you any further direftions in it ?

Smith. No; that gentleman called upon me on that very day, about Four or Five
o'clock in the evening.

Mr. Cox. What did he fay to you ?

Smith. He faid that he wanted to fpeak to his Lordfhip. [ afked if he would go to
his Lordfhip? He faid he would not go, but defired me to let my Lord know he had
been with me; and fo I did.

Mr. Cex. Did you do it by meffage, or go to his houle ?

Sf_uirb. I fenta letter in French, that a gentleman that T did not know had been at my
howle, :

Mr. Cex. Now all this happened before you went to my Lord the fame day, and yet
you thought it was all about drawing a picture ?

Smirh. My Lord alked me what fort of a man he was ?  And the Lady afked me what
was the colour of his coat? 1 faid, a brown coat.

Mr. Cox. 'Was that the only queftion fhe afked you?

Smith. Yes.

Mpr. Cox. Only then about the colour of the coat the man had on that called upon you
:]hu?da}'. She faid nothing about the fize of the man, whether taller or fhorter, did

1t

Smith. Not a fingle word.

Mr. Cox. And this was in confequence of a letter that was fent a fortnight before.
‘What is your name ¢

Smith. My “r;:mt ‘i;ﬂSmhhi.r ;

. Cox. ere ive .
ﬁ:f IWI live in Dufu}:::: Court, Broad-ftreet, Carnaby-market.
Mr. Cox. What converfation had you at Lord Baltimore's that day about this man in
rown coat ?
thtjl:j;ﬁ‘ My Lord afked me whether he was an old or a young man ? [ faid, an old
man in a brown coat,
Mr. Cox. Now was it mﬂg}d man in a brown coat ?
ith. ., and a ve man.

izfﬁm}rﬁnia he a[l:quu that queftion in the prefence of the lady, or behind her
back, in French or Englith ?

Stmith. Huh? plain Eﬂﬁ}i“'- o SBYEE T

. Cox. Did my Lord fay any thin you in Frenc !

gi?:f Yes he diﬂ {peak i'o::n: ‘i:mdlﬁm French, fomething relating to what had pafs'd
i ews Paper.

s :[}frf Eﬂ.{:‘:‘mp:r What is the bufinefs you generally do for me ?

Smith. 1 take defigns for my Lord. | :

Lord Baltimere. You being a foreigner, do not I often talk to you in your own
language ?

Smith. Yes. :

M. Cox. You fay you was prefent when the lady drank tea, will you, upon your
oath, fay you faw her drink one drop of t'!_lf

Smith. ~ She was very merry in converfation as the reft were. :

Mr. Cox. You was there at fupper ; Did fhe drink every body’s health ?

Smith. She drank my Lord's Bealch, and fhe drank to every body round.

Mr. Cox. In whacli uor ?

Smith. 1 believe fmall beer,

55

A fortnight before this my Lord told you,
but he did not come, but fent you a lewer. Did
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Martha Harrifon fuorn.

I am Lord Baltimore’s laundry-maid. 1 was at Lord Baltimare’s houle in Deeember g
1 was there before they went to Woodcote.

Leord Baltimere. Do you know in what bed Mrs. Harvey ufed ro lic ?

Harrifon. In the next room to my lord’s bedchamber.

Lord Baltimore. 1 would afk you, if you know any perfon that lay with her there ?

Harrifen. 1 fuppole Sarah Woodcock did.

Lord Baltimore.  Was there the appearance of two perfons in Mrs. Harvey’s bed ¢

Harrifen. Yes.

Lerd Baitimore, Who made the fire in this room ?

Harrifon. 1 did.

Lord Baltimere. Did you ever fee any people in bed together in that reom ?

Harrifon. 1 have feen Mrs. Harvey and Mils Woodeock in bed rogether, I eannor fiy
how often ; 1 have feen them every morning in-bed till the went to Woudcore, all but the
firlt morning after the came. | have heard them converfe thee.

Lord Baltimore. 1 would afk you whether you ever faw any ats of civility berwesn
Mrs. Harvey and Mifs Woodcock ?

Harrifon. 1 have always feen her very merry.

Lord Baltimore. 1id you fee her perpetually in tears, lamenting and pining ?

Harrifon. WNo, never; I always ﬂilw her laughing.

Lord Baltimore. Did you often fee her in the day-time ?

Harrifen. 1 did: Mrs. Harvey ufed to drefs her.

Lord Baltimere. And what did fhe ufe to do for her ?

Harrifen. 1 bave only feen her comb her hair 5 1 faw her do thar twice.

Crofs Examination.

Mr. Baker. Who is this Mrs, Harvey # Did fhe live in this houfe ? Did fhe lie there
before this girl came ?
Harrifon. No, fhe did not.
Mr. Baker. Then they came together ?
Harrifon. Yes.
M. Baker. You went to make a fire the firlt morning, where was the girl 2
Harrifon. She was in the room with Mrs. Harvey : they were both up.
Myr. Baker. "Where was Mrs. Griffinburg ?
Harrifen. In the rcom roo.
Mr. Baker. 1 afk you, upon your oath, was not Grifinburg in the room the next
night ?
%—farﬂfm‘ No, fhe was not. On Thurfday night and Wednefday night fhe lay below
ftairs, '
Mpr. Baker. So in the morning before you went to make the fire, Mrs. Griffinburg
had got up ftairs, and was in the room with them ?
Harrifon. She went up to fhew me the room. T had been there almolt a twelvementh,
but did not know they were there; Mus. Griffinburg told me I was to go in that way.
Mr. Baker. If 1 underftand you right, you told me you found there the two prifoners
and Mifs Woodcock. Pray did Dr. Gnffinbarg lie in this houle ¢
Harrifon. No.
Mr. Baker. Pray what was Mrs. Griffinburg in this houle
Harrifen. Houfckeeper.
My, Baker. Pray did the young woman bring any clothes into the houfe?
Harrifon, Not that 1 know of,
My, Baker. When did fhe change her clothes ?
Harrifon. After fhe came from Woodcote.
Mr. Baker. Did fhe bring any linen with her ?
Harrifon. Not that | know of.
Mr, Baker. 'When was the firft time fhe had any clean linen ?
Harrifon. 1can’t fay.
Mr. Baker. Who did fhe have it of ?
Harrifon. Mrs. Griffinburg,
Mr. Baker. Now [ alk you if that was not the Monday moraing, the day fhe went
to Woodcote ?
Harrifow. 1 can’t fay the day when it was,
M.
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ﬁ;" f":nhr Til1|5 girl was always a laughing, conftantly, was fhe not ?
M‘- Bﬂl* ®

ﬁuur;? ¢r.  What, whether you fpoke o her or not? did fhe walk all about the

Harrifon, £ i i [
Wm':ir;gf: Yes, I faw her in my Lord’s bedchamber the Friday before the went to

M, ﬁmh-r. What, never go out all the time 2
f;rm .:i N?\;'u"l?m that 1 know of,
. Baker, at, did fhe fhut up herlelf in the

ﬁﬁgﬂ Sh’; F:hislu have gone mf:: i?lﬁlc $nlutd!.QUE :

AMr. Baker. en you don't k ' ing i
s e You s o e S 1Y aing i e b

Harrifen. No, 1 did not.

J_mrra‘ Baltimore. Did ot Griffinburg go up with you into the room ?

Harrijon. Yes, fhe did; and was giving me directions where to light the fire.

Agnes Misekell fworn,

l.E an:} Eﬂc:;k to Lord Baltimore,
ord Baltimore. Pray what apartment did lie in ?
Mitchell.  Over the room in ﬂuich my l:..afdmllay:c pr
ifd,éﬁfﬁmh Where did Mrs, Harvey lie ?
ttcbells  In the fime room Mifs Woodcock lay in = i i
m?r“]’da,;dfpml ¥y uvf,r Mrs. Harvey's. <A e gl e e i
ord Baltimore.  Pray have you ever heard any converfari i
Michelly, L beive hesed disighing, elking, aad merimem
Lord Baltimere. 'Then you heard it often ?
Mitebell. Yes,
Lord Baltimore. 'What when Mifs Wood h ?
fﬁffﬁtﬂ- i adeock has been there
d Baltimere, Did you ever hea if i ?
Mitchell. Nao. ! ooy it g
Cowre.  This was in London ?
Mitsbell.  Yes, in London: all that I heard was merriment and laughing.

Crofs Examination.

My. Serjeamt Leigh. Did you ever fee Mils Woodcock ?

Mitcbell. No; but I know fhe was there. 1 could diftinguifh three voices.

M. Serjeant Leigh. You fay that if there had been any crying out, ar noife below,
you mult have heard it ? -

Mditebed.  1am fure of that ; I have heard laughing and talking, but never heard any
crying out : | could hear every thing that mov’d or ftirr'd.

Lsrd Baltimere. - Can you hear the curtains draw 2

Mitchell, 1 could ; I could have diftinguithed voices in the room ; or if any body was
to fpeak or (tir the fire, I could hear it

Jebn Mackdonald fuwsrn,

I am one of Lord Baltimore's poftillions.

Lord Balitmore. 'Was you one of the drivers, when I went to Woodcore ?

Mackdenald. Yes; | drove the wheel-horfes,

Lord Baliimore. Who was in the carriage ?

Mackdsmald. There was Dr. Griffinburg, his wife, my Lord, and two women mare 5
I took notice of the people that went into the carriage ; they went in very chearfully ; I
cbferved nothing in particular ; it was a poft-coach with four horfes.

Lord Baltimore. hat glailes are there ? :

Mackdonald, There are fore glafies and fide glafles.

Lsd Baltimgre. Can you tell which way we fac? . .

Mackdonald, His Lordfhip and two women fat together ; they rode with their faces to
the horles.

Laord Baltimore. 'Was there not a lictle accident happen’d at fetting out ¢

Mackdenald, The porter forgot to faften one part of the gate ; the wind blew the gate
o,
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to, and the hind wheel laid hold of it : I expeéied the carriage was torn all to pieces,
but I found it was the gate ; and as foon as | could ftop the carriage, 1 did.

Lord Baltimere. How long did you flop?

Mackdena/d. For about a minute or two 3 there was a great many people got round the
carriage ; the glafles were up.

Lsid Baltimere. Upoen the accident happening, were they not let down ?

Mackdona/d.  One of the fide-glaffes was ; we went on to Woodcote, over Weltminfter-
Bridge, at our ufual rate,

Lord Baltimere. Had you no particular orders to hurry ¢

Mackdswa'd. No.

Lord Baltimere. Could you, who was the neareft poftillion, hear the voices of the
people in the carriage as you went along ?

Mackdswald, ] heard a good deal of mirth and merriment, laughing, and fo on; they
feemed all very cheartul : they arriv’d ar Woodcote between two and three o'clock.

Iord Baltimere, Whar time did you fer our ?

Mackdswald, A little afrer eleven.

Lord Ealtimere, Do you fpeak with certainty as to the time?

Mackdsnald, Not 1o a moment; I fpeak to the belt of my knowledge. I faw his
:L.nrfl[hip get out of the coach, and this ftrange woman gave him her hand, and he led
&F in.

Lord Baltimere. Did (he look as if fhe was a prifoner ?

Magkdenald, o,

Loid Baltimare. Did you fee them afterwards ?

Mackdsnald. No. 1 went to take care of my horfes.

Lard Baltimere, Did you not wait at table ?

Mackdswald, 1 never waited at his Lordfhip’s table. They came back again in the

fame manner.

Crafi Examination.

Sevieant Leiph, What 'was it o’clock ?
Mackdsnald.  Not more than Three. It was more than full day-light. .

Fonatban Poiter fworn.

I am one of Lord Baltimore's foctmen.

Lord Baltimore. Do you remember going to Woodcote ?

Patter.  Yes.

Lerd Boltimere,  Who went there, and in what manner ?

Petter. It was my Lord’s own polt-coach and four : there was my Lord, Dr. Griffin-
burgh, Mrs. Griffinburg, Mrs. Harvey, and Mifs Woodeock.

I ord Balimere.  What time did you fet out from London?

Potier. At about half an hour after Eleven, or thereabout.

Lord Baltimere. Do you remember any accident that happened as you were coming
out, with one of the gbat-:s?

Petrer.  The wind blew it too ; it was very near over-turning ; that it caufed a ftoppage
for about a couple of minutes, and a great many people were pafling and repaffing, |
went behind the coach to Woodcote.

Lord Baltimere,  Pray which way did the coach go out of town ?

Potter. It went over Weltminfier-bridge

Lord Baltimere.  Perhaps as you was behind, you can tell the behaviour of the company ?

Fozer. 1 trequently heard the company laughing, and very merry.

Lerd Baltimore. Was cither of the glaffes let down ? -

Potter.  The near glafs was let down when the accident happen’d at the gate.

Lord Baltimere. L'hen you went the whole journey behind the coach ?

Petier. Yes.

Lord Baltimere. Did you hear lavghing at different times ?

LPotter.  1did, when | was behind che coach.

Lord Baltimere. Who went in frft ?

Fatrer. 1 think Sarah Woodcock ; fhe got in by herfelf. | :

Lerd Baltimere.  When they came to Woodcorte, do you remember how they got out ?

Potter. 1 opened the coach deor, and his Lordfhip got out firlt, and then Sarah
Woodecock : his Lordfhip, 1 believe, offered his hand, and fhe leaned her hand upon his
arm; | am not certain : then all the company went up the fight of fteps into the houlfe.

Lord Baltimere. Where did they goto ?

Peuter.  Into his Lordihip's parlour. Lord
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_ Lord Baltimore, Did you wait at dinner ?
Porger. 1 did.
?ml" Bm“r;?m. Who fat at dinner that day 2
oller. 15 Lordthip, Dr. and Mrs. Griffinbu ! aadcoc

Lard Baltinsore. Dldpl.'he eat any thing at dinm:rr% b R £ .

Potter.  Yes.

Lord Baltimore. Did fhe drink any thing ?

;‘ﬂﬂﬂg IYH_Wi“c and water,

ord Baltimere,  Did the behave, or not, as the reft of th id?
" Potter. 1 could fee no manner of difference. ik

Lord Baltimore. Did fhe appear in diftrefs when the got out of the coach at Woodcote ?
Did you fee her at any time erying, and in diftrefs ?

Porter. No.

Lord Baltimere.  'Was you not upon the water ?

FPorter.  Yes, T was,

Lord Baltimere. Who was there ?

Potter.  His Lordthip, Mrs. Griffinburg, Mrs. Harvey, and Sarah Woodcock.

Lord Baltimere.  'Who conduéted the boat ?

Porter. His Lordlhip and T rowed it.

Lord Ba'timore. Do you remember the day that fome company came down ?

Petter. Yes, it was Wednefday the 23d. They came afier dinner : Sarah Woodcock
drank tea with the reft of the company : | waited at table : Mr. Smith was one.

Conré, What, Smith the Painter ?

; Porter.  No, a German; and a gentleman and lady befides, whofe names I did not
oW,

Lsrd Baltimore.  Did The behave at tea as the relt of the company did ?

Perter.  Yes ; 1did not fee the lealt fign of difcontent.

Lord Baltimore. Did fhe eat and drink ac fupper?

Porter.  She did 3 fhe generally drank wine and water.

Lord Baltimore. 1 believe the next day we went to town ?

Porter. Yes they did; I went to town on horfeback.

Lord Baltimore.  We fupped there on Wednefday, did we not? Where did the com-
pany breakfait ?

Potter. They breakfalted in the parlour ; Mifs Weodcock was there.

Lerd Baltimere. How was the time taken up ?

Poirer.  1don™t know. They walked abour the park when they had a mind, and came
into the houfe when they had a mind, and when they pleafed. On Tuefday morning,
after breakfaft, they went upon the warer.

Lord Baltimere.  Did Mifs Woodcock breakfaft on Tuefday morning with the family ?

Foerer.  Yes, I remember fecing them get into the carriage.

Lord Baltimore. To you remember how they got into the coach ?

Potter. Sarah Woodeock got in firlt, and no affiftance, to my knowledge.

Leord Baltimere. Was you near enough the carriage to fee the behaviour of the people
in the infide of it ?

Fotter. No ; Iwas on horfeback as 1 rerurned. _ _

Lerd Balvimore. During the time fhe was in town, or at Woodcote, did you ever fee

her in tears ?
Potter. 1 never did.
Lord Baltimore, Were there any doors locked, or the like ?
Fotrer. Noj the doors were all open. ,
Lord Em'.!a‘m::. Were there any Tl?cm&mm given to the fervants to (top her, in cale (he
wont out ?
Potter. Noy not by Lord Baltimore, or any body elfe. !
'I.nrJBal:'im:.:. w,:ra you ar Lord Mansfield’s ? 1 only afk you to one particular faét;
Did you fee any little intimacy between any-hodtgeaﬁm' the thing was over !
Patter. A young man laid hold of her by the arm, and juft as they got down to the
fecond flep, he kifled her.
Lerd Baltimere. How did fhe behave ?
Parter. 1 food at the bottom of the fteps.
Lord Balrimiere.  Who was the man that _hlﬁ:'d her ? .
“Petter. They tald me his name was. Davis. ) :
Laord Baltimere. Whether the fpoke, or looked, or did any thing to you ? T
" Portsr. When fhe had got down the fteps, and came by me, fhe turned back,

looked me in the face, and fmiled ac m:.q_ 4
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Crofs Examination.

Mr. Gex. “You fay fhe got firlt into the coach, did you know her ?

Patrer. 1 have feen her perion. | faw her looking out ac the window, but I never
waited on her in London. T waited at table at breakfalt, dinner, and fupper.

Mr, Cox. You are employed to wait ac table, and yet you fay you never faw this
girl bur at Lord Baltimore’s window : this was fevere weather; had you been ufed to
partics of pleaiure on the water in fuch fevere weather ?

Poiter. No.

Conre. . Whae fort- of a vefiel is this?

Potter. A large boar. My Lord has built a fort of a cabin in one of them. The
firlt day they were in the open boat, and in the cabin the fecond day.

Fobn Perry fivorn.

Lsrd Baltismare.” What are you ?

Perry. 1 live in Fore-fireer, St. Giles’s, Cripplegate. | was ar Lord Baltimore®s on
the 210t of December lall; T was going to Dr. Griffinburg to recommend a friend of
mine to him ; when we came to Dr. Griffinburg’s houfe, | went from thence to my
Lord Baltimore’s, and when Mr, Vergen my -friend and [ came within about ren yards
of the porier’s lodge, the coach came out with four bay horfes ; the coach took pare
of the gate away; the coach ftopt fome little time; 1 was pretty near the coach 3 I
faw five people in its I faw Dr. Griffinburg in the coach, and pulled off my hat o
him, aml withed him a good ride; | faw my Lord and the other woman, 1 don’t
mean the young woman,

Lord Boltimere.  1)id you hear any call for affiftance ?

FPerry,  There was a great pumber of people, ten or a dozen, paffing and repafling.

Lerd Balrisisre.  1id not you wonder that nobody called out ?

Pervy. 1 was furpriled, thae from the danger the coach was in, that nobody fereamed
out that was in the coach,

Thomas Vergen fovern.

I was at Lord Baltimore's on the 21t of December lalt, and faw an accident with the
coach, it ran azainft the gate, and ftept about a minute ; I looked inte the coach, there
were five people in it 3 I did not hear any body call out in it

Lord Baltimere. Wese there any other people there £

Ferger.  Yes, feveral 3 1 was near che coach, fo near that if any body had fpoke I
fhould have heard chem.

Robert Stanger [fworn.

I am a butler {in the country) to my Lord Baltimore.

Lerd Baltimore. Do you remember the coach coming to Woodcote ?

Sianger. Yes

Ford Beltimore. Who were in ic ?

Stanger.  Lord Baltimore, Dr. Griffinburg, Mrs. Griffinburg, Mrs. Harvey, and Mils
Woadcock.

Lord Baltimare. Who opened the coach door ?

Stanger. 'I'he foorman that came down with it

Tord Baltimere, Do you remember their getting out of the coach ?

Stanger, | don't know who handed her our 5 they went up the lawn into the parlour;
my Lord came back on the lawn, and Mifs Woodcock eame after him ; fhe got hold of his
arm and run into the houfe 5 that was belore dinner 5 and fhe fat down to dinner, and
always drank firfl his Lordfhip’s health 5 fhe drank tea, and was very merry and chearful.
| actended his Lordfhip in his bedchamber ; 1 warmed his bed and undreft him 3 Dr. Gril-
finburz camein 5 I heard che other door open, but who opened it 1 don’t know.

Lerd Baltimore.  Did you hear any thing faid vpon that occafion ?

Stanger.  Dr. Griffinburg was in his Lordthip’s room, and went round to the door.

Tord fflrrf'-'-"-'—‘-'-'r'?'a, IYid you hear any thing in the other room, of any noife, or outery,
or complant

Stanger. No. On Tuefday morning T laid the cloth for breakfaft ; Mrs, Harvey and
Mifs Woodcock came down together ; they were very merry and chearful.
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Lerd Baltimeve, Were there any marks of deep Diftrels ?
Stanger. Not any.

Lord Baltimere, " Could i
raviflied the night h-.-!'-::r:i‘}rﬂ!" have then conceived by her appearance fhe had becs

stanger. No i the always had coffee between twelve and one o'clack :
morning | faw Mrs. Griffinburg snd Mifs Wosdcock come out of i::lgkr;nz:l;.lﬁﬁrﬁﬁ
down the fairs after her ; fhe Jumped down and catehed hold of Mrs, Griffinburg’s arm
and run round a little piece of water, and was very merry. i

Lerd Baltimore.  Sume company came on Wednelday, did they not 2

Stanger.  Yes,

Lzd Baltimore. Do you remember the entertainment of that evening ?

Sranger. It was a kind of a magic lanthorn ; and Mifs Woodeock, for one, downed
on her knces upon the carper, fewing thefe rable cloths together, to make ane picceof ir,
_and The laughed at it, and was extremely merry about it, more fo than any one : the cord
broke, and we were oblized to put it up again 3 Mils Waodcock laughed very much at
thar, more particulzrly thanany bedy ; fhe came into my pantry one day, and admired
the paintings there.

Lord Ecliimore. Was there any orders given for reftraining her ?

Stanger. No; I never faw her but fhe had her liberty to go where the plealed,

Lord Baltimore. Were there not feveral workmen about ?

Stanger. There were forty or fiity workmen about the houfe and park 5 fhe might
have gone away, I dare fay, if fhe chofe it

Crefs Examination.

Mr. Baker.  You know Mrs. Harvey ; was fhe ever at Wondcare before this 2
Stamger. No. Mifs Woodcock was the merrielt always, fhe laughed furprifingly, and
was always the merrielt of the company.

Hilliam Neble Jurors,

Noble. T am land fteward to Lord Baltimore.

Lord Paltimere. Do you remember my coming down on the 21ft of December to
Woodcore ?

Neble. 1 faw my Lord’s carriage coming, but I did not fee him ger out ; he flaid to
the 24th ; there wasa young lady with him, one Mifs Woodcock ; | remember to have
feen her there very well ; 1 once faw her with Mrs. Griffinburg a furle at leaft, from
the houfe, in the park ; the next time 1 faw her along with Mrs. ﬁ;ney and Mrs.
Griffinburg, and they walked' down ro the bottom of tEc lawn, and turned round the
pal=s ac the bottom.

Lord Baltimore. Had you any workmen employed then ?

Noble, Yes; 1 believe we had ten men at work on the outfide, and ten on the infide
of the houft,

Lord Haltimgre. Did they walk near where thefe men were 2

Neble. They walked fo nigh thar they could talk to the workmen.

Lerd Baltimore. Do you remember any thing of fome Italian fhades reprefented
there one mighe ? i

Neble. Yes, 1do; they were fewed together 5 T was not prefent at the time they were
fewing 5 I put them up ; when I was drawing it up, the rope broke, and it dmp!; Mifs
Woudeock laughed very heartily, and the lady that fat next to her. 1 was coming out
of the great room that evening, and faw Mils Woodcock warming her feet in a room by
herfelf ; thar was on Wednefday night the 23d. .

Lord Baltimere. Did you fee ber often when fhe was down?

Nojle. 1 faw her many times; and fhe feemed to be very chearful and eafy.

Lord Baltimere. Did {m: ever hear of any orders given to confine her ?

Neble. WMo, none at all. - :
: L:rd Eﬂ.’lf::‘ﬂﬂ. Could the not have gone out of the houfe as well as any body elle ?

Noble. Yes. ‘
Lord Baltimore, That Seatis pot far from Epfom ?
Neoble. About a mile we call it ; it is bur half a mile from our park.
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Jane Chawdler fwern.

[ live at Woodcote; I am my Lord’s houfe-maid at Woodcote 3 I remember Mifs
Woodcock being there 5 1 was there all che time (he was there.

Lord Baltimere, How did fhe behave ?

Chandler.  Very well 5 the fame as the reft of the ladies.

Lord Baliimere. 'Was fhe c!:éie&ed. or in good {pirits ?

Chandler. 1 obferved ne difference 3 fhe was under no reftraing : [ faw heron che lawn
on the Monday, the day the came.

Lord Baltimere. 'Who was' walking with her ?

Chandler.  His Lordihip.

Lord Baltimore. Before or after dinner ?

Chandler.  Before dinner, as foon as they came down.

Lord Baltimore.  In what manner did fhe walk with him ?

Chandler. She was clofe by him ; I did not obferve whether fhe had hold of him or
not, but fhe feemed very merry and chearful,

Lord Baltimere.  You warmed the beds there I believe ?

Chandler. 1 did.

Court, Whole bed did you warm ?

Chandier. * 1 warmed the bed for Mrs, Harvey and Mifs Woodcock.

Lord Baltimore.  Did you warm the bed on Tuefday night 2

Chandler, 1 did.

Lord Baltimere. Who were there ?

Chandler. Doclor Griffinburg, his wife, Mrs. Harvey, and Mils Woodcock.

Lard Baltimore.  Did you obferve any thing ?

Chard'er. They were all very merry.

Lord Baltimore.  Did they laugh as if it was fomething fudden ?

Chandler. | can't fay what they were fo merry about.

Crefs Examinalion.

Mr. Sevjeant Leigh, Did you ever fee Mrs. Harvey there belore ?
Chandler. No, never.

Elizabeth Greenough fivorn.

I am his Lordihip’s cook at Woodcote: I was confined to my bed on account of an
accident [ had ;5 I was vilited on Wedneflday the 2 3d of December.

Lsrd Baltimere. Do you know by whom ?

Greenough.,  One Mils Woodcock came in with Dr. Griffinburgh.

{ erd Balrimgre. In what manner did fhe appear ?

Greenough.  Very chearful,

Lord Bahimore, Did (he appear in any diftrefs of mind #

Greeneugh. No, [he faid mine was a very %rcm misfortune ;3 then the faid to Dr. Grif-
finburg, Sir, will you take a walk ; the Doctor fiid he would ; fhe went out and put her hat
on, and came inte my room ; then the Doftor and fhe went out to take a walk.

Febn Danicl Swith fworn.

Swith. T am a merchant: T have been acquainted with Lord Baltimore ; I have known
him about eight years; [ was one of the party that made Lord Baltimore a vilit at Woodeate.

Leord Baltsmere,  Who were the parry ? \

Seith, There was Caprain Pezer; a gentleman ; and there was a young lady with us.

Lord Baltimore. Under whofe proteftion was fhe ?

Smirk., Under mine. We came there abourt five o'clock.

Lord Baltimore.  'What day was it ?

Smith. 1 believe on Wednefday the 23d of December : when we went up ftairs 1 found
my Lord, Mrs. Griffinburg, and Dr. Griffinburg, Mrs. Harvey, and Mils Woodcock,
all at tea.

Lord Baltimere. Did not fome amulement go forward in the Evening ?

Smith. Yes, my Lord propofed to make a fhade.

Lord Baltimere.  Did Mifs Woodcock lend a hand to this ?
Smitk.
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. Smith. Yesy firlt the pinned: them, and aficrwards ook il

fotan ;hbm a needle avd thread and
Lord Baltimore. While thefe thades went on, where was fhe # after § :

work, what became of Mifs Woodeock ? : ERENE e

Smith, 1 faw them Randing there all together 5
did not all perform at a time; 1 was a pertornier,

Lord Baltimere. Did you fee any more there ?

Smish, While this exhibirion was going forward, and almolt over, my Lord and 1
came from behind the curtain; my Lord went on, and 1 ftope ac the Chimney ac the
corner ; I believe he went up to the ladies; I faw my Lord in 2 moment alterwards, fe-
ting in an elbow-chair; Mils Woodcock came after him; my Lord far down in the elbow-
chair, and Mifs Woodcock fat down upon his knee, with her arm upen s neck, ot
quite round his neck, rather upon his fhoulder : 1 then obferved my Lard kil her,
and he drew back, and fhe kifled him ; I {aw it plain : after this we went to fupper, and
1 faw Mifs Woodcock fit next to Mifs Forrefty and fhe was fitting next my Lord, and
the fcemed to be ver ﬂ'hﬂlfl'fll_i and in Eﬂﬂd f'p'lriu; 1. ebferved ane [h']nE mare, he
poured out a glafs of wine for Mifs Forret, and one for herfelf, and d::i’ drank o0 my
Lord and the company 5 alter fupper. was-over, they wilhed us a good night. Next
morning the ladies were not below when 1 came down ; my Lord was alrcady below,
and Mr. Pezer ; then the iadies came in fucceflively, and they far down to breakfalt : |
west to take a walk with my Lord 5 afterwards I came back and found, the Ladies fitting
in the room ; I+faw pamicularly Mifs Woodcock with Mils Forreft running upon the
terras, feemingly in high fpirits and chearful ; the other ladies walked behind.

Lord Ba timgre.  During the time” you was there, was the lady upder any conftraine,
unealinels, or concern [

amith, Mot in the leaft.

Lord Baltimore. Could you cbferve fhe laboured under any private uncafinels and grief?
 Swith. No, not to me. i ;

I went behind o perform, becaufe we
and Mr. Pezer; and a lisee black boy.

Crojs Examinaiion,
Mr, Serjeant Leigh, Pray, Sir, where do you live in London ?
Smith, In Newman-fireet. : L8 B
Cours. You are Guardian to Mifs Forreit ? f
Smith. No, my Lord. '
Conre, T thought you faid fhe was under your proteftion.
Smirh. She is my houlckeeper. '

Hznﬁ Pezer fworn.

T was one of the three people thar went to vilie Lord Baltimore 5 1 went down with
the lalt witnefs, b
Lord Baltimore. Who went down in your party
Pezer.  Mr. Smith, and Mifs Forrelt.,
Lerd Baltimore. Whar day did you go down ?
Pezér. On Wednelday the 23d afhllzmrr:.‘lubcr. ot 1
d Baltimore. When you came there, how was my Lord engaged
?ﬂgﬂéﬂmﬁe-wu in thcrmm with Nirs. Harvey and Mils Woodcack ; they were
dﬁgizg tﬁa How did fi rlclves in the evening ?
Baltimore. ow did you amule yourle f :
P:;;r. dl‘-:l;.r Lord darkgncd}lpaqt of the room ; on the other fide was placed a candle;
I myielf and others played there. i
I.g-:i B:Ilfmra. [i::'jmu rememiber who affilted in joining the cloths together flld
Pezer. The ladiesdid, Mifs Woodcock and the others ; the cords brokeand it felldown,
‘Lord Baltimere. Did thar create any laughter 2 .
Pezer. May be it did ; I did not obferve thele things.
Lord Ba'timre. Do you remember who fupped there ?
P . 'Yﬂi + : ; E
I:rﬂdrﬂaﬂfmr:. Mifs Woodcock was one of the party; was fhe not ?
g .E?' o Diid fhe refrain from drinking ?
fimore: e refrain ! ] .
%ﬂﬂ i ]':lz::::ht t;'l: and drank as all the reft did ; Trook 2 botle 31?" nvldinitﬁ: h:r:
no wine, ladies; and .1 poured them out wine there was alharr:_ .mz.“:r i
and they ran down to fe it, and they ran up agam s Mils Woudeuck was ©
upon honour. Lord

R
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Iord Baltimere. Dhid you obferve any appearance of gloom in her countenance 2
Pezer. No, not the lealt, or difcontent ; fhe appeared as the reft of the company.

Elizabeth Ferrefl fworn.

I am houfekeeper to Mr. Smith ; | was at Lord Baltimore's with thefe two gentlemen,

Lord Baltirsore.  What time was that ?

Forrgh. It wasthezgd

Lord Baltimore, Of what month ?

Forreff. 1 can’t tell.

Lord Baltimere. Was it belore Chriltmafs ?

Forrell. Yes,

Lord Baliimore, Did you fee me there, and Mifs Woodcock #

Forrefi.  Yes,

Lord Baliimore, ‘What time did you go there ?

Ferrefl.  About five in the evening. I faw there my Lord, Mrs. Harvey, Mils
Woodcock, Dr. Griffinburg, and Mrs. Griffinburg.

Lord Baltisaore. What were they doing together ?

Forrgff.  Drinking tea.

Lord Baltimore,  'Was Mifs Woodcock drinking tea with them ?

Forref. Yes: I joined company.

Lord Baltimere.  'Was you left alone with Mifs Woodcock any time ?

Forreff. No.

Lord Baltimere. Do you remember any piftures ?

Ferveff. Yes.

Leord Baltimore. Do you remember my taking a walk ?

Fervefi. Mo, | do not remember ir.

Lord Baltimere. Do you remember any thing about the piftures ?

Forrefi.  She (Mils Woodcock) got a candle, and locked at the piftures, and
fhewed tham me.

Lord Baltimere. Did fhe then appear dejefled ?

Ferrgf. No; She was as merry as the merrieft,

Lerd Boltimere. Do you remember the magic Lanthorn #

Forrgl. Yes; there was fomething of that fort 5 I don’t know what you call it.

Lord Baltimere. Did Ihe join in the company that night ?

Ferrefl.  Yes ; fThe was as much diverted as the memiclt ; fhe laughed ; I lent her
my pincuthion ; fhe helped to pin them ; and when the needles and thread came up,
the helped to few them; fhe was as much plealed as any of the reft ; fhe appeared w
me to have the fame liberty as the reft.

Lord Baltimere. 'Who fupped with you ?

Ferreft. 'We all fupped together.

Lord Baltimere, Did Mifs Woodcock eat any fupper ?

Forrgfl. Yes ; fhe eat the fame, and as hearty as the relt ; fhe laughed, and was as
merry as the reft.  As foon as fupper was over, we women all got up together, and bid
his Lordfhip a good night.  As the four women retired after fupper, we were going
through a gallery, T faid, there are a great many doors. She faid, Yes; and if I would

with her, (he would thew me my Lord's bed-room. I wentin with her.

Lerd Belrimere.  Had you any converfation upon that occalion ? Did any thing more
pafs that night ¢ :

Ferreffi.  No, nothing at all.

Lord Baltimore. What paffed next morning ?

Ferrefl. Us women joined together to breakialt : the gentlemen had breakfafted ba-
fore, except Dr. Griffinburg 3 he far down ro breakfalk with us ; Mifs Woodcock break-
falted with us.

Lsrd Baltimore. That was on Thurfday morning, I believe?

Forrgl.  Yes iv was,

Lord Raltimere. Did fhe eat any breakfaft ?

Farrgff.  Yes, as much as the reft.  Afier breakfalt we walked up the Terras ; we
talked with Mils Woodcock ; at breakfalt fhe faid fhe was afhamed of her linnen;
that if (he had thought of his Lordfhip’s ftaying fo long down there, the would have
provided herfelf with linnen. When we were walking upon the terras, fhe told me, (he
had never been there before, but had lived in my Lord’s family above a twelvemonth.

Lord Baltiwere.  Did you walk out that morning ?

Ferrefl. It was a very cold morning, and fhe and L ran feveral times on the terras

by
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by way of diverfion. As foon as I came in again, I lent her a fhift, an apron, and a
pair of ruffles. 1 went into my own room, (the room 1 lay in.)
Lard Baliimere,  Had you any converfation with Mifs Woodcock at that time ?
Forrglt.  She was not in my room at that time.
Lerd Baltimere. What did fhe tell you there ?
Forrgl, 1 don"t remember.  After I had brought up the linnen into her room, fhe

told me not to make myfelf unealy ; for as foon as the got home to his Lordthip's houfe,
fhe would fend the linnen by one of the fervants.

Lord Baltimore. So (he looked upon my houfe as her own home ?
Forrefl,  Yes,
Lord Baltimere, Did the eat and drink there at that time ?

Farrgfl.  Yes, (he did, and poured herfelf out a glafs of wine, and poured out fome
for me too.

Lord Baltimore. Did [he drink to any body ?

Forrgf. Yes; fhe drank Lord Baltimore’s health.

Lord Baltimere. Did fhe appear to be in a dejefted ftare, or did fhe appear to be a
woman that was well contented with her ficvation 2 Did fhe appear to be a perfon thae
was at liberty, or under reftraint or confinement ?

Forrefl. She appeared w be at liberty as much as any bctg elfe ; the might have
got away if fhe would 3 the was in as high fpirits as any of the reft ; always in high
ipaits,

Crefs Examination.

Mr. Cax. You fay fhe was juit as chearful as any of the reft, neither more nor lefs,
but exaétly as chearful that you oblerved ?

Farrgl.  Yes,
Mpr. Cox. And eat and drank jult as che reft did exaltly ?
Forreft, Yes.
Mr. Cox. Id you make that obfervation at that time ¢
. Forrgft. No, net a particular obfervarion.
M. Cox. When did you frlt make the obfervation ?
Forregf.  When we were at fupper,
M. Cax. That was that time.
Forref. Mo ; this is the next day.
M. Cox. How came you to think of it?
Forrefi. 1 don't know.
M. Cex. Upon what occafion did fhe tell you the had been l."hf.l‘:l: a twelvemonth 2
Forreff. As we were coming off from the tersas, 1atked her if fhe had ever been
down there before 3 fhe faid No; buc fhe had lived in his Lordfhip’s family above a
Ivemonth. X
tm&w:. How long have you lived with Mr. Smich, and in what capaciry ?
Forreff. 1 have been his houfekeeper this twelvemonth,
Conrs. Whete did you come from to him ?
Ferref.  From Nottinghamihire.
Court. Who did you live with there ?
Forrefl. 1 came from my father.

Robert HWalter fuworn.

rk for Lord Baltimore at Woodcote, as a carpenter. y
II.:S E.:rﬂ:;wm. Do you remember my ’cmmng down in my carriage there ? :
1alier. Yes, I do. His Lordfhip came with three ladics and a gentleman :
knew Mrs, Griffinburg ; there were two young ones, whofe names [ did not know;
I have fince heard ‘::"E they wch: Aok
' ; at are their names !
f;;ﬁfinfnmag Harvey, and Sarah Woodcock. T faw -::-ni: }:dy I-Fﬂ out, aﬁ ""ﬂiﬁ;:
followed her: fhe appeared very agreeable and loving : I law ner again g
ing i + Mrs. Griffinburg was with her ; appeared very gay ; fhe
:ﬁk;ﬁsa:;tiﬁtﬁlﬂgrs. G::PﬁnI;Lrg 3 lgﬁw- her walking about at other times whillul: th:rj;;
fhe always appeared gay and chearful 3 the feemed to be at liberty to go where

pleafed. Crels
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Crofi Examination.

Mr. Baker. 'Was not fomebody always with her ?
Falier. Yes, I believe there was.

Elizabeth Dunning fuworn,

I am governels to my Lord's dauphters ; one of them is fince dead.

Lord Baltimere, Pray, Madam, when did you firlt fee this lady ¢

Dunning.  On Chriltmas-day fhe was introduced with her hat, cloak, and gloves on.

Lord Baltimere. As what?

Dunming. A companion to the mifles, fi

Lsrd Baltimere. Was fhe introduced by my Lord ?

Dumning.  He faid it was a perion very well recommended by her father to be a
companion to the mifles.

« Lord Baltimore. What faid fhe to this ?
o Denying.  She made po reply. ¢

Lerd Baltimere,  In what way did fhe live in the family whilt fhe ftayed there ?

Dunning. She eat and drank with me and the ladies, my Lord’s daughters, as chear-
ful as any body ; fhe breakfalled, dined, and fupped with Madam Saunier and the
tamily. '

Lerd Baltimere. 'What was fhe employed in ?

Dumping. Sometimes working : on Saturday evening fhe was at work, and feveral
parts of the day.

Lerd Baltimere.  Had my Lord and the any converfation ?

Durning.  They had vpon Chritmas evening.

Gonrt.  What was their fubjeft ?

Duzning.  Many fubjects ; they were talking-of feripture.

Lord Baltimore, 'What were they talking of ¢ :

Dinming,  They were talking of Paul, and Savl, and Ifaiah, and Adam and Eve.—
Mils Woudcock faid Adam was created upright; at which we all laughed.

L:rd Baltimere. Pray did fhe join in that laugh ?

Dimning.  Yes.

Lovd Baltimere.  Pray do you remember Mrs. Pynfon’s coming to fee the ladies 2

Dunning, Yes. -

Lsrd Baliimere. She dined and fupped with you, I think 2

Dunning.  Yes.

Lord Baltimere. How was fhe employed that day ¢

Dunning. That was on Sarurday ; fhe was making gauze ruffles and aprons.

Lsrd Baltimere. Was any thing faid about her playing at cards that evening ?

Direnmping.  Yes.

Lord Bzltimsre. You had opportunities of converfing with her, and fometimes, I
fuppofe, alone ?

Dumning. 1 was with her many times alone. I

Lerd Baltimere. Could you difcover, from the ftile of her converfation, that fhe was
unealy, and detained againft her will, or any fecrer difcontent ?

Derming.  No, not in the lealt ; nor did [ know to the contrary, nor who -fhe was,
till the was gone.

Lerd Baltimere.  From the manner of her being introduced to you, with her hat and
cloak on, the certainly aflilted me to impole upon you, or (he would cercainly have
contradifted it ¢ ;

Dunzning. Yes, T fuppofe fo.

Court. Did fhe not come from Woodcote that day #

Daning., 1 did not know fhe had been at Woodcote ; T never heard a word of it.

Lerd Baoltimore. Your Apartments were diftinét from the reft of the family, were
they not P

Dunping.  There 15" a room where the mafters attended vpon the ladies ; there is a
room for writing, and another for mufic, afd the ladies are cmployed every hour of the
day with one or other of the mafters.

Lord Baltmore. It is a very large houfe 5 is it not?

Dunning.,  Yes.

Lerd Baltizere. Do you know of her bring in coninemen: 2

Dawizing,  Not in the leall.

Lord
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Crofs Examination.

© Mr. Serjeant Leigh.  So you never knew all this G is gi

| A this time that tl as i

you wlwfL are gn-.rtrn:!:s to his daughters, and lived in the famtlﬁuﬁig ?“u )
Dunning.  No, I did not know fhe was in the houle Gl they came back again

Mr. Serjeant Leigh, Or did y il
Duaning. Niﬂg id you ever know Mrs. Harvey was there ?

M. Serjeamt Leigh. Did the young ladies never cat with my Lorg ?

Danning.  When he has no company, fometimes th
_ 4 : b ey do.
Mr. Serjeamt Leigh.  Did you ever fre Mirs. Harvey b!-tr'fur: ?

Dumning. MNo; I never knew there was fuch a i ' i
; £ e Wi a woman in gl =
out : I never faw Harvey or Woodcock till Ch:lﬁmas-da}-.l SRl ek

Mrs. Saumier focrn,

Lord Baltimere. Pray, did you know Mifs Woedtock ?
Saumier.  Yes.

Lsord Baltimore. Do you remember her being ar Woodcote that December #

Saurvier. No.

Lord Baltimore. 'Was fhe introduced 1o you at any time, and in what charadler ?

Saunier, .Yﬂ‘ on Chriftmas-day, as a companion to the young ladics.

Lerd Raltimere.  How long was the at the houlk in town ?

Saumier. Three days, 1o my knowledge.

Leord Baltimore. Could fbe have gone out of my houl: if the thought proper ? Were
any orders piven to the family to keep her in ?

‘Sdll‘“i!jm No; the was under no reflraint; fhe could have got out whenever fhe
P:l"a Cils

Lird Baltimsre.  Did you ever fee her in tears ?

Sawmier. Noy the was as chearful as we,

Lerd Baitimere. Do you know of her being to have a bed id your room ?

Saunicr.  Yes; there was a bed made up there.

Lerd Baltimore. Did the ever lie in it ?

Saumier. No; fhe would not lie in it

Lord Baltimsre. Whart fort of a room was it ?

Saumier. It was a little room 5 there were two beds in it; it was a good room ; there
was a bed made on purpofe for her to lie in my room.

Ierd Baltimore. Ehd the a nightcap in your room ?

Saunier. Yes, and the went and fetched it out,

Ifrd Baltimere, Did you hear any thing faid of Mif Woodcock’s application to
me £
Saunier. She refufed to lie in that room; and faid the would fpeak with me frft: I
tald her I thould fee ber again; fhe ferched the night-cap our, and faid fhe did not
choofe to lie with any body in the room,

Elizabeth Pynfons fiworn.

Lord Baltimore fent 4 hote with his compliments to me on the 26th of December,
and that if 1 was not engaged, he would fend his coach for me. I weat; I faw my
Lord, his two daughters, Mils Woodcock, Mrs, Saunier, Mrs. Dunning, and Dr.
Griffinburg ; we all dined rogether. ’

Lerd Baltimere. How did Mifs Woodcock appear at dinner ?

Pyifons. Extremely chearful, and the moft pleafed of any perfon there.

Lzord Baltimere,  Did fhe dine, and eat as other people did ?—Did you ftay there
after «dioner ¢

Pynfens. I drank tea there, and fupped.

Lerd Baltimore, ' How did you fpend your afternoon ? 3 :

Pyifens. The young lady after dinner, and Mils Julier, got up, that is fhe that is
dead, E

Lerd Baltimere. 1 believe fhe was about fifteen at that time.

Pyijins. Yes~1hey got up, and went into the drawing-room togecher, both

S laughing
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lavshing immoderarely,  She was chearful and gay till tea-time came on, and then
they were all at work. My Lord laid, My ladies don’c love cards : 1 faid to my Lord,
The ladies are very chearful ar work, (fhe was at work on gauze); fhe faid it would
walhv weil, and that the apron [ had on would wath well 5 ic bad been wathed. 1
aiked Mrs. Saunier how long that lady had been in the family; fhe faid, the day be-
fope. 1 ebferved e was extremely chearful, and appeared as if f(he had been in the
furvily a tweivemonth @ fhe and Mils Juliet feemed very fond of each other,

L-rd Bailtwagre.  Did you obferve any dilcontent of mind ? .

{ifens, She appeared 1o me to be at her full liberty as much as 1; fhe appeared
unider no redlraine,

Lord Baltim:re.  She did not appear to be a perfon with an afflicted mind, did fhe?
Did you fee her cry ?

Pynfens, Noj it laughing is crying, fhe had Rufficient of thar.

Crofs Examination.

My Serjeant Leigh,  Are you a married woman ?

Pynfens. Mo, 1 am not : 1 have been married.

My, Serjeamt Leigh.  Where do you live ?

Pynfons.  In Warwick Court, Holborn.

M. Sevjeant Leigh,  Are you of any employment, or bufinefs

Pyajons. No ; 1 live upon my fortune.

My, Serjeant Leigh, You went to my Lord Baltimore®s, and there were thefe people,
my Lord and his two daugheers, Mrs. Saunier, Mrs. Dunning, Dr. Griffinburg, and Mifs
Woeodcock : it ftruck you very much, I think, thac this girl was fo very merry ?

Pynfons,  As [ had not been in the family for five months, 1 enquired after her.

Mr. Serjeawt Leigh,  So then [he was lo extremely chearful, that you enquired afier
her on that 2ccount ?

Pyfens. | was going to fay to the ladies, Tell me what you laugh at, that I may
Lavgh with you 5 but my Lord was there, and fo I thought 1 would not.

Mz, Scrjeant Leigh, How long did you ftay after dinner ?

Pynfews. 1 lupped there.

?_;ﬂ'. Sfijfdﬂ‘xf Leigh,  Did the young ladies and my Lord Baltimore fup with you ?

fons.  Yes.

..:'I:}rfr’.ﬁ-lrjmu.r Eeigh,  And were they all as chearful at nighe 2

Pyufens. Yes,

M. S:rjeant Leigh.  But this girl ftruck you ?

Pynfons.  They were all chearful.

My, Serjeant Leigh,  You knew Mrs, Dunning was an inftrutor to the young ladies,
and Mis. Saunier ; and yet you had not the curiofity to enquire who this young lady was ?

Pynfans.  No.

M. Serjeant Feigh,  Well then, you thoughe, I fuppole, the was brought in merely to
laugh.—As you took fo much notice of this girl, 1 wonder your curiofity did not lead
jou 1o enguire in what capacity The was in the family 2

Piwfons.  No, my Lord was prefent; it was when Mrs. Saunier went to the fire I
fpoke tw her.

Mr. Sevjeant Leigh,  'Well, but fuppofe my Lord was there, you was on a good
fo wing 3 there was no great diftance kepr.

Lerd Baltimere,  If 1 underitand you right, the reafon why you took notice of this
young woman was, becaule you had never leen her there before ?

Pynfons,  Xese

Mary Okeley fwern.

I am a mantua-maler 3 T was fent for to my Lord Baltimore’s the 26th of December,

Lovd Baliimere. For what purpofe ?

Qkely. To make a gown for a young lady, whom, I fince underftand, is Mils
Wondeark : I made the gown.

Lovd B:;.“u’m.:rc. Did you receive any direéiions from Mils Woodcock abour making
the mown

Okelev. 1did, 1 afked her if fhe chofe to have it made with an apron, or without 2
She faid, Without an apron.

Lord Baltimere.  Did the chofe what colour her gown fhould be ?

Okeley.
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Ckeley. 1 afked her what I was to meafire her for ? M i
! _ ] eafty . rs. Griffinburg afked, Waoul,
fhe have a night-gown, or a negligee ?  She chofle a night-pown, h:cuf& | :c:ld Ia::ru i‘:
was impofiible to have a negliges made by next day ; Mrs, Griffinburg had faid ar fied
you mult have it made by to.morrow : and then ﬂ{c chale a night-gown. 1 afked Ker

how fhe chofe to have it made ; whether to buron R :
. - * L s [+] I s Ir-.-.: o
She faid, With a loofe Romacher. r with a loofe fomache

" Lord Baltimere. Was it made 2
Qdkeley. It was,
Lord Baltimere.  When did you bring it home ?
Okeley. 1 came to try it on at nine o'clock the famie evening,
Lerd Baliimsre.  Where did you find Mils Woodcock ?
Okeley. At the top of the ftairs, with a candle in her hand, I went into her bed-roum g
Ftried it on; fhe defired me then to be as quick as I could, becaul: it was fupper time.
Lord Baltimore.  Did you go away as foon as you had done ? :
Okeley.  Yesy and cameagain the next day, and brought it home: I faw her then.
Lord Baltimere, Had you any converfation with her then ?
Okeley. Noj none.
Lord Balvimere.  INid you bring the ftomacher 2

Okeley. 1 afked her 1o excufe me till Monday ; fhe faid, By all means, only let me
have the gown by drefling-time to-morrow,  And being in fo great a hurry, going to
fupper, fhe did not let me take the pins out; T told her, | hoped fhe would excufe any
lirele faw thae might happen.  She faid the would, by all means.

Lerd Baltimore.  Did you fee her on Sunday ?

Qlkelyy, 1 did. There was Mrs. Dunning, the two ladies, Dr. Griffinburg, and an-
other lady there.  She appeared very brifk and merry ; fhe was coming o the fire to Dr.
Griffinburg, and there ltood ralking,

Lord Balvimere. Had fhe an opportunity to get out if the wonld ?

: Obeley.  Yes, fhe had ; fhe was under no reftraint, and was alone on the top of the
RIS
Lord Baltimsre.  Did het eyes appear fwelled with crying ?
Okeley. Not in the leaft.

Jabel Hadley fiworn.

I am a milliner, and live in Holborn ; I was fent for to Lord Baltimore’s; Ifaw'a young
lady 5 I did not know who fhe was. ’

Lord Baltimore. 'What did fhe befpeak ?

Hadiey. She chofe a cap and acloak, and fome petticoats, and ordered fome muflin to
be brought.

Lard Baltimere. Did fhe thew any attention to the fathion and make of the goods?

Hadley. | thewed her fome ; fhe did not chufe them. She did not fay any thing parti-
cular, only objzéted ro a cloak that ic was too dear.

Lord Baliimare. The queftion is, Did (he want them fafhionable —There were onder=
petticoars ?

Hadley. Yes; fannel petticoats.

Lord Baltimore.  Did fhe give any directions how thefe were to be made ?

Hadiey. She defired thefe might be made to tye before, and they mult be brought
home by two o'clock. I never had fuch an order before.

Lord Baltimere. Did this young woman appear ealy and chearful ?

Hadley.  She did not feem diftrefled.

Crofs Examination.

AMr. Cox. You never faw any tears, or any thisg of that fort?
Hadley. Noj none at at all.

Adeock Humell fworn.

I am a mufician.
Ford Baltimore.  Did you teach any hud!:ri muﬁu: at my }1:-::;:!;::‘
(| ht Lord Baloimore's two daughters every Gay. £
}Lf:r?gafﬁwt?:g }Jnuyuu remember going to my houle in December 2 You know the
me I refer to; you came to fee fome company in the parlour.

Humell. Noy they were up ftairs: it was the 28th of December. s
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Ford Beliimere,  What time of the day ¢

Flamed,  Berween Eléven and Twelve,

Lord Baltimizre.  When you came there, where was [#

Hnell, 1 did not fve Lord Baltimore at frlt when [ camé in; fell T mict Mrs. Saunier
and a frange woman T did not know.

Lord Baltimore,  Who did fhe turn out to be afterwards ?

Fiwwed,  After that 1 went to the room to my icholars, and theré was the' eldet
daugliter and my Lord ; they defired me 1o go and ferch a mufic-buok from: below ;
when [ came up ftairs into the room, 1 found his Lordfhip and the yourg woman, Mifs
Wandceck.

Lsrd Baliimere.  Have you feen her fince?

Flgaed,  That was the only time [ faw her.

Lerd Balimere,  When you came back again, you [aw fomébody in the parlour; did
you not ? ‘
" Hwwell. 1 faw his Lordfhip and Mifs Woodcock playing togethér.  She had her back
o the fire Gde, and fhe was handling her work., My Lord ook her work from her, and
pulled it from her ; and fhe pulled it from him.

Conrt. What was the work ?

Humielf, A handkerchief, or fome fuch thing.

Lard Raliimare. She was not crying, or weeping then ?

ifumell. No; fhe was gay and free.

Fobn Burn fwern.

1 am butler to my Lord at his houfe in Southampton-Row. I remember Mifs Woods
cock’s going our, on Monday the 28th of December, with Mils Griffinburg and Mifs Fanay.
Shevis § years old.  They went in a hackney-coach. [ handed them all in.

Lord Baltimere,  Did fhe go there freely ?

LBurn.  Yes. :

Lord Baltimore. Under no conltraint ?

Burn. Noj not in the leaft.

Lord Baltimore. Did you fee them all go freely into the coach? They were to
drive to Queen-ftreet, Soho ?

Burns  Yes. LdaE

Lerd Baltimsre.  You being the butler, very frequently atténd thie hall, and go to the
deor, do you not?

Burn.. Yes.

Lord Baliimere. Ts the door ever locked in the day time?

Burn, No,

Lord Balimore, Are you pretty much in the hall ?

Burn.  Yes. :

Lord Paltimere, Was any order given to ftop Her if fhe fhould want to go out ?

furn. No.

Lord Baltimare. Should you have ftopped her, if the had offered to go out ?

Born, No.

Crofs Examination.

M. Baker. The time you [peak of was Monday the 28th ; when did you firlt fee
Mils Woodcock ?

Burs. 1 believe the day they went down to Woodcote : that was the frit time I had
ever feen ber.

Miry Facobs fworn.

1 am fervant to Dr. Griffinburg,

Lord Baltimare, Do you remembérany body coming in a coach to Dr. Griffinburg’s on
the 28th of December ?

Jacats. Yes; Mrs. Griffinburg,Mifs Fanny, and Mifs Woodcock. When they
came, I opened the doar.

Lord Baltimore. Who came out firft ?

Facobs.  Mus. Griffinborg,

Lord Baltimere. Where did the codch ftop ? ]
Tacabs,
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Jacobs. About five or fix doors off. Mrs. Griffinburg took Mifs F
brought her into the paffage, and Mils Woodcock fﬂII:M:E sl R
Lord Baltimere. Where did they go?

i j';:mb:. Into the parlour.  Mrs, Griffinburg came down twice or three times into the
chen.

Lord Baltimore, How long was (he our of the parlour at a time ?

Facobs, About eight or ten minutes,

Lord Baltimere, Then nobody was left with Mifs Woodcock but Mifs Fanny. Was
the {treet door fo faltened that (he could not open it ?

Facobs. Noj it was not faftened at all: fhe could have gone to the door in a minute,

Lord Baltimere. Do you remember the parlour fire being out ?

Facobs. 1madeic up. Mifs Woodcock faid fhe was cold, Mrs. Griffinburg took her

cloak, and putitonber. She faid, Madam, you'll fpoil me, She feemed merry.
Lord Baltimore. Notat all dejefted ?

Faceds. No.

71

Carberine Smith fuorn.

I am fourteen years old.

Lord Baltimere. When was you fourteen ?

Smith. A quarter of a year ago.

Lord Baltimere. Don’t you live with Dr. Griffinburg ?

Swith.  Yes. ;

L ord Raltimsre. Do you remember any thing of any company coming to your mafler’s
houfe in December ?

Smith., Yes.

Lord Baltimore, Who were they ? :

Smith. Mils Woodcock, Mrs, Griffinburg, and Mifs Fanny.

Ford Baltimore. How did they come?

Smith. They came in a coach.

Lord Baltimere. Do you know where they ftopt ¢

Smith. They ftopt at a milk-cellar,

Tord Baltimere, How faris that from your flreet-door 7

Smitk  About five yards. ;

I:m;:a' Hﬂ.{u'm?r:. 'I‘hzn':he:,r #tic obliged 1o walk five yards to your door. Could the !
coach have come nearer up to the door ? .

Swith. No. : .

T.ard Beltimore. ‘What room did they go into?

Smith. The back parlour.

Terd Baltimere. s that on the ground foor

ith,  Yes.
ini:a' M.ri:m, How far isit from the door of that parlour to your ftreet door ?

3 three yards. #
Eﬁﬂfﬁﬁl {?h:: Mrs. Griffnburg was come home, there was fome dinner pre-
ring, was there not?

PHSHE:&- b “l;'d fhe fay in the room all the time ?
' 4 i ay it 29
ﬂimﬁﬁnﬂu w:nt down {tﬁﬁ . the firft time, fhe ftaid a quarter of an hour, I be-
i : t again after that. 4
lmﬂr;n;d;;;:g mEcu:firll[w have gone to the door, and let herfelf out, if the pleafed ?

b, Yes, fhe could. P
i’,::'fﬂam:r:m Was nobedy with her befides the liutle girl ?

Smirh. No; there was not.

Lsrd Baltimere. 'When did they come ¢

Suith, At Four o'clock. d :

Lord Baltimere. That was day-light, was ic not?
Simith,  Yes.

Mary Vanburg fwern.

1 am a fervant of Lord Baltimore’s. I went to Dr. Griffinburg.

i ?
j id u go from thence to Whitechapel .
md"mﬁ; ch:r? ::E:; L?nrd Buliimore, Dr. Griffinburg, Sarah Woodcock, Mifs

Fanny, and Mr. Morris. " Lord
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7.srd Baltimore.  Pray what time did you get to the tavern?
Fanbury. It might be between I:EEM anﬁil Ni;f:. :
rd Baltimorz. How long might you ftay there ! y

;L;fn.a;:_rrg. It might be Nughn:ruE. ?Mifs Woodcock, Mils Fanny, and I, were lefe by
ourf-lves in that taven in Whitechapel.

Lord Raltimore.  Where were the others gone to ?

Fonburg. 1 don'c know ; they went out of the room. 5

Lord Baltinore. Had Mils Woodcock any opportunity to get out of that room, if fhe
pleafed ?  1f fhe had offered to go out of the room, fhould you have ftopped her ?

Pawlurz. No; Ihad no fach orders; and if I had, I fhould not have pretended to
have ftopped her. , ok :

Tovd Baltimore.  Where did Mifs Woodcock lie that night ?

Panbarg. 1 faw her in my Lord’s bed.

Lsrd Baltimere.  Pray how did fhe go up to bed?

Vanburg. She went up ftairs ; fhe fac fome time in the room before fhe went to bed ;
fhe was as chearful as any perfon could be, and was very merry.

Lord Baltimere. 'Was fh2 under any reftraing?

Fanberg. No; fhe was under no reftraine whatever.

Lord Baltimsre. Had the her liberty ?

Fauburg. She had her full hberty.

Lord Baltimere. Do you remember her going to my Lord Mansfield’s? Do you
know what became of the key of the door where the lodged ¢

Vanburg. She put it in her pocket.

!

Hugh Merris fuorn,

Morris. 1 am a linnen-draper.

Lord Baltimore.  Have you any connexion with thefe people 7 How came you ene of
the party at the Crown and Magpye ? ! :

Merris.  Dr. Griffinburg had paid me fome money that day, and he defired me to
carry a lecter. k

Lird Baltimere.  For what reafon ?

Merris.  Becaufe he could not fpeak Englith very well.

Lerd Baltimere.  Did he direct you' where to go? ¢

Morris, Noj he went with me in the coach.” We went to: the Crown and Magpye,
Whitechapel. [ afked Dr. Griffinburg what was the matter 7 He faid nothing atr all.
1 followed him into the reom,

Lord Balimere. "Where was the room ? *

Merris.  On the ground floor. 1 pafied by the bar; there was a woman felling of
oyllers on one hand, and two or three people in the bar, and feveral in the kitchen, ail of
which we palfed ; and [ faw in one room a dozen people.

Lerd Beltimere.  What palled when you got into the room ? :

Merris. Mifs Wooldcock afked, 'Who had got the leteer 2 1 faid, I have. She took
the keter oue of my pocket, and faid, This is my own hand-writing; go and tell my
father or fifter to come here direétly. I went. Mos, Berry faid, They were not at home,
and fhe could not tell when they would come home. [ went back to my Lord again.
He was for {ending me to Juftice Fielding to enquire for Mr. Waodcock.  Mifs Wood-
ceck thought Juftice Fielding would do no bufinefs at that time of night, and her father
would probably be at home foon.  We ftaid about half an hour. She propofed fending
the letrer, and leaving it there. My Lord afked her if fhe thuu%ht Mys. Berry would
deliver the letter 2 She faid fhe would, She propofed writing a few more lines. She
opened the letter, and wrote. My Lord delired to fee what fhe wrote. She read it to
him.  There were about five or fix lines. I went and gave the letter to Mrs. Berry. M.
Woodcock was not yet come home. ;

Lord Baltimere,  1f this young woman had wanted to have gone herflelf to her father,
couid any body have hindered her ?

Merris. She ftood between me and the door. There was nothing could hinder her
from going out, if fhe chofe to lift up the latch of the door, We went back, and [ was
fet down at Bridgesffreet to go to Sir John Fielding’s. My Lord defired me to afk for
Miis Woodeock's father and fifter, and defire them to come to her at Dr. Griffinburg’s
houfe.  When [ went there, [ could not fnd her father. [ was carried diredtly to Sir
John. He atked me, how 1 came 1o go with them? 1 told him Dr. Griffinburg afked
me to go with aletter.  He called one of his clerks up to write a card to Mils Woodeock,
to defire her to come to him to meet her father and friends there. I went with M-
Lee, one of Sir John Fielding’s clerks, to Dr. Griffinburg’s. He delivered the cm{ [;_:i

Mils



The Trial of Lord Baltimore, &, Jor a Rape. 73

f"'hh W l:lﬁd-cﬂ'l':k I was rather fri
Fai e er ll-g"lll‘lld b}f Sir Tohn. He ) b
a anr, Ind adwl‘:d me o hl . 'II i ] : -i:_ t E‘d me It was a di‘lllgtl‘m.l!

FaE= ;f Was the card defiring her to come that night, or fome other time, to meet her

Morris, That ni ht.

Cours. Was not facher th i f i

gam':. e kn:- w.: er then at Sir John's that night ?

thm'.; é?:?:mu. Was not you fent to enquire whether the father wis not at Sir John
ﬂﬂ:’iﬁ They nt{;r (atisfied me.

r ltimore. hat was the anfwer the iveri i
Pogbpms _ng:lrd ey e made on delivering the card?  What did
Morris. he laft words fhe fid was, Bur defire them to come to Dr. Griffi A

i F m ; nburg's.
dirﬁr{:ﬁﬂrﬁ:ﬁ. When fhe was at the tavern, writing that lewer, did I give any

AMorrés. 1 did not hear my Lord £ fing! :
and of her own diftating, Yoo, aF s foglemard.  Jc was all wrote by her own hand,

Crofs Examination.

M. iirjmruif.rigﬁ. Was my Lord Baltimore in the room ?

Mr. BAroN SMyTHE
Gentlemen of the Fury,

HE prifoner at the bar, Lord Baltimore, ftands indicted for felonioufly  ravifhing

and carnally knowing Sarah Woodcock, fpinfler, againtt her will, on the 22d of De-
cember laft, at Epfom 5 againft the ftatue which makes this offence felony : and the other
two prifoners are indidied as acceffiries before the fact, by felonioufly and malicioufly
procuring, aiding, and abetting Lord Baltimore, to commit the faid rape, ar the faid
time and place, To this they have'pleaded Not Guilty 5 and you are to try if they are
guilty. Belore Iftat  ju the evidence, I will mention to you two or three things :
In the firlt place, my Lord complains of libels, and printed accounts of this tranfattion,
which have been circulated. It 1s a moft unjultifiable practice, and tends to the perver-
fien of publick jullice ; and therefore if you have feen any thing printed on the fide of
the profecutrix or the prifoners, 1 muft defire you to divelt yourfelves of any prejudice
that fuch publications may have occalioned, and give your verdift only on the evidence
now laid before you. Ancther thing 1 defire, is, that whichever way the verdit is
given, none of the friends of any of the parties will make ufe of any expreffions of ap-
probation or applaufe, which are extremely improper and indecent in a court of juftice,
and | fhall cerrainly commit any perfon whom 1 fhall know to be guilty of it.  The lait
thing [ fhall mention to you, is, to defire that no refentment you may feel at the manner
in which fhe was carried to Lord Baltimore’s houfe, may have any influence on your ver-
di& ; for however unwarrantable the manner was, in which fhe cameinto his power, if ar
the time he lay with her it was by her confent, he is not guilty of the offence of which
he is indifted ; though it was proper to be given in evidence in this trial, to account for
her being with him, and his having an opportunity of committing the crime ; and to
fhew, from the indireét manner of getting her to his houfe, the greater probability that
her account is true.  Having faid this, 1 will now [fate to you the whole evidence as
particularly as [ can. '

Mr. Baron Smythe then flated the whole of the evidence to the jury, as before given, which
tock up three bours, and on account of the lengib of if is net repeaied bere ; and 1hen concluded.

In point of law, the faét is fully proved on my Lord and the two other prifoners, if you
belicve the evidence of Sarah Woodcock. It 1s a crime which in its nature can only
be proved by the woman on whom it is commitied ; for fhe only can tell whether fhe
canlented or no ; it is, as my Lord obferves, very eafy ro be made, and hard 10 be dil-
proved ; and the defenfe can only be colleéted from circumftances ; from thefe you muift
Judge whether her evidence is or is not to be believed. Lord Hale, in his Hiftory of
the 'leas of the Crown ®, lays down two rules : 1. i complaint is not made foon afier the

* Vol I p G52, 5 :
injury
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injury is fuppofed to be received 5 2. 1f itis not followed by arecent profecution ; a
ftrong prefumption arifes that the complaing is malicious.  She has owned the injury was
r::w:tivmg December 21Mt, and the complaint was not made till December 2gth ; but fhe
has accounted for it in the manner you have heard. The ftrong part of the cafe, on be-
half of the prifoners, is, her not complaining when fhe was av Lord ‘Man:feld’s, the
fupreme magiftrate in the kingdom in'erimibal noatters : you have heard how fhe has
explained and accounted for her conduét in that particular, which you will judge of.
Upgon the whole, if you believe that the made the difcovery as foon as fhe knew fhe had
an opportunity of doing ir, and that her account is true, you will find zll the prifoners
guilty ; if you believe that the did not make the ddcovery as foon asfhe had an op-
portunityy and from thence, ar other cireamitanees, are not fatisfied her accounc is troe,
you will find them all not guilty ; for if he is not guilty, théy cannot be fo'; for they
cannot be acceffary to a crime which was nevet committed. '

After Baron Smytbe’s fumming up of the evidince, 1he fury went out for about an bour and
Pwenly minuies, and then returned to the court,

gferi: of Arr. Gentlemen, are you all agreed on your verdiét 2
ury. Yes.
li.'.-"t;r.i ¢f Arr. 'Who fhall fay for you ?

Fury.  Our Foreman.

Cierk of Arr. Frederick Calvert, Efg; Baron of Baltimore, hold up your hand. (whick
be did) Gentlemen of the Jurp, leok upon the Prifoncers : How fay you, is Frederick
Calvert, Efg; Baron of Baltimore, guilty of this felony and rape whereof. be ftands
indifted, or not guihf?

Fury. Not ghily. bani £ ! [~

Clerk of Arr.  How fay you, Gentlemen, is Elizabeth Griffinbarg guilty of this
felony and rape whereof fthe ftands indifted; or not guiley ? L.

Fury.  Notv guilty. W

Clerk of Arr. How fay you, Gentlemen, is Annv Harvey, otherwife Darby, guiley
of this felony and rape whereot fhe flands indicled, or not guilr’

Fury. Not guilry. ot dem thie CF

Clerk of Arr. Hearken to your verdift, as the court hath recorded it. You fay thae
Frederick Calvert, Efgy Baron of Baltimore, in the kingdom -of Ireland, is not guiley,
and fo you fay all. : ;

And you fay that Elizabeth Griffinburg and Ann Harvey are not guilty, and fo you
fay all.

J O S E P Ho G UR N-Eo¥y

BOOKSELLER and BINDER, N°. 39. Bread-flrect, London;

AKES down Trials at Law, and teaches the ART of SHORT-HAND,
according to the moft approved Method ever made public.

Of whom may be bad, Price Eight Shillings,

The Sixth Edition of BRACHYGRAPHY, or Short-Writing made
eafy to the meaneflt Capacity, Dedicated, by Permifiion, to the Earl of
BUCKINGHAMSHIRE.
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Perfon to Print or Publifh the fame.
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T HE

T AT

LA_WRENCE EArRL FERRERS,

FOR THE
MURDER of FOHN FOHNSOUN,

Before the Rieutr HonoURABLE

The - HovsE of P EERS

I N

WEeESTMINSTER-HALL, in Full PARLIAMENT.

Wednefiday, April the 16th, 1760.

In the Court ere@ted in WesTminsTer-Hart, for the Triar of LAWRENCE
Earl FERRERS, for the Murder of Jobn Fobnfin.

;.;ﬁ:d in 1eftminfier-Hall, for the Trial of Lawrence Earl Ferrers, in the Manner
WIHE:
The Lord High Steward's Gentlemen Attendants, Two and Two.

The Clerks Afliftant to the Houfe of Lords, and the Clerk of the Parliament.

Clerk of the Crown in Chancery, bearing the King's Commiffion to the Lord High Steward )
and the Clerk of the Crown in the King's Bench.

The Mafters in Chancery, Two and Two.

The Judges, Two and Two.

The Peers eldelt Sons, Two and Two.

Peers Minors, Two and Two.

York and Windfor Heralds.

Four Serjeants at Arms with their Maces, Two and Two.

The Yeoman Ulher of the Houfe.

Then the Peers, Two and Two, beginning with the youngeft Baron.

Then Four Serjeants at Arms with their Maces, Two and Two.

The Serjeant at Arms attending the Great Seal, and Purfe-Bearer.

Then Garter King at Arms, and the Gentleman Uther of the Black Rod, carrying the White

Seafi before the Lord High Steward. :
Robert Lord Henley, Lard Keeper of the Great Scal of Great Britain, Lord High Steward,

; his Train barne.
alone A When

: ROUT Fleven of the Clock the Lords came from their own Houfe into the Court
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When the Lords were placed in their proper Scats, and the Lord High Steward upon the
‘Woolpack 3 - ¢

The Clerk of the Crown in Chancery, having his Majelly’s Commiflion to the Lard High
Steward in his Hand, and the Clerk of the Crown in the King's Bench, ftanding before the
Clerk’s Table with their Faces towards the State, made Three Reverences ; the Firlt ar che Table,
the Second in the Midway, and the Third near the Woolpack ; then kneeled down ; and the
Clerk of the Crown in Chancery, on his Knee, prefented the Commiflion to the Lord High
Steward, who delivered the fame to the Clerk of the Crown in the King's Bench to read : Then
riling, they made Three Reverences, and returned to the Table. And then Proclanmation was
made.for Silence, in this Manner :

Serfeant at Arms. Oyez, Oyez, Oyez !  Our SovercignmLord the King ftrictly charges and
commands all manner of Perlons to keep Silence, upon Pain of Imprilfonment.

Then the Lord High Steward ftood up, and fpoke to the Peers.

Lord High Steward.  His Majelty’s Commiffion is about to be read : Your Lordthips are
defired to attend to-it An the vlral Manner ; and allothers are Likewile to ftand up, uncovesed,

. while the CommifMion is reading. | : :
All the Peers uncovered themfelves 5 and they, and all others, ftood up uncovered, while the

Commillion was read.

GEORGE R. _ "
GEDRGE the Second, by the Grace of God, ‘of Great Britain, Frapce, and Ireland, King,
Defender of the Faith, and 1o forth. To our Right Trufty and Wellbeloved Councellor
Robert Lord Henley, Baron of Graiuge, in Our County of Ssuthampten, Keeper of our Grear
Seal of Great Britain, Greeting, Know ye, That whereas Lawrence Earl Ferrers, Vilcount Tam-
worth, late of the Parith of Breedon, in Our County of Leiceffer (before Our Juftices, affigned
by Our Letters Patent under Our Great Seal of Grear Britain, to enquire more fully the Truth,
" by the Oath of good and lawful Men of Our faid County of Leicefler, and by other Ways,
‘Means, “and Methods, by which they fhould and might better know (as well within Liberties
as without), by whom the Truth of the Matter may be the better known and enquired into, of
all Treafons, Mifprifions of Treafons, Infurreétions, Rebellions, Counterfeitings, Clippings,
Warhings, falfe Coinings, and other Falfities of the Money of Great Britain, and of other

Kingdoms or Dominions whatfoever, and of all Murders. Felonies, Mtnﬂtu?h:m, Killings,
Burglaries, Rapes of- Women, unlawful Meetings and Conventicles, unlawtul Uttering of

Words, Affemblics, Mifprifions, Confederacies, falfe Allegations, Trefpaffes, Riots, Routs,
Retentions, Efcapes, Contempts, Fallities, Negligencies, Concealments, Maintenances, Op-
preffions, Champartics, Deceits, and all other evil Doings, Offences, and Injuries whatloever,
and alfo of the Acceflaries of them, within the County of Leiceffer aforefaid (as well within Li-
berties as without), by whomfoever and in what manner foever done, committed, or perpetrated,
and by whom, or to whom, when, how, and after what' manner, and of all other Articles and
Circumftances concerning the Premiles, and every or any of them, in any manner whatioever;
and the faid Treafons, and other the Premiles, according to the Laws and Cultoms of England,
to hear and determine), fands indicted, by the Oath of good and lawful Men of Our faid
County of Leicgffer, of Felony and Murder, by him the faid Lawrence Earl Ferrers Vifcount
Tamworth done and committed ' We, confidering thac Juftice is an cxcellent Virtue, and;plealing
to the Moft High ;- and being willing that the faid Lewrence Earl Ferrers Vilcount Tamawersh, of
and for the Felony and Murder whercof he is indiéted as aforefaid before Us, in Our prefent Par-
liament, according to the Law and Cuftom of Qur Kingdom of Greas Britain, may be heard,
examined, fentenced, avd adjudged 5 and that all other Things which are neceffary on this Oc-
cafion may be duly exercifed and executed ; and for that the Office of High Steward of Grea
Britain (whofe Prefence, upon this Occalion, is required), is now vacant (as We are informed) ;
We, very much confiding in your Fidelity, Prudence, ' provident Circumfpe€tion, and Induitry,
have, for this Caufr, ordained and conftituted you Steward of Grear Britain, to bear, execute,
and exercife (for this Time), the faid Office, with all Things due and belonging to the fame Of-
fice in this Behalf : And therefore We command you, that you diligencly fec about the Premifes,
and {for this Time) do exercife, and exccute with Effeft, all thofe Things which belong to che
Office of Steward of Grear Bricain,, and which are required - in this Behalf.  In Witnefs whereof,
We have caufed thefe our Letters to be made Patent.  Wictnels Quilif ax i¥gbminffer, the Six-
teenth Day of April, in the Thirry-third Year of Our Reigr.

By the King Himfelf, figned with his owa Hand.

Forke and Zorke.
Sergeant at Arms. . God fave the King.

Then

B
¢
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_ Then Garter, and the Gentleman Uther of the Black Roxd, after Three Reverences, kncelin
Jointly prefented the White Staff to his Grace the Lord High Steward @ And then his Grac[f.'
attended by Garrer, Black Rod, and the Purfe-Bearer (making his proper Reverences towards the
Throne), removed from the Woolpack to an armed Chair, which was placetd on the uppermolt
Step but onc of the Throne, as it was prepared for thar Purpote ; and then feated h]mrelIP:in the
Chair, and delivered the Saff to the Gentleman Ulher of the Black Rod en his Right Hand. the
Turfe-Bearer holding the Purle on the Lef:. vl ‘

Clerk of the Crown. Serjeant at Arms, make Proclamarion.

dSerjeant at Arms. Oyez, Oyez, Oyez! Our Sovercign Lord the King ftrictly charges and com-
mands all manner of Perfons to keep Silence, upon Pain of Imprifonment,

Lhen the Clerk of the Crown,, by Direftion of the Lord High Steward, read the Certiorari,
and the Rewrn thereof, together with the Caption of the Indictment, and the Inditment certi-
fied thercupon, againt Lewrence Earl Ferrers ; in bec verba:

The ﬂ-rﬁirﬂri}G EQORGE the Sm:nnd, h}' the Grace of Guﬂ, of Greas Britain, Frawee, and
A Jetncn Ireland, King, Defender of the Faith, and fo forth, To Our Juftices, affigned
Qur Letters Patent under Our Great Seal of Great Britain to enquire more fully the Truth, by
¢ Oath of good and lawful Men of Our County of Leiceffer, and by other Ways, Means,
and Methods, by which they fhould and might better know (as well within Liberties as with-
out), by whom the Truth of the Matter. may be the better known and enguired into, of all
Trealons, Milprifions -of Trealons, Infurreftions, Rebellions, Counterfeitings, Clippings,
Wathings, falfe Coinings, and other Fallties of the Money of Grear Briiain, and of other
Kingdoms or Dominions whatfoever, and of all Murders, %cloniu. Manflaughters, Killings,
Burglaries, Rapes of Women, unlawful Meetings and Conventicles, unlawful Uttering of
Words, Affemblies, -Milprifions, Confederacies, falfe Allegations, Trefpaffes, Riots, Routs,
Retentions, ' Efcapes, Contempts, Faliities, Negligences, Cencealments, Maintenances, Op-
preffions, Champarties, Deceits, and all other evil Doings, Offences, and Injuries whatloever,
and alfo of the Acceffaries of them, within the County aforefaid (as well within Liberties as
withour), by whomfoever and in what manner foever done, committed, or perpetrated, and by
whom, or to whom, when, how; and after what manner, and of all other Articles and Circum-
ftances concerning the Premiles, and every or any of them, in any manner whatfoever, and the
faid Treafons, and other the Premifes, according to the Laws and Cuftoms of England, to hear
and determine, and to every of them, Grecting; We, being willing, fur certiin Reafons, that
all and fingular Indi®tments and Inquifitions of whatfoever Felonies and Murders whereof
Lawrence Barl Ferrers’ Vilcount Tamworth, lace of the Parith of Breedon, in the County of
Leicefer, is indifted before {as is faid), be determined before Us, and not elfewhere, do
command you, and every of you, thar'you, or One of you, do fend, under your Seals, or the
Seal of One of you, before Us, in our prefent Parliament, immediately after the Receipe of this
Our Wric, all'and fingular the Inditments and Inquifitions aforefaid, with all Things rouching
the fame, by whatfoever Name the faid Zawrerce Earl Ferrers Vifcount Tammworth is called in
the fame, together with this Wric, that We may further caufe to be done thereon what of Righe,
and according to the Law add Clftom of England, We fhall fee fit to be done. Witnefs Our-
flf at Wefiminfler, the Eighteenth Day of March, in the Thirry-third Year of Qur Reign.
i ; i 1 A Zorke and Yorke.
To the Juftices affi to enquire of all Treafons, '
Murd{rs, £ cmimd within. the County of
I eicefler, a Writ of Certiorari, to certify into the
Upper Houfe of Parliament the Indiétment found
betore them againtt Lawrence Eadl Ferrers for.
Murder, returnable immediately, before the Kin

in Parli t ' '
i Parliamen -3 Yorke and Yorke.

Rewwrn. 113 Y Order of the Lords Spiritual and Temporal in Parliament affembled, by virtue

. B of the within Writ to me, and others, direted, I fend to our Sovercign Lord the
King, in this prefent Parliament, under my Seal, the Indictment and Inquifition within men-
tioned, with all Things touching the fame, in certain Schedules hereunto annexed, aslam within

comnianded. : H. Basburg.

icgfterfbire. E it remembered, That at the General Seffion of our Lord the King, of Oyer
e B and Terminer, holden for the County of Leitgffer, at tbcl'::ﬂi: o I:nsgﬂ‘rr,
in and for thefame County, on Friday the Fourteenth Day of Mgrr&, in the Thur_qr-ldurd Year
of the Reign of our Sovereign Lord George the Second, now King of Great Brifain, uf:l r:g]
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forth, before Hewry Bathurfl, Efquire, one of the Juitices qf our faid Lord the King, of his
Court of Common Bench ; Fames Hewitt, Efquire, one of the Serjeants at Law of our faid
Lord the King, and others their Fellows, Juftices of our faid Lord the King, afigned by Lerters
Patent of our faid Lord the King, under his Great Seal of Grear Britain, to them and others,
and any Two or more of them made, of whom our faid Lord the King would have the
faid Henry Batburft, Efquire, and Fames Hewitt, El'?_uirt, w be One, to enquire more fully
the Truth, by the Oath of good and lawful Men of the County aforefaid, and by all other
Ways, Means, and Methods, by which they fhould or might better know (as well within
Liberties as without} by whom the Truth of the Matter may be the better known and enquired
into, of all Treafons, Mifprifions of Treafons, Infurretions, Rebellions, Counterfeitings,
Clippings, Walhings, falfe Coinings, and other Falfities, of the Moneys of Great Britain,
and of other Kingdoms or Dominions whatfoever ; and of all Murders, Felonies, Man-
flaughters, Killings, Burglaries, Rapes of Women, unlawful Meetings and Conventicles, un-
lawful Uttering of Words, Affemblies, Mifprifions, Confederacics, falfe Allegations, Tref-
F;ﬁ'es, Riots, Routs, Retentions, Efcapes, Contempts, Falfities, Negligences, Concealments,

aintenances, Opprefions, Champarties, Deceits, and all other evil Deings, Offences, and
Injuries whatfoever, and allo of the Acceffarics of them, within the County aforefaid (as
well within Liberties as - without) by whomfoever, and in what manner foever, done,
committed, or perpetrated, and by whom or to whom, when, how, and after what manner,
and of all other Articles and Circumitances concerning the Premifes, and every or any of them,
in any manner whatfoever ; and the faid Treafons, and other the Premiles, according to the
Laws and Cuftoms of England, for this Time, to hear and determine, by the Oath of Fobn
Grey, Jobn Palmer, Thomas Bootbby the Elder, William Pockin, Natban Wrighte, Charles
Skrymfber Boothby, Thomas Bootbly the Younger, Foféph Craddock, Edward Farwbam, Rogers
Rudding, Charles Morris, Efquires 5 Fobn Smalley, Richard Walker, Fobn Willows, Fames
Silmey, Thomas Ayre, Gabriel Newton, and Robert Hames, Gentlemen 5 and lawful Men
of the County aforefaid, then and there fworn, and charged to enquire for our fuid Lord the
King, for the Body of the fame County.

It is prefented, That the Bill of Indi€tment hereunto annexed is a true Bill.

Brewcows.

Leicefterjbire. HE Jurors for our prefent Sovercign Lord the Ring, upon their Oath,
prefent, That the Right Honourable Lawrence Earl Fervers, Vilcount

Tamworth, late of the Parith of Breedon, in the County of Leicefler, not having the Fear of
God before his Eyes, but being moved and feduced by the Inftigation of the Devil, on the
Eighteenth Day of Fannary, in the Thirty-third Year of the Reign of our prefent Sovereign
Lord Gesrge the Sccond, by the Grace of God, of Great Britain, France, and Ireland, King,
Defender of the Faith, and fo forth, with Force and Arms, at the Parith of Breedon, in the
County of Leiceffer aforefaid, in and upon one Fobn Fobnfon, in the Peace of God, and of our faid
Lord the King, then and there being, felonioufly, wilfully, and of his Malice aforethought, did

make an Affaule, and that Hethe faid Lawrence Earl Ferrers, Vilcount Tamwerth, with a cer- -
tain Piftol of the Value of T'wo Shillings, then and there being charged with Gunpowder, and a
leaden Bullet, which Piltol he the faid Lawrence Earl Ferrers, Vilcount Tamewerth, in his Hand
then and there had and held, ar, againft, and upon, him the fid Fobu jFobnfen, then and there
felonioully, wilfully, and of his Malice aforethought, did difcharge and fheot off: And that he
the faid Lawrence Earl Ferrers, Vifcount Tamewerth, with the leaden Bullet aforefaid, by Force
of the Gunpowder aforefaid out of the faid Piftol, by him the faid Lawrence Earl Ferrers,
Vileount Tamwerth, {o as aforefaid difcharged and fhot off, him the faid Fobn Fobufon, in and
upon the Left Side of the faid Febn Fobnfon, a little under the lowelt Rib of the faid Fobn
Febnfon, then and there felomioufly, wilfully, and of his Malice aforethought, did firike and
wound, giving to the faid Fobn Fobnfor then and there, with the leaden Bullet aforefaid, out of
the faid Piftol fo as aforefaid difcharged and fhot off, in and upon the fid Lefr Side, a litde
under the loweft Rib of the faid Fobn ‘febnfon, One mortal Wound, of the Breadth of One Inch
and Depth of Four Inches ; of which faid mortal Wound the faid Fobn Fobnfon, at the faid Parifh
of Breedsn, in the faid County of Leicefler, did languith, and languithing did live, unil the
Nineteenth Day of the fame Month of Fanwary, in ilb Thirty-third Year aforefaid ; on which
faid Nineteenth Day of Famwary, about the Hour of Nine of the Clock in the Morning, he the
faid Fobn Fobnfon, at the Parith of Breedon aforefaid, in the County of Leicgfter aforefad, of
the mortal Wound aforefaid died: And fo the Jurors aforefaid, upon their Oarhs aforefaid, do
fay, That the faid Lawrence Earl Ferrers, Viicount Tamwerts, the faid Fobn Fobnfen, in manner
5 and
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and Form aforefaid, felomioully, wilfully, and of his Malice aforethouphe. did I :
agintt the Peace of our fiid Lord the King, his Crown and Dignity. & 1 L and murder,

; &
Witnefles, Elizabeth Burgeland, Sarab Fobn
A true Bill Elizabeth Saxen, Tbaw?!f:‘.ﬁg’nd,
Elizabeth Dolewan,  William Tomlinfon:
Sworn in Court.

mm ?Hr'gb Steward, Is it your Lordihips Pleafure, that the Judges have Leave to be

Lﬁ!‘d’. ﬁ.]"j i?- ’

Clerk of the Crewn.  Serjeant at Arms, Make Proclamation for the Lieutenant of the Tomer to
bring his Frifoner to the Bar.

Serjeant at Arms.  Oyez, Oyez, Oyez! Lieutenant of the Tewer of Londen. Brine forth
f;zdwun Earl Ferrers, your Prifoner, to the Bar, purfuant to the Order of the HEuﬁ: of

s,

Then Lawrence Earl Ferrers was brought to the Bar by the Deputy Governor of the Tomer
having the Ax carried before him by the Gentleman-Gaoler, whE ftood with it on the Left
Hand of the Friloner, with the Edge turned from him. The Prifoner, when he approached the
Bar, made Three Reverences, and then fell upon his Knees at the Bar.

Lord High S‘fmnf. Your Lordihip may rife.

Then the Prifoner role up, and bowed to his Grace the Lord High Steward, and to the Houf:
of Peers 3 which Compliment was returned him by his Grace, and the Lords.

Then, Proclamation having been again made for Silence, the Lord High Steward fpake to the

Priloner, as follows,
Lord High Steward.
Lowrence BEarl Fervers, §

O U are broughe to this Bar to receive your Trial, upon a Charge of the Murder of Yebs

Jobnfon 3 an Acculation, with refpect to the Crime, and the Perfons who make it (the

rand Jury of the County of Leicgffer, the Place of your Lordfhip's Refidence), of the moft
folemn and ferious Nature,

Yet, my Lord, you way cenfider it, but as an Accufation = for the greateft or meaneft Sub-
ject of this Kingdom (fuch is the Tendernels or our Law) cannot be convicted capitally, but by
a Charge made by Twelve good and lawful Men, and a Verdict found by the fame Number of
his Equals at the leaft. : i

My Lord, in this Period of the Proceedings, while your Lordfhip ftands only as accufed, I touch
but gently on the Offence charged upon your Lordthip; yet, for your own Sake, it behoves
me, {trongly to mark the Narure of the Judicature before which you now appear.

It is a Happinefs refubting from your Lordip’s Birth and the Conflitution of this Country,
That your Lordfhip is now to be tried by your Peers in full Parliament. What greater Confo-
lation can be fuggelted to a Perfon in your unhappy Circumitances, than to be reminded, that
you are to be tried by a Set of Judges, whofe Sagacity and Penetration no material Circumftances
in Evidence can efcape, and whofe Juftice nothing can influence or pervert?

This Confideration, if your Lordfhip is confcious of Innocence, muft free your Mind from
any Perturbations that the Solemnity of fuch a Trial might excite ; It will render the Charge,
heavy as it is, unembarraling, and lzave your Lordihip firm and compofed, to avail yourfelf of
every Mode of Defence, that the molt cu;.u:l and humane Laws admit of.

Your Lerdfhip, purfuant o the Courfe of this Judicature, hath been furnithed with a Copy
of the Indiftment, and hath had your own Counfel affigned ; you are therefore enabled to make
fuch Defence as is moft for your Benefit and Advantage ; if your Lordihip fhall put yourfelf on
Trial, you muft be affured to meet with nothing but Juftice, Candour, and Impartiality.

Before I conclude, I am, by Command of the Houfe, to acquaint your Lordihip, and all other
Perfons who have Occalion to fpeak to the Court, during the T'rial, that they are to addrefs them-
felves to the Lords in general, and not to any Lord in particular.

Iord High Steward.  Lawrence Earl Ferrers, Your Lordfhip will do well to give Antention,
while you are arraigned on your Indiftment. !

Here Farl Ferrers was arraigned, in the Form of the faid Indiétment againft him, by the Clerk
of the Crown in the King's Bench. '
Clerk of the Crown. How fay you, Laworence Earl Ferrers, Are you guilty of the Felony and

Murder whereof you ftand indicted, or not guilty ?

Ear! Ferrers.  Not guilty, -my Lords.
B Clerk
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Clerk of the Crown. Cul’: prit,

How will your Lordfhip be tried ?

Earl Ferrers. By God and my Peers.

Clerk of the Crown.  God fend your Lordfhip a goad Deliverance,

Clerk of the Crown. Serjeant at Arms, make Proclamation,

Serjeant af Arms, Oyez, Oyez, Oyez! All manner of Perfons that will give Evidehce, on
behalf of our Sovereign Lord the King, againft Lawrence Earl Ferrers, the Prifoner at the Bar,
let them come forth, and they fhall be heard 5 for now he flands at the Bar ugon his Deli-
verance.

Lord High Steward. My Lords, the Diftance of this Place from the Bar is fo great, that I
muft defire your Lordfhips Leave to go down to the Table for the Convenience of liearing,

Lords. Ay, Ay.

Then his Grace removed to the Woolpack, and delivered the White Stall to Le held by the
Gentleman Uther of the Black Rod ; who, during the whele Trial, always received and
delivered back the White Staff upon his Knee,

M, Perroit,
May it pleafe your Lordfhips,

H 18 Neble Lord Lawrence Earl Ferrers, the Prifoner at the Bar, ftands indicted for the

felonious Killing and Murder of one Fobu Fobufer, and the Indictment fees forth, That the
Right Honourable Lawrence Earl Ferrers, Vilcount Tamwertb, on the Eighteenth Day of
Fanuary, in the Thirty-third Year of his prefent Majefty's Reign, with Force and Arms, at the
- Parith of Breedon, in the County of Leicefler, in and upon one Febn Folufon, felonioufly, wil-
tully, and of his Malice aforethought, did make an Affaule; and that a certain Fiftol chen and
there, being charged with Gunpowder and a leaden Bullet, which Piftol he the faid Letorenee Farl
Ferrers then and there held in his Hand, at, againft, and vpon him the faid Fobn Fobufon, then
and there felonioufly, wilfully, and of his Malice aforethought, did difcharge: and fhoot off; and
with the leaden Buller aforefaid, by Force of the Gunpowder aforefaid, out of the faid Piftol by
him fo difcharged and fhot off, the faid Fobn Fobnfonin and upon the Lefe Side of the faid Fobn
Febnfen, a little under his lowelt Rib, then and there felonioully, wilfully, and of his Malice
:Lﬁ:}rﬂhuught, did ftrike and wound, giving to the faid Febx Febnfon then and there, with the

Jeaden Bullet aforefaid, out of the faid 1";&{;1 [g as-aforefund diffbarged and fhot off, in and vpon
the faid Lefc Side, a little under the lowelt Rib of the faid Fobx Fobnfen, One mortal Wound,

of the Breadth of One Inch and Depth of Four Inches 5 of which faid mortal, Wound the faid
Fobn Fobnfon did languifh, and languifhing did live, until the Ninetcenth Day of the fame Month
of Fannary, in the Thirty-third Year aforefaid 5 on which Day, about the Hour of Nine of the
Clock in the Moming, he the faid Febx Yobafor, of the mortal Wound aforefaid, dizd ; and fo
the Jurors, upon their Oath, do find, That the faid Lawrence Earl Ferrers, the faid Fobn Foba-
Sfon, in manner aforefaid, felonioufly, wilfully, and of his Malice aforechonght, did kill and
murder, againft the Peace of our Lord the King, his Crown and Dignity.

To. this Indiétment the Noble Lord, the Prifoner at the Bar, hath pleaded Not guilty, and for
his Trial hath put himfelf upon your Lordihips his Peers here prefent.

We, who have the Honour to ferve the Crown in this Profecution, fhall call our Evidence;
and, if we prove the Faft charged by this Indiétment, we doubt not but your Lordilips will find
him guiley, and give fuch Judgment for the fame as fhall be juit.

M. Attorney-General,
May it pleafe your Lordfhips,
I AM likewife of Council for the Crown ; and it is become my Duty in conlequence of that, ta
open to your Lordfhips the Fafts and Circumftances of this Cafe, out of which your Lord-
fhips are to colleét and find the Crime that is charged in this IndiGtment.

The noble Prifoner ftands here arraigaed before your Liord thips for thar odious Offence, malicious
and deliberate Murder. There cannot be a Crime in human Society chat deferves more to be
punifhed, or more firi€tly to be inquired after 5 and thersfore it is that his Majefly, the great
executive Hand of Juftice in this Kingdom, has promoted this Inguiry, whereby all Men may
fee, that in the Cale of Murder his Majefty makes no Differcnce between the greateft and
meaneft of his Subjeds.

The Prifoner has a Right from his Quality, to the Privilege of being tried before this noble
Tribunal; if he is innocenr, he has the greateft Realon to be comforted, that your Lordfhips are his
Judges; for that Noblenefs and Humanity, which prompt you naturally to incline towards Mercy,
will frongly exert themfelves in the Protetion of Innocence. But, on theother Hand, if the
Prifoner is really guilty of the Charge, his Cafe is truly deplorable ; becaufe your Minds cannot
bedeceived, by the falle Colouring of Rhictorick, nor your Zeal for Juftice perverted, by any une

manly Compaffion.
yond
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:51;: g.r:d:pmd Eﬂibﬂrﬂiﬂn % was purfued ; nmwﬂgnd;:g r.;:l:dﬁ’: ﬂ;nu clﬂ‘:;:;?gi’;s: ? p:\-';:;
mble ppearance of lll-will or Refentment, his Counte " Sed
fome Mot eemed greatly o be changed, and bis ki ::;:?;r::m?::dﬁ;;ﬁ er A
poor Man, deluded with thefe Appearances, was b i pevasi ;
and tha he wight ffely crft il e i i Lc-n:‘lrﬁ'ﬂf: T e,
atters being thus prepared, on Susday the 13th of i ;
ment for Mr. Febnfon to come to him onqthu: F!rﬁc;}ulm;;m S e AT
His Lordihip, tlluuil:-_ the Appointment was Five or Six Days before, remembered it
!"c&ly 3 nay, he remembered the very Hour he was to come, and took his Meafures gcmpfdﬁ
ingly; for your Lordfhips will find, that, in order to clear the Houfe, Mrs. Clifford, a Wou i
who lives with his Lordfhip, and Four Children, were direfled by him, at Th;mc ’C]mi:
cifely, to abfent themfelves ; they were ordered to walk outto Mis. Clifford's F--rhe:r, i_f:
wo Miles from my Lord’s Houfe, and not to return till Five, or Half an Hour :;;’tct'* ii"i‘:.lre -
The Tu:ru Men Servants likewife, the only Servants of that Sex then refiding witl h"
m ::oli_rinwrg to be fent out of the Way; fo chat when Mr. Fobu/or repaired mﬁ.'j‘muml::. :}:
Thr::SMa;JSE’r :;:n'lm‘hme o'clock, there was no Perfon in the Houfe, except his Lordthip, and
Mr. Fobnfor, when he came to the Houfe, rapt at the Door, and ived by hi i
and dire€ted to wait fome Time in the Seill Eln-urn ; then his Ln“;gsﬂ:;térd:m}:i l;:ismL?nrimﬁ
Parlour, where they both entered together, and the Door was immediately locked on the Infide
".['i:ih:;' x b&nm ﬂ:h:.t g:tewlal,blgﬂwetkn the Time of Mr. Fobnfen’s firlt going in, and the
: g fhot, can only be xew known to your Lord{hips by the g
which has been very ample indeed upon the rtfcny: Occalion. T
After Mr. Jobafon had been there the beft Pare of an Hour, one of the Maids in the Kitchen,
hearing fome high Words in the Parlour, went to the Door to fee if fhe could difcover what was
doing; fhe liftened, and heard my Lord, as fhe was at the Kizchen Door, fay, Down upon your
Kn:lcs;:fw Time is come 5 You muft di¢; and prefently after heard a Piftol go off : Upon
thar,
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that, fhe removed From the Kitchen, and retired to another Part of the Houle ; for the did not
care to venture into his Lordfhip’s Prefence.

Though it appeared, afterwards, that Mr. Febafa had then received that Wound of which
he died, he did not then immediately drop ; he arofe, and was able to walk.

Jult then, my Lord Ferrers, as he confefled afterwards, felt a few momentary Touches of
CompalTion : He permitted Mr. Jobafon to be led up Stairs to Bed, till betrer Affiftance could be
called ; he fuffered a Surgeon to be fent for, nay, the very Surgeon thac Mr. Fobmfon himfelf
had delired; and Mr. Febnfon"s Children, by his Lordfhip’s Order, were acquainted with the
Accident, and fent for to fee him,

Mr. Fobnfon’s Daughter was the firlt Perfon that came ; fhe met the noble Lord, and the firft
Grecting fhe had from him was, thae he had fhot her Father; and that he had done it on Pur-
pole, and deliberacely.  Mrs. Clifferd, who had been apprized of this Accident by the Servants,
came not long after ; and, in an Hour and an Half, or Two Hours, Mr. Kirkland, the Surgeon,
who was from Home when the Servant was difpatched, and at a neighbouring Village, haftened
with the belt Expedition he could make, to Stanter. When he came to Stamton he met my
Lord in the Pafiage.

Here your Lordthips will oblerve, that the Noble Lord’s Conduét and Behaviour, from this
Time to the Time that Mr. Fobufon was removed to his own Houle, feemed all along calculated
for his Efcape ; and that the only Anxiety he exprefled was the Dread of being [cized, and
brought to Punifhment in cafe Mr. Fobufon Thould die.

Upon Mr. Kirklans's firlt Appearance, my Lord had told him, that he had thot Mr. Feln-
Son, and thar he had dore it coolly 3 he defired he might not be feized ll it was known with
Cermainty, whether Mr. Fobufon would die or not ; and threarened, that if any Perfon attempted
to fcize him, ‘he would thogt them, Mr. Kirklard told him, he would rake Care that nobody
fhould meddle with him.

Mer. Kirkland was then broughe up to Mr. Fobnfon, who was upon the Bed ; the Surgeon ex-
amined the Wound, and found that the Ball had penetrated a little below the Ribs on the Left
Side; he took an Inftrument in his Hand, called a Director, in order to probe the Wound :
Here my Lord interrupted him, and fad, You need not be at that Trouble; pafs your laftru-
ment downwards; I, when I thot off the Piftol, direfted it that Way ; and Mr. Kirklaxd found
this, upon Examination, to be true; the Ball had not paffed through the Body, but remained
lodged in the Cavities of the Abdomen.

When my L.ord found 1.!-4‘1: the Ball wac in the Body, Lc grew unmﬁr; for ke was lPPﬂh-En—'
five that the Ball, if it remained there, might prove fatal: He afked Mr. Kirkland if it could
be extracted ; Mr. Kirkland told him, from what he obferved, it would be impraicable to ex-
tract the Ball : but, to give him better Hopes, he told him, that many Perfons had lived a long
while after they had been fhot, though the Ball had remained within them.

Prefently after this, the Surgeon went down Stairs to prepare a Fomentation, and foon after
returnce ;: When he came back into the Room, Mr. ?ﬂgi-f:'ﬂ complained of the Strangury, and
found a confiderable Difficulty in making Water ; this alarmed his Lordfhip again: He then
afked Mr. Kirkland, What would be the Confequence, if the Bladder or Kidneys were hure ?
Me. Kirkland having laid down his Rule of Conduét, wherein his Prodence deferves o be com-
mended, anfwered, that, though the Bladder fhould be wounded, or the Kidneys hure, there
had been many Cures performed upon fuch like Wounds.

This made his Lordihip tolerably eafy : He then began to bein better Spirits, which, I am
forry 1o fay, at that Time were fomewhat heightened with Liquor; for, although he was cool
and freth when he did the Faét, yer the Moment it was done he began to drink, and continued
drinking, at Times, till Twelve o’Clock at Night: This Liquor, however, only contributed to
raife his Spirits, without difordering his Underitanding s for he appeared to be compleat Malter
of bhimfelf the whole Day.

Afrer Mr. Kirkland had given him fo much Encouragement, they together went down to
the 5iill Room ; and now, his Lordfhip verily believing that Mr. Fobun/ow would recover, he
grew lels cautious in avowing the Deliberation with which he did the Fact, and declaring all the
Crrcumf(tances that attended i,

And here, becaufe I will not wrong the Noble Lord, by adding a fingle Letter to my Brief,
your Lordihips fhall hear his Confeflion, from thence, in his own Words.

¢ Kirkland, fays he, I believe Fobufon is more frightened than hurt ; my Intention was to have
¢ fhot him dead ; bur, finding that he did not fall at cthe firft Shot, I intended to have fhot him
© again, but the Pain he complained of made me forbear ; there Nature did take place, in Oppo-
¢ fition to the Refolution T had formed. [ defire you will take Care of him; for it would be cruel
* not to give him Eale, now I have fpared his Life.

¢ When you fpeak of this afterwards, do not fay (though I defire he may be eafed of his Pain)
¢ that I repented of what [ have done ; 1 am not forry for it ; it was not done without Confidera~
*tion; [ own it was premeditated ; I had, fome Time before, charged a Piftol for the Purpole,

¢ being
4
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* being determined to kill him, for he is a Villain, and deferves Death - but, as he i

: I defire you will not fuffer my being ﬁ.*izr:u:;[ P Ifar, if he dics, I will gn‘and ;'urrcndcl: Eln;fjtfa:}::
the Houle of Lords; 1 have encugh o jultify the Action s They may not excufe me, b

: it -.u}ar farisfy T}r r:I-wn Conlcience 5 but be fure you don’t go in the Morning without Jéuinugt

& E’:“:z%.;z"i: i:tﬂmmﬂ{]::,?:; if he s likely to recover or not; I will get up at any Timey at

* To this very ftrange and horrid Declaration Mr, Kirkland anfivered ifing hi
* thip, that he would certainly give him the firft Intelligence muchh:.;, IT'-'II;:‘]Ir fﬁtﬁgcgﬁh%ﬂ.d:
“and, as it was proper, for very prudent Reafons, as well with refpett to himl"uli/as Mr ?ﬁéaﬁ;
* to diffemble with his Lord(hip, he proceeded further, and told him, that he would give ai:a.'-ruuub];
* Account of this Matter, The Noble Lord then afked him, what he would fay af he was called
: upon 3 he told him he would fay, that though Folmfon was fhot, that he was in a fair Way of

Recavery. His Lordthip afked Mr. Kirkiand, if he would make Oath of that ? He fiid s

¢ M. Kirkland then went to fee Mr. 7&&#_;@" ﬂga:[n, and found him bﬂmf; -:E“_-lr then ;i"ﬂt lu}
* Supper, and, during the Time they were at Supper, his Lordmhip mentioned feveral other Par-
¢ ticulars : He faid he was aftonifhed that the Bullet fhould remain in his Body ; for, fays he, I have
“made a Tryal with this Piftol, and it pierced through a Board an Inch and an Half thick s I
* am aftonifhed it did not pafs through his Body ; I took good Aim, and I held the Piftol in
® this Manner; and then he fhewed Mr, Kirkland the Manner of his holding his Piftol.

He allo declared the Grounds and Motives for his killing Fabnfn; that he had been a Villain 5
that he was in the Interelt of his Enemies; that he had joined with thofe who had injured him,
and taken away his Eftate, by an Aé of Parliament ; that he had colluded with Mr. Curzon
and Mr. Hurflem, with refpect to the Coal Contratt.

Anather Thing he mentioned with refpeét to the Farm ; fays he, 1 have long wanted to drive
Jobnfen out of the Farm ; if he recovers, he will go back to Chefbire, where he came from,
Mr. Kirkland faid, no doubt bur this Accident would drive him Home again.

Adter they had fupped, Mrs, Clifford came into the Room, and fhe propofed, that Mr. Fobnfon
ﬂmu_ld be removed to the Leanr, which is the Name of Mr. Febnfor's Houfe, and lies about
a Mile from Stanton ; his Lordthip refufed to confent to that, not becaufe he thought Mr.
Fobnfar might be hurt by the Removal, bur, to ufe his own Words, becaufe he would have him
under his own Roof, to plague the Villain,

When Supper was over, they reewrned back pn Me. Seburim; who Was then under the greateit
Unealinels ; he was reftlefs, and the Complaint of the Strangury increafed : Then my Lord was
alarmed again ; he enquired of the Surgeon what would be the Confequence, in cafe the Guis
were fhot through? Mr. Kirkland gave him a favourable Anfwer that revived his Spirits 5 he
went out of the Room, and invited Mr. Kirbland to take a Bottle of Port; they then drank
together, and during that Time, the fame, or the like Expreffions were repeated s I will not
trouble your Lord(hips with them again 3 bue he all along declared, he did not do it haftily, bue
coolly and deliberately 5 that his Intention was to have killed him : And that the Reafon why he
did it at that Time was, becaufe he would not fign a Paper of Recantation, acknowleging all
the Injuries he had done his Lordihip.

They then again returned to Mr. Fobmfom, after they had drank out che Bottle : Whether the
Liquor was prevalent or not, I don’t know 3 your Lordfhips will cblerve what followed : His
Behaviour to the poor Man, though he lay there under the Surgeon’s Hands, was totally changed,
and his Refentment grew outragious ; my Lord again attacked him upon the fame Charge as
before, compelled him to acknowlege before all the Company (of which his Daughter was one)
that he was a Villain ; nay, he was about to drag him cut of Bed upon the Floor, which would
hardly have been prevented, if Me. Feabnfon, who was tutored by a Wink from Mr. Kirkland,
had not faid, I do confels Tam a Villain : My Lord at lait went to Bed ; bur, before he departed,
he faid, with great Earneftnels to Mr. Kirklend, May I rely upon you ? are you fure there is no
Danger ? may I go to Bed in Safety ? Mr. Kirkland faid, Yes, your Lordthip may. When his
Lordfhip was gore, poor ﬁ&bﬁfﬂ' begged to be removed to his own Houle. Mr. Kirkland
wilhed it as much ; for, befides that he could not have that free Accels to his Patient thac
was neceflary, if he was to remain there, he thought himlelf in the utmoft Peril. My
Lord had confeffed too much, and Kirkland too little ; fo that if Mr. Fobafon had died there,
no Man in Mr. Kirklend's Situation would have wilhed ‘to have been alone with his Lordfhip,
confidering the dangerous Converfation that had paffed between them.

Mr. Kirkland, therelore, immediately went to the Lount, procured Six or Seven armed Men;
and came back by Twe o’Clock in the Morning. They. removed Mr. Fobajor, put him into a
great Chair, and wrapped him up in Blankets, and fo conveyed him home. Towards Moring
the poor Man’s Symproms grew worle, and Mr. Kérkland then went away.,

r. Jobnfon lay languithing till Seven or Eightin the Morning, and then died. ;

In the mean time Mr. Kirklond had procured a Number of armed Men to go dewn to Stamion,

and to feize his Lordthip.  When they came there, my Lord was juft out of Bed; he ?;d his
C Arters
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Garters in his Hand, and was feen pafling towards the Stable. The Horfes were all faddled,
and every thing got in Readinefs for his Efcape.

Mr, Springtborpe advanced towards him ; and when his Lordihip found he was really to be
attacked, he fled back to his Houfe, and there ftood a Siege of Four or Five Hours. While
he was thus befer, he appeared at the Garret Windows, and, thinking himfelf fecure in that
Flace, he began to parley, and afked, what they wanted with lum ¢ T'hey told him, Mr. Jobifon
was dead, and that they were come to fecure him. He faid, he knew that was falfe; for Mr.
Fobmjen was not dead : That he wifthed it mighe be true : That he would not believe it, unlefs
Mr. Kirkland would declare it : That he would pay no Regard to any body elfe. He did not think
fit te furrender ; but continued in the Houfe, till he thoughe he had an Opportunity of efcaping
through the Garden.  He was there dilcovered by one Carler, a Collier, who was a bold Man,
and determined to take him: He marched up to him ; and though his Lord(hip was armed with
a Blunderbufs, Two or Three Piltols, and a Dagger, he fubmitted to the Collier’s taking him,
without making the lealt Refiftance : And the Moment he was in Cuftody, he declared he gloried
in the Faft ; and again declared, that he intended to kill Fobnfon. Fe was then carried to Mr.
Kinfey's Houfe, and remained there till after the Coroner fat upon the Body.

I muit mention to your Lordihips, that upon Mr. Hall, a Clergyman’s being introduced to-
him, he told him, he knew his Duty as well as he or any other Clergyman: Thae the Faét he
had committed was coolly and deliberately done.  So thar your Lordthips fee his Declarations
were confiltent and uniform, from the Beginning to the End.

I Mhall neither aggravate nor obferve.

Thele are the Circumftances which attended this horrid Murder. 1 have opened them faith-
fully from my Inftruftions. The Cafe is rather ftronger than I have made it

The Witneffes are to acquaint your Lordthips, whether I have opened the Cale truly. If the
Evidence comes out as I have reprefented it to your Lordfhips, then your Lordfhips Sentence:
mult be agreeable to Law. The noble Earl at the Bar muft be found guilty.

If he has any Defence, God torbid thar he fhould not have a fair Opportunity of making it.
Let him be heard with Patience. The Profecutors will be as glad as your Lordlhips to find him
LNOCEnt.

The Evidence is to determine ; and upon that Evidence we (hall leave it.

Adv. Sellicitor Gemeral, T Londs, we will now proceed to call our Witneffes.
The Hon. Charles Yorke, Efq; }M Call Elizabeth Bargeland,

Woo came to the Bary and one of the Clerks beld the Book to ber, upew which fbe laid ber Hand.

Clerk of the Crewn. Hearken to your Oath.

The Evidence that you fhall give on Behalf of our Sovereign Lord the King's Majefly,
againlt Lasorence Earl Ferrers the Prifoner av the Bar, fhall be the Truth, the whole
Truth, and nothing but the Truth.

So belp you G OD.
Then fbe kiffed the Book. a

Mr. Solliciter General. My Lords, This Witnefs was in the Houfe at the Time when the
Faft is charged o have been committed.

Lord High Steward. 1f your Lordfhips pleafe, the Clerk may go down to the Bar and repeat
to your Lordfhips what is faid by Lord Ferrers or the Witnefles,

Lords. Ay, Ay.

Earl Ferrers. My Lords, There was fomething faid by the Gentleman, Council for the Crown,
that is a lietle falfe, relating to a Leafe faid to be given by Sir Willam Meredith to Mr. Fobnfon;
T did not know of that Leafe previous to this Fact ; there were other Matters mentioned that are
not right; I will not take up your Lordthips Time to anfwer them now, but leave that Marter
till I come to my Defence.

Mr. Sellicitor General. My Lords, Whatever his Lordihip thinks material in his Defence, he
will have many Opportunities to offer.

lﬂ&Mh Selliciter General. You was a Maid Servant in Lord Ferrers’s Houfe the 1 1th of Famuary
¢

Burgeland. Yes,

Mr. Sollicitor Gemeral. Did you know one Mr. Fobnfon ?
Burgeland.  Yes.

Mer. Sollicitor General. Do you know any Thing of Mr, 21"s being employed by Lord
Ferrers 2 did he ufe to attend h?:n ¢ 4 ¢ s Bty

Burgeland.  He lometimes attended my Lord Ferrers. Py
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Mr. Selliciter Gemeral. Did you know any Thing of his bei d .
Ferrersatany Time in Famuary laft 2 4 8 eing expeted to wait on Lord

Burgeland.  Yes,

Mr. Sollicitor Gemeral.  'What do you know of it ?

Burgeland. 1 know he came to the Houfe.

Mr. Sollicitor General. Do you know what Day in Fanury ?

Burgeland, 1 don’t know what Day.

Mr. Sollicitor General. About what Time of the Day was it ?

Burgeland. About Three o’Clock in the Afternoon,

Mr, Solffciter General. On what Day of the Week was it?

Burgeland.  On Friday.

Mr, Sollicitor General,  When Mr. Fobnfon came, who let him in ?

Burgeland, 1let him in.

Mr. Sollicitor General. What did he fay ?

Burgeland. He atked whether his Lordfhip was within 3 I told him he was in his Room,
Mr. Sellicitor General,  What happened after that 7 Did my Lord expect him ?
Burgeland. 1 believe he did.

Mr. Solficitor General,  When he was let in, did you go with him ?

Burgeland. No ; he walked up to the Room Door, and knocked at it himfelf.

M. Sellicitor General, At the Door of the Room where Lord Ferrers was firting
Burgeland. Yes,

Mr. Sollicitor General. Did he go in then ?
Burgeland. No; he did not go in then.
Mr. Sollicitor Geweral. Did ]E:rrd Ferrers fpeak to him ?
Burgeland.  Yes; and told him to walk into the other Room.
My, Sollicitor General. Do you know any Thing of what paffed between them?
Burgeland, 1 cannot fay any Thing abour it.
ﬂ. Sollicitor General.  You faid Lord Ferrers expefed Mr. Fobnfow, how do you know he
expected him ?
9 Burgeland, Mrs. Clifford told me in the Morning, that Mr. Fabnfen was to come to his Lord-
ip that Day,
F‘I‘fﬂ Sﬂﬁr¥m Genteral. D! you hear, ar do you knew; any Thing of whar paffed between
Lord Ferrers and Mr. Febnfen, when Mr. Fobnfon went into my Lord’s Room
Burgeland. No.
Mr. Sellicitar General. 'Was the Door locked or open, after he went into the Room #
Burgeland. Locked.
M. Selliciter General. How came you to obferve that ?
Burgeland. 1 heard it locked. .
Mr. Sellicitor General, Where did you go after Mr. Jobufon was in the Room with Lord
Ferrers ?
Burgeland. Into the Kitchen. ‘
Mr. Solliciter General. 'Who was with you there ?
Burgeland. The other Maid Servant.
Mr. Sollicitor Geweral.  'What was her Name ?
Burgeland.  Elizaberh Saxen—There was another Maid Servant in the Kitchen when he
went in.
Mr. Sellicitor General. "Who was fhe?
Burgeland.  Elizabeth Doleman. . _
Mr. Sollicitor General. After thar, did yu&ul rl:u.-ar any Thing ?
Burpeland. 1did not hear any Thing mylelt.
MFSM’IMM‘ General.  Did };rnu afterwards hear any Thing of what happened ?—Do you
know whether Mr. Fobnfen came out of the Room ?
Burgeland. 1 cannot tell any Thing of it.
M. Sollicitor General. Did you go into the Room ? 1
Burgeland. 1 did not go into the Room ; [ was not out of the Kitchen,
Mr. Sellicitor Gemeral.  Did y?; l;_l:nr anﬁ Noile ?
Burgeland. No; I heard no Noife ar all. :
M?Sniﬁ:i:.ﬁr General. Did you hear any Pifto! go off, or any Noife?
Burgeland. 1 heard a P':ﬁ?]hgcdp? o
. Sollicitor General. at did you do then ¢ :
g:;gf!fmd. ‘When [ heard the PJHEI go, I run into the Yard, and the other Maid Servant
with me.
Mr. Scllicitor General. 'What happened afterwards ?

,Eurpf.m;. We ftaid in the Yard a while, a few Minutes, and came back to the W:.Ih-huuﬂge;‘
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Mr. Sellicitor Gemeral. "Was the Room Door open after you heard that Noife !
Burgeland. 1did not ftay till ic was open.

Mr. Sollicitor Generel. Ihd you ftay till Lord Ferrers came ?

Burgeland. My Lord came when we were in the Wath-houle, and called.

Mr. Solliciter General. What did he fay ?

Burgeland. e hooped and hellood, Where are you all ?

Mr. Selliciror Geveral.  What did he fay then ?

Bargeland. 1 went out, and faid, We are here, my Lord ; he afked me, Where we had been.

1 faid, in the Bleeching Yard.

Mr. Sellicitor General.  Did he give you any Order ¢

Burgeland. He ordered that we fhould walk down to the Houfe.

Mr. Solliciter Gemeral. Did he give any other Order ?

Burgefand,  He fent up a Maid Servant into the Yard to ferch the Man in.

Mr. Sollicitor General,  Did he fay any Thing of Mr. Jebnfon 2

Burgeland.  Not iill 1 got into the Room.

My, Sellicitor General. Whar did he fay then ?

Burgeland,  He went up to Mr. Febufen and afled, how he did ?

Mr. Salliciier General.  What did Mr. Fobufor fay ?

Burgeland,  That he was a dying Man, and defired he would fend for his Children.
Mr. Sollicitor Gemerel.  Did any Thing elfe pafs #

Rurgeland.  That is all'l know,
" Mr. Sellicitor General.  'Who elfe was in the Houfe beflides the Servants you have named and

yourfelf ¢
Burgeland. There was nobody in the Houle but us Three when Mr. Yobnfor came ; and but

Two in the Kitchen when it was done.

Mr. Sclficitor Gemeral.  What other Servants cid my Lord ufe to keep ?

Burgeland. One Man Servant § anold Man, I don’t know whether he was a Servant,

Mr. Selliciter General.  Did any other Perfon live with him #

Burgeland. . Mrs, Clifford, and the four young Ladies.

Mr. Solliciter General. Were they all our at the Time when thig happened ?

Burgeland, - Yes' they were all' out but the Two Maids,

Mr. Seilicitor General. Were the{“mu by Accident, or by Order ?

Burpeland. 1 do not know any Thing or "any Order.

Mr, Sollicitor General. IDid you give Mr. Fobnfow any Afliltance to carry him up to his
Room ?

Burgeland.  Yes; 1 took himup to Bed by the Arm, by his Lordihip’s Order.

Earl Ferrers, Was not the Door locked before Mr, Fobnfon came ?

Burgeland. Yes

Earl Ferrers. Has it been locked before ?

Burgefand. It has feveral times, when my Lord has been upon Bulinefs.

Ear! Ferrers. 'Was not Mr. Febnfon at my Houle on the Monday ¢

Burgeland.  Yes, he was there on the Meonday.

Ear! Ferrers. Did you hear any Difpute or Words between Mr. Fobuform and me on the

Menday ?
Burgeland. No, I did not hear any at all,
Ear! Ferrers. Had not I packed up my Trunks, intending to go to Zonden the Week fol-

low; ng?

Burgelend. Yes.
Earl Fervers. On the Monday while he was there, and fent to the Carriages ?

Burpeland. Yes.
M. Gould.  Qur next Witnefs is Elizabeth Saxon (twbo was fwers in like manner).

Mr. Gould.  Did you live with Lord Ferrers in January laft?

Saxew, Yes,
Mr, Geuld. Did you know Fabu Fobnfon ?
Saxer. Yes,

Mr. Gowld. Do you remember Mr. Fobnfeon's coming to Lord Ferrers in Famuary ©
daxen,  Yes.

Mr. Gould. Upon what Day ?

faxven, The Eighteenth.

Mir. Gewld. . What Day of the Week was it ?

Saxen. On Friday.

Mr., Genld. Who was in the Houfe when he came 2

4 Saxenm,
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Saxen. Wobody, only Three Maids and my Lord.

Mr. Genld. What Time of the Day did he come ?

Saxon. About Three o’Clock,

Mr. Gonld,  What was become of the reft of my Lord's Family ?
Saxow. 1don’t know : Mrs. Clifford and the Miffes were gone out.

Mr. Gould. How long were they gone out before Mr, Fob .
Saxen. About Half an Hour. 58 clore Mr. Fobafon came,

M. Geuld. Do you know the Reafon of their going away P
Jaxen. No; my Lord came into the Still-houfe, and faid, they might =o and fetch a Walk.,
Mr. Gould. Fow long was it before they did go upon the Walk?
Fra WL Sl
. Gowld, "hat Time of Day did my Lord pi i ?
Saxon. It was about Three u‘l:lka. S
Mr. Gewid. Was any thing mentioned where they were to go?
Saxen.  Mrs. Clifferd aflced him, whether they mighe go to her Father’s ? And my Lord faid,

€s.

Mr. Gonld. Was any thing mentioned how long they might flay?
Saxen. He faid, they mighe ftay till Five, or Half an Hour after.
Mr. Geuld. What Men Servants belonged to the Houft ?

Saxen.  There is but One Boy and an old Man.

Mr. Geuld. Where were they ?

Saxen. 1 cannot tell,

Mr, Gewld. Were they in the Houle ?

Saxom. No.
Mr. Gowld. When Mr. Fobnfen came in, in what Room was my Lord Ferrers ?
Saxen, In his own Room. .

Mr. Gonld.  "Where did Mr. Fobnfon go when he came into the Houft ?

Saxen. He went up to my Lord’s Room.

Mr. Gewld. Did my Lord appear ?

Saxen. My Lord came to the Door,

M. Gould.  Did you hear any thing faid by my Lord to Mr. Febafen 2

Saxen. Neo.

Mr. Genld. Where did Mr. Yebufon go when my Lord came our ?

Saxon. My Lord came out, and ordered him to go into the Still-houfe,

Mr. Gould. What became of my Lord then?

Saxen. He went into his Room.

Mr. Gewld. How long did he ftay there before he came cut again ?

Saxen. 1 don’t know: May be a few Minutes; not long ; Ten Minutes, or fuch a Matter.

Mr. Goaid. 'When he came out did Le fpeak to Mr, Falufon ?

Saxern. Idon'tknow that hedid : T did not hear him.

Mr. Genld. Did you fee Mr, Fobnfor when my Lord came out a fecond Time ?

Saxen. No.

Mr. Geuld. What became of Mr. Jebufew ; did he go into any Reom with my Lord
Ferrers ? .

Saxen. 1 know he went into my Lord’s Room,

Mr. Gould. Was the Door locked or not 2

Saxon. He locked to the Door afier Mr, Jobnfon was in.

Mr. Geald, Did you hear the Doer locked ?

Saxen. Yes, 1 heard it locked.

Mr. Gonld. What did you hear pals in that Room ?

Saxen. WNothing ac all ; I did not hear any Thing. .

Mr. Gould. Did you hear any Expreffion, any Words ufed by my Lord to Mr. Febafon ?

Saxen. No.

Mr. Genld. Did you hear any Noife? - =

Saxom. Yes; I heard them very Joud 3 I heard my Lord fay, Down on your other Knes, and
declare what you have afted againlt Lord Ferrers, and then the Piftol went off ; and I and the
other Maid were frightned, and run away. 7t
* Mr. Genld, Did you hear my Lord, or Mr. Fobnfen, fay any Thing more in the Room,
than what you have mentioned ? c
* Saxen. No. : i

Earl Ferrers. Was it not cultomary for Mrs. Clifford to (peak to me E:fﬂ»ft the went out ?

Saven. She faid, my Lord, where muft we go to?

Earl Ferrers.  Was it cultomary to fpeak to me ?
b Sangn-
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Saxon.  Yes.

Earl Ferrers.  How came you to be at my Door at that Time ?

Saxen. 1 was notat my Lord’s Door,

Lord Mangfeld. Who was the other Maid that was with you when you over-heard what
palled in my Lord’s Room ¢

Saxon. The other Witnefs that was here ?

Laord Mansfield. Had that ather Servane the fame Opportunity to hear as you had 3 was (he
as near the Door, liftening in the fame Way you was ?

Saxon. No, fhe was not.

Earl Ferrers. Do you know what Time Mrs. Clifford was to return ?

Saxon.  About Five o'Clock, or Half an Hour after Five.

Ear! Ferrers.  Did not Mrs, Clifferd very often go our about that Time after Dinner, about
Three or Four o'Clock ?

Saxon. Yes.

Earl of Morton. You faid in the Firlt Part of your Evidence, that you heard my Lord fay
to Mr. Febnfon, Down on your other Knee. My Lord Ferrers afked you, how you came to be
near the Door.  You faid, that you was not.  Where did you hear it ?

Saxen. 1 was az the Kitchen Door: 1 was no nearer than the Kitchen,

Earl of Merten. You fay, that Lord Ferrers locked his Door ?

Saxon. Yes.

Earl of Morten, Was it cultomary for him to lock it when People were with him, or when
he was alone ?

Saxen. 1don’t know,

Earl of Morten. Did you ever know Lord Ferrers lock his Door when Mr. Fobufen was
with him ?

Saxan, Nao,

Earl Ferrers. Did you never know that [ locked the Door when I had Company with me?

Saxen. No; 1don’t know thae his Lordfhip did it ever fince I came,

Ear! of Hardwicke. You have faid, that Lord Ferrers told Mr. Fobn/en to kneel on the cther
Knee; and that you heard it, though you was no nearer than the Kitchen Door : What Diltance
was there between the Kitchen Door and the Door of the Room where Lord Ferrers was?

Saxer. Not a great Way.

Earl -ﬂf Hardwicke.  What Diftanve was e 3

Saxen. It might be Ten or a Dozen Yards, may be.

Earl Ferrers. Was there not a thicle Wall berween that Room and the Kitchen, and a
Chimney.

Saxen. Yes.

Elizabeth Dolman fivsrn in like menner.

Mr. Norton. Was you Servant to Lord Ferrers in January laft ?

Dolman. Yes.

M. Nerton. Did you know Mr. Fabufea the Deceafed ?

Dolman. Yes.

Mr. Norton. Do you remember his coming there in Yanuary lalt ?

Dolman.  Yes.

Mr. Norton. What Day of the Month was it ?

Dolman. The Eighteenth.

Mr. Nerton. What Time of the Day ?

-Dolman. About Three o"Clock.

Mr. Nerton. Who was in the Houfe of Lord Ferrers ar that Time ?

Delman. Three Maids.

Mr. Nerton, Nobody lfe?

Dolman. WNo,

Mr. Nerton. Was not his Lordihip there ?

Dolman.  Yes.

Mr. Nortsn. Do you know where the reft of che Family was ar that Time?

Dolman, 1 know nothing of that: I believe Mrs. Ciffard and the Children were gone
out.
Mr. Nerten. Do you know whether Mr. Fobufon was expelted at Lord Ferrers’s that Day ?
Dolman. [ don’t know.

Mr. Norton. Was you in the Hoult whea Mr. Febnfon came i ?

Deoliwagn. 1 was inche Kirchen.
9 Mr.
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Mr. Noctan. Who let him in?

Dolwan. Elizabeth Burgeland,

Mr. Nerten. Who did ke afl; for?

Delman: Lood Ferrers.

Mr. Norton. Did you or Elizabeth Burgeland thew him to Lord Ferrers #
Dolmar. Elizabeth Burgeland.

Mr. Norton. You was there ?

Delman. 1 was in the Kicchen,

Mr. Nerton.  Did you hear any thing that paffed between Lord Ferrers and Mr. Fobnjon #
Dolman. No. !

Mr. Norten. Did you hear a Piftol go off?

Dolman. Yes

Mr. Nerton. At that Time where were Lord Ferrers and Mr. Fobufon ?
Dolman. In my Lord’s Room.

Mr. Nerton. How long had Mr. Fabnfon been in my Lord’s Room before you heard thé
Report of the Piftol 2

Delman. May be about Half an Hour. _

Mr. Norisn. Was you there when Mr. Febnfen went into the Room ?

Dolman. I was in the Kitchen.

Mr. Nerton. Did you hear the Door locked ?

Dafman.  Yes.

Mr. Nertsn.  How did you hear it? Was there a Spring, or was the Key turned ?

Dolman. It was rumed with the Key.

Mer. Nerter. Did you hear the Key wrned, and the Door locked ?

Dolman. Yes. _

Mr. Nortor. How foon did you fee Mr. Febnfon after the Piltol went off ¢

Dolman.  1did not fee Mr. Fobrfon ull after he was laid upon the Bed. 3

Mr. Nerton. Did you fee Lord Ferrers after Mr. Fobnfor was laid upon the Bed ?

Dolman. Yes. '

Mr. Nerton. Did you hear any Converfation between my Lord and Mr. Foba/on at the Timé
Mr. Fobnfen was upon the Bed ?

Delan. Lord Ferrers ordered me to go up and fee what Mr. Fsbnfon would have done.

Mpr. Nertern.  Then his Lordthip was nor in the Rocm e shae Time #

Delwan. Not then ; he came in after.

Mr. Norton, What paffed then ? What did you hear between them ?

Delman. 1 went up Stairs, and afked Mr. Fobu/en how he did.  He faid, he was very poorly.

My, Norton, Was Lord Ferrers there then 2

Dalman. No.

Mr. Nerton. How f{oon did he come in? )

Dolman.  He did not come in till after I had ferched a Bed out of the Garret, and laid it on
the Beditrad.

M. Nerten. Did you hear his Lordthip fy any thing to Mr. Fobufon ?

Dolman. Yes; his Lordihip told him, that he would fhoot him through the Head.

Mr. Norten. Did Mr. Febnfon make any Reply to that?

Dolman. He faid, No Mazter how loon, my Lord.

Mr. Nerten. What Time of the Night was this?

Dolman. It might be between Four and Five o'Clock. 4

Ear! Ferrers.  Did not1 fend you for the Bed, and order it to be well diced ?

Dolman, Yes

Leord Ravenfworth. How long did you live with my Lord Ferrers before this fuppoled Ac-
cident ? :

Deolmsn. Ttwmight be Two Months.,

Lord Rmfmf:b. Did Mr. Jobnfes ever, during the Time you lived with my Lord
Fervers, before the 18th of Fansary, to your Knowlege, come to Lord Ferrers ?

Delman.  Yes; T have feen him there.

Lord Ravenfiwsrsh. 1 fhould be glad to know, whether from your own Knowlege, or from
any Converfation with others, you had a"ﬁ'l Reafon to fufpet or believe that Lord Ferrers bore
M. Fobssfon any T-will 3 or did his Lordfhip ever make any Complaint, to your Knowlege, in
regard to Mr. Yebnfon ?

Dolmen. No I never had.

Lord Raverfworsh. At what Time did Mr. Febn/on come to Lord Ferrers ¥

Dolman. About Three o'Clock.

Lord
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Lerd Ravenfworib, When Lord Ferrers and Mr. Jobufon wene into the Room, did Lord
Ferrers appear 1o be in Liquor ? '

Dieleran. No, not at all,

Lord Ravenfeeorth.  When you was in the Room, and Mr. Febnfon faid he was but poorly,
did you imagine he was fhot ?

Dolman. No.

Leord Ravenfiverth, Did Lord Ferrers wke Mr. FYobnfon by the Wig, before he faid he
would fhoot him through the Head ?

Dolman. Yes.

Lord Ravenfiworih. Did you hear the Piftol go off, and where ?

Delwan. 1 was in the Yard 5_and I heard the Piftol £o off. :

Lerd Mansield.  Did you hear any Part of the Converfation between Lord Ferrers and the
Decealtd belore the Piftol wene off ?

Dolman. 1 did not,

Lord Mansfizld.  Was you near enough to have heard it, if any fuch Converfation had paffed ?

Dolman. 1 was not.

Lord Mansfield, Had Elizabeth Saxon, from the Place where the was, a better Opportunity
of hearing what pafled ?

Dolian. | cannot fay.

Lord Mangfield.  Whete was you at that Time ¢

Dialiman, 1 was in the Yard.

Lord Mansfisld, . Where was Elizabeth Saxon ?

Delwan.  She was in the Kicchen, 1 believe.

Lord Mangfield. What was the Diftance between the Kichen Door and the Room where
Lord Ferrers and the Deceafed were ?

Dolman. 1 cannot jultly tell.

Leord Mansfield.  Might a Perfon that was at the Kitchen Door hear any Converfation or
Words which paffed between Two People in that Room ?

Delman, Yes.

Lord Mansfield. Was it as far off as to that Bench ?

Doliman.  Yes.

Farl Ferrers.  Did you ever hear any Converfation that pafled in my Room, at any Time
when I had Company and you was in the Kitchen *

Doiman. 1 have heard Talking.

Ear! Ferrers. Could you diftinguifh what was faid ?

Dalman, 1 never took Notice, :

A Lerd. Was you at the Kitchen Door when my Lord Ferrers and Mr. Tobafon were in his
Room ?

Dolman. 1 was in the Kitchen,

A Lerd. Did you hear Lord Ferrers tell Mr. Fabnfen to kneel on the other Knee ?

Daliman. No; I heard no fuch Thing.

A Lord. 'Was you with the other Witnefs at the Time (he fays the heard thefe Words ?

Dolman. 1 was not.

Tord Mangheld. 1 defire to know of this Witnels, whether at the Time that the Piftol went
off, The was not in the Yard ; and the Maid, that heard the Converfation, at the Kitchen Door 2

Delfman. 1 was in the Yard then.

Ford Mansfield. "Where was you when you heard the Key lock the Door ?

Dolman. 1 was in the Kitchen.

Lord Ravenfwerth. You fay you was in the Room when Lord Ferrers went op to Mr.
Fobifou, and he pulled Mr. Fobafen by the Wig, and faid, he would fhoot him; how long
was that from the Time that you heard the Piftol go off ?

Dolman. | cannor juitly fay.

Ford Ravenfwerih, What Space of Time was there, from the Time that you faw Mr. Fobn/on
in the Room, to the Time that Lord Ferrers came and pulled him by the Wig, and faid, he
would (hoot him through the Head ?

Dolman. I cannct fay, he had lain upon the Bed fome Time.

Sarah Johnfon fivers.

M. Perrort. You are the Davghter of Fobr Fobnfow, to whom this Accident happened ?
Fobmfon. Yes. d
M. Perrert. Was your Father concerned in Lord Ferrers’s Eftae ?
Tobnfon. Wor thar [ know of.

Ar. Perrori, Was lie his Steward 2

Jebnfor.
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Fobufon. He did live with him, but not within thefe Two Years,

Mr. Perratt. Did he reccive any Rents?

Sobnfon. For nobody but Lord Ferrers, .

Mr. Perrott.  Did he rent any Farm that was Part of the Eftate of Lord Ferrers?

Fobufon. Not that I know of.

Mr. Perrott. Do you remember his going to Lord Ferrers, at any Time in Fanuary laft 2

Fobufon.  On the 18th of Fanuary.

Mr. Perratt. Do you know whether Lord Ferrers had been with your Father any fhore Time
before thae 18th of Fanwary ? - y

Fobnfon, Lord Ferrers was at our Houfe on the Sunday before.

Mr. Perrott.  Did you hear any Converfation that paffed between Lord Ferrers and your
Father, on that Sunday ?

Febnmfon. 1did not; I came home before he was gone.

Mr. Perrott.  Did you hear Lord Ferrers fay any Thing to Mr. Fobufon ?

Fobnjon. No; I was notin the Room.

Mr. Perrott.  Did not you know before the 18th of Famuary, that your Father was to go on
that Day to Loord Ferrers's? .

Fobnfon. 1heard miy Father fay, that he was to go to Lord Ferrers's on the Friday. |

Mr. Perrotr. Do you know upon what Occalion he was to go?

Fobufon. No.

Mr. Perrott.  Upon whofe Appointment ?

Fobnfin. No.

Mr. Perrott. Was you fent for to Lord Ferrers’s on the 18th of Fawary #

Fobmfon. Yes.

Mr. Perratt. At what Time?

Fobnfor. 1 think it was between Four and Five o’Clock.

Mr. Perroti. Who fent for you ?

Fobmnfen. 1 believe it was Lord Ferrers.

Mr. Perrott.  'Who was it that came for you ¢

Fobufon. A Man that was at Work there,

Mr. Perrott. What Meflage was brooght to you?

Fobnfen. That I mult came down to the Hall to Lord Ferrers.

Mr. Perrort.  Then was any Thing mmabour your Father o

Fobufor. [ afked, what he wanted me for 2 and he faid, my Father was taken very ill,

My. Perrott. When you got there, did you fee my Lord Ferrers 2

Fobnfon. Y“.Wh s g i .

Mr. Perrott, at did he fay to you?

Fobufor. 1 cannot fay : 1 :I.lc;:i hisw how my Father was ; he ordered one of the Maids to
go up Stairs, and fhew me where my Father was. .

Mr. Perrott. Was Lord Ferrers in the Room when you was with your Father 2

Fobnfon. He followed me up d’treéll!?v.

Mr. Perrett.  In what Condition did you find your F;ther?

Fobnfen. He was in Bed s but he did not fay any Thing to me,

M. Perrott. Did Lord Ferrers [ay any Thing ? :

Fobufon. When Lord Ferrers came up, he faid, he thought he had not fhot him.

Mr. Perratt. Was any Thing done upon thae? ;

Yobnfon. Some Time after that, Lord Ferrers came up again 3 and 1, or he, turned the
Cloaths down 3 and he faid, he faw he had fhot him; and throwed fomething out of a Bottle 5
1 don’t know what it was; he poured fomething upon it, out of a Botle.

M. Perrart.  Who poured that out of the Bottle ?

Fobnfon. Lord Ferrers. _

Myr. Perrott.  Did he tell you how the Accident happened

Fobufon. He %ﬁd n‘:'lt then I'a;rT any ;l"hing about that.

" rort. e at any Lime: : i
;{p;#jg: He faid, he did nzt know what he had done ; he had fhot him ; he faid, it was what
defigned.
htMr.EF:rr:rIL Was that the fame Day or afterwards ?
nfon. The fame Day. : "

%;’f.fﬁ‘errau. Did Lﬂr.jr Ferrers fay any Thing about your Father's Family ?

Fobufon. He faid he would take C;:rc of Iir}sfﬁmily, if my Father died.

r. Perrgsr. "Was that all; was thereno 1T ¢ :

;:énﬁm IFII—‘lt.- faid he was in hopes, [ would not let any body come to take him that he
would take Care of the Family 3 that he would not go out of the Houfe till my Father was
buried, if he fhould dic. = %
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Mr. Perrett. Do you know of any Thing more that paffed berween Lord Ferrers and you,
about your Father ? : -

Febufon. My Lord, when Mr. lK:rH#nd was fearching the Wound, fhewed him which
Way he held the Piftol when he let it off. g7 3k

My, Perrott. Did Lord Ferrers fay at that Time it was an Accident ?

Feobnfon. WNo; he faid he defigned it.

Mr. Pervett. Did he give any Reafon for it?

Fobaufon.  1did not hear him give any Reafon for it.

Mr.” Perrott. Do you know whether your Father was ever ferved with any Notice to quit a
Farm?

Fobnfon, TYes,

Mr. Perrott, What Farm was that?

Fobafon. The Farm he lived in.

Mr. Perrott. Whole Eftate was it?

Fobnfon. Lord Ferrers's.

Mr. Perrotr.  'Who gave him that Notice?

Fobnfon, Either Lord Ferrers or Mr. Clifford ; Mr. Clifford gave it me; they were both

together.

Paper produced.
Mr. Perrott. Is that che Paper ?
Fokujom, Yes,

Paper read.

“ [ Do hereby give you Notice to quit your Farm at Lady-Day next enfuing, or Six Months
* % after the Date hereof, November the 7th, 1758, agreeable to your Leale granted to me,

“ Richard ﬁ’;}fa.r#."f

My, Perrott. 'Was Lord Ferrers by when that .was given to you 2

Fobnfon. Yes,

Mr. Perretr.  Did you hear any Thing fuld: abwwe chas Farm 2

Fobufon. No.

My, Perrott.  Shewing her the Body of the Paper, Whofe Hand-writing is that ?

Febnfor, This is Lord Ferrers’s, I believe.

Mpr. Perrott.  Did you ever fee Lord Ferrers write 2

Fobnfon. No.

Myr. Perrott. When you was up in the Room with Mr, Fobnfon, do you remember any
body attempting ro pull the Cloaths off ?

fobnfom, Lord Ferrers attempted to pull them off.

Mr. Perrett.  What Time was that ?

Febufen. 1 cannot fay 5 about Ten or Eleven o’Clock.

Mr. Perrait. Do you know of any Occalion that was given for my Lord's attempting to
pull the Cloaths off your Father ?

Folufon. T cannot fay what was the Reafon of it.

Mgy Perrott. What'had paffed before that ? .

bn?aimﬁm I cannot tell : Lord Ferrers feemed to be very angry before; but I cannot tell what
about.

Mr. Perrott.  Did my Lord Ferrers pull off the Cloaths 2

Fobnfon. Hedid not pull them off.

Mr. Perrott. How did that bappen ?

Jebafon. | catched hold of them.

Mr. Perrott. Do you remember any thing That Lord Ferrers faid at the Time thar he at-
tempted to pull off the Cloaths ? ;

Fobmfon. He faid, he knew him to bea Villain, and that he had afted Things againt him,
that were not right.

Mr. Perrott.  Did your Father fay any Thing to you about Lord Ferrers's having (hot him ?

Jebnfan, T don’t remember he did.

M. Perront.  Did not your Father tell you, that Lord Ferrers had thot him 2 And that he
believed he hould die?

Fobufon. 1 heard him fay he believed he fhould die; but I did not hear him fy, that Lord
Ferrers had fhot him. 1 do not remember it. My Lord faid, he knew the Fillol to be a good
one, he had fhot through a Board with it.

8 M.
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Mr. Perrott. 'Was any body by when Lord Ferrers faid that be had thot him, and that it was
what he defigned ?

Fobnfen. Mr. Kirkland was by.

Egrf Ferrers. Do you thik that I was fober when I came into the Room where your Father
Was ¢

Febnfon. At the time I came in I think his Lordthip was.

Mr. Perrott.  Ar the Time of this Confefion ?

Fobnfon. I cannot tell : I think he was not quite fober when he faid that.

Lord Talbot. 1 believe the Confufion of this unhappy Witnefs has occafioned an apparent,
though not an intentional, Variation in her Evidence ; therefore I defire fhe may be afked again
about the Farm.

Mpr. Perratt.  Did you know of your Father's renting a Farm of Lord Ferrers ?

Febnfon. He rented no Farm buc what he had of Lord Ferrers.
Mr. Perreit.  And did be rent one of him ?

Fobufon.  Yes,

LeMr. Perror. Youwas afked at firfk about the Leafe ; he might have the Farm and not the
ale,
. Jobufon.  He had a Leale; but I believe he had it but the laft Year.

Lerd Ravenfwerth. [ agree with the Noble Lord, that there is a particular Tendernefs in the
Situation of this Witnefs ; but imagine your Lordfhips are defirous of knowing as many Particulars
as may be relating to this unhappy Affair 3 therefore I defire this Witnefs may be afked, whether
fhe, at any Time near the Time of the Deceale of her Father, did hear her Father exprels any
Degree oty Uneafinefs, or Apprehenfion, from his being to wait ppon Lord Ferrers 2

Fobmfen. No, I never heard him fay, that he was afraid of going to Lord Ferrers's.

Mr. Attorney General. My Lords, we will now call Mr..Curzen to prove the Body of the
Notice that has been read, to be all of Lord Ferrers’s Hand-writing.

Earl Ferrers. 1donotdeny'it. I hope the Witnelles may be detained by your Lordfhips,
in cafe I'thould think proper to call them again.

M. Atterwey General. My Lord, we will take Care that they fhall be forth-coming.

Themas Kirkland fworn.

Mr. Attorney General.  WHAT by youse Profolliony ew-Gruupatiun !
Kirkiand. A Surgeon,

" Mr. Attorney General. 'Where do you chiefly praftife?

Kirkiand., At Abby De ila Zouch.

M. Attsrney General. How far is that from Lord Ferrers’s Houfe at Stanton 2

Kirkland. Two computed Miles.

M. Attorney General. Do you know the Noble Earl at the Bar ?

Kirkiand. Yes. _

Mr. Attorney General. How long have you known him ? > ;

Kirkland. 1 have known him many Years. 1 have been employed for his Lordfhip about
Nine Y ears.

M. Attorney General,  Did you know Mr. Fobn/on the decealed.

Kirkiand, Yes. . ) ]

M. Attorney General. How long did you know him ? sk L _

Kirkland. 1have known him a great many Years, 1 have been intimately acquainted with
him Ten or Eleven, ,

r:‘llild':l-E Attorney General. Had he any Employ under my Lord Ferrers, or any Part of his
Family ?

Kirkland. 1 believe fo.

Mr. Attorney General, 'What was his Employ ?

Kirkland, Steward.

.1;‘:-. :a'mrnq General. Did you, in the Month of January laft, fee Mr. Fobnfon or my Lord
Ferrers ?

Kirkland. 1 faw them together. : :

M. Attorney General. At what time in that Menth in particular ?

Kirkland. The Eighteenth of Fanuary.

Mr. Attormey General.  What Day of the Week ?

irkland. On Friday.

,.i'?.f: Jlrmqnﬂmndi Upon what Occafion did you fee the one or the other 2

Kirkland. 1 faw Mr. Jobufon to take Carc of a Wound he had received in his Lefit Side.

M. Attorney General, 'Who fent for you?

Kirkland. ‘They told methat Lord Ferrers had fent for me.
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Mr. Attgrney General.  "Who was fent for you?  What was his Name 2

Kirkland, 1 have fince found that his Name is Hewry Wales.

My, Aitorney Gemeral.  Avwhat time did you receive that Meflage ?

Kirkiand.  About Five o'Clock in the Afterncon.

Mer. Attcraey General.  Where was you ac that time ?

Kirkland. At Caleorton.

Mr. Attorney General.  How far is that from Stamion 7

Kirkland. A Mile and a Half, or a Mile,

Mr, Attorney General.  Did you go diretily to Stanton 2

Kirklamd, 1 went Arlt to the Lomm,

Mr. Artormey General.  What Place was that 2

Kirkland.  The Place where Mr. Fobufor lived.

My, Aitcrney General, How far is that from Stamton ?

Kirkland. 1 think Half a Mile, or it may be alittle more.

Mr. Attorney General, Did you hear any thing there ?

Kirkland. 16irlt heard av the Loune, that Mr, Fobnjon was fhot ; the Boy that came for me,
told me that he was fent to me from my Lord,

Mr. Attorney General,  Did you, when you came to the Lonnt, and had bad this Intelligence,
proceed to Stanten £
“uKirkbkand.  Yes.

Mr. Attorney General.  When you came there, who did you fee ?

#Kirkfand. 1 metone of the Servant Girls in the Clofe next to the Yard.

Mre, Atrorney General,  Whiut was the Girl’s Name ?

Kirkland, I'cannot tell, it was dark. '

Mr. Attorney Gemeral,  Did any Thing pafs there ? -

Kirlland. She faid my Lord had been charging Guns and Piftols.

Mr. Attorney Gemeral. . What happened next ?

Kirklawd. 1 heard my Lord calling out in the Yard, whois there 2 T immediately fpoke to
his Lordfhip 5 he ordered me to come along. T went to him 3 he told me, he had fhot Fobunfon,
and defired I would go and take Care of him. As we went along, his Lordfhip defired | would
not fuffer him to be feized, becaufe Fobnfon was not dead ; and if any body offered to feize him,

he would fheot them.
Mr. Avtorney Genmeral,  What Aniwer Qa0 you nvake ro that ?

Kirkiand. 1told his Lordfhip, thatnobody fhiould meddle with him. T then went up Stairs ;
and upon feeing Mr. Fobnfen, and that he had loft no Bleod, 1 bled him.

Mr. Antorney General.  Did Mr. Febufon make any Complaint ?

Kirkland. He complained of a vielent Pain in his Bowels.

ﬂr'jl'!“.}.r'ﬂmr‘ﬂ_]' General.  Did he at that time fay that he had received any Wound, and where
Was 1L !

Kirkland. 1 looked, and found the Wound below the lowelt Rib, on his Left Side.

Mr. ctiorney General, How large was that Wound ?

Kirklazd, I put my litle Finger into it. 1 then took a Direftor to fearch the Wound,
My Lord rold me, Mr. Kirkland, you muflt pafs your Inftrument flaunting downwards, 1 held
the Piftol in this manner when I thot him, After that my Lord aflked me, whether Icould find the
Ball ? 1 faid no, it was lodged in the Abdomen ; and after this he again alked me, if Icould notex-
tractit# Itold his Lordihip I believed it would be bettér to remain where it was (indeed I looked
upon it impraticable to extraét it). My Lord afked me then, what would be the Confequence of
the Ball’s lying in the Abdomen? 1rold him that Balis often lay there many Years, without
giving any Difturbance : With this my Lord feemed farisfied, and faid he knew they would.

Mr. Atterney General, 'Was there any Surprize expreffed by any body at the Ball’s being
lodged, or any thing faid 2

Kirkland, I cannot fay there was.

Mr. Atiorney General, 'Was any thing faid concerning the Goodnefs of the Piftol ?

Kirkland. My Lord afked me, if the Ball had not gone through? T teld him no. He faid
he wondered it had not; for this Piftol had carried a Ball thro® a Board, and broke the Bricks,
or Wall, Tdon’t know which.

Mr. Attorney General.  Was Mr. Fobnfon by, and did he hear what pafied ?

Kirkland. Y es he did.

Mr. Attorney General. Thd this provoke him to utter any thing ?

Kirklard. Hedid. My Lord went ocut of the Room at that time, and Mr. Felnftn faid,
what a Villain chis is.
fo,;l .;fn'ar#-‘j Gemeral. Did you order any thing to be prepared for the Dreffling of the

3 Eirkland,
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“Kirkland. 1 drefled the Wound ; it had already been drefled.  There was a Dreffing upén it.
1 ordered a Fomentation, : and what other Things I thought proper. I then went down Stairs,
My Lord wld me, he thoughe Febm/on was more frighted than hure.

- Mr. Averney General.  Did you both go down Stairs ¢

" Kirkland.. Wo, we did not.

MriAitorney General.  ¥ou faid ic had been dreffed before, What was that Drcfling ?

Kirkland. 1 believe, tho' I am not certain, it was Arquebufade,

Mr. Attorney Gemeral.  Was there any Plaifter found wpon it ?

Kirkland, Tothe beft of my Remembrance there was not.

Mr. Aditorney General. . 'Was therea Ragupon it ?

Kirkland. 11 believe there was; a Rag that had been dipt in Adrguebufude.  After my Lord’s
telling me that Febnfon was more frighted than hurt, he fasd, he intended to have hot him dead,
and that, feeing he did not fall ar firlk, he intended to fhoot him again; bot the Pain he com-
plamed of made him forbear.  Says he, there Nature did take Plice, in Oppofition 1o the Relo-
lution | had formed.  And, fays he, it is cruel not to give him Eife, now I have pared his Life ;
therefore L delire you would do all you can for him.  One Thing 1 omitted to mention, while [
was up Swuirs. My Lord defired 1 would take all the Care imaginable of Mr. Fobmfen 5 that he
would fend one of his Servants for any Thing T wanted.—I fargot to relate o your Lordfhips,
that my Lord was in Liguor when 1 faw him, He defired, when 1 fpoke of this Affar, thae 1
would not fay, tho' he defired me to eafe him of his Pain, that he repented of what he had done.
He was not forry for it; for he owned it was premeditated 3 that heintended to fhoot him; for he
faid he was a Villain and deferved Death, Bur, fiys he, as he is nor dead, I defire you will not
fuffer my being feized 3 for, if he dies, T will go and furrender myfelf to the Houle of Lords;
[ have encugh to jultify the Adtion : Perhaps they may not excufe me, but it will fatisiy my own
Conlcience. : -

My, Altorney Generdl.  Did he fay any Thing about his going away, or not going away, the
next Morning ? ' .

Kirkland. He told me thus: Kirklend, be fure you don’t go away in the Morning before I
hawve feén you. L will ger up at Four o'Clock, or at any time that youw call.. I 1old s Lord-
fhip 1 would let him know before | went. _ '

Mr. dtorney General.  What particular Complaint did Mr. Jabn/os labour under when you
went ? .

Kirkland. A Taninhis Bowala. kel

Mr. Attorncy Gemeral. What other Complaints had he 7 '

Kirkland. A Strangury. A Difficulty of making Water.

Mr. Aiior ey General. ~ What did my Lord Ferrers fay upon that ?

Kirkiand. He afked me : ** Kirkland, don’t you think that the Bladder or Kidneys are
« wounded I  And what would be the Confequence? I fet it in fuch a Light as to make
him: believe that chey might, and no bad Confequence enlue. _

 Mr. Aitoruey General, Was that, or was it not, your Rule, upon which you reprefented
Things in this Light ¢ .

Kirkland. 1, immediately from the Time of my fecing Mr. Fobnfor, thought he would be
dead 3 bue 1 thought it prudent to deceive my Lord for our Safery.

My, Attorney General. Was my Lord fatisfied with this flatiering Account that you gave ?

Kirkiand. es, he feemed farisfied. w8 ] Y

Mr. Astorney General,  Were any Orders given to get Things in Readinefs 5 any Orders for
the Horfes ? :

. Kirkland. 1idon’tknow any Thing but what the Servants told me. & m
Mr. Atterney General,  Did any Difcourfe pafs between you relating to their Scizure: of my
*s Perfon ¢
mﬂ?rﬁhnd. 'y Lord did defire that I would take Care he was not feized, and I promifed
- wﬁld' i . Did ell him b nt to reprefent it ¢

Mlr. e emeral.  Did you tell mm how you mea AL It ; !

Eirkiﬂndﬂ:m?ﬂy L.ord afleed l!l'.:!!, what I fhould fay upon the Ocealion, lf 1 was called vpon ?
1 told his Lordfhp that I thould fay, that, tho® Mr. Fobnjon was:fher, yet there was a great Fro-
bability of his recovering ; and chat I thought there was no Neceffity of feizing his Lordibip.
His Lordfhipthen afked me, if I would make Oath of that beforea Jultice of the Peace if Fivas
' 201 faid, Yes. ' , 14k N
:all{?r? %amq General.  Where was this ? and about what Part of the Night did the lait Con-
vtrfaﬁuux:{’s E]r_ e i
t oK wad in the Parlour. ; .

E-Mﬁg Gengral. ~ What time was it ? - Was it an Hour before Supper?

Kirkland. - 1 think tlns was before Supper ; but it was r ﬂtFti b:forq and =lft=l'.5'_-'13.‘P'"- .

Ar. Attorney General. Did my Lord, in this Dilcourle, fay any Thing rclaung 1o Mr.

Jabnfon E F Kirkiand,
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Kirkland, He told me, that Mr. Feba/on had long been a Villain to him.  He fid, he began
his Villany in 1753 3 that he affifted in procuring the Aét of Parliament ; that he was in the In-
tereft of his Encmies; thar, on Mr. Febmion’s firll coming there in the Afternoon, he ordered
him o fertle an Account.  He then told him, Fobnfon, you have been a Villain to me 5 if you
don’t fign a Paper, conteflingall your Villainy, I'll thoot you. My Lord told me Fobnfon would
not fign one.  Therefore, fays he, 1 bid him kneel down on his Knees to afk my Pardon. I
fuid, Fobnfon, if you have any thing to fay, lpeak quickly. Then, fays he, I fired at him. I
know he did not think I would have fhot him ; but I was determined to do it. 1 was quite
cool. I ook Aim ; for I always aim with a Piftol in this manner.

Mr. Attorney Gemeral.  Did any T hing pafs in reference to the Farm ?

Kirkland. My Lord told me he had long wanted to drive 7abufen out of his Farm 3 and that
he imagined, after he recovered, he would go into Chefbire from whence he came, and give him
no more Difturbance. He faid he had long intended to fhoot him : That the chief Reafon he
did ic at this time was, an Affair beeween Mr, Curzen, Mr. Burfles, and his Lordfhip. Buc
the greateft Part of this Difeourfe was at the time that my Lord was full of Liquor.

Mr. Atterney General.  Was he fo full of Liquor as to be deprived of his Underltanding ?

Kirkland. 1 think not; he feemed to underftand very well whae he did ?

Mr. Atiorney General.  Was he in Liquor when you firft faw him?

Kirklard. Yes; not much.

My, Attorney General.  Did he continue drinking during the Time you faw him ?

Kirkland. He was drinking Porter 3 they faid it was Porter,

Mr. Aitorney General.  Did you go to Mr. Foebnfon again ?

Kirklard. Yes; afver Supper I went up Stairs o Mr. FebnfGx ; nothing marerial palfed ; but
my Lord inquired what | thoughe of Mr. Febufon; and upon my feuing Things in the Light I
thought I thould, my Lord feemed very well fatisfied.

M. Attorney General. Was any Thing faid about the Bowels or Gues ?

Kirkland, My Lord afked, if the Bowels were wounded, whar would be the Confequence £
I faid, fome had had Wounds in their Bowels and recovered.

Mr. Attorney Gengral. There was an Expreflion ufed, that the Bullet was lodged in the
Abdomen ; Was that yours or my Lord's Exprefiion?

Kirkland. It was my Expreffion,

Mr. Attorney Gd'nem{ Did you and my Lord fit together in the Evening 2

Kirkland, Yes,

My, Attorney General. Was any Wine broughe ?

Kirkland. Yes; Mrs. Clifford brought a Bottle of Wine, and then his Lordfhip again re-
peated, that he had fhot Fohufon, and chat he intended it.

M. Atrerney General. Was there any Thil‘lg pq_ﬁ?cd between you relative to my Lord's Cir-
cumitances ? :

Kirkland. A litde before he went to Bed, before T went to Mr. Fobnfon the lat Time, my
Lord faid, Kirkland, 1 know you can fet this Affar in fuch a Light, that I thall not be fized if
you will ; 1 owe you a Bill, you may have fome of your Money now, and the reft when you
want it; [ told his Lordihip I did not want Money, I fhould be glad to recrive it, when it was
moft convenient to him, :

Mr. Attorney General. Did you afterwards {ee my Lord and Mr. Fobnfon together ?

Kirkland. Yes

Mr. Attorney General.  'What paffed ?

Kirkland. My Lord went up to the Bedfide, and fpoke it temperately , }a&ﬂn, you know
you have been a Villain to me ; Mr. Fobnfor made no Anfwer, but defired my Lord to let him
alone at that Time : My Lord kept calling of him Villain ; his Fafiion rofe, and he began to pull
the Bed Cloaths, and faid, have not you been a Villain # Mr, Fobafon Gid, my Lord, I may have
been wrong as well as others : Upon this, my Lord run up in a vielent Paffion to the Bedfide, [
thought he would have ftruck him ; but upen Mr. Febafen’s declaring, he might have been a
Villain to his Lordihip, my Lord went to the Firefide.

Mr. Attorney General. How came Mr. Jobnfon to make that Anfwer?

Kirkiand. 1 winked at him, and he made the Anfwer.

Mr. Atterney General. Was Mils Fobufon in the Room !

Kirkland. Yes, my Lord went to her, after he had abulrd her Facher, and faid, Though he
has been a Villain to me, 1 promife you before Kirkland, who I defire to be a Witnefs, that I
will tike Care of your Family, if you do not profecute.

Mr. Atrgrney General, Did my Lord go out of the Room #

Kirkiand. Yes; he went down Stairsy he fent for me, and told me, he was afraid he had
made Mifs Fobnfon unealy ; he defired [ would tell her, he would be her Friend : We came up
Stairs together ; his Lordihip afked ac the Top of the Stairs, whether I thought Mr. Fobufon

would
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:;-iiugﬁ;ccuvcr; I replied, Yes; he faid, then I may go to Bed in Safety ; he went to Bed

Mr. Atterney Gemeral.  'What palled afeer ?

Kirtland. ‘The firft Thing T id I went to Mr. Fobnfon, who defired, for God's Sake, that I
would remove hims while we were talking, I heard my Lord open the Door, and :Ill‘up his
Pointer : Mr. Jobnfor was a good deal alarmed at it, fearmg my Lord fhould come again 3 but
my Lord thut the Door 3 then he again intreated me to remove him, y

My, Attorney General. 'Was any Propofal made to remove him before that?

KirHand. Yes; Mrs. Clifford came down before that into the Still Room, and faid, cannot
Febnfon be removed 2 My Lord replied, No, he fhall not be removed, till he be either better or
dead : And fome time after that he faid, he was glad he had him in the Houle, thac he could
plague the Rafeal 3 or fome fuch Words.

Mpr. Attorney General.  Why did you propole to remove him 2

Kirkland. 1 thought it prudent for many Reafons to remove him § 1 imagined, Mr. Fobn/on
would die 3 and if my Lord came and found him dying, his Refentment would rife againit me 3
befides, Mr. Fobnfor was in a good deal of Apprehenfion of being again fhot; I really appre-
hended he might die through Fear, for he was a Man of a very weak Conftitution ;
upon this, [ went to the Louns, and got a Parcel of Fellows, and placed Mr. Fobafon in an
ealy Chair, and carried him upon Poles to the Fexns, where he got withoot being much fatigued.

Mr. Attorney General.  Did youapprehend that the moving would be prejudicial to him, con-
fidering the Condition he was in ?

Kirkland, Tt is impoffible to fay it might not ; but there was much more Danger in leaving him
at Stanton 5 and he expreffed Satisfadtion on my removing him: When he came there, he defired
he might be removed from one Room where he was, into another 3 for he faid, my Lord might
come and fhoot him there, the Window was facing the Bed; 1 told himy he might make himfelf
eafy, 1 would place a Centry at cach Door,

Mr. Attarney General, At what Time was Mr. Yobnjfon removed ?
meum_ i believe about Two ¢’Clock in the Morning; 1 am not quite certain of the

oufr. :

Mr. Attorney General. How long did he live after that ?

Kirkland. He lived, as I was informed, ull about Nine 3 I did not leave him till Seven
o’ Clock.

Mr. Atterney General, 10 Whae Candisinn wae he when pou lghe e

Kirlkand. Weak and low, and cold in the Extremities.

Mr. Attorney General.  What was your Judgment about him?

Kirkland. T'hat he would be dead; he thought fo himfclf.

Mr. Attorney General,  What happened after he was dead?

Kivkland. %-:nhing more than my examining the Body.

My, Attorn General.  'What did you do upon that f

Kirkiand. Texamined it the next Day, when the Coroner’s Inqueft was taken.

Mr. Artorney Gemeral. Did you give an Account of the Wound ?

Kirkland. The Ball had pafied jult under the loweft Rib, on the Left Side, through One
of the Guts, and through a Bone we call the Os Inominatum, and lodg'd in the Bone called
the Os Sacrum. s

Mr. Attorney General. Do you apprehend that Mr. abnfon died of that Wound ?

Kirkland. 1dos Iam clear in it .

Mr. Attorney General. Was you there when the Earl was feized ?

Kirkland. 1 was not; T wentto afle Advice what was to be done. y \

Earl Ferrers.  You faid th::dwhrm 1 afked you to extract the Ball, that it was lodged in the

bdomen, and that 1 wondered at ic. y 8
v K:‘rkm:i. That Queftion was afked before I told your Lordihip it was lodged; I remember

m}%ru; Ferrers.  When 1 told you I had fhot it through a Deal, was it not mentioned with

ze?
sm:%:kfnﬂd. The Surprize feemed to be, that it had not alfo gone through the Man. \
Earl Ferrers. At the Time that we were alking this over a Bottle of Wine, did you talk with
a Friend 3 or did you intend to betray me? :
mz}?&iﬂni I‘du nwnr my Lord, that lintended to deceive you; and I thought it abfolutely

um.;:nﬂ.:-riyf'mm, Did you intend to give this in Evidence ?
Kivkland. 1 knew I fhould be called upon on this Occafion.
Earl Ferrers. Did you not rake Advantage of my being in Liquor ?
Kirkiand. No, Icould not, my Lord ; what you faid was quite voluntary. A
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Kirbland. He told me, that Mr. Yoba/es had long been a Villain to him. Hefid, ht -
his Villany in 1753 3 that he aflifted in procuring the Act of Parliament ; that he was in he lo-
terelt of his Encmies 3 thar, on Mr. Febafon's firlt coming there in the Afternoon, he dord
him to fettle an Acesunt.  He then told him, Febwfon, you have been a Villain to me if 1
don't fign a Paper, confefling all your Villainy, I'll thoot you. My Lord told me Fobnfe would
not fign one.  Therefore, fays he, 1 bid him kneel down on his Knees to afk my Paron. [
faid, Febnfom, if you have any thing to fay, fpeak quickly. Then, fays he, I fired ac im. I
know he did not think I would have fhot him ; but I was determined o do it. I ws quite
cool. 1ok Aim ; for I always aim with a Fiftol in this manner.

Mr. Attorney Geweral.  Did any Thing pafs in reference to the Farm ?

Kirkland. My Lord told me he had long wanted to drive Fabajen out of his Farm ; ad that
he imagined, after he recovered, he would go into Chefbire from whence he came, and gve him
no more Difturbance. He faid he had long intended to fhoot him : That the chicf Rafon he
did it at this time was, an Affair between Mr, Curzen, Mr, Burflens, and his Lordihi.  Bet
the greateft Part of this Difcourfe was at the time that my Lord was full of Liquor,

M. Attorney General.  Was he fo full of Liquor as to be deprived of his Underltaning 2

Kirkiand. 1 think not; he feemed to underftand very well whae he did ?

Mr. Attorney General,  Was he in Liguor when you firft faw him ?

Kirkland. Yes; not much.

Mr. Attorney General.  Did he continue drinking during the Time you faw him ¢

Kirkland. He was drinking Porter 5 they faid it was Poreer,

Mr. Attormey General.  Did you go vo Mr. Febnfon again ?

Kirkland. Yes; after Supper | wentup Stairs to Mr. Fobn/en ; nothing material pacd ; bue
my Lord inquired what 1 thought of Mr. Febafon ; and upon my feting Things in theLlight I
thought I thould, my Lord feemed very well fatisfied.

My, Attorney General, Was any Thing faid about the Bowels or Guts ?

Kirkiand. My Lord afked, if the Bowels were wounded, what would be the Confiuence ¢
I faid, fome had had Wounds in their Bowels and recovered.,

Mr. Attorney Gengral. There was an Expreflion ufed, that the Bullet was lodgl in the
Abdomen ; Was that yours or my Lord’s Expreffion ?

Kirkland. It was my Exprefion.

Mr. Atterney General. Did you and my Lord fit together in the Evening ?

Kirkland., Yes.

Mr, Attarney General. "Was any Wine broughe ?

Kirkland. Yes; Mrs. Clifford brought a Bontle of Wine, and then his Lordthip zain re-
peated, that he had fhot jebufan, and that he intended it.

M. Attorney General.  Was there any Thing pafed between you relative to my Lod’s Cir-
cumfitances ? :

Kirkiand. A little before he went to Bed, before I went to Mr. Jobafon the lait Tme, my
Lord faid, Kirdland, 1 know you can fet this Affair in fuch a Light, that I thall not b feized if
you will ; 1 owe you a Bill, you may have fome of your Money now, and the reft hen you
want it; I told his Lordfhip I did not want Money, I fhould be glad to receive it, win it was
moft convenient to him, .

Mr. Attorney General.  Did you afterwards fee my Lord and Mr. Fobnfom together

Kirkland, Yes.

Mr. Attorney Gemeral, “Whart pafied ?

Kirkland. My Lord went up to the Bedlide, and fpoke it temperately ; Febnfon, ou know
you have been a Villain to me ; Mr. Jobnfos made no Anfwer, but defired my Lord » let him
alone at that Time : My Lord kept calling of him Villain ; his Paffion rofe, and he begn to pull
the Bed Cloaths, and faid, have nat you been a Villain 2 Mr. Fobnfon faid, my Lord, I aay have
been wrong as well as others : Upon this, my Lord run upin a viclent Pafiion to the ediide, [
thought he would have ftruck him ; but upon Mr. Fobnfon’s declaring, he mighet hee been a
Villain to his Lord(hip, my Lord went to the Fire-fide.

Myr. Atiorney General. How came Mr. Jobafon to make that Anlwer 2

Kirkland. 1 winked at him, and he made the Anfwer.

Mr. Adrtorney General.  'Was Mifs Fobnfor in the Room ?

Kirkland. Yes; my Lord went to her, after he had abufid her Father, and faid, “hough he
has been a Villain to me, 1 promile you before Kirkland, who 1 defire to be a Witnfs, thac I
will tike Care of your Family, if you do net profecure,

Mr. Aitorney General.  Did my Lord go out of the Room ?

Kirkiand. Yes; he went down Stairs; he fent for me, and told me, he was afrd he had
made Mifs Yobufon unealy ; he defired 1 would tell her, he would be her Friend 1 Ve came u
Stairs together ; his Lordfhip afked at the Top of the Stairs, whether I thought I, Fobnfon

2 would
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:1|. -!rf;t',,_m?“r + I replied, Yes; he faid, then I may go to Bed in Safety ; he went to Bed
Mr. ﬂrwy i:.":'a;-cmf. What paifed afrer ?

Kirtlah.  The firft Thing T did 1 went to Mr. Fobnfon, who defired, for :

would refpve him while we were talking, 1 I:ear:z] mj; Lord open the’ Dm?:'d“fds«;kﬁ:uthaﬁ_‘i
Pointer: Ar. Jabufon was a good deal alarmed avir, fearing my Lord fhould come again Ebu:
my Lord !!ull the Door; then he again intreated me to remove him.

Mr. Abrney General.  Was any Propofal made to remove him before that t

Kirtla,  Yes; Mrs. Ciifford came down before that into the Stll Koom, and f@id, cannot
gabufm\l-j r;nmw.':li? My LEu:d]rcpﬁc;I, Il:!r:n, he ﬂ:::l not be removed, till he be cither better or

ead : Ar fome time after thar he faid, he was he had him in
plague thdkafeal; or fome fiuch Words. - o

Mr. Atrney Gemgral.  Why did you propole to remove him ?

Kirklan, 1 thoughe it prudent for many Reafons to remove him 5 1 imagined, Mr. Fobnfon
would die and if my Lord came and found him dying, his Refentment would rife againit me 3
befides, M. Fobufon was in a good deal of Apprehenfion of being again Thot; 1 really appre-
hended hi might die through Fear, for he was a Man of a very weak Conflitation ;
upon this,| went to the Lounr, and got a Parcel of Fellows, and placed Mr. Fobufon in an
ealy Chairand carricd him upon Poles to the Louns, where he got without being much fatigued.

Mr. Atyuncy General.  Did youapprehend that the moving would be prejudicial to him, con-
fidering thiCondition he was in?

K:’:'Hanzf Tt is impoffible to fay it might not ; but there was much more Danger in leaving him
at S1amon and he expreffed Satisfaction on my removing him: When he came there, he defired
he might | removed from one Room where he was, into another ; for he faid, my Lord might
come and oot him there, the Window was facing the Bed 5 1 told him, he might make himfelf
eafy, I wold place a Centry at each Door.

Mr. Atirney General. At what Time was Mr. Fobufon removed ?

Kirklam 1 believe about Two o'Clock in the Moring; 1 am not quite certain of the
Hour. .

Mr. Ati-ney General.  Flow long did he live after that ?

Kirklana He lived, as I was informed, ull about Nine; 1 did not leave him till Seven
o'Clock.

JMr. Atkney Gengral,  In Whae Candirian arme he whan pou lafc leien @

Kirlkand Weak and low, and cold in the Extremities.

M. Atteney General.  What was your Judgment about him 2

Kirkland That he would be dead; he choughe fo himfelf.

Mr. Attiney General.  What happened after he was dead ?

Kirklane Nothing more than my examining the Body.

M. ;riv‘nq General.  What did you do upon thac?

Kirklana 1 examined it the next Day, when the Coroner’s Inqueft was taken.

Mr. A General. Did you give an Account of the Wound ? ‘

Kirk The Ball had paffed jult under the lowelt Rib, on the Left 5!d+.‘, through One
of the Guy, and through a Bone we call the Os Inominatum, and lodg'd in the Bone called

i
mcﬁﬁ: Ati-ney General. Do you apprehend that Mr. Fobnfon died of that Wound ?

Kirkland 1do; Iam clearin it !

Mr. Attiney General. Was you there when the Earl was feized ?

Kirkland, 1 was not; I wentto alk Advice what was to be done. " '

Earl Fevers.  You faid that when 1 afked you to extract the Ball, that it was lodged in the

omen, nd that 1 wondered at it 3
ﬂbﬁ,ﬁm}. “T'hat Queltion was afked before I told your Lordhip ic was lodged; 1 remember
eltio was afked. i X .
ﬂltgq,,‘:f; Ferers.  When 1 told you I had fhot it through a Deal, was it not mentioned with
Surprize ? ;
The Surprize feemed to be, that it had not alfo gone through the Man. '
gﬁbp’:ﬂ,ﬁ, At I;Phtﬂmiei]d“ we were ml].:ing this over a Bottle of Wine, did you talk with
ind » or did you intend to betray me ]
m‘,}‘fjﬁﬂ; Ldo m-mf my Lord, that | incended to deceive yous and I thought it abfolutely

‘ﬁr - & " "
nﬂ,;.‘arfyf"em.r. Did you intend to give this in Evidence ?
Kirkland. 1 knew 1 fhould be called upon on this Occafion. :
Earl Ferirs. 1Did you not take Advantage of my being in Liquor ¢
Kirkland. No, I could not, my Lord ; what you faid was quite voluntary. 2
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Far! Ferrers. Did 1 fay 1 had come to a Refolution to do it deliberately ?

Rirkiand. 1 do not remember. y ] »

j_':u'?".'l Ferrers. DIJ ll,r;_;,u nNever |'|_.;_';J.=' me f\l.}'" [h.ﬂl I I'ill'j- not Iﬂtf‘ﬂd: i) I{In Inm:"

Kirtiand. " Your Lordfhip did.

A Faord.  Did you, atany Time, hear Mr. Fobnfen fay, that Lord Ferrers had fhot him 2

Firklfand, As Toon as Mr. ?ﬂi’#ﬁh‘ hacl got home, 1 faidiwo him; Was iy Lord in Liqmr
when bie thor you? Fle was, when 1 frflt few him. . Mr. ?ﬁbﬂ'ﬁﬂ faid, WNoy e wasnee: I ima-
gined he got what Liquor he had afterwards. 1 .did not think ne would have fhor me. 1 thoughe
he only wanted me to fign a Paper. I afked lim, Was you down on vour Koce when my Lord
flhot you? Ide faid, 1 think when my Lord fhot me I was rifing; though 1 cannot be fure
whether [ was or not, being hurried.

M. Ausrmey General. At the Time of this Relation of Mr. Fobnfon’s, was any other Perfon
srefent ?

: Kivbland. WMo, there was none s we were by ourlelves in the Room,

M. dtigrney General.  Did you hear my Lord fay to Mifs Jobnfos, that he would take Care
of them ?

Kivkland. Yes, T heard my Lord fay fo to Mils Fobn/on.

Mr. Atisvney General.  He faid to you, I owe you a gill 2

Kirkland. My Lord faid, You can fet this Mateerrighe 1 If you do, Iowe you a Bill; you
may have fome Money now, and the reft when you wantt,

Mr. Ariorney General,  Did you ever hear Mr. Fobnjon exprefs any Apprehenfion of my Lord
Ferrers #

Kirkland. Mr. Folnfon, in Converfation at different Times, has fuid to me, he did not think
my Lord Ferrers would do him any Harm,

Lerd Talbor, My Lords, this Witnels has told you, that in One of his Converlations with
Lord Ferrers his Lordihip declared, that he did novintend to Kill My, Fobufin 5 wnd aifo that
Yord Ferrers fthewed him the Pofition in which he held thediftol, when hes Love fep chought
the Infirument went wrong, as Mr. Kirkland was probing the Wound s I would ik, whether
the Converfation was previous or fubfequent to the probing the Wound ? i

Kirlland., e told me, before I entered the Dir into the Wound, You muit pais it in
that Manner. The other Converfation was fubfequent to this.

Lord Talbot. Do you believe that his Lordfhip's thewing the Pofition of the Fiftol. in order
to acquaint yon with the Dircftion of whe all, awae wich aft Intention to facilitate your
Operation ¢

Kirkland. 1 believe it was.

M. Avtorney General.  Did he appear in Liquor

Kiridand., He wasin Liquor at’Arit; but it got more vpon him.

M. Attorney General.  As that unhappy Fury rofe, the more Liquor he had, the more he
feemed to perfift in the Aétion ?

Kirkland. Yes. ; _

M. Atiorney Gemeral.  Butwhen he was calmer, in his better Senfes, he faid, he did not with
to kil him ?

Kirkland.  Wo y he faid at fireft, that he intended to kill him,

A Lord. When he told you the Dircétion of the Ball, did he not mean that tenderly, to
afift the unfortunate Man ? . ,

Kirbland. 1 took ir, that he was direfting me to enquire into the Nature of the Weund.,

A Lerd,  Could he dire€t you with any other View than to affift ?

Kirklawd, 1 remember when I told my Lord the Ball could not be extrafted, he fid, I do
rot infend to divet you 5 purlue your own Method, and do the beft you can for him.

A Lerd.  You mentioned that he fent to you?

Kirklaand. -Yes. 2

Lord Mangfeld. You have faid, chat, from the firft to the laft, Lord Ferrers told you that
he defigned to kill the Deceafed 5 now, in Aniwer to a Queition lately alked, you fay, he fd,
he did not intend to kill him; upon what Geeafion did he fay thae ? -

Kirkland. 1 think we fat by the Fire in the Sull-Room, buc 1 am:not quite certain, and his
Lerdthip faid, that he did not intend o thoot him dead ; 1 intended only to make bim fmart,
and fhoot him into the Hip, or Side. .

E.:.gr.-i J?famﬁrfd. Could fuch 2 Wound as this be given to a Man without a certain Hazard
of s Lake

Kirbland. It was certain Death td fuch a Conftitution:as Mr. Febu/on's. _

Lord Monsfield, How long akier this Time was ity that he told you that you could ke that
Matter righe ? ' i

4 o P ritant.
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Kirkland. He mentioned it at the very Beginning, and feveral Times after, till the End of
the Evening.

Lord Manfield.  Did your Fear of Lord Ferrers, arifle from his being in Liguor ?

Kirkland. 1 fhould not have been afraid of Lord Ferrersif he had not been in Liquor ; I
rhmghrt, if he had found Mr. Febufon had died, that, as I had deceived him, I fhould have had
his Refenement.

Lord Manificid. Did you fee Lord Ferrers in the Morning ?
Kirkland. No. 1 did not

M. Springthorpe, {worn.

Mr. Gonld. My Lords, we call this Witnefls to give an Account of the Manner of feizing
Lord Ferrers, and what paffed upon that Ocealion.

Mr. Gould. Was you prefent at the Time of taking Lord Ferrers 2

Sprimgthorpe. 1 was.

Adr. Gould. 'What Day was it ?

Sprimgtherpe.  On Saiurday Morning.

Mr. Geuld, 'What Time in the Morning ?

Springtborpe. 1 believe it was between Ten and Eleven o'Clock.

Mr. Gould. Had youa Multitude of People with you ?

Springthorpe. The firft Part of the Time I had not ; but before he was taken there were a
great many.

Mr. Geuld. 'Was you armed ?

Springtherpe. 1 had a Piftol [ vook from Mr. Burflem’s,

Mr. Gould. Where did you go firft 2

Springthorpe. 1 went to fee Mr. Fobnfon ; he was my Friend, and I found he was dead.
Mr. Burflem defired I would go and help to take Lord Ferrers: I condefcended to do it
When I came to the Hall Yard, my Lord, in a few Minutes, came ; he feemed to be going to
the Stable, with his Stockings down, and his Garters in his Hands ; his Lordfhip feeing me,
demanded o know what I want®d. I prefented my Piftol to his Lordthip, and I faid it was

he I wanted, and I would have him ; he put his Hand, whether he was going to put his Garters
in his Pocket, or w pull vk & Piftel, T capnot fay : bor he fuddenly tun into the Houfe : I never

faw more of him for two Hoors; in about two Hours he came to the Garret Window; I
went under the Window ; he called, I afked what he wanted ; he faid, How is Yobufen # 1 fmid
he was dead ; he faid, you are a lying Scoundrel, G——d d——n you. I told him he was
dead 3 he faid, I will not believe it till Kirkland tells me fo. I faid he was dead ; he faid, then
difperfe the People and I will go and furrender: Let_th: People in, and ler them have fome
Victuals and Drink. I told him I did not come for Victuals, but for him, and I would have
him. He went away from the Window, fwearing he would not be taken. Two Hours after
that, there was a Report that he was upon the Bowling-green; I was at this Part of the
Houfe; I run there, and, by the Time 1 got there; I faw two Colliers had hold of his
Lordfkip. [ faid, I would take Care no-body thould hure him. I took from a Man that
had hold of him, a Piftol and a Powder-Horn ; I fhot the Piftol off, and it made a great
Impreffion againft the Stones. 1 heard my Lord fay, he had fhot a Villain and a Scoundrel,
am:ﬁ clapping his Hand upon his Bofom, he faid, I glory in his Death, That is all I know
of the Matter. [ ainol-;

Francis Kinfey {worn.

Mr. Norten. Youkeep a Public-Houfe at jbéy De la Zouck 2

Kinfey. Yes.

Mr. Norton. Was Lord Ferrers brought to your Houfe when he was apprehended ?

Kinfey. - Yes.

Myr. Nerton. Did you hear him fay any Thing about killing of Febnfon ?

Kinfey. 1 heard very little of it - .

Mr. Nerton. Do you remember one Mr. Hall, a Clergyman, ceming to your Houfe at
that Time?

Kinfey. Yes. 0
M. Norton.  Did he defire to be admitted to Lord Ferrers 2
Kinfey. Yes.

Mr. Norten. Did you hear what |¥aﬂbd between Mr, Hall and my Lord Ferrers 7
Kinfey. A great many Words paffed.
Mr. Nerten. What paffed?

G ! Kinfey.
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:EJ’#_,I'-{]'- I hﬂfth Hall inﬂ.mﬂtﬂ to his I..-IZ!I'..Jllll:'ﬁ[!l|I ds.a I:Igrg}rmnn, that s Lordihi
feemed to be pretry much in Liguor at that Time, and defired he would not make Ufe of the
Expreffions. He told Mr. Hall he was extremely obliged to him for his good Advice ; he
apprehended what it was; however, he told Mr. Hall that he knew his Duty, perhaps as well
as a Juftice of Peace.

Mr, Nerten. Was Mr. Hall a Jultice of Peace ?

Kinfer. Yes, 1 did not hear much more faid between Mr. Hall and my Lord Ferrers, Mr.
Hail ftaid with his Lordfhip fome Time in the fame Room ; then he came down Stairs, and I
never faw him afrerwards.

Mr. Norten, Did he fay any Thing about killing of Mr. Felufon ?

Kinfey. He afked, a great many Times, if I had heard that Febufon was dead ; 1 told him,
a good many Times, that I heard he was dead : He faid, I will not be convinced till I hear ic
from the Coroner.

Myr. Nerton. I1Did he fay any Thing ellc ?

Kinfey. His Lordlhip behaved very well with me, and decently, from the Saturday, to the
Monday at Ten o'Clock.

Mr. Attorney General. My Lords, we reft it here for the Crown,

Lord High Steward. My Lord Ferrers, the Council for the Crown have done ;3 now is the
Time for your Lordfhip to make your Defence 5 and if you have any Witnefles to examine,
now is your Time to call them, :

Earl Ferrers. My Lords, there have been a great Variety of Circomftances that have ap-
peared through the Courfe of this Evidence. 1 really do not recolleét any Thing thac happened
fince the Time relative to the Affair; and I fhould hope your Lordfhips would give me a farther
Day to make my Defence.

Lerd High Steward.  Your Lord(hip hath had a great deal of Time, and you have had
Council affigned you, and Orders for fummoning your Witnefles. It is now the Time to pro-
ceed to your Defence,

Earl Ferrers.  1hope your Lordfhips will be fo good as to give me till To-morrow, as there
are fome Circumitances thac I could with to confult my Courmil about,

Lord Mansgfield. My Lords, as your Lordfhips cannot debate here upon the Application

[hat has h}gn made h}r the Blahls f_nnl at-the Bar. o :ldin“rﬁ rhe Trial till Tu—murruw, I muld
wifh he would open to your Lordlhips the Nature of his Defence, or fome Realon why he is

not prepared to go onnow ; otherwife, when your Lordfhips adjourn, you will have nothing to
debate upon, but barely whether there fhall be this Delay becaufe it is afked 5 and it may be a
dangerous Precedent to cftablith, thata Trial fhall be adjourned, as of courfe, if defired, juft
when the Evidence in Support of the Profecution is clofed.  If he fhould give your Lordfhips a
Reafon for it, then it will be in your Lordfhips Diferetion, whether that Realon is fufficient to
induce your Lordfhips to adjourn ’all To-morrow. 1 think be fhould open the Natre of his
Defence, and ftare jome Ground for the Delay he afks, .

Elizgbeth Burgeland called in again,

A Ierd. Do you know of any particular Quantity of ftrong Liquer, of any Kind, thae
Lord Ferrers had drank that Day 2 : .

Burgeland. No. I cannot tell any Thing of it: He drank fome Brandy in his Tea in the
Morning.

A Lord. Who is the Perfon that kept the Key of the ftrong Liquor ?

Burgeland. Mus. Clifford.

A Lerd. Do you know of any that he had that Day?

Burgeland. 1 cannot tell any Thing about it

A Lord. Was it ufual for my Liord to drink Brandy in his Tea ?

Burgeland. He did not drink Tea every Moming 3 but, when he drank Teea, I believe he
did put Brandy in it !

A Lord, Was Mrs. Clifferd returned to the Hall before the Surgeon, Mr. Kirkland 2
o Burgeland,  Yes. ;
© A Lord. How long?

Burgeland. | cannot juftly fay ; it may be near, or near two Hours,. ~

A Lerd. Had you, or any- Perfon, carried any ftrong Liguor to my Lord before Mr.
Kirkland came ?

Burgeland. 1 cannor tell any Thing about ir.

A Lord. At what Time did Lord Ferrers dine that Day 2

Burgeland. At Two o’Clock.

« Lord, When you faw Lord Ferrers, afrer the Fact, was he drunk, or fober?
il Burgeland,
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ﬁﬂﬁﬁrw. I did not obferve he was much in Liquor then ; but, foon after, he was quits
A Lerd. The firft Time you faw him after the Piftol went off, how wis he then?
Bmg:’hm'. I did not obferve that he was much in Liquor at the Time when ic was done,

A Lord. Did you fee him any Part of that Day, before you heard the Piftol go off, or
before Mr. Kirkland came to the Houfe, appear intoxicated with Liquor ? :

Burgeland. 1 faw him at Dinner ; I never faw him after till it was done.

A Lord.  How was he at Dinner ?

Burgeland. My Lord was fober at Dinner.

Earl Ferrers. My Lords, by the Kind of Defence recommended to me it will be impoffible
to goon ac prefent ; there are feveral Witnefles to be examined, and, really, ‘my Lords, I am
quite unprepared.

Earl of Hardwicke. 1 believe it is expefted by your Lordfhips, that the Noble Lord at the
Bar fhould now open to you the Nature of his Defence.

Lord High Steward. My Lord Ferrers, it is required that you fhould open the Nature of
your Defence ; my Lords will be able to judge, from that, whether it will be proper to give
your Lordfhip Time to make your Defence, agreeable to your Requeft.

Egrl Ferrers. My Lords, I can hardly exprefs mylfelf, the very Circumftance fhocks me fo
much ; but Iam informed, from feveral Circumftances, of an Indifpofition of Mind,

Then the Lord High Steward returned back to the Chair.

Iian{'ﬂrd Ravenfworth. My Lords, I move your Lordfhips to adjourn to the Chamber of Par-
ent.

Lord High Steward. s it your Lordfhips Pleafure to adjourn to the Chamber of Parliament?

Lords. Ay, ay.

Lord High Steward.  This Houle is adjourncd to the Chamber of Parliament.

The Lords, and others, retarned to the Chamber of Parliament, in the fame Order they
came down 3 and, after fome Time, the Houfe was adjourned again into #Fefminfer
Hall, and the Peers being there feated, andthe Lord High Steward in his Chair, and the
Houfe refumed, the Serjeant at Arms made Proclamation for Silence, as ufual,

Lord High Steward. My Lord Ferrers, you are to proceed to your Defence.

Earl Ferrers. My Lords, the I'[u:l:fr of Defence 1 mentioned to your Lordfhips before, I
really don’t know how myfclf to enter upon; it is what my Family have confidered for me,
and they have engaged all the Evidence that are to be examined upon this unhappy Oceafion, who
I really have not feen 5 1 do not well know whae they have to fay : T fhould, therefore; hope
your Lordfhips will give meall the Afiftance that is poffible in'therr Examination.

My Lords, I believe that what 1 have already mentioned to your Lordthips, as the Ground of
this Defenice, has been a Family Complaint; and I have heard that my own Family have, of
Jate, endeavoured to prove me fuch. e Defence 1 mean is occafional Infanity of Mind; and
1 am convinced, from recolle&ing within myfelf, that, arthe Time of this Attion, I could not
know whar 1 wasabour. I fay, my Lords, upon refle€ting witlin myfelf, I am convinced, that
at that Time T could not know what I was about.

It has been too plainly proved, that, at the Time this Accident happened, T was very fober,
thar | was not difordered with Liquor : Your Lordihips will obferve, from the Evidence both of
Mr. Kirkland and Mifs Febnfen, that it plainly appeared that this Man never [ufpefted there
was any Malice, or that I had any.

Mr. John Bennefold ficort.

Far] Ferrees. How long have you known me?
Benmefold, Above thefe Twenty Years. :
Earl Ferrers. 'Was you ever employed by me in any Shape ?
oy MRS
rl Ferrers. Inw a
g:uufﬂfd. In receiving hispf.:nniliﬁp’s Rents, when they were fent him out of the Country.
Earl Ferrers. Did you know any of the Family befides me?
Bennefold. Yes.
Earl .;_mm. Do you remember my Uncle, or any other of the Family ?
Bemmefold, Yes, the late Lord Ferrers, Henry.
Farl Ferrers. 'What Diforder had he ?
Bennefold,  Lunacy.
Far! Ferrers. How many Years before he died ?

Bewnefold.  Several Years before he died, at Kenfington Gere. i
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. Earl Ferrers. Did you know Lady Barbara Skirley ?

Bennefold. No. ,

Earl Ferrers.  Did you never hear that fhe was difordered ?

Bennefold. Yes, 1have.

Earl Ferrers. Pleale to obferve what you know of my Condu&, as to the State of my
Mind, without having any particular Queftions afked you?

Benwefold. His Lordfhip has always behaved in a very ftrange manner, very fighty, very
much like a Man out of his Mind, more particularly fo within thefe Two Years paft, fuch as
being in Liquor, and fwearing and curfing, and the like, and talking to himlelf, very much
like 2 Man difordered in his Senfes; and then he has behaved himlell as well as any other Gen-
tleman ae times. ,

Earl Ferrers. Do you know of any particular Time, orof any particular Aétion ?

Bennefold. Nothing in particular, more than the particular Circumfitances of my L:l-:]y, and
expreling grear Hardfhips, and Dilatisfaction with the Aét of Parliament.

Earl Ferrers.  Have you obferved irrational Behaviour when I have not been in Liquor 2

Benmefold.  Yes, 1 have.

Earl Ferrers.  Was it frequent or [eldom ?

Bemnefold. It was often.

Ear! Ferrers.  Can you recolleét any particular irrational Behaviour in me when 1 have not
been in Liquor ?

Bennefold. 1 cannot fay that T can recolle€t any particular Paffage.

Earl Ferrers. Did you ever fee me walking about the Room, ralking to mylfelf ; making
Motions with my Head, and talking to myfelf 2

Bennefold.  Yes, a great many times.

Earl Ferrers,  Did you think that I was difturbed in my Mind ?

Bemmefold, Yes,

Mr. Attorney General. My Lords, 1 fhould be glad to know what is this Witnels's Trade
and Occupation ?

Benmefold. 1 am now Clerk of 8¢ Fames's Parith ; I was a Peruke-maker by Trade.

- Mr.;frmmq General.  Was you acquainted with my Lord Ferrers in the Country or in
QW

Bewnefold. In Town. g

Mer. Astorney Gemeral, Was you admitted to my Lord’s Friendthip or Familiarity 2

Benwefeld,  To both, ’

Mr. dttorney General.  In Converfation at any time, have you obferved my Lord to give
you irrational or infenfible Anfwers ?

Benwefold, 1 cannot fay he has given me any infenfible Anfwers.

Mr. Atterney General. I fhould be glad to know whether you have any Reafon to believe,
from his Behaviour, that he did not underftand enough to diftinguilh Right from Wrong?

Bennefold.  That is a Queftion I am in fome Doubt of anfwering.

My, dtioruey Gemeral, 1 have afked as to your Opinion ; if you will recollet what Difcourfe
has paffed between you, {'::u will be able to give an Anfwer ; now, from your Difcourfe and
Converlation, do you think or believe he was in that State of Mind as not to know Right from
Wrong at any time ?

Bemnefold. Thae is a Queftion I cannot anfwer to.

Mr. Attorney General. You will be plealed to recolleét, that you told me, when I afked
you, that my Lord never gave you an irrational Anfwer 3 why cannot you give your Opinion as
to his Saniry ?

Bennefold. My Lord's Behaviour appeared in general in fuch manner as I have mentioned.

Mr. Attorney Geweral. My Lords, This Witnefs did not mention any particular Aét, only
talking to himfelf, and Motions with his Head ; I am queftioning him upon thofe kind of Aéts
that proceed from Words or Speeches : Did you ever, from his Words or Spesches, conceive
that he was not himfelf ?

Bennefold.  No further than by being difpleafed, often talking to himfelf, like a Man that
was out of his Mind.

Mr. dttorney General. Did my Lord manage his Affairs by himfelf ?

Bemnefold, He managed them himfelf ; he gave me Direétions.

Mr. Atiorney General. Were thofe Direttions reafunable and fenfible 2

Benwefold.  Sometimes they were, though thought unreafonable and infenfible by thePerfons he
wrote to,
hMr}xﬁ:::arng General. Can you recollet any Inftances, and the Perfons that thought
Eheimn 1o g

Bennefold. 1 cannot recollet any Circumilance relating to Family Matters ; his Maocher,
when 1 have carried fuch Melflages, has thought him to be in a wrong Mind, in writing to her
in the manner he did.

L 5 Mr.
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Mr. ditornty Gemeral.  Did Mus, Sbirley ever treat him as an infane P
ing for a Phyfician to him ? infane Perfon, o talk of fend-

Bennefold. Not that I know of,

Mr. diterney General.  Did any other Perfon think my Lord fo infine as to want that ?

Bennefoid, 1 cannot recollect any Perfon in particular. 1

M. Attcrney Gemeral.  Was it ealy to impole upon his Lordfhip in his Affairs, or difficult 2

Bennefold. 1t was not eafy to impofe upon his Lordfhip, that I know of.

Mr. Aitsrney General.  As you have known him (@ long, and have been admitted to his Fa-
ﬁrl'll':a:l:?;:c IHEITEF'}“ would recolle¢t One fingle irrational Expreffion that you have ever heard

Bennefeld. 1 cannot recolleft any in particular.

M. Attorney Gemeral.  You fay that he feemed difpleafed with his Lady, and with the A&t
of Parliament 5 pleafe to recolleét, whether, upon that Occalion, his Behaviour was fuch as
betrayed his lnfanity, or any thing that was irrational ?

Bennefold. My Lord expreffed a good deal of Diffatisfation at the A& of Parliament,

_ Mr. dtorney General.  What was the Diffatisfaction ? and was it general as well as par-
ticular ¢ o

Lemnefold.  In relation o the Eftate’s being taken away, and Receivers being put upon it
Saj!ffr.?.-fmmg General. Do you apprehend that thac S’urt of Expreflion drﬁzgwd nfanity or

nmity ?

Bennefold. That I cannot take upan me to determine.

M. Atiorney General.  Pleale to recolledt yourfelf, and give me an Anfwer to the Queftion ;
You faid t]:at he exprelied a Diffatisfaction, becaufe his Eftate was taken from him, and a Receiver
ﬁ;pu{;l; 3 Idefire to know whether thofe Expreffions belpeak a Man in his Senfes or out of

(4] L

Bennefold. 1 cannot fay whether that denoted him to be in his Senfes or out of his Senfes.

Mr. Aitorney General. Are thofe Expreflions the Expreffions of a Fool, or of a Man of
Underftanding upon the Subject ?

Bennefold. 1 Ihould think, of a Man of Underftanding.

Mr. Attorney General. You have not been able to anfwer as to any. particular Speeches chat

denoted him to be infane now do vou remember A . .
difordered Mind ? ) ¥ any At of his, of any kind, that denoted a

Bennefold. 1 cannot fay 1 can ; I was not fo often with him, though I have known him

ong.
Mr. Atterngy Gemeral. Then I defire to know, whether Lord Ferrers, from the Converfa-
tion you had with him, appeared to be rather of better Parts than an ordinary kind of Man ?
Bennefold. Yes, to be fure. :

Mr. Thomas Goollrey fwers.

Earl Ferrers.  How long have you known Lord Ferrers ?
. About Ten Years.

Earl Ferrers. How long have you been concerned for him ?

Gooftrey.  About that time.

Earl Ferrers. Have you feen any Inftances of any thing like Infanity in me?

Goaftrey. 1 think I have.

Earl Ferrers.  Pleafe to mention the Inftances.

Gooftrey. 1 have been called upon very unexpetedly ; I fhould have recollefted myfelf, if I
had had any Apprehenfion of being called upon.

Earl Fervers. Then mention the Inftances,

Guafirey. 1 know nothing within this T welve Months paft : Lord Ferrers always appeared 1o
me to be of a very remarkable Difpofition ; and though Lord Ferrers was extremely fenfible,
and thoroughly acquainted with his Affairs, yet I have frequently had iDireftions from him to
do Things that in my Opinion were cither fruitlefs, or oppolite to his intereft, and upon thofe
Qecalions I have always found it in vain to endeavour to diffuade his Lordthip from it; and as
1 always found that Lord Ferrers was extremely fenfible, and thorough Mafter of his Affairs,
1 have never been capable of accounting for his Behaviour, otherwife chan by apprehending that
he has been at times out of his Mind.

Earl Ferrers. Do you remember any Inftance where I appeared to be out of my Mind, and
what ?

Gogfirey. 1 remember that all of a fudden he took it into his Head that he fhould be capable
of impeaching a Family Scetlement that he had long acquiefced under, and by which he was
anly Tenant for Life of his Eftate ; and though he had advifed with many Lawyers upen the
Occafion, and they were 2ll of Opinion that it :l;ts impoffible he could fucceed, yet mﬁﬁ
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filted in his Refolution of bringing a Suit to deftroy that Settiement 3 and vpon thoke Occa-
fions | have always found Lord ferrers extremely firange; and when he has rouched upon
that Subject, his Converfation has been very wild, and inconfiftent with what I have looked upon
a Man of Senfe and Underflanding to be; and I remember One Inftance, which was, when
Lord Ferrers returned from my Lord Wg&ﬁi‘ﬂlﬂﬂd‘js, my Lord Ferrers ic]lnw:d me upon thac
Ocealion inw the City, and he came into the Koom where I was with a great deal of Company.
I perceived, by his Appearance, that fomething difturbed him, and therefore haftily eame up
to him, and got him out of the Room. When | came up to him, I afked him what was the
Matter ; and did at ‘firlt apprebend he had been in Liquor, but I foon perceived that he was
perfetily fober.  He then told me a ftrange inconfliftent Story of his having been down at my
Lord iFeflmeriand's, and of his having becn ill treated by Sir Themas Stapleron, and the
Inteat of his coming to me was, to draw an Adveriifement to be inferted in all the Pa-
Pers, lcl!t[in;\; 0] :,IJ.Ji[::n;_;l: Sir Thewras 5-'&;;!'::‘!&#, and to Pﬂft him for a Coward if ke did nor
give him Sausfaction, . 1 was extremely uneafy ; and with Difficulty did diffuade bim from it,
upon 2 Fromife to wait upon him the next Day; bue then looking upon himi to be our of his
Senfes, T did not call upon him the nexe Day,  From thence I declined being concerped for
him, as looking upon him to be a Perfon out of his Senfes: That is all 5 I have never feen his
Lo:dhip from tha time to this, except when I had the Flonour to wait upon his Lordihip in
the T stwer,

Ear! lerrers.  Did vou know Mr. Febufin 2

Gogltrey,  Very well,

Earl Lerrers.  Was | in Friendfhip with Mr. Fobnfen ?

Gogfirey. | have ofwen feen Lord Ferrers and Mr. Fobmfon together, and have likewife had
Occalion o walk of Mr. Fobnfn with my Lord: I always obferved that his Lordihip had the
greatelt Regard and Efteem for Mr, Febnfor ; and 1 have, in the Courle of my Bulinefs thae
ilhi“ done for Lord Ferrers, always found that Mr. Yebafor was very exaft and regular in
s Accounts. :

Earl Lerrers.  Did you ever hear me acany time find Faule with Mr. Fobnfen, or exprefs
any Diffansfaction ar him ? : - '

Gegfirey.  Never, bug always the reverfe, '
Earl Ferrers. Do you know il Mr. Febufon would have confented to have been Recelier

wnder the AL of Parliament, without conmiing me ¢

Gooftrey. 1 heard Mr, Fobufon declare, that when it was propofed to him to be Receiver,
that he refulid to be fo, without firlt confulting his Lordthip; and afterwards 1 faw Mr. Fobn-
for, and he told me that it was ac his Lordfhip's particular Requeft that he confented to be 1 Re-
CEIVET,

M. Solliciter General. My Lords, 1 mult beg Leave to afk this Witnels a Queftion or

Two.
M. Ssiliciter General.  Mr. Gagjirey gave your Lordlhips as a Reafon for his Opinion that
Lord Fervers was infane, that his Lordfhip would very frequently [end, Direétions in the Courfe
of his Affairs, which Mr. Gegffrey thought fruidefs, or oppofite to his Interefts in particular,
he mentioned an Inftance relacive to his impeachiog or fetting alidé a Family Settlemént;

Now, I fhould be glad to afk Mr. Gegfirey, Whether he thinks. that the Manner of Lord
Lerrers's veceiving 'his Advice to diffuade him from endeavouring to fet alide thac Settlement,
proceeded from a Tenactoufnefs of his Opinion, or from the Infamity of his Mind?

Goafirey.  To fay that it might be owing to Infanity of Mind might be going too far i but
it was from Iis remarkable Dufpofition, his obltinate and improper Behaviour, his remarkable
"T'enacioufiels of his Opinion, which was not confiftent with the good Senfz I have known him
Malter of, i e

Gogfirey.  Ir 1 may explain whae I faid before, I thould rather think it tended to Infanity than
any thing ¢lfe, as it was [o inconfiftent with the good Senfe and Undesftanding that [ have always
wice with from his Lordfhip. ;

Mr. Sollicitor General.  Was it from any particular Circumftance which paffed between you
anid Lord Ferrers, that you thoughe the Manner of receiving your Advice was owing to a Ten-
deneyin Lord Ferrers to Infanicy ? ' ity

Gogfirey. My Reafon is, that his Lordfhip had been advifed by many Lawyers, that, by his
long Acquicfeence under that Sertlement, and the many As ke had done confirming it, that
there was no Poffibilicy of fucceeding in it. : .

Mr. Sellicitor: Genera!, Mr. Gogfirey, You have had a great deal of Bulfinefs, and becn em-
i“lﬂ}'td_ by many Ciizats, as well as Lord Ferrers ; have not you, in the Courfe of your

Kptriltﬂw and Iranfaclions, met with feveral Clients of a Temper to proceed againft the Ad-
vice of Council and Friends? %

Gegfirey,, 1 never did in my {mall Experience meet withany Perfon that did fo, chat was pol-
&III:; of the good Senfe and %Jndf:rﬂ:amiing that T have at other times found in my Lord
era,

Mr.

4
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Mr. Solliciter General.  Have you never met with Perfons unfufpedted of Lunacy, who ated
in the Manner Lord Ferrers did upon that Occafion ?

Gagftrey. 1 do not know I ever had any other Client thar was under fuch Circumftances ,
I do not know that I ever met with any Client that would commence a Suit after Council advifed
the contrary. :

Mr. Sollicitor Gemeral. How did the Suit end ?

Goaflrey. It never proceeded fo far as to have an Anfwer; for, in the mean time, the un-
tI:lappy Difpute between Lord and Lady Ferrers broke our, and that diverted his Thoughts

rom it.

Mr. Sollicizor General. You mentioied an Inftance of attending Lord Ferrers, with regard
to the ill Trearment he had received from Sir Thomas Stapylton; upon that Occalion do you think
that my Lord’sinfiting to have a Challenge inferted in the: Papers, by way of Advertifement,
proceeded from Infanity, or from mere Yiolence of Temper ?

Gogftrey. 1did chen thik it Infanity 3 he being perfeétly fober, T could impute it to nothing
elfe, and from thenceforth 1 declined being concerned for him.

Mpr. Sollicitor General. Might it not be trom Vielence of Temper ?

&ooftrey. It was many Hours after the Accident happened that he came to me.

Mr. Sollicitor General. Did you ever obferve any thing frantick in my Lord's Behaviour ?

Goafirey.  Many times.

My, Selliciter General, Upon what Oecafion?

Goofirey., Upon Occalion of his going from the Bulinefs we have been talking upon, I have
lten tound him in Converfation lofe himfelf intirely.

M. Selliciter General. Did he lofe himfIf from ["affion, or for want of Underftanding ?

Gogftrey.  He had nothing to rufle his Temper buc that particular Thing ; it was from his
talking to himfelf ; I made it a Rule never to contradiét him; and, during the Ten Years I
was concerned for him, I never had a Word with him.

M. Sollicitor General.. You endeavoured to diffuade him from this Suit which he was going
to profecute as to the Sectlement ; How did hie reafon upon the Occafion ?
ﬂfﬂagﬁrq. . Quite wild and inconfiftent, and, upon thisOccalion, in my Opinion, fhewed Want

Realon.

Mr. Sellicitor General. Do you tectlle¢t what he faid, and how he argued 7 Mention the
Particulars. : et 1

Goofirey.  He treated it as if he had been impofed upon, and drawn in improperly to
do it.

M. Sollicitor Gengral. Do you think that fich a way of arguing fhewed his Infanity and

‘Want of Senfe? : : :

Gooftrey. | thought it did, becaufe it appeared to me to be irconfiftent with the Fadts,

My, Ssllicitor Gemeral. Might it not anife from a Difference in Opinion between you and
him ? ;

. Gogftrey, . 1fhould think not, becaule I always looked upon his Lordfhip to be a much more

fenfible Man, ' :

Mr. Solliciter General, How long have you known him?

Goaftrey. 1 faid Ten Years; but I believe it may be Eleven.” PR

Mr. Sollicitor General. Do you know of any Inftance in ‘which his Friends or Family ever
entertained the fame Opinion of him as youdo ?

Gegftrey. Never, astotaking out a Commiffion of Lunacy. :

M. Solliciter General.  As from the Converfation you had with him you think he was infane,
did not you reprefent it to the Family ?. -

Geafirey. - Newver ; his Family knew it as well as L : ;

M. Sellicitor General. As yot was of that Opinion, did you advife a Commiffion of
Lupacyf - . | *

Gogfirey.  Never. : i

M. Sollicitor General. In the Time of your being concetned for hiny in his Affairs, did you
prepare any Deed, Conveyance, or Leafe fof him "

Gogftrey.  Infome Things 1 have, - 2 b

My, Sollicitor General. Did you ever prepare any Mdrtzaze upon his Eftate?

Gogfirey.  Never, that 1 remember. ' o e ,

My, Sollicitor General, Did you ever attend the Execution of” any fuch gc:ds 4 \

Gooftrey. 1 was concerned in fuffering a Recovery, and cirting oﬂ':hg:' ntails in the Segthe-
ment. ; : : b .

. My Selliciter General. In cafe of aClient’s being infane, would you have fuffered fuch Acts
to be done? 1 . g -
Gagftrey.  There was no fuch thing happened in my Time T never knew of any A that my

Lord did to his Prejudice in the Execution of any Deed in my Time. 0 ' -
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Mr. Sollicitor General. 1 alk you, if you had been defired to be a Party, or prefent at the
Fxecution of any fuch Deed, whether you would have fuffered ic under fuch Circumitances ?

Gosfirey.  Moft certainly 1 thould not.

Mr. Solliciter General.  'Was you ever a Witnefs to the Execution of any Deed by Lord
Ferrers #

Gogfirey. 1 have, ’

Mr. Selliciter General.  Did you ever tranfalt any Mortgage for him ?

Goofirey. 1 do not recollect.

M. Sellicitor General.  Did you never get any Loan of Money for him?

Gooftrey. Never, If the Gentlemen will find it out, I will not difown it.

M., Sellicitor General.  Has my Lord lately raifed a confiderable Sum of Money upon his
Eftate ?

Gegflrey. No, Inever negotiated any fuch, nor was I privy to ir.

Mr. Sallicitor General.  Was you employed to procure any Money 2

Gooftrey. Never to my Memory.

M. Solficitor Gemeral.  Did you never converle with his Lord(hip upon the Subjeci ?

Gogflrey. Never,

Mr. Sollicitor General, Did you, or did you not, in your Confcience and Opinion, upon the
whole Matter, think my Lord Ferrers infane, or a proper Objeét to be under che Care of a Phy-
fician, or of the Court of Chancery ?

Gogffrey. 1 am in great doubt whether my Lord was fo infane as that a Commiffion of Lunacy
could be taken out; I fhould think a Commiflion of Lunacy could not be taken out againft
him.

M. Sellicitor Geweral. "Why? becaufe he was not infane ?

Goaftrey. 1 look upon it that he was infane only at particular Times, and in particular In-

ﬂ!

Mr. Sollicitor General.  If he was infane only at times, would he not have been a proper Ob-
jeét of a Commiflion of Lunacy ?

Gooffrey. 1 cannot fay at che times I have feen. If a Jury had Leen to inquire touching his
Sanity, I am fure they would have found him a Lunatic.

Mr. Sollicitor Gereral. Mention the Times of which you fpeak- .

GMEWJ 1 meant that particular Time when his Lordfhip came to me in the City, as T have
mentioned.

My Lord Ferrers did propofe to difpofe of his Nertbamptonbire Eftate. 1 do recollet there
once was a Negotiation of a Loan of Ten thoufand Pounds from Sir Themas Clarges. I wasno
otherwife concerned in ir, than only to fee that the Deed which Lord Ferrers cxecuted was a

er One. Mr. Howell of Lincoin's Tun was the Perfon concerned.

Mr. Sollicitor General.  You recolleCt the Negotiation of a Loan, and your being advifed
with ?

Gosfirey. 1 do recolleCt T was advifed with, and I believe my Lord was then in Leicgffer-

s

Myr. Sollicitor General. What Advice did you give ?

Gegfirey. The Money to be borrowed by my Lord was not to be put into his Pocket, but to
pay off another Mortgage. G 4

M. Sellicitor General. What Advice did you give ¢

Gooftrey. 1 do notrecolle€t any particular Advice 3 I remember there was a Draught of a Deed ;
I believe it was laid before me.

M, Sollicitor General.  Did you, or did you not, advife the Execution of it ?

Gooftrey. 1 neither advifed one way nor the other; 1 was no otherwile concerned than to fee
that che Draught was proper. ,

My, Salliciter General. You fay my Lord afked your Advice; did you give him your Opi-
nion with refpect to the Propriety of the Deed ? :

Gogfirey. I dare fay if my Lord afked it, I did; Tdon’t remember he did ; "nis moft likely
he did. .

Lord Hillfborough. 'Why did you make it a Rule never to contradiét my Lord Ferrers ?

Gogftrey.  Becaufe if 1 had contradi€ted him, 1 fhould have led his Lordfhip inte a ftrange
wild Way of Reafoning, that I had often experienced, by his reafoning with himfelf only.

Earl Ierrers.  'Was you ever concerned for any of the Family but me?

Gooftrey.  For Lady Anna Eleonora Shirley T was concerned.

Earl Ferrers. Do you know of any thing elfe?

Gegfirey.  Not that [ recollelt. _ :

Lord Ravenfworth. Do you know Lord Ferrers’s Mother, or any of his Relations ?

Goeffrey. 1 know them all.
e 4 Laord
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Lord Ravenfworth. Do you mean that you know them s one that has trani: f
with them, and that you can fpeak your Diziiimn touching them ? Faage SR Silann

E:i_ﬂrg. Trfs ;&I thlhad Bufinefs with them frequently.

: avenfworlb, Did you at any time, or at different times, fpeak to Lotd Ferrers's Mao-
IPE;?;H‘:; any of his Relations, to give them your Opinion of l:f:: Management nf’L‘qc?d

Gooftrey. 1 never did ; 1 fhould have thought it ver
fatisfied that the Family knew it as well as my%-]ﬂ B AT ety

Lord Ravenfuwerth. My Lords, | have attended to Mr. Goefirey's Evidence, and am defirous
of getting every Thing from him that L can ; and therefore défire he will tell your Lordfhips,
whether, dflr:ng the time he did Bulinefs for Lord Ferrers, he ever fignificd to any of his Lord-
thip's Family his own Sentiments touching his Lordhip ?

Gooftrey. If I had been concerned for the Family, [ hould not have hefitated a Moment to
have done ic. I believe Mr. Skirley in particular knew that the Reafon I declined being longer
cencerned in Lord Ferrers's Affairs was from an Apprehenfion that he was not in his Senfes.

s IL[:m' Rn?:.rmﬁwnb, You declined being conecrned for him upon his Behaviour about the
clrlement ¢

Gogfirey.  No, upon his returning from Lord 2%tmerland's.

Lord Ravenfiversb, Should you have thoughe thar alone fufficient, if, previous to that, you
had nipiti'fw“ Marks that induced you to have a Sufpicion of his Sanity, and to take the Refolution
you dic

Gasftrey.  1.don’t know whether, if that had been the only Inftance in which I had found my
l;.nrd behave in that odd Manner, 1 thould then have given up his Affairs ; but he had feveral
times before acted fo inconfiftent, as to induce me to think it was out of my Power to be of any
Service to him.

Lord Rovenfworth. How long is it fince he was at Lord #eftmorland’s ?

Gooftrey.  About a Year and an half.

Lord Ravenfworth.  You fay that you have known him between Ten and Eleven Years;
during the whole time was you concerned in his Affairs?

Gogfirey. 'There was fomething or other moving in his Affairs all the while ; it was with che
greateft Difficulty that I kept him within the Bounds I did. ~

Lord Ravenfworth. Do you mcan shac, fram rhe firflt rime of your heing concerned in his
Afairs, you looked vpon him in that Lighe, or only in that Inftance ?

Geoftrey.  Soon after I was concerned in his Affairs, 1 withed I had not engaged ; but as I
had got into them, it was difficult to recede, and for that Purpofe I went on.

Lord Ravenfwerth. ln your Opinien, and from your Recollettion, did you obferve
thefe Symptoms in Lord Ferrers the whole Time you attended him, the major Part of the Time,
or more particularly at the lateer Part?

Gogfirey. Molt certainly his Lordihip was greatly affefted with the Separation of Lady Fer-
rers ; and at that Time | obferved it.

Lerd Ravenfwertk. Do you think it proceeded from Liquor ?

Goofirey. I very leldom faw him in Liquor.

Lord Ravenfworth. At the Times you recollect, was he fober ?

Goofirey. Perfettly fober, ac the Times 1 fpeak of.

Earl of Merten. Did you ever fee him in fuch a Condition, that he was incapable of judging
between a moral and an immoral Aét?

Gagftrey. I cannot fay I ever did.

Then the Lord High Steward returned back to his Chair. ; .

Lord Privy Seal. My Lords, I mave your Lordfhips to adjourn to the Chamber of Par-

liament.
Lerd igh Steward.  Isit your Lordfhips Plealure to adjourn to the Chamber of Parliament ?

Eords. Ay, ay. . : :
Lord High Steward. This Houlle is adjourned to the Chamber of Parliament.

The Lords, and others, returned to the Chamber of Parliament in the fame Order they came
doon 5 and, after fume Time, the Houfe being there refumed, refolved to proceed furtber in
the Trial of Lawrence Earl Ferrers, in Wellminfter-Hall, To morrow, ar Ten of the
Clock in the Morning 3 and ovdered that the faid Lawrence Earl Ferrers jbould be re-
manded Prifoner to kis Majefiy’s Tower of London, there to be kept in fafe Cuffody 3 and
that be be brought again to the Bar of this Houfe in Weltmintter-Hall, To-morrow, ar
Ten of the Clock im the Morming.

I Thurfday,
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Thurfday April 17, 1760. The Second Day.

H E Lords, and others, came from the Chamber of Parliament into B eflminfler- Hall, in the
fame Order as on Wednefday laft 5 and the PEEH were there feated, and the Lord High
Steward in his Chair.
Lord High Steward. WMy Lords, The Houfe is refumed.  Ts it your Lordhips Pleafure, that
the Judes may be covered ?

Lords. Ay, Ay.
Then the Serjeant at Arms made Proclamation for Silence, as ufual ; and afterwards the

following Proclamation.

Sevjeant at Arms.  Oyez, Oyez, Oyez! Lieutenant of the Tower, bring forth your Prifoner,
Lawrence Earl Ferrers, to the Bar, purfuant to the Order of the Houfe of Lords,

The Deputy Governor of the Tower brought the Prifoner to the Bar, in the like Form as
before ; and then he kneeled down.

Lord High Steward.  Your Lordfhip may rife.
Lord High Steward, Earl Ferrers, your Lordfhip will proceed in your Defence,

Themas Huxley fworn,

Earl Ferrers. ID you know the late Earl Ferrers?
Huxjey. 1did.
Earl Ferrers.  How long did you know him ? -
Huxley. About Fourteen Years,
Ear! Ferrers.  What was che Matter with him 2

Huxley. He wasa Lunatic.
Ear! Ferrers.  Was he under Confinenicin ¢

Huxiey. He was under Confinement.

Earl Ferrers,  Was he a Lunatic all that Time.

Huxley.  Hebad Intervals.

Farl Ferrers. 'Was he_not recovered of his Undﬂﬂtmﬂmg fmnm ;[?:- as to return to his
Seat in Parliament ?

Huxley, - Not in that Time that I was with his Lord/hi L

Ear! Ferrers. Was he a Lunatic home tothe Timé' o h1s IJ:.‘MB o

Huxley. He was.

Earl Ferrers. Did you know Lady Parkara Shirley ¢

Fuxley., 1 did not.

Earl Ferrers, Or Lady Betty Shirley ?

Huxley. 1did know Lady Betty Shirley.

Egrl Ferrers. s the living 2

Huxley. Sheis dead.

Earl Ferrers.  How long has the been dead ?

Huxley.  Tothe beft of my Knowledge about Seventeen or Eighteen Years,

Earl Ferrers. Had the any Diforders that you know of ?

Huxley, AsIhave been told, by her Servants, fhe frequently appeared to be very much dif-
orderad,

Mr. Attorney General.. My Lords, I fhould be forry to ftop the Courfe of the Noble Earl’s
Evidence, burthisis Hearlay.

Earl Ferrers.  Did you know any other of the an:hr that were difordered in their Senfes ?

Huxley. Nothing more than by Hearfay.

Earl Ferrers.  How long have you known the prefent Earl Fervers ?

Huxley, But a very few Years.

Earl Ferrers. What Relation Was the latc Earl Ferrers to the prefent Lord 2

Huxley.  His Uncle.
“.T-“Lfr.rﬂ‘mmry General. My Lords, we will not trouble your Lordfhips to erofs-examine this

ITNRCIS.

D,
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Mrs. #ilbelmina Deborab Cates fword,

Earl Perrers.  Did you know Lady Barbara Shirley 2
Csi25.  Perfeltly well,
E.r! Ferrers.  What Relation was the tothe prefent Eafl Ferrers 2
Cores. - His Aunt.
Eari Ferrers.  How long did you know Lady Barbaras before her Death ?
Cotes.  She is now living.
Earl Fervers.  'Was fhe aflicted with any, and what, Diftemper 2
Cores.  Lunacy.
Earl Ferrers. Is fhe confined as a Lunatic at this Time?
hsmm‘ She was always looked upon as a Lunatic, and proper Care has besn taken of
r. p
Earl Fervers. Do youknow any other of the Family that has been afflifted with Lunacy ?
Cotes.  Only by Hearlay.

The Honourable and Reverend Mr. #alter Shirley fworn,

Earl Ferrers.  What Relation are you to me?

Shirley. Brother.

Earl Ferrers. Do you know any, and which, of the Family, that have been aflifted with
Lunacy ; if you do, plealt to mention their Names?

Skirley. I believe the Prifoner at the Bar has that Misfortune.

Earl Ferrers. What is your Reafon for fuch Belicf ?

Sbirley. 1 have many Reafons for it. The Firlt is, thac I have feen him feveral Times talking to
himfelf, clenching his Fifts, grinning, and haviag feveral Geitures of a Madman, without any
feeming Caufe leading thereto—1 have likewile very frequently known him extremely fufpicious
of Plots and Contrivances againlt him from his own Family 5 and, when he was delired to
give fome Account what the Plots were that he meant, he could not make any direét Anfwer.
—Another Reafon I have for thinking him fo is, his falling into vielent Paffion, without any ade-

uate Caufi.
? Earl Ferrers. Do you belive thar, at fome Timee. T hawe heen hurriad into viclent Fits, fo as
not to know the Diftinétion between a moral and immoral At ?

Shirley. 1 believe, at thofe Times when my Lord has been tranfported by this Difeafe
of Lunacy, that he has not been ableto diftingu(h properly between moral Good and Ewil,

Earl Ferrers, Has any other of the Family, belides myfelf; been afflifted with Lunacy ?

Skirley. . Thave heard — (ftopt) _

Earl Ferrers.  Pleafe to inform their Lordihips, whether, at the Time I have been tranfported
with fuch violent Fits, they have been the Effefts of Drink, and whether they have happened
when 1 was fober ?

Shirley. Frequently when my Lord has been fober, muth more fo when he has been a liule

inflamed with Liquor. 5
Earl Fererri. Do you know of any Intention in the Family to take out a Commiflion of Lu-

nacy againft me ?

gﬁiﬁq, I heard ic talked of.

Earl Ferrers.  How longago ! jedin, srij

Skirley. 1 think I can recolleét it was at the Time of his Lordhip’s committing the Outrage at
Lord i#¢fimorland’s Houle that it was propofed to be done ; but afterwa;di_ they were afraid to

through with it ; and the Reafon given was, left, if the Court of Judicature fhould not be

E?amughly farisAed of my Lord's Lunacy upon Infpeétion; thac the Damage would be very great
to thofe that fhould attempt it. ; :

Earl Ferrers,  Why was the Family afraid that 1 (hould appear in the Courts of Judicature to
be in my Senfes ¢ b bibs

Sbirley. Becaufe my Lord had frequently fuch long Intervals of Reafon, that, we imagined,
if he, on the Infpeftion, appeared realonable, the Court would not grant the Commiffion again(t
l.u‘ : - -
“.E.‘aﬂ' Ferrers.  What Damage do you mean that the Family was apprehenlive of; in cafe the
Court hould refufe a Commiffion ?

Shirley. We apprehended my Lord would fue us for Scandalum Magnatum.

Earl Ferrers. Was the Family apprehenfive of any other Kind of Damage ?

Skirley. 1know ol none.
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My. Attorney Gemeral. My Lords, 1 did notintend to have troubled this Gentleman ; bue
from what he has faid, your Lordfhips will permit me to-atk him Two or Three Queftions 5 [
fhall do it very tenderly, and with as much Propriety asI can.—In giving his Account of the
Neble Lord’s Seate of Mind, as far as [ could callect it, fuid, That he had more Realons than
One why he deemed him to be infane.

M. Attorney General. Mr. Shirley, You faid that the Firft Ground was, that his Lordhip
would, at Times, talk to himfelf, grin, and ufe certain Gr.'ﬂur{-s. proper only to Madmen— Now,
as to this Firlt Mark of Infanity, Was this frequently the Cale with his Lordilip ?

Shirley. Very frequently.

Mr. Attorney Gereral, Did he, at thofe Times, fpeak loud, or vfe any intelligible Language
to himfelf?

Shirley.” He did not.

Mr. Atterney General.  Did he, at fuch Times, offer to.commit any Mifchief, or betray any
Marks of Diforder, while in that Sieuation ?

Skirdey.  1do not recollet any.

Mpr. Attorney General.  Then, as far as I can underftand you, at thofe Times, his Behaviour
in thole Intervals was perfectly innocent.

Shirley. Yes.

Mr. Attormey General. At fuch Times have you ever entered into Difcourfe with him 2

Skirley. Mo, I do not remember.

Mr. Attorney Gemeral. Did you never afk him a fingle Queftion when you have feen him
walking backwards and forwards in the Way you mention ?

Shirley. 1don't remember I have,

Mr. Attorney Genral,  Did you newer hear him (peak at. {uch Times to other Perfons ?

Sbirley. Not whillt he continued in thofe Actitudes ?

My, Attorney General. I don’tafk you whether he converfed the Time that he was mute, but
within a Quarter or Half an Hour?

Shirfey.  J'am not certain,

Mr. Attorney General. Your next Ground for fuppofing him to be infane was, That he was
accuftomed to_be tranfported into Paflions without any adequate Caule, were thofe the Wiords ?

Shirley.  Withoue any feming Cauls

Mr. Atterney General.  'Was not adequate the Expreflion you ufed ?

Skirley. Yes.

Mr. Attorney Geweral. 1 fhould be glad to know whether you deem every Man that is
tranfported with Anger, without an adequate Caufe, to be 2 Madman ?

Shirley, Ideemed it asa Sign of Madnefs in him ; buc there were ather Caufes,

Mr. Attorney Gemeral.  1alk you.ageneral Queltion, and 1 do not expeét a particular Anfwer,
Whether you deem a Perfon that is tranfported with Fury without Realon, to be a Mad-
man ?

Shirley. I think a Perfon may be tranfported to Fury without an adequate Caule, thar is no
Madman.

é’lﬂi"r, Attorney Gemeral, Then pleafeto recolleét fome particular Inftance of chis frantic Paffion,
and fkate ic ?

Skirley. 1 really cannot command my Memory fo far.—I have not feen my Lord thefe Two
Years, till the Time of this unhappy Confinement,

Mr. Attorney General. Then F am to underftand you, that you cannot recollelt one particular
Inftance.—Am lor not?

Sbirley. 1 cannot recollect any ar this Time.

My, Attorney General, Then as to the Sufpicion of Plots without any Foundation——Will
you pleafe to enumerate any of thofe ¢

Skirley. He never himfelf would give any particular Account of what he fufpected, only that
he did fufpeét thar the Family was in fome Combination againit him ; and when | have afked
him, What it was that he meant ? he would never give me a dirett Anfwer to that Quef
tion,

My. Attorney General. Does that Kind of Behaviour, as you deferibe it, denote 2 Man out
of his Senfes ? )

Skirley. Ithought fo.—1 was fo fully poficfled of that Opinion, that I declared to other People
long agn, that I thoughe him a Madman.

M. Attorney General.  FPleafe to inform their Lordihips, whether the unfortunate Earl lived
well or ill with his Family ?

Shirley.  Indeed, he did not livein Friendthip with his Family.

Mr. dvtorsey Gemeral. Were there not Difputes onboth Sides ?

5 Skirley.
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Sbirlzy. -~ Xes there were, Lis younger Brothers and Sifters were under the unhappy Conftraint of
fuing for their Fortunes,

Mr. Artorney General,  Then pleafe to inform their Lord(hips, whether, in Truth, there was
not 2 Combimation in the Family againft him ?—I do not mean a Criminal one ?

Shirley. 1am very certain that wasnot what my Lord alluded to,

Mr. Attorney General. If youare certain of thar, you can inform their Lordthips what it was
that he alluded 1o ?

Skirley. 1 will give a Reafon why 1 am certain it was not that ; becaufe it appeared to be fome
fecrer Combination : That was a Thing publicly known.

Mr. Attorney General. How did you collect that the Combination was fecret ?

Skirley. By my Lord’s manner of exprefling himfelf.

Mr. Attorney General. Can you recollet the Phrafe or the Words he ufed 2

Skirfey. 1 cannot.

Mr. Atterney General.  In another Part of your Examination you was afked, whether the Earl
could diltinguith between Good and Ewvil ; you faid he could not diftinguith them properly.—
Was he at that Time lefs able to ditinguith properly between Good and Evil than any other Man
that is tranfported into a violent Paffion ?

Skirfey. 1 never faw any Man fo tranfported.

Mr. Attorney General.  Did he exprefs himfelf in infenfible Words, fo as that you could difco-
ver the Srate of his Mind ; and chat it was that of 2 Madman, and not a Man in Paffion ?

Shirley. 1 confidered it as Madnefs,

Mr. Artorney General. Can {ﬂli recolleft any Expreflion, in any Fic of Paflion that my Lord
was in, that might net as well have come from the Mouth of any other paffionate Man ¢

sbirley.  Indeed I cannot.

Mr. Atiorney General.  You recolle€t an old Adage, Jra furor brevis ¢ft : Do you believe that
his was fuch Madnefs as is there poetically defcribed ?

Shiriey. 1 believe that it really proceeded from Madnefs.

Mr. Aitorney General. Have you ever {een him fo tranfported upon any other Occafion than
that of Anger? Have you feen any Appearance of that Kind when he was cool and calm ¢

Sbirley. 1 have feen him break into Paffions wichout any feeming Caufe.

Mr. Atsorney General.  You faid you could not remember any Inftance, when the Queltion was
alked you; can younow? . e

Shirley. 1 remember once being at a hunting Seat at Swarenden in Leiceflerfbire, as I chole to
avoid the Bottle, I went up Stairs to the Lady’s ; Lady Ferrers, at that Time, lived with him 3
and, without any previous Quarrel, my Lord came up Stairs into the Room ; and, after flanding
for fome T'ime with his Back to the Fire, he broke out into the groffeft Abufe of me, infulting
me, and fwearing at me ; and 1 cannot to this Day or Hour conceive any Realon for it.

MNir. Attorney General. Had you neverany Difpute or Quarrel with your Brother 2

Skirley. Notat that Time.

Adr. Attormey General.  Might not you have had fome Quarrel a few Days before ?

Shirly. No.

My, dttormey General.  Are you confident of that ?

Skirley. 1 am confident. 3 : ; ; :

M. Attorney General. Hlad he no Sufpicion at that Time of your interefting yourfelf with
refpeét to my Lady Shirley? =

Skirley. There was then no Quarrel exifting.

My, Attorney General.  Had there never been a Quarrel between my Lord and my Lady ?

Skirley. 1 think not ; it was foon after his Marriage.

Richard Phillips {worn.

Earl Fervers. How long have you known me ?

Phillips.  About Eighteen Years. _ ;

Earl Ferrers.  Are youa Tenant, or what Relation do you ftand in to me?

Ptillips. 1 am a Tenant to j'iil_llr Lnrdi!;;;;

Ecrl Ferrers.  IDid you ever fee me mad ? 3

Phillips.  Your Lordihip afked me one Day, whether I ever faw you mad ? I faid, I hoped

not. r : .

Earl Ferrers, How long agoTis th;t ?
Phillips. - 1t may be Nine or Ten Years. 1 4
Earflﬁrm;. I?Ipun what Occafion was it that I afked you that Queltion ; and what did I

fay further ? ! :
Fhillips.  Your Lordfhip faid thar you wasa Madman, but could not helpir; and when it was

off you, you was forry for it. K Earl
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Eard Ferrers. Did 1, atany Time, lament the Misfortune of my Family, in refpedt of Mad-
nefls ?

FEillips.  Your Lordfhip told me that it was in your Family.

Earl Ferrers. At the Time that you fpeak of, Tenor Eleven Years azo, was T upon a Vific
at any Place that might make it neceffary for me to caution People againlt my own Madne(s, that
they might not be affronted at my Behaviour ¢

Phillips.  Your Lordfhip came then to live inthe Houfe whereI live. T thought you fpoke
thofe Words in a Way to caution me, that I fhould not be furprized, in calc you had fuch
Fits.

Ear! Ferrers.  Did you hear Tobnfen the Deceafed fay thac he thought me mad ?

Phillips. 1 have.

Earl Ferrers. When was it 2

Phillips. Some time ago.

Mr. Attorney General. My Lords, That'is not Evidence, to fpeak of what he heard Mr. Fobn-

T lay.
4 Ear;'f Ferrers. 1 thoughe, as the Evidence of Declarations of the Decealed was admiteed
againft me, it would have been admitted for me.

Mr. Attorney General. My Lords, though the Declarations of the Deceafed, whillt a dying
Man, and after the Stroke is given, are to be admirted as lega! Evidence 5 yet a Depofition of
what he or any other Perfon faid before the Accident, is clearly Hearfay Evidence, vpon the fame
Foundation with all other Hearlay Evidence ; and, with Submiffion o your Lordihips, ought not
to be admireed.

Mr. Attorney General.  The Queftion is objefted to by me; if my Noble Lord or his Coun-
cil infift upon it, the next Step is to hear his Council upon the Ohbjeétion; then we are to
anfwer it, and they are to reply ; and then it is for your Lordfhips Judgment.

Earl Ferrers. | waive the Queftion. ;

Gold Clarges, Elq; fworn,

Earl Ferrers.  How long have you known me ?

Clarges. From the Time of your Birth. .
Earl Ferrers. Did you 100k Upon me to be amicted with any and what Diftemper ?

Clarges. Indeed 1 have looked upon your Lordihip as a Lunartick for many Years,

Earl Ferrers. Has that Diftemper increas’d of late Years, and how Yong ?

Clarges. I think it has,

Earl Ferrers. How long? :

Clarges:  For thefe Two Years or more, ever fince the unhappy Difference between my Lady
and my Lord. '

Ear! Ferrers, Have you feen me in violent Fits of Lunacy ?

Clarges. 1cannot fay I have 5 and the Reafon that [ have feen few extravagant Aftions of his
Lordthip was this, as I leok’d upon him to be difordered in his Mind, 1 aveided being in Company
or having any Converfation with him as much as poffible.

NE&rI?Frrrm. Have you particularly remark'’d that I am of a very jezlous or fufpicious
ature ?

Clarges. 'That I have often.

Earl Ferrers. Has it been remarkably fo in me more than in any other People ?

Clarges. Much mote fo.

Earl Ferrers. Did you know any of my Relations being fo aflifted

Clarges. 1 remember Henry Earl Ferrers was.

Earl Ferrers, Had he a Commiffion taken out againit him ?

Clarges. He had,

Ear! Ferrers. Was he alter that reftor’d to his Senfes for any Time, fo as to return to
Parliament ?

Clarge;. He wasy he rewurn’d to Parliament about a Year and an Half, T believe, or
thereabouts.

Earl Ferrers.  What Relation was he to me ?

Clarges. Uncle ?

Earl Ferrers.  Was his Return to Parliament after he had been confin’d for Lunacy ?

Clarges.” Yes.

Earl Ferreps.  Had he, after that Year and an Halfs being in Parliament, any Relaple?
Clarges.  Yes,

Earl Ferrers. What became of him then?
Clarges.
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Dgf;ﬁgm Another Commiflion was taken out, and he was confined to the Time of his
r 3 g > - -
J:r".an.!' Iﬂ"ﬁ: His being in Parliament a Year and a Half was afeer the frft Commiflion iffued
Clarges. . Yes.
g : - i x
_Eu Ipe .f‘e;‘rm Do you know of any other of the Family being. aflicted with that
E?:ﬂ I jgave heard, but do not know it ?
avenfwaorth,  Hawve you avoi iR o T {
Thing to do w.:h hiar for fome ?I'irrl'c P:Ic[!lﬂ; o Cﬂmpan}r with Lord Ferrers, or having any
gfrgr.:. I did as much as I could.
rd Ravenfwerth, Pleale toinform their Lordfhips, whether you, at any Tj :
that, lived in any Degree of conttant Correlpundence and Intimacy wich }r.' S s e

Clarges.  Not much fince he arrived o Ii':lhnhuod_ S ARy nighoLond Feves 4
]mﬁ?‘i if?:?’iwrﬂ& Whether, previous to his Arrival at Manhood, did you fee a great deal of

Clarges. A great deal, almoft from his Cradle; for I tiing a Relation of his Famil

gy ; e ; ¥. was con-
ﬁ:?;lfh‘::l:h his Father and with him in the Country, and molt Part of my Time 1 fpent

Lord Ravenfwarth.  Whether in that Time, previous to his Manhood, did you obferve an
x::;;%blll; ELﬂrd Ferrers from his Behaviour, or any of his Deporiménty that was particularly 1-:?:

Clarges. T have. -

Lord Ravenfuwerth. You have known him during his Infancy and before his Manhood ; Did you
obferve any thing reciazkable conflieutionally (if I may call it fo), and lingular in his Behavigur,
during the Time you knew him ? :

Clarges. I have feen great Oddities inhim beyond what 1 have feen in any. other Man.

" LE?-':;: R::wnfwmﬁ. What Age was this prefent unfortunate Earl at the Time of the Deach of
is Father ? :

Clarges. I believe about Twenty-two or Twenty-three.

Lord Ravenfworth. You: fay yow was intimate with his Father 5 Had you at any Time any
Converfation with the Father of the prefeat. Earl, relative 1o, thar which, appeared to. you to be
fingular in his Son ? ; e

Clarges. | cannot fay I ever had. ] :

Lord Ravenfworth. Pleafe to recolled, as far as poffible, any Symptoms, be they of what Kind
foever, that made you think Lord Ferrers fo very ingular in his Nature 2

Clarges. 1 cannot fpecify any pariicular Thing. _

Lord Ravenfwerth. You lay that you have feveral Times feen that-in my Lord, which made
you think my Lord to be very lingular ¢ s

Clarges.  Yes, '

Lord Ravenfworth. Do you recolleét any Thing ?

Clarges. It is a great while ago; [ .cannot parcicularly fpecify any Thing.

Earl of Morton. This Witnefs has told your Lordihips, that he. has known the Noble
Lord at the Bar from his Cradle—L defire he may be afked, if he ever obferved any Defeét of
Under{tanding in the Noble Lord at che Bar? '

Clarges. Not to my Knowlege 3 not whillt he: was with me.

Earl of Morten. Upon noOccalion when you faw him ?

Clarges.  No, I cannco fay I have,

Earl of Merton. Did you ever perceive the Noble Lord at the Bar fo far deprived of hisSenfes,
as not to know that Robbery or Murder was an Offence againit the Law of God and Maa ?

Clarges. No, to be fure, my Lords ; I cannot fay thar L ever did.

Peter Williams fwarn.
Earl Ferrers. How long have you known me 2 '

Hilliams. I have known your iip thefe Sixteen or Seventeen Years,

Earl Ferrers. Do you know of any Diltemper that I am afflicted with?

Williams. Of late | have.

Ear! Ferrers. What Diftemper is char ?

Hilliams, 1 have often obferved your Lordthip, when I have been in your Company, to be
fpitting in the Glafs, and biting your Lips, and Stamping about the Roem, which induced me to
believe your Lord(hip was not in your right Senfes; and further to convince me it was fo,. there
was a that your Lordthip fent to me on the 17th Famuary 1749, and remained with me I:n

2 the
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the firft of Apri! following : One Day, being Swnday, your Lordfhip came to my Houfe, aboue
Four or Five in the Afterncon, with Two Servants; your Lordihip arm’™d with a Tuck ftuck
upon a Stick, the Two Servants with Guns and other offenfive Weapons : Upon entering into the
Yard, your Lordthip jump'd off the Horle, and bid one of your Servants, you call’d Tem, knock
the Padlock off the Stable Door.—He did fo. My Wife hearing a Noife in the Yard, fhe came
to know the Reafon ; and without any Ceremony your Lordfhip fel’d her to the Ground with
your Fift : Upon my fecing this, [ wene into the Yard, and afk’d your Lordihip what you meant
by this Behaviour ¢ j

Earl Ferrers. My Lords, I defire to ftop this Witnefs ; I only meant to afk him a general

ueliion.
Q'.&;qr; Ferrers.  Have you oblerved, that That which you call a Diftemper in me has increafed
lately.?

I}Iﬂ!‘;‘mm_:_ Yes, in my Opinion I think it did : When your Lordthip came to me, you, without
any further Ceremony — — — —  (Stopp'd by Lord Ferrers).

Lord Ravenfiworth. My Lords, in Jultice to myfelf and to your Lordfhips, I hope that the
Witnels may zo on, tho' the Prifoner defires he may be flopp’d ?

Lord Mansfield.  1f any of your Lordfhips have any Queitions to'afk the Witnefs, you will
do ic : The Prifoner will afk him fuch as he thinks proper.

Earl Ferrers. Do you know of any Delign in the Family to take out a Commiffion of
Lunacy againit me?

Williams. 1 cannot fay I do.

Earl Ferrers,  Did you ever tell me that the Family wanted to prove me mad ?

Hlliams. 1 don't remember I did.

Earl Ferrers.  Did you yourfelf confider me as a Madman ?

Hilliams. 1 conlidered your Lordfhip fo ar this Juncture, and many Times before.

Earl Ferrers. 'What Time did you mean by this Juncture ¢

Williams. 1 mean the Junélure of his Lordmips coming on Hoifeback with Guns and other
offenlive Weapons to take away the Mare.

Earl Ferrers.  What Time was that ?

Williams.  Sunday the 1ft of April 17595 1 miftook when I faid 1749.

Earl Ferrers. 'Was it the general Reputation of the Country that I was mad ?

Filliams. Tr wasy I have heard Gveral Paople fay, where is the mad Lord that us'd to be at
your Houfe ? _

Ear! Ferrers. How long before this Accident, in regard to Mr. Fobnfom, was it, that my
Lord came to your Houfe arm’d in this manner ?

Williams., 1 believe it was about a Twelvemonth.

Ear! Ferrers. You faid it was 1749 before.

Filliams. 1 meant 17509.

Flizabeth W illiams fworn.

Earl Ferrers.  How long have you known Lord Ferrers ?

Williams. A great many Years. _

Earl Ferrers. Do youknow of any Diftemper that Lord Ferrers is aflicted wich, and what
is it ?

Williams, He never appeared like any other Gentleman.

Ear! Ferrers.  Wherein did he differ from other People in general?

Hilliams. He always was amufing and talking to himfelf.—He fpic in the Looking-glals,
tore the Pictures, fwearing he would break my Bureau open, and would break all the Glafies in
my Houfe, and would throttle me if I would not let him do it

Ear! Ferrers. Had he any particular Reafon for this Condudt 2

Filliams. MNone that I ever faw, but ke a delirious Man.

Earl Ferrers.  Did you keep a Public Houfe ?

Williams. Yes.

Harl Ferrers.  How near did you live to my Lord ?

Williams. My Lord was at my Houfe, and boarded with me.

Ear! Ferrers. Are you the Wife of the laft Witnefs ?

Filliams. Yes.
Earl Ferrers.  'Where did Lord Ferrers live, at the Time he behav'd in that odd manner you
{peak of ?

Williams.  He had Lodgings at Muftwell Hill.
Eard Ferrers.  How far did you live from him.
: : : Williams.
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Wilfiams. Two Miles to the beft of my Knowledge, he frequently us’d to come, 1 have
made him Coffee and fent up 2 Difh, he always drank it out of the Spour, which furprized me,
that I thought him delirious.

Earl Ferrers.  How long ago is thar ?

illfiams, 1 believe itis about Twelve Months ago to the beft of my Knowledge.
! Ferrers.  Have you often feen Lord Ferrers behave in that ?

Williams. 1 never faw him behave like any other Gentlemanin my Life.

Earl Ferrers.  Was the Coffec hot when he drank it out of the Spout ?

Williams. Hot.—He always went about the Town like a Madman, throtded me and threw
me down in the Yard, one Day when he took the Horfe away,

Earl Ferrers.  Did you think Lord Ferrers a Madman ?

Williams. 1know he was by all his Appearance.

Earl Ferrers.  'Was he generally thoughe fo by other People ?

Hilliams, By all the whole Town,

A Lord.  When he threaténed to break open your Bureay, and to ufe you ill if you did not let
him do it, was he in Liquor ?

Williams. Sober as | am now. ' o

A Lerd.  Did you ever, upon any Occafion when he committed thefe Outrages, obferve that
he had becen drinking ?

Williams. ‘Never ; he never drank in a Morning but a little Tea or Coffee, or fome
Broth.

Earl Ferrers. Have you ever feen me commit any otber Afts of Outragg befides thefe you
have mentioned ?

Hilliams. A great many more that are worle,

Earl Ferrers. WName them ?

Filliams. Swearing, curling, and damning us ; and wilhing us all at Hell, and himfelf at Hell 5
and threatened to break the Glaffes ; and ralk’d to himfelf for Hours togecher in Bed.

Ear! Fervers. Was he drunk or fober at thole Times ?

Williams, Very rarely ; but he feem’d more to be difturb’d in his Mind.

Earl Fervers.  Mention the Circumftance abour my coming for the Mare 2

Williams, My Lord came for the Mare, it was at Church Time, and brought his Servants,
and a Hammer in his Hand, and Guns, with a Tuck in his Hand, and broke the Stable Door

n by Violence of Arms, and knock'd me down with his Arm, and run the Tuck into my
ufband, fetch’d che Blood, I wasobliged to have a Surgeon to attend him ; and rook the Mare
away by Force of Arms, and if any-body came to hinder him, he faid he would blow their Brains
out. He always had Piftols, nebody knew of. I pever faw any Gentleman that came to m
Houfe before, that had thofe Things about them. I vs'd to like to take them out of the B
chamber, but was afraid to touch them, for fear of what he fhould do o me himfelf, by feeing
his Mind fo difturb’d.

Earl Ferrers.  Were thofe Outrages committed when he was drunk or fober?

Williams. Sober for the general ; and when he tock the Mare away, as fober as he is now.

FEarl of Hardwicke. Inform their Lordfhips, whether, before my Lord came in this Manner
to get the Mare out of the Stable, he had betore fent any Servant to demand the Mare, and had
been refus’d ?

HWilliams. Yes he had, the Boy was gone to Church. We always kept it under Lock, becaule
there was more of his Lordfip's Horles ; and nobody was to go into the Stable but his Lord-
fhip"s Oftker.

The Honourable Mr. Robert §hirley fworn.

Eerl Ferrers.  'What Relation are you to me?

Skirley. Brother. :

Earl Ferrers. When was the laft Time that you and I had any Converfation together ?

Shirley.  Almolt Four Years ago, between Three and Four Years.

Earl Ferrers, Atthar Time in what Light did you look upon me? .

Skirley. Rather turn’d in your Head. 3

‘Earl Ferrers. Was there any Diforder in the Family ? and what was that?

Shirley, Lord Henry Ferrers had Madnefs.

Earl Ferrers. Do you know Lady Barbara Shirley ?

&kirley.. I do not.

E;a-a! }Errm:-' Do you koow of your own Knowledge any other befides Earl Henry that was
a Lunatic?

Shirley. Ne. A o
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Earl Ferrers. Have you any Reafon to believe that I have been aflidted with the like

Diforder ?

Shirley. 1 have.

Eari Ferrers. Pleale to Name your Reafons ?

Sbirley. My Realons are, that when L Iiv’d av Burton spon-Trent, your Lordfhip came to my
Houfe with conceal'd Piftols in your Pockets, Pockets that were made on Purpole for that Ule
I apprehend ; and that you likewile had a Snick-or-/nee Kaife, as it is call’d; I apprehended
myfelt and all the Family in greae Danger at that Time ; and | was obliged to fhut the Doors
againft you; vpon that [ wrote to my Brother Captain #aflingten Skirley, that I apprehended
you to be a Lunatic, and would join with him in talang out a Cemmiffivn againft you.

Ear! Ferrers. Have you any other Reafons to believe me a Lunatic than my carrying
Piltols ?

Shirley. Yes.

Ear] Ferrers.  Name all your Reafons ?

Shirley.  Your Lordhip has frequently afl’d my Opinion in relation ro your Affairs, which [
have told you to the beft of my Capacity ; but you was always fo unficady and jealous of me
and your Friends, when we were endeavouring to ferve you, that you would never venture to
truft us in any Thing in which we could be of Service to you. 1 have likewife feen you in feveral
firange Poftures, walking about with great Confulion of Mind, and very often was abfont for 2
confiderable Time, when 1 have been afking you a Queflion 1 could hirdly get an Anfwer
from you.

!-,'aff Ferrers.  'Was it ufual for me to go arm’d ? .

Shirley. 1 believe for Four Years paft, or very near, you have hardly ever gone without con-
ceal'd Piftols about you. \

Earl Ferrers. Did I ufe to go arm’d formerly when you knew me ?

Shirley. 1 never knew that his Lordfhip went arm’d, ull he came to my Houfe at Burton-upen-
Trent, which was the Jalt Time I faw him.

Ear! Ferrers. Do you know any Thing more ?

Skirley. 1 have further to fay, that my Father made a S ttlcment in 1741, which you fub-
jected yourfelf to and acquiefted under for near Twenty Years; and then preferr’d a Bill, in
order Lo fer thar Scrrlemene aﬁds, andd, ecantrary 1o the U;a'miun of your Solhictor and
Council, you fhill would inlit vpon doing ir, and cbliged me ro put in an Anlwer for mylelf
and my Son. :

Ear!l Ferrers. Do you know of my being fubjet to Fits of violent Rage ?

Sbirley. 1 cannot fay but I have,

Earl Ferrers. Did you ever fee me fo outrageous as not to know the Difference between
Good and Evil ?

Shirley. 1 really cannot particularize any Thing, 'tis [o long ago ; but upon Occafions I have
feen you extremely paffionate and warm, and fo much fo, that I believe you did not know what

ou did fometimes.

Earl Fervers. Do you think that thefe violent 'affions you [peak of arofe from conftitutional
Defeéts ? 4

Shirley. 1 really believe fo.

Earl Ferrers.  If you have any Thing more to offer, mention it yourfelf ; I have no more
Quetions to afk you.

Shirky. 1 have nothing more to offer.

Lord Cadsgan.  How long was it before this Accident, that you wrote to Captain Fufb-
ington Shirley about taking out a Cemmiffion of Lunacy agaisit my Lord 2

Skirley. Itisupwards of Two Years ago fince [ wrote to himy,

Doctor Fobu Monree {worn.

Earl Ferrers.  Did you know the late Earl Ferrers ?

Monrde. 1 did.

Ear! Ferrers.  Did you know him in any and what Diftemper ?

Menree. 1 nttcndm:r him as a Phyfician when he was under the unhappy Influence of Lunacy.

Earl Ferrers. Have you heard all the Evidence that has been given in this Caufe, on the Chargg
againft Earl Ferrers, on both Sides?

Monrge. 1 have, :

Earl Ferrers.  You are defired to mention what are the ufval Symptoms of Lunacy ?

Menroe. Uncommon Fury, not caufed by Liquor, bue very frequently raifed by it; many

othets there are which tend to Viclence againi other Perfons or againft themfelves: 1donotknow a
2 ftronger,
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ftronger, a more conftant, or a more unerring Symptom of Lunacy than Jealoufy, or Sufpicien
without Caufe or Grounds : There are many others too long to enumerate.

Earl Ferrers. Has the carrying of Arms been generally a Circumitance of Lunacy ?

Menrse. 1 have known it to be fo, but not generally.

Earl Lerrers.  Pleafe to inform their Lordthips whether any and which of the Circumftances
which have been proved by the Witneffes are Symproms of Lunacy ?

Mr. Auorney General, My Lords, if the Noble Lord means to infilt upon that Queftion, I
objedt to it

Lerd High Steward.  Lord Ferrers, do you defire your Council to be heard upon that ?

Ear{ Ferrers. 1 do.

Earl of Hardwicke. . My Lords, this Queftion is too general, tending to alk cthe Dodtor's
Opinion upon the Refult of the Evidence, and is very righely objeéted w by the Council for che
Crown : If the Noble Lord at the Bar will divide the Queition, and afk whether chis or chat
particular Fact is a Symptom of Lunacy, I dare fay they will not objeét to i ?

Mr. Attorney Gm_rmf My Lords, I fhall nor.

Earl Fervers, My Lords, 1 fubmit to have it go on in the Way recommended by Lord
Hardwicke.

Earl Ferrers. Pleale to inform their Lordihips, whether quarrelling with Eriends without Caufe
is a Symptom of Lunacy?

Monrce. Very frequently one.

Ear! Ferrers.  Whether being naturally fufpicious is a Symptom of Lunacy ?

Adexrroe.  Yes it is withvut Caule a conftant one.

Earl Ferrers.  Whether going arm’d where there is no Danger is a Symptom of Lunacy ¢

Monrge. That muit be according to the Circumfiances.

Ear! Ferrers. Whether going generally arm”d where there is no apparent Danger is a Symp-
tom of Lunacy ?

Menrge. 1 (hould think it was. ? ! ]

Ear{ Ferrers. 'Whether fpitting in the Looking-glafs, clenching the Fift, and making
Mouths is a Symptom of Lunacy ? -

Monvee. | have frequently feen fuch in Lunatic Perfons. _

Eard Ferrers.  Whether walking in che Room, wlking w himielf, and mnhl.ns odd Gellures,
are Symptoms of Lunacy ?

Monrce. Very common ones.

Earl Fervers. s quarrelling without Caufe a Symptom of Lunacy #

Mewrse. It is a very frequent Actendant upon fuch unhappy Complaints, and they are generally
malicicus. -

FEarl Fervers. Whether drinking Coffee hot out of the Spout of the Pot is a Symptom of
Lunacy ¥ ¥

Mzrm 1 thould think it onein the prefent Cafe ; it is not a general one.

Earl Ferrers.  Whether Lunatics, when they are angered with or without Caufe, know what
they are doing ? -

Monrge. Sometimes, as well as I do now. : g

Ea:: ?mcr:. Is it common to have fuch a Diforder in Families in the Blood ?

. Unfortunately too common ? N ot )
ﬂEiﬂ;r;'fmm.n Whuthc:: Lunatics in their Intervals are confcious of their being Lunatics?
Manroe, ‘They are confcious of it 3 many, both in and out of their Intervals; very few that
l:'- t. . & "

= Eeﬁi Fervers.  Whether Lunatics are apt to be feized with Fits of Rage ona fudden ?

Monree. Very often.

Earl Ferrers.  Without any app‘a:rtnF Caufe ¢

Monrce, 'Without any apparent Caule, : . X

Enrt’rgmrs. Is thﬂ}; al?ul;dnth:-r Way of d}f:?v:nng whether a Man is a Lunatic or not, but

1 larity of his Behaviour or his Pulie ¢ :
b}'ﬂ:ur;:fguﬂa;l?lrw Irregularity of his Behaviour 3 I know of noother Method ; the Pulfe dif-
i i ll' . . s
m;;rgl.lgﬁgm%*lgffc t:a ‘:nfnrm their Lordihips, whether a Perfon under an immediate Vifitation
od of Madnefs, has not commonly a Fever ? . ‘
fm:’!nﬂ':fm. Seldom :r never, unlels it may be at the firft Attack of the Diftemper, or in fome

vary viglent Fic.
Reger
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Reger Griffith fworn.

Earl Ferrers. How long have you known me?

Griffitb.  About Twelve Meonths.

Earl Ferrers. Did you know me when I lived at Mufowell Hill #

Griffieh. Yes, very well,

Ear! Ferrers. When was that?

Griffieb. It was about Twelve Months ago.

Ear! Ferrers. At that Time was I generally reputed a Madman, or a Man in his Senfes ?

Griffitb. Generally reputed a Lunatic ; fome faid, crack’d in his Head,

Earl Ferrers. My Lords, I defire Leave to call Mr. Gogfirey, to afk him a Queftion I forgot
Y citerday.

Mr. Gogfirey {worn again.

Earl Ferrers.  Have you obferv’d me remarkably jealous and fufpicious, and for what?

Gogfirey.  Very remarkably fo all che while 1 had the Honour to be concerned for him, and
much more than any other Perfon, In the courfe of Time thar I was concern’d for his Lordfhip,
he has been at different Times——-———

Lord High Steward. You are not to go into a Detail.

Ear] Ferrers. My Lords, I have done with my Evidence ; but it is impofTible for me to
fum up, and what I have to offer to your Lordfhips I have reduced into Writing, and defire the
Clerk may read it.

Lord High Steward.  Is it of your Lordlhip's own Writing ?

Earl Ferrers, My Lords, the Atorney got it copied.

. Clerk reads,
My Lords,

T is my Misfortune to be accufed of a Crime of the moft horrid Nature.

My Defence is, in general, thac 1 am Neos Guwidy ;. ‘The Faét of Homicide is proved againft
me by Witneffcs, who, for oughe I can fay to the contrary, Ipeak truly.

But if I know myfelf at this Time, I can truly affirm, | wasever incapable of it, kwewingly;
If I have done and faid what has been alledg'd, [ muff have been depriv’d of my Senfes.

I have been driven to the miferable Neceflity of proving my own Want of Underftanding 3
and am told, the Law will not allow me the Affiftance of Council in this Cale, in which, of all
others, [ (hould think it moft wanted.

The more I ftand in need of AMiftance, the greater Realon I have to hope for it from your
Lordfhips.

Witnefles have been call’d to prove my Infanity,—To prove an unhappy Diforder of Mind,
and which I am griev’d to be under the Neceffity of expofing,

If they have not directly prov’d me fo Infane as not to know the Difference between a meoral
and an smmeral Adlion, they have at lealt prov'd that I was Jiable to be driven and burried into
that unbappy Condition upon very flight Occalions.

Your LordfHips will confider whether my Paffion, Rage, Maduefs (or whatever it may be
called), was the Effeét of a weak or diftemper’d Mind, or whether it arofe from my own Wick-
ednefs, or Inattention to my Duty.

If I could have controul'd my Ragze, I am anfwerable for the Confequences of ir.—But
if I comld not, and if it was the merc Effeét of a diftempered Brain, I am mot anfwerable for
the Confequences.

My Lords, | mention thefe Things as Himts—1 need not, indeed I cammot, enlarge upon
}hiﬁ Subjeét : Your Lordiips will confider all Circumftances, and I am fure you will do me

ultice.

If iv be but a Matter of Dowd#, your Lordfhips will run the Hazard of doing me Jijufice if
you find me Guilty.

My Lords, If my Infanity had been of my own feeking, as the fudden Effect of Drusbemnefs, |
f!l{jruM be witbont Excufe. But it is proved, by the Witnefles for the Crown, thas I was ot
in Liguor.

M. Kirkland, who drank and converfed with me, in order to betray me, (Mr. Attorney may
commend his Caation, but not bis Homefly) reprefents me as the moft irrational of all Madmen,
at the Time of my deing a Deed, which I refleft upon with the utmolt Abhorrence.

The
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The Council for the Crown will put your Lordfhips in Mind of every T
gﬁmﬂ_ 3:. I muil require of your Lordmhips’ Juftice, w0 recollect every C?ﬂmﬁ;;?ﬂr?l:ﬁ:
erbér A

My Lafe is in your Hands, and I have every Thing to ho i
condemn me of che Crime I ftand accufed of ; for I Ea:l no F;:?miiur:ErE ui"l-:{:ﬁ“::lﬂ-: gﬁ? ;:
hurdied into the Perpetration of this fatal Deed, by the Fury of a difordered Imagina-
tion.

To thirk of this, my Lords, is an Affiction, which can be aggravated only by the Necedfity of

making it my Defence,

May God Almighty direét yowr Judgments, and correét my own.

Earl Ferrers. My Lords, I will mention One Circumftance, which 1 did foesk of Yefter-
day; it was faid, that I knew of a Leale Fobnfon had, but it has never been ppmw.l 3 there-
!F:c,h I imagine, that what I afferted, that I did not know of it, muft be admirtced as

ruen. \

Lord High Steward.  Earl Ferrers, Hath your Lordthip any thing furcher to offer ?

Earl Ferrers.  No.

M., Sollicitor General,

% My Lords,

15 now my Duty, to lay before your Lordthips fome Obfervations, upon the Evidence offered
both for the King and the Prifoner, in Reply to the Defence made ,IEE;H& the Charge,

The I-a{'t of killing Mr. Fobnfon (the Perlon named in the Indiftment}), is admitted as well as
proved. The Noble Lord at the Bar only denies theConfequence ; thag the Faét is Murder, For,
he ““Eﬁwﬂ Lur_dmlups, ;J:u? upmh m‘:ﬁ:éﬁ:iiﬂg ai; Tf Ccifrcumﬂanr.:&s, he is fatisfied, that he was
inca » knowingly, of doing what he did ; an i { -
fanity of Mind in his Defench,. e L LD

My Lords, It iscertainly true, that the Fact is not Murder without Malice ; fo natural Juftice
fays 5 fo the Law fays, on which the Indictment is framed : And Malice muft depend, in every
Cale, upon the Will and Underftandiog o she Dacsr. 16 v Befurns io fowaded in Truth; as the
Noble Prifoncr at the Bar has feen the Anxiety of your Lordfhips, to give itall due Weighe,
through the whele Courfe of his Trial; fo now, in the Conclufion, he will receive from you, as
his Judges, che full Benefie of thae Defence in his Acquittal.  If it is not founded in Truth, I am
perfuaded, that no other Conlideration, refpeting the Rank and Quality of the Noble Prifoner,
and his Relation to your Lordfhips, will turn your Attention from the Evidence, nor make
the lzalt Impreflion upon the Firmnefs of your Juitice.

Before I obferve upon the Evidence, I will prefume, with your Lordihips’ Indulgence, ta
ftate to you the Legal Notion of that Defence, which has been urged and attempted in Proof,

My Lords, The Law of Emgland, which is wifely adapted to punifth Crimes with Severity, for
the Protection of Mankind, and for the Honour of Government, provides, at the fame Time,
with the greateft Equity, for the Imbecillity and Imperfections of human Natwre. Therefore, my
Lord Chuef Jultice Hale (the Weight and Authority of whofe Writings are known to your Lord-
fhips and to the whole Kingdom), explains the Law upon this Subject, ac large, with his ufual
Clearne(s and Accuracy. It is, in his Fielt Volume of the Hiftory of the Pleas of the Crown, (fol.
30), where he traces all the Diftin&ions, which the Nawre of this Queltion admits, as it con-
eerns the Tral of Criminals for Capiral Offences. I will colleét the Subftance of what he fays,
and fubmut it to your Lordihips, as founded not only in Law and Praftice, but in the moft un-
erring Rules of Reafon and Juftice.

My Lords, He begins with obferving, that ¢ Thereis 1ft, A Partial Infanity of Mind, and
“ there is 2dly, A Total Infanity, 1ft, Partial Infanicy is, euher in refpeét 1o Things, when
 they, who are competent as to fome Matters, are not {o as to others ; or elfe it is Partial, in
* refpect to the Degree. This is the Condition of many, efpecially of Melancholy Perfons. Asto
“ fuch, a Partial Infanity will not excufe them ; for (he fays) that Perfons who are Felons of
¢ themfelves, and other Felons, are under a Degree of it, when they offend.™ It is difficule to draw
the Line, which dividesPerfeft from Partial Infanity; and he refersit to the Difcretion of the Judge and
Jury, who muft duly weigh and confider the Whole; * Left on one Side, there be a Kind of Inhu-
“ manity towards the Defets of Human Nature ; or, cn the other Side, too much Indulgence
“ given to great Crimes.”  Then, my Lords, he fpeaks of the general Rule, which he would
chuik o lay down, as the beft Meafure of his own Judgment ; and it is, ** Thata Perfon, who has
“ ordinarily as great a Share of Underftanding, as a Child of Fourteen Years of Age, is fuch a

“ Perfon, as may be guilty of Trealon or thgl'i adly, As ro Total Infanity or Mi:[m;f;n gf
L] lu. =
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« Mind, which is perfect Madnefs, this(Lord Hale agrees) will phinly excufe from the Guile of
¢ Felony and Treafon." :

Burt he diftinguithes under the Head of Total Infanity, between * that Species, which is fized
« and permanent 5 and Lunacy, which comes by Penods or Fis,” -~

OF this latter Kind he expreffes himfelf thus : ** Crimes committed by Lunaticks, in fuch theic
“ Diftempers, are under the fame Judgment, as thofe commiued by Men parually infine.
* The Perfon, who is abfolutely mad for a Day, killing a Man in that Diftemper, is equally not
“ Guilry, as if he were mad without Intermiffion. But fuch Perfons, as have their lucid Intervals,
“ have ufually, in thofe Intervals at leatt, a competent Ule of Realon ; and Crimes commirged
“ by them are of the fame Nature, and punifhable in the fame Manner, as if they had no fuch
¢ Defedt.”

My Lords, Afterwards, he treats of thae Infanity, which arifes from Prunkennefs, and lays i
down, that *¢ By the Law of England, fuch a Perfon fhall have no Privilege from this voluntary
“ contrafted Madnefs, but fhall have the fame fudgment, as if he were in his righe Senfis *°
(unlefs it be occalioned by Medicine unfkilfully adminiftred, or Poifon accidentally raken), In-
deed, if, by fuch Practices, an labitual fixed Frenzy be caufed, it puts the Man in the like Con-
dition, with refpet to Crimes, asit that Frenzy were at firll involuntarily contrated,

My Lords, The Refult of the whole Reafoning of this wife Judge and great Lawyer ([ far
as it is immediately relative to the prefent Purpofe) flands chus, It chere be a total permanent
Want of Reafon, it will acquit the Prifoner. If there be a rotal eemporary Want of it, when
the Offence was committed, it will acquit the Prifoner.  But if there be only a pardal Degree
of Infanity, mixed with a partial Degree of Reafon ; not a full and complete Ule of Reafon, but
(as Lord Hale carcfully and emphatically expreffes himielf) a competent Ule of it, fufficient to
have reftrained thofe Paffions, which produced the Crime ; if there be Thought and Defign ; a
Faculty to diltinguith the Nature of Aétions; to difcern the Dilference berween moral Good
:n]ul Ewvil; then, upon the Faét of the Offence proved, the Judgment of the Law muft take

ace.
£ My Lords, The Queftion therefore mufk be afked ; Is the Noble Prifoner at the Bar to be ac-

quitted from the Guile of Murder, on account of Infunity # It is not pretended to be a conftane
general Infanity, Wi Tie under the Fower or ir, at the Lime of the Offence commiwued? Could

he, did he, at that Time, diftinguith between Good and Evil ?

The fame Evidence, which eflablifhes the Fadt, proves, at the fame Time, the Capacity and
Intention of the Noble Prifoner.  Did he weigh the Motives ? Did he proceed with Deliberation ?
Did he know the Confequences ?

My Lords, He weighed the Motives. The Two Witneflts, who fpeak moft ftrongly and
materially to this Part of the Caufe, as well as to every other, are, Sarab Fobnfon the Daughter
of the Derealed, and Mr. Kirkiond the Surgeon.

The Circumftances proved by their Evidence fhew, that the Malice conceived, on this
unforwunate Occafion, was fteady, cool, and premeditated. Mr. Fobnfor had afted, for
many Years, as Steward to colleft the Rents of fuch Lands as Lord Ferrers had in Polfeffion ;
and he was himfelf Tenant of One of the Farms. At the Time of paffing the A& of Patliament,
Two Years ago, relative to the Noble Lord’s Eftate and Affairs, Mr. Fobufon ftood fo well in
his Opinion and Favour, as to be recommended by his Lordfhip to be Receiver, for the various
Trufts and Purpofes in the A&. Something paffed on that Occalion, which difgufted the Noble
Lord, and made him jealous, that Fobufor had taken IE?" againft him. From thar Moment,
he entercained Refentment and Hatred in his Heart. ore larely fhll, he ook Offence againlt
Fobnfom, as to a Contralk for the Sale of Coals upon Part of the Eftate, in which his Lordfhip
thought (as he feems to be knowing and attentive in his private Bufinels) that there had been fome
Collufion, to impofe upon him.

My Lords, The firft Inftance of his Refentment appeared to you from the Evidonce of Sarah
obnfow, the Daughter: Thar, in the November preceding the killing of her Father, Lord
errers, accompanied by Mr. Clifford, delivered a Paper to Fobnfon, the Body of which was

voluntarily admitted by my Lord to be of his own Hand-writing. It was a Notice to Fobnjan
to quit the Farm which he rented, and Ciifford was the intended Succeffor. This Step proceeded
from Refentment, and it was fo explained afterwards by himielf to Kirkland, when he faid, that
he had long wanted to drive Febnfon out of the Farm, and make him return to Chefire,
f_rmn whence he came. My Lords, It is very plain, that the Noble Lord took his Re-
olution

Earl Ferrers. Mr. Sollicitor, you miftake; the Notice was given a Twelvemonth ago lalt
Novewber 5 it was not given in the latt Nevemder.
-"; M‘I‘
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M. Sellicitor General. My Lords i
for fetting me right in the I-:al"tHL'ircum,ﬂ:fn:I:‘E ?:ﬁ.mrly obliged - the Nﬂhl!, Lord at the Bar,
l:i.ke_. = ol g ] I'SI iip‘: Tlial:hc wll] nlwa}'s doit, whenever I mil-
Efcn!:c to turn Fobufon our of the Farm, is ;!um L?ﬂrduE:;wl;hF vmd“ g § i
&* hlrl conceiving Malice againlt Folnfow, has relied upen it .ll::lul: er to !Iiu:w the Improbabilicy
Ih'“ the greate(t Regard and Friend(hup for thar unfortunate Man Ivf g b i
ip and Kindnels down to che Time of pafiing the At of Parli g Loeds, & sl el riend
fhip had recommended: Fobifn to be vt l"_mmnnt : And I faid, that his Lord-
tainly changed his Opinion. It is fufficient, therefore t*r::: fhmﬂﬂw' paling ::_|f Eh Dy DA
{:r“ the firft-fizéng Matlc of his Rétentment prumi‘in ks ;m?ur:e to quit the Farm (which
oceedings of the Legiflature.  Whether the Notice w.;-s e I| Eﬂﬁlmn‘ I—"bﬁ:q}”—“t to the
ﬁ;:ni:;u Ufn[tnrnnr:n,: as a|:|-l'p]iu-;’| to this Purpofe rq_rm%ing r;ln'a;“ fuﬁiﬁ’ IR
5, was ing, thar, it was pl; i ; .
:1|p t-ll:‘.'- a R:lﬂlj.l.tiﬂn of i:i%mying M. :}":rhr.r}f';:.nj _T!:J-Br;!uﬂ\:ﬁ gmgmir AR R
vt his Lordfhip declared, in her Hearing, when the went m.%! ;,'F’ ey Kariackosh
i!_Eth of Fanuary, to fee her dying Father, thae he defigned it ‘H:r:i:::r ﬂ:f E-\":&_nmg of the
Ii:fe the Year 1753, Fobufom had been a Villain; that he had énn Thi L LI
rdlh!p fully intended to (hoot Febufor dead, as a Villain who d |=‘ m-jngs DOk R 2 URE
premtd_tmmd. He complained farther to Kirkland, that Fobuon ::.; Hﬂfﬂath;_and _:ha: ol
o cbmnltht A& of Parliamenty but added, that the chief Reafon ':I'Dh-uhzd i Bros
vukﬂ:! him, was, the Contral with Mr. Cerzen, in relation to :EII B mﬁ h“'l J'u“: ey
upbraided ",i"-u._!mﬁ.l_'r t!la: Evening, wpon his Death-bed, in like 'I'E ot fﬁfﬂt pekpingri 1o
thuu_gh the Wm}uls faid, that his Lordihip might then hc'rail'-:cl with Lfircim 5 1‘1: Lok
he did not lofe his Underftanding 5 and the Manner, in which he fpoke. e N
er Lords, Can there be a clearer Proof, that the Maoble Pﬁﬁm; i tvli'lmptrate. i
:II‘:I:; iﬁ:gg:dul‘:tmhfr th:f:lr;r r:;r ;ny other Motives, will jultify it ; hw::gmidﬁﬁdxgglﬁw‘:r
; ¢ was not abfurd, bue rational and con ; 2 i :
E:u:d 1m‘fm all Ages, upan Grounds as hight, by Men Tlfgtmvfrhtﬂgr II.I:nl:':u::.;’ﬂlj"ﬂt = ot
P ﬂﬂﬁ Lupacy. Motives like thofe fuggelicd, might ealily and nam? Ik EI-.:;mE s
P:;]run uEt:ul:n ; :;I;::ﬁl' (as ;:;ELW by - ehre W4 onsdlin ), f.milyﬂ-}"! Ti Mr;m v u$: I:L.Iﬁ
ame i i kit £
e :h:n l‘flsliﬂ'n. ves would not have inflamed Tempers, lefs fufceptible of Vio-
My Lords, He procecded with equal Deliberati i i
Thoogh, and Care vith which be i e T 2 thevBilth. The Atsoen
t appears, that he had appointed a particular Day for Mr. i i ;
the 18th of Fanwary was fxed, by the Order of ];..nrd F{r?eii'ﬁ:nfin ;a;rgpm_hnm iridw
made fome Days beforehand.  Elizabeth Burgeland has told your Lordthi Epmmmen: o
was expetled at Szanfon in the Forenoon of that wery Day.r Sarab ?ﬂhpa, ; Tll e
fhips, that fhe heard her Father declare, on the Sanday preceding, that h;.r #:“t.t ; rwdm‘
Ferrers on Friday, Kirkland proves, that the Noble Prifoner ,himi"tlf fand tf:.n Elu:nw_l.md
at Stamgon, that, upon Febmfen's coming into the Room, they had a Converfati it
after the Door was locked, by way of warm and violent E ulation on t? Ioil’ e
E&ﬁ l: :nd that hchm“t?d a E‘;p:r to be figned by Fobnjen, acknowledging his a‘u'.;iila:;; UEEE:?
Saxon over art of what was faid. That - £
Thought and Conlideration, probably prepared before ?E;;Ff;u n:::chav;,:t fnL::hrTii%:FruIl 4
ferved, with fome Emotion, the Account given of the Impatience with wh;'.]ch Conff ﬂL*Pi Db-f
Villainy were expecied, and almoft extorted alterwards, from the r.i:.ring Man e
My Lords, when the Wound was given, the Noble Lord at the Bar rold l':"arr Kirkland, tha
he was cool at the Time he did it: That he rook Aim; but not having lci'lll:d.:fo!: fﬂﬂ ‘I'Jt" :
tended to fhoot again : ‘That, however, Nature got the better of Refolution, when J;:HLf i A
the Pain under which Fabufon languithed. lc is proved, that in thx;-.lI Eveni : Erl:r?fci]:
E’:rl"i’and and Lord Ferrers fat together in the Sull Room, his Lordfhip declared “:E;.l; Iw li;'i
not intend to fhoot Jobn/on dead, bur only to make him fmart in the Hi and,Sidc I'?I'in.l:‘
was taken Notice of by the Noble Prifoner, as a Variation in Kirkland's fc-:nunl: of the I::s
tention with which Fobnfon was fhot, inconfiltent with what the Witnefs had faid before. B ’
the Variation probably arefe from my Lord's own Manner of difcourfing during that Ev =
The Obfervation, therefore, cannot affeét the Credic of the Witneis 5 and the Intention dm'i'nl::?
of Filling or wounding, will not vary the Conftruction of Law upon the Fat cumm'a:ed,
Your Lordfhips heard too, what Lord Ferrers faid in the Hearing of Sarab Fobufon ; |h“t he
:T}#EFE tl;e Hﬂ:ﬂ{;hrm:_gh aslzml Board, and !'I::new it to be good. He faid the fame "li'lhin;
irkland ;, expreffing lome Surprize (as the Witne 1 i
me ?'p.ﬁuﬁlu.F_ prize { fs underftood it), thar the Ball did not go
Allthefe Circumftances fhew, the Deliberation with which the Noble Prifoner proceeded.
My
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My Lords, let me now afk, when the Motives had been weighed, and the Fa&t deliberately
committed, Did he know the Confequences ?

His frlt Thought was, inftantly to fend for the Affittance of a Surgeon, and to enquire,
whether Fabujer would live or die.  The Daughter came early in the Aiternoon. He faid to
her, that he was afraid of being profecured ; adding, thatif fhe would not profecute him, he
would maintain her, and her Family, Does not this Circomitance prove, tl:lat he readily un-
derftood the Confequences ? that he knew himfelf bound to anfwer to the Law for bis Offence ?
When Kirkland came, his Lordlhip tempted him with fair Promifes, to prevent the Neighbours
from feizing him. He told Kirkland, that a large Bill was owing to him; and my Lord faid,
that he would pay Part of it then, and the reft in a reafonable Time. In talking over the Cir-
comftances (which he recollected clearly and calmly), he added, that he could juftify himielf;
though, upon his Surrender to your Lordfhips, he was doubtful whether his Juftification would
be approved.  From what Conltioufnefs in his owa Mind did that Doube arife ¢ He expreffed
his Fears, during the whole Evening, that he fhould be feized. He was quieted, in this Refpedt,
only by the Converlation of Kirkland, and the Manner of his Behaviour. Upon Kirkland's
coming w Stanten, my Lord enquired much into the Probability of Febufon's ying. In the
firlt Vifie which my Lond and the Surgeon made to Fobnon that Evening, his Lordihip gave
material Inftructions 3 afked fenfible and pertinent Queltions, particularly as to the Place of the
Wound, and the Effelt of the Ball lying in the Abdomen. The Witnels thoughe that Mr.
Fobnfon would die, from the very Moment of his firft Vific; but he told your Lordfhips, that
he judged it right to deccive Lord Ferrers. The noble Prifoner was plealed to fay, that the
Caution of the Witnels might be commended, but not his Flonefty. My Lords, the Caution
proceeded from Henelly : He was unwilling that his Lordthip fhould efcape.  This was due to
Civil Government, to Jultice, and Humanity. To prevent Lord Ferrers from taking Alarm,
and attempting to efcape, Kirkland Bartercd him with Hopes of Fobufor’s Recovery, during
the whole Evening ; and his Lordfhip was told, that if the People fhould endeavour to feize
him, the Witnels would perfuade them, that there was no Occafion for it. About Eleven o’Clock
at Night, Mr, Kirkland went up again to Febufon : He fhill continved to amufe Lord Ferrers
with Hopes of Febnfon’s Recovery 5 and, at taking Leave, when Kirkiand gave him Aflurances
on that S"hj“ﬂ-’ my Lord fad, sfcn ho 1:-:5|1|; Ho b Beod In Saj':l:[}f; and retired o his OWn
Chamber, What do all thefe Circumitances fpeak, but a correct Knowledge of the Fat, and
Apprehenlion of all us Confequences, either as they concerned Fobufom, or himflf? When he
was feized, did he thew Iarks of Infanity # He refifted, for fome Time ; but appeared, in
every Refpet, in the Judgment of the Witneffes, to be of found Mind. Afterwards, when
he was led into Kinfey's Houfe, his Behaviour was decent; and he made Anfwer to a
worthy Clergyman in the Commiffion of the Peace, who vifited and admonithed him, that he
knew his Duty as well any Jultice of the Peace.

This is the Subftance of the Evidence, which has been offered for the King; and it not only

ves the Faét, but proves it to be Murder.

My Lords, What is the Evidence produced by the Noble Lord to weaken the Force of ic?
In the Firlt Place, there is none, which applics to the Time of committing the Fa&. His
Sobriety is admitted, and Drunkennefs would not excufe ; and even fuppoling it had appeared
to your Lordfhips, that the noble Prifoner was fometimes, by Fits and Starts, under a degree of
Lunacy or temporary Infanity ; yet, if he was of found Mind ac that Hour, he is a Perfon with-
in all the Rules and Diftinctions, which Lord Hale explains. But, my Lords, in the next
Place, I muft obferve, thar no general Evidence has been olfered, which proves his Lunacy or
Infanity at any time; for his own Witptﬂi.'s fail in their Endeavours to [hew it, This appears
from their manner of exprefling themlelves in their original Examination ; but fhill more in the
Anfwers, which they gave to the Queftions alked upon the Crols-Examination.

The Two firit Winelfes called were, Mr. Bemnefold, and Mr. Gegltrey. They deferibe the
Infinity of the Noble Lord at the Bar to confilt of Flights. They fay, that he would {wear;
would talk to himfelf ; that he would ufe ftrange Geftures ; that he had Friends, and folpeéted
them ; that he was of a pofitive Temper, and difficult to be diffuaded from any Opinion or Re-
tolution which he had once formed. Buc Mr. Bewnnefold, upon the Crofs-Examination, ad-
mizeed, that he never knew of any A€t of Wildnefs done by his Lordfhip, nor of any Phyfician
fent for, to take Care of him in that refpeét. He faid, vpon the whole, that he thought
Lord Ferrers had better Parts and Underftanding chan ordinary Men. Mz, Gogffrey told your
I.ordthips, upon the Crofs-Examination, that he had done Bulinefs feveral Years for Lord
Fervers  that he had advifed and prrp&.l‘ﬁ'd Deeds for his Lordfhlp to execures thar he had
affifted in fuffering a Recovery to bar the Entail of the Eftate ; and admitted his Senfe and Ca-
pacity in general, but inferred Infanity from Pofitivenels of Temper and Opinion. However,
in Anfwer to a Queftion propofed by one of your Lordfhips, he faid, that he thought Lord
[errers eapable of diftinguithing between moral and immoral Actions:

4 Several
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Several other Witneffes have been called To-day. I will Aift mention Mr. :
feribes fimilar Circumftances with Mr. Benwefold :.rnd Mr. Goofirey, ﬁumh::hmfég]& ﬂ:
Infanity of the Noble Prifoncr, He faid, that he had obferved grear Oddities in my Lord
during his Minority, bue no Defelt of Underftanding.. He could not {pecify particular Ill:
ftances 3 and added, that his Lordfhip was jealous and fufpicious : But the Witnels never faw
him in fuch a Situation, as not to be capable of diftinguithing between Good and Evil, and not to
know, E”t Murder was a great Crime, i

My Lards, This Account of the State of the Neble Prifoner’s Mind is confift
with a cunﬂd-:rarl::t: ?mnf of Underftanding, but with the higheit chrJ:t of ia:.mff ::i?: E::E
were to receive fuch Excules, it would put a Sword into ¢ I i
Mgn,tﬁ;ﬁurhl e L h publlic T he Hand of every favage and licentious

My 5, There was another Witnels of a different and a muich lower Sort
whom I have named 3 I mean Elizaberh Williams.  She was the only Perlon wh: I:lufl?nﬁ\atr:;f:
Noble Harl was always mad.  When fhe came to explain the Initances from which fhe drew that
Conclulion, the principal ene infifted vpon was ridiculous; the Anger which he fhewed
againdt a Servane, who had neglected to take Cace of a favourite Mare, intrufted to his Manage-
ment. This was a Vivacity fo natural, that, if it be deemed a Symprom of Madnefs, few are
fiee from ity and 1 doubt the Inference will go farin Cafis of common Life.

The Two next Wimnelfes, whom I will mention, are the Brothers of the Noble Earl. My
Lords, 1 own I felt for them. It gave me Pain t fee them, in a Caufe which touches a
Brother’s Life, brought to the Bar as Witnefies, to mitigate the Confequences of One Misfor-
tune, by endeavouring to prove another of the moit tender and affedting Nature ; and if they had
fpoke itronger to Matters of Conjecture, Opinion, and Belief, for my Part, I could eafily have
exculed them.

My Lords, They both fpoke with Caution, and as Men of Honour ; but One of them was
the only Witmels of Weight, who exprefled a Belief, that, at particular Times, the Noble Lord
might not be able to dittinguifh between moral Good and Evil, | did not obferve, that he i'pui-&e
of any Inftance within his own Recollettion. The Circumiftances, from which thefe Gentlemen
inferred Infanity, were for the moft part of the fame Kind with thole which came from the
Mouths of the other Witneffes. They did not carry the Marks of itin the lealt Degree beyond

that Evidence. And Mr. Walter Sbirley admitred, That the Noble Lord at the Bar had long
Intervals of Reafon. 1 endeavour to repeat e Exprefion, and I'think it was 6. Mr. Roderst

Skirley told your Lordfhips, That he had not feen the Noble Prifoner for Four Years pait ;
that the laft Time of feeing Lord Ferrers was, at Burton upon Trent. He meni the
carrying of Piftols, and Arms, and a large Cafe Knife, at that time. I underftood him to
fay, that the Noble Lord generally did fo; the Witeels had feen it only once; but from
ghat Circumftance he argued Infanity. Your Lordihips will judge, whether this Praftice
mizht not be owing o Jealoufy and Violence of Temper, as well as to Lunacy and Madnefs,
The Witmefs added, That he had written formerly to his Brother Captain #¥abington Shirley,
about taking cut a Commiffion of Lunacy againft Lord Ferrers ; but I could not find, thae
any Mealures were taken in Coniequence of that Opinion given by the Witnefs, nor did he
himfelf ever take any Steps towards it, nor any Branch of lis Family.

The lalt Witnefs called, on Behalf of the Noble Prifoner, was Doctor Monro. He was brought
here to defcribe, what Symptoms he confliders as Marks of Lunacy or Infanicy. JHe fad;
that there were many ; and on being afked particularly, as to the feveral Symptoms luggefted in
this Caule, Doétor. Monre was led to fpeak principally of Three Marks of Lunacy. The Firit was
uncommon Fury, not caufed by Liquor, but raifed by it.  Surely this Circumitance will not
infer Infanity. The Next was, Jealoufy and Sulpicion, with caulelels Quarrclling. Do not
many, who are not Lunaticks, fufpeét or quarrel without Caufe, and become dangerous to their
Neighbours?  The Third was, carrying Arms; which (he faid) though lefs ulual, might be a
Mark of Lunacy. Arnd it is equally true, that fuch Behaviour may prove, in many
Cales, a bad Heare and a vicious Mind, as well as Lunacy. My Lords, the general Obfervation,
which occurs upon Doftor Manre’s Evidence, is thiss that he did nat defcuibe any of dhefe Things,
as ablolute Marks of Lunacy, o as to denote every IMana Lunatick, who was fubject to them.
Trclced he could not have faid it, confiltently with Common Senfe and Experience.

This was the Impore of the Evidence for the Noble Prifoner. - No Witnefles were offered,
on the Parc of the King, in Reply to that Evidence. And, my Lords, the Reafon, why they
were not offered, was, becaufe the Council who attend your Lordthips for the King, chule
to fubmit it to your Opinions, whether the Evidence produced for the Prifoner doss not
tenc. to ftrengthen, rather than weaken, that Proof Ea'plcitf, .which arifes put of all
the Circumitances urged, in Support of the Charge ? From thofe Circumitances, I have already
fhewn, that the Noble Priloner was confeious of what he did, at the Time of the Ofence com-
mitteel 3 that he weighed the Motives ; that he ated with Deliberation 5 thar he koew the
Conlequences, :

N : I will
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I will only take Notice of one Thing more. Your Lordfhips have attended with greac
Pacience, and the molt impardal ngﬂl‘tl to Jultice, to all the Evidence, and EVEry
Obfervation, which has been laid before you. You have feen the Noble Prifoner, for Two
Days at your Bar, (though labouring under the Weight of this Charge}, Crofs-examining
the Witnelles for the King, and Examining his own, n a Manner fo perticent, as cannot be
imputed merely to the Hints and Advice of thofe Agents and Council, with which you have
indulged him. 1 am perfuaded, from the Appearance and Conduét of the Noble Prifoner, chat
if the Faét iefelf would have admitced Doubes, and Prub:lh]: Arguments, to rc'p:,'], the Force
of any One material Circum[Yance, your Lordihips would have heard him prels chole Arguments,
with Senfe and Sagaciry.

But, my Lords, The Truth is, That the Faét tried this Day ftands, without Alleviation, There
is not a Colour for the Defence, unlefs it arifes from the Enormity of the Crime, aggravated
by the Manner of committing it ; an old, faithful Servant of himfelf and his Family, murdered
in cold Blood, whillt he was performing, by exprefs Orders, an At of dutiful Arcendance
upon his Malter ; murdered, in the moft deliberate and wilful Manner, deftrudtive of all Con-
fidence in human Society. My Lords, in fome Senfe, every Crime proceeds from Infanity.
Al Em;-lq,.', all I!r:l::ﬂ'lty,, all B‘.ewnge, all [n}uﬂic:, 1% ]nfanit}r. There were I"hiln:l'ophmg, n
antient Times, who held this Opinion, as a ftrick Maxim of their Set; and, my Lords, the
Opinion is right in Philofophy, bur dangerous in Judicature, It may have a ufeful and a noble
Influence, to regulate the Conduét of Men 5 to controul their impotent Paflions ; to teach them,
that Virtue is the Perfeftion of Reafon, as Reafon wfelf is the Perfeftion of human Nature ; but
not to extenuate Crimes, nor to excule thofe Punithments, which the Law adjudges to be their

uc.

My Lords, The Neceflity of his Majefty’s Jultice ; the Neceflity of public Example, called
for this Profecution ; and che Effeét of the whole Evidence, is fubmitted to the Weight and
Wifdem of your Judgment.

Then the Lord High Steward returned back to his Chair.
Lord High Steward. Lieutenant of the Tower, Take my Lord Ferrers from the Bar.
Which was done accordingly.
Lord Privy Seal. My Lards. T move your Lordlhips ra adjourn to the Chamber of Par-
liament.
Lords. Ay, Ay. ;
Lord igh Steward.  This Houfe is adjourned to the Chamber of Parliament.

The Lords, and others, returned to the Chamber of Parliament, in the fame Order they
came down : And, after fome Time, the Houfe was adjourned again into Welminfier-
Hall'y and the Peers being there feated, and the Lord High Steward in his Chair, and
the Houlé refumed, the Serjeant at Arms made Proclamation for Silence, as ufbal,

Lord High Steward. Your Lordfhips have heard the Evidence, and every thing thar has been
alledged on both Sides 5 and the Solemnity of your Proceedings requires, that your Lordfhips
Opinions on the Queftion, Of Guilty or Not guilty, (hould be delivered feverally, in the
Abfence of the Priloner, beginning with the junior Baron ; and that the Prifoner thould after-
wards be acquainted with the Refult of thole Opinicns by me. Is ir your Lordfhips Pleafure to
proceed now to give your Opinions on the Queltion, OF Guilty or Not guiley ?

Lords. Ay, Ay.

Then the Lord High Steward ltood up uncovered ; and, beginning with the youngeft Peer,
faid,

George Lord Lyttelton, What fays your Lordhip? Is Lawrence Exrl Ferrers Guilty of the
Felony and Murder whereof he ftands indicted, or Not guiley ¢

Whereupon Gesrge Lord Lyttelton, ftanding up in his Place, uncevered, and laying his Righe
Hand upon his Breaft, anfwered,

Guilty, upon my Honour,

In like manner, the feveral Lords after-mentioned, being all that were prefent, anfwered as
followeth ;

#ills Lord Harswich. Guilty, upon my Honour,

William Lord Mansfield. Guilty, upon my Honour,

Hiratio Lord Walpele.  Guilty, upen my Honour.

Fhemas Lord Hyde. Guilty, upon my Honour.

Vere Lord Vere.  Guilty, upon my Honour.

William Lord Penfendy.  Guilty, upon my Honeur.

Thomas Lord drober,  Guilty, upon my Honour.

Antbony
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.ffﬂfbﬂ!fj Lord Fﬂ#ﬁdﬂ- Guihf,. upcn my Hﬂnnul-_
Henry Lord Ravenfworth, Guilty, upon my Honour,
George Lord Awfon.  Guilty, upon my Honour.

Matbew Lord Fertefewe.  Guilty, upon my Honour,
Thomas Lord Bruce, Guilty, upon my Honour.

Samuel Lord Sandys,  Guilty, upon my Honour,

Richard Lord Edgeawmbe.  Guilty, upoh my Honour,

Fobn Lord Chedworeb, Guilty, upon my Honour.
Thomas Lord Mentfert. Guilty, upon my Honour.
William Lord Taléct. Guilty, upon my Honour.

Fobm Lord Meufen. Guilty, upon my Honour.

Willigm Lord King. Guilty, upon my Honour,

Mattbew Lord Ducie.  Guilty, upon my Honour,

Charles Lord Cadogan. Guilty, upon my Honour.
Rickard Lord Onflore.  Guiley, upon my Honour,

Allen Lord Batburt.  Guilty, vpon my Honour.

Samue! Lord Mafham. Guilty, upon my Honour,

Franmeis Lord Middletor.  Guilty, upen my Honour.

Fobn Lord Beyle.  Guilty, upon my Honour.

Natbanael Lord Delamere. Guilty, upon my Honour.
Fobn Lord Berkeley of Stratten.  Guilty, upon my Honour.
Fabn Lord Ward. Guilty, upon my Honour.

#Filliam Lord Byron. Guilty, upon my Honour.

Fobn Lord Clifron. Guilty, upon my Honour.

Fein Lord 8¢, Fobn of Bletfee.  Guilty, upon my Honour.
Hugh Lord Willsughty of Parbam. Guilty, upon my Honour.
Edward Lord* W entworth,  Guilty, u]pon my Honour,
Febm Lord WWillongbby of Breke. Guilty, upon my Honour.
Folm Lord Defawarr. Guilty, upon my Honour.

Fames Lord Awdley.  Guilty, upon my Honour.

George Lord Abergavenny.  Guilty, upon my Honour.
?ﬂ‘.ﬂd& ‘urirmm'kt f'-ﬂffgﬁ-ﬂﬂf. Gl.liltr, R na}r.unnnun
Hugh Vifcount Falmoutb, Guilty, upon my Henour. :
Frederick Vifcount Bolingbroke and §t. Febn. Guilty, upon my Honour.
Thamas Vifcount Weymouth. Guilty, upon my Honour.
Richard Vilcount Sayand Sele.  Guilty, upon my Honour,
Stepben Farlof Hebefter.  Guilty, vpon my Honour.

T homas Earl of Fauconberg, Guilty, vpon my Honour.
Pbilip Earl of Hardwicke. Guilty, upon my Honour.
Charles Earl Cornwallis,  Guilty, upon my Henour.
Francis Barl of Guilford. Guilty, upon my Honour.
Francis Seymour Earl of Hertford.  Guilty, upon my Honour.
Simon Earl Harcourt.  Guilty, upon my Honour,

Charles Earl of Egremont. Guilty, upon my Honour.
Hugh Earl of Nertbumberland. Guilty, upon my Honour.
Hewnry Arthur Farl of Pewis. Guilty, upen my Honour.
Fobn Earl of Buckingbamjbire.  Guilty, upen my Honour.
Grawville Levefen Barl Gewer,  Guilty, upon my Honour,
Francis Farl Broske. Guilty, upon my Honour.

“Yobn Earl of Portfmenth. Guilty, upon my Honouor.
Williaw: Earl of Harrington. Guilty, upon my Honour.

T bomas Earl of Effngbam. Guilty, upon my Honour,
Fobn Earl Abburnbam. Guilty, upon my Honour.
“Fames Barl Waldegrave.  Guilty, upon my Honour.
Gearge Farl of Pomfret. Guilty, upon my Fonour.
George Earl of Macclesfield.  Guilty, upon my Honour.
Philip Earl Stanbope. Guilty, upon my Honour.

William Earl Cowper. Guilty, upon my Honour.

Henry Earl of Suffee.  Guilty, upon my Honour.

George Earl of Halifax. Guilty, upon my Honour.
ﬂgmﬂge Earl of Aylesford.  Guiley, upon my Henour.
Charles Earl of Tankerville. Guilty, upon my Honour.
J¥illiam Earl of Dartmouth.  Guilty, upon my Honour.

William
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My Lords, T have been informed of this Intention of the Family before 3 and your Lordibips
I hope, will be fo good w conlicer, the Agony of Mind a Man muft be under, when his Liberty
and Property are both attacked: My Lords, under thefe unhappy Circumitances, chough the
Plea I have atcempted was not fufficient to acquit me to your Lordlhips, according ro the Laws
of this Country ; yet I hope your Lordfhips will think, thac Malice, reprefented by the Council for
the Crown, could not fubfift ; as I was fo unhappy as to have no Perfon prefent at the Time of
the fatal Accident, it was impoffible for me to fhew your Lordfhips, that I was not atchat Inftane
poffeffed of my Reafon.

As the Circumitances of my Cafe are frefth in your Lordihips Memories, I hope your Lord-
fhips will, in Compaflion to my Infirmitics, be kind enough to recommend me to his Majefty’s
Clemency.

My Lords, As I am uncertain whether my unhappy Cafe is within the late At of Parliament,
if your Lordfhips fhould be of Opinion that it is, I humbly hope the Power of relpiting the Exe-
cution will be extended in my Favour, that [ may have an Opportunity of preparing myflf for
the great Event, and thac my Friends may be permitted to have Accels to me.

1t any Thing 1 have offered fhould be thought improper, [hope your Lordfhips will impute it
to the great Diftrefs I am under at this Juncture.

Lerd High Steward. Has your Lordfhip any Thing elle to offer ?
Earl Ferrers. HNo.

Lord High Steward. Make Proclamation for Silence whillt Judgment is giving.

Serjeant at Arms.  Oyez, Oyez, Oyez! Our Sovereign Lord the King doth ftrictly charge
and command all manner of Perfons to keep Silence, whillt Judgment is giving, upon Pain of
Imprifonment. -

Lord High Steward,
Lawrence Barl Ferrers, el 1w v Uk B
H IS5 Majelty, from his Royal and Equal Regard to Juftice, and his fteady Arecntion to our
l’._'q;mllil;|,_||;i,.|;|:|:|I {which hath endcarcd hinnin a wondorful Mannér to the umverfal E'l,]l,':,l' and
Affcétion of his Subjeéts) hath commanded this Inquiry to be made, upon the Blocd of a very
ordinary Subjeét, againft your Lordthip, a Peer of this Realm: Your Lordihip hath-been ar-
raigned ; hath pleaded, and put yourfelt on your Peers ; and they (whofe Judicature is founded
and [ubfifts in Wildom, Henour, and Jultice) have found your Lordhip unanimoufly Guiley
of the Felony and Murder charged in the Indictment. : g, LT i

It is ufual, my Lord, for Courts of Juftice, before they pronounce the dreadful Sentence or-
dained by the Law, to open to the Piiloner the Nature of ehe Crime of which he is ‘conviled ;
not in order to aggravate or afflict, but to awaken the Mind to’a due Auention to; and Confide-
ration of, the unhappy Situation into which he hath breughe himfelf.

My Lord, The Crime of which your Lordfhip is found Guiley, Murder, i incapable of
Aggravation 3 and it is impoffible, but thar, during your Lordfhip’s long Confinement, you
muit have reflected upon i, reprefented to your Mind in its deepeit Shailes, and with all its Trzin
of dilmal and detefltable Confequences. ! fla i P ok

As your Lordfhip hath reccived no. Benefit, fo you can derive no Confolation from ‘thar Re-
fuge you feemed almoft afhamed to take, under a pretended Infanity ; fince it hath appeared to
us all, from your Crofs-examinition of the King's Witnefles, that you recollefted the minueeft
Circumftances of Facts and Converfations, to which you and the Witneflis only could be privy,
with the Exactnefs of a Memory morethan ordinarily found ; It'is therefore as unneceffary as it
would be painful to me, to dwell longer on a Subject fo black and dreadful. .

It is with much more Satisfaétion, that I can remind your Lordihip, that though, from the
prefent Tribunal, before which you now ftand, you can receive nothing but ftriét and equal
ullice; yet you are foon to appear before an Almighty Judge, whofe unfathomabls Wildom
15 able, by Means incomprehenfible to our narrow Capacities, to reconcile Juftice with Mercy ;
but your Lordihip’s Education muft have informed you, and you are now o remember,
fuch Beneficence 15 only to be obtained by deep Contnition, found, unfeigned, and iobftantial

Repentance.

Confined ftrictly, as your Lordfhip muft be, for the very fhort Remainder of your Life; ac-
cording to the Provifion of the late Aét; yet, from the Wifdom of the Legiflature, which, to
prevent as much as poffible this heinous and horrid Offence of Murder, hath added Infam
to Death: You will be fll, if you pleafe, intitled to converfe and communicate with the able
Divines of the Proteltant Church, to whofe pious Care and Confolation, in fervent Prayer and
Devotion, I moft cordially recommend your Lordfhip.

Nothing
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Nothing remains for me, but to pronounce the dreadful Sentence of the Law ; and the Jude:
ment of the Law is, and this High Court doth award =

‘¢ That You, Lawrence Earl Ferrers, return to the Prifon of the Tower, from whence you
¢ came 4 from thence you muft be led to the Place of Execution, on Moenday next,
being the 21ft Day of this Inftant Aprif; and when you come there, you muft be

¢ harged by the Neck till you are dead, and your Body muft be diffeéted and anato-
€ mized.” -

* And God Almighty be merciful to your Soul,”

Lord High Steward. Lieutenant of the Tower, Take the Prifoner from the Bar.

Which being done, Proclamarion was made for Silence, as ufual.

Lord High Steward. My Lords, This Trial being at an End, nothing remains to be done
here, but to determine the CommifTion.

Lords. Ay, Ay.

Lord High Steward. Let Proclamation be made for diffolving the Commiffion of High
Steward.

Serjeant at Arms. Oyez, Oyez, Oyez! Our Sovereign Lord the King does ftriétly chargs
and command all manner of Perfons here prefent, and that have here attended, to depart hence
in the Peace of God, and of our faid Sovereign Lord the King ; for his Grace my Lord High
Steward of Great Britain intends now to diffolve his Commiffion. .

Then the White Staff being delivered to the Lord High Steward, by the Gentleman Uther of
the Black Rod, upon his Knee, his Grace ftood up uncovered ; and, holding the Staff in both
his Hands, broke it in two, and declared the Commiffion to be diffolved ; and then leaving the
Chair, came down to the Woolpack, and faid, Is it your Lordihips Pleafure to adjourn to the
Chamber of Parliament ?

Lords. Ay, Ay.

Lord High Steward. 'This Houfe is adjourned to the Chamber of Parliament.

Then the Lords and others returned in the fame Order they came down.

And the Prifoner was carried back to the Tewer of Londen.

P b gt
























